©Copyright 2022

Manaswi Saha

Designing Interactive Data-driven Tools for Understanding Urban Accessibility at Scale

Manaswi Saha

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

University of Washington

2022

Reading Committee:

Jon E. Froehlich, Chair

Jeffrey Heer

William Howe

Program Authorized to Offer Degree:

Paul G. Allen School of Computer Science & Engineering

University of Washington

Abstract

Designing Interactive Data-driven Tools for Understanding Urban Accessibility at Scale

Manaswi Saha

Chair of the Supervisory Committee:

Jon E. Froehlich

Paul G. Allen School of Computer Science & Engineering, University of Washington

Accessibility of urban infrastructure affects the mobility and safety of people, but *disproportionately* affects people with mobility disabilities. For example, missing curb ramps and uprooted sidewalks can significantly impact the day-to-day travel and safety of wheelchair users. However, there is an immense lack of comprehensive tools to understand and assess urban accessibility and aid decision-making.

In this dissertation, I explore the issue of understanding urban accessibility and designing tools for it, with a specific focus on sidewalk accessibility for people with mobility disabilities. I aim to transform how we collect, quantify, visualize, and communicate urban accessibility data through interactive tools. Towards this goal, I have a two-fold vision: (1) mapping the physical accessibility of the world for people with mobility disabilities and (2) empowering people with interactive data-driven tools for urban-accessibility related decision-making (*e.g.,* daily living, policymaking).

I take a multi-stakeholder approach and characterize urban accessibility as a three-pronged problem: *People*, *Data*, and *Tools*. To address these problems, this dissertation follows three research threads: (1) *Socio-Political Environment Analysis* [*People* problem]: Understanding multi-stakeholder interactions and decision-making in a civic ecosystem that leads to inaccessible infrastructure, (2) *Scalable Data Collection* [*Data* problem]: Building scalable approaches to address the lack of comprehensive city-wide accessibility datasets, and (3) *Interactive Data-driven Decision-Making Tools* [*Tools* problem]: Designing interactive tools for aiding in-situ and remote accessibility decision-making.

Across the threads, I bring multiple perspectives from varied stakeholders and diverse decision-making contexts to inform the design of future tools in this space. Specifically, I study five stakeholder groups, namely, policymakers, department officials, accessibility advocates, people with mobility disabilities, and caregivers. Using qualitative studies, online street view imagery, and techniques from crowdsourcing, visualization, and computer vision, I develop sets of design guidelines and a suite of interactive tools that enable stakeholders to surface underlying causes of inaccessibility, build and raise awareness, and present relevant information for making decisions across daily living, city planning, political advocacy, and policymaking.

Full Committee

Jon E. Froehlich, Chair

Associate Professor, Paul G. Allen School of Computer Science & Engineering (UW)

Jeffrey Heer

Professor, Paul G. Allen School of Computer Science & Engineering (UW)

William Howe

Associate Professor, UW School of Information

Anat Caspi

Affiliate Assistant Professor, UW Department of Electrical and Computer Engineering

Bo Zhao, GSR

Associate Professor, UW Department of Geography

Table of Contents

Page

List of Figures			
List of '	Tables	viii	
Chapter 1:		Introduction	
1.1	Thesi	s Statement	
1.2	Disse	rtation: Overview and Contributions	
	1.2.1	Dissertation Overview	
	1.2.2	Thesis Contributions	
Chapter 2:		Background and Related Work	
2.1	Targe	t Community: People with Mobility Disabilities	
2.2	Defin	ing Urban Accessibility	
2.3	Laws	and Regulations	
2.4	Intera	active Data-driven Urban Accessibility Tools	
Chapter 3: Urban Accessibility as a Socio-Political Problem .		Urban Accessibility as a Socio-Political Problem	
3.1	Intro	duction	
3.2	Relat	ed Work: Civic Technology for Accessible Infrastructure Development 20	
3.3	Interv	view Study	
	3.3.1	Methodology	
	3.3.2	Participants	

	3.3.3	Analysis Method	23
3.4	Findi	ngs	24
	3.4.1	Overview of Stakeholders and Perspectives	24
	3.4.2	Data and Technology Practices for Accessibility Assessments	26
	3.4.3	Interactions between Stakeholders for Accessible Infrastructure Devel-	
		opment	32
	3.4.4	Decision-Making Practices for Accessible Infrastructure Development .	35
	3.4.5	Challenges in Accessible Infrastructure Development	38
3.5	Discu	ssion	42
	3.5.1	Exploring the Role of Civic Technologies in Urban Accessibility	42
	3.5.2	Civic Interaction Space: Enabling Civic Interactions in Urban Accessibility	44
	3.5.3	Critical Reflection on the Role of Data and Technology for Change	47
	3.5.4	Limitations	48
3.6	Chapt	ter Conclusion	49
Chapte	r 4:	Project Sidewalk: Collecting Sidewalk Accessibility Data at Scale	50
4.1	Introd	luction	51
4.2	Relate	ed Work	53
	4.2.1	Street-Level Accessibility	54
	4.2.2	Collecting Street-Level Accessibility Data	54
	4.2.3	Volunteered Geographic Information (VGI)	56
4.3	Projec	et Sidewalk	57
4.4	Imple	mentation, Data, and API	60
	4.4.1	Preparing a City	60
	4.4.2	Allocating and Distributing Work via Missions	61
	4.4.3	Project Sidewalk Data	63
	4.4.4	Public API	64
4.5	Deplo	vment Study	64
	4.5.1	Results	66
4.6	Data '	Validation Study	68
	4.6.1	Results	70
	4.6.2	Common Labeling Errors	73
4.7	Semi-	Structured Interview Study	74

	4.7.1	Results
4.8	Discu	ssion
	4.8.1	Label quality
	4.8.2	Data age
	4.8.3	Cost
	4.8.4	Increasing user engagement
	4.8.5	Limitations
4.9	Ackno	owledgements
4.10	Chap	ter Conclusion
Chapte	r 5:	AccessVis: Modeling and Visualizing Urban Accessibility 81
5.1	Intro	luction
5.2	Backg	ground and Related Work
	5.2.1	Urban Accessibility Assessments
	5.2.2	Quantifying Accessibility: Models, Indexes, and Metrics
	5.2.3	Stakeholders and their Decision Making Perspectives
	5.2.4	Making Sense of Visualizations
5.3	Desig	n of Map Visualization Probes
	5.3.1	Access Score
	5.3.2	Barrier Time Penalty
	5.3.3	Design Space Dimensions
	5.3.4	Final Urban Accessibility Design Probes
5.4	Interv	view Study
	5.4.1	Study Methodology
	5.4.2	Participants
	5.4.3	Analysis Method
5.5	RQ1 :	Task and Data Needs
5.6	RQ2:	Sensemaking Practices
	5.6.1	Task Analysis: Open and Targeted
	5.6.2	Map Types: Usefulness and Preferences
	5.6.3	Trustworthiness of Map Visualizations
5.7	Discu	ssion \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 111
	5.7.1	Assessing and Quantifying Accessibility

	5.7.2	Stakeholders' Sensemaking Processes
	5.7.3	Visualizing Urban Accessibility: Design Considerations
	5.7.4	Limitations
5.8	Ackno	owledgements
5.9	Chap	ter Conclusion
Chapte	r 6:	Landmark AI: Designing for the Last-Few-Meters Wayfinding Problem . 124
6.1	Intro	$\operatorname{luction}$
6.2	Back	ground and Related Work
	6.2.1	Navigation Systems for the Blind
	6.2.2	Camera-based Systems for the Blind
6.3	Form	ative Study
	6.3.1	Method
	6.3.2	Findings
6.4	Desig	n Probe Study
	6.4.1	Landmark AI System
	6.4.2	Study Method
	6.4.3	Participants
	6.4.4	Data and Analysis
6.5	Findi	ngs
	6.5.1	Existing Wayfinding Strategies
	6.5.2	Information Utility
	6.5.3	System Design Considerations
6.6	Desig	n Space For Landmark-Based Systems
	6.6.1	Visual Abilities
	6.6.2	Mobility Aid
	6.6.3	User Personality and Preferences
	6.6.4	Context
6.7	Discu	ssion
	6.7.1	Implications for Camera Systems for VI Pedestrians
	6.7.2	Implications for Vision Algorithms for Accessibility
	6.7.3	Limitations and Future Work
6.8	Chap	ter Conclusion

Chapte	r 7:	Discussion: What Lies Ahead?
7.1	Revie	w of Thesis Claim and Contributions
7.2	Assur	nptions and Limitations
7.3	Futur	Pe Directions
	7.3.1	People: Catering to Diverse Audiences
	7.3.2	Data: Crowdsourcing and Maintaining Diverse Datasets
	7.3.3	Tools: Facilitating Cross-stakeholder Interactions
7.4	Concl	uding Remarks
Bibliog	caphy .	\ldots
Append	ix A:	For Chapter 3: Socio-political Environment Analysis and Chapter 5: Visualizing Urban Accessibility
Append	ix B:	For Chapter 4: Project Sidewalk
Append	ix C:	For Chapter 6: Landmark AI

List of Figures

Figure Number

Page

1.1	Types of Sidewalk Barriers	2
1.2	Overview of dissertation contributions	7
2.1	Illustrations of sidewalk and curb ramp design	12
3.1	Examples of sidewalk accessibility barriers	19
3.2	Roles and Interactions between Stakeholders	27
3.3	Civic Interaction Space	45
4.1	Project Sidewalk Study Deployment Study Overview	50
4.2	Project Sidewalk Interface	55
4.3	Project Sidewalk Label Types	58
4.4	Selected DC City Neighborhood and Streets	61
4.5	User Group Accuracy	71
4.6	Labeling Mistakes Overview	73
5.1	AccessVis Prototype	82
5.2	Interview Setup and Three-part Study Process	83
5.3	Chen et al.'s Accessibility Framework [68]	87
5.4	Design Probes	91
5.5	Design Dimensions of Map Probes	94
5.6	Map Grid used in the Design Probe Study	96
5.7	Multi-layered Task Model for Urban Accessibility	01
5.8	Isochrones used for Task 2	04

5.9	Isochrones used for Task 3
5.10	Interactive Visualization Tools used for AccessVis Design Space Analysis 117
5.11	WheelMap and AccessMap Data Trust Analysis
6.1	Landmark AI System
6.2	Examples of places for the Place Channel
7.1	Project Sidewalk Developments – Improved Tool Design and Features 156
7.2	Project Sidewalk Developments – Complementary Tools

List of Tables

Table Number

Page

3.1	Participant Demographics
3.2	Codebook Summary 24
4.1	Total Data Collected
4.2	Total Data Collected By Groups
4.3	Accuracy by Label Type
5.1	Characterizing key stakeholder tasks
5.2	Design Considerations for Interactive Visualization Tools in Urban Accessibility114
5.3	Tool Characteristics for Design Space-based Tool Analysis

Acknowledgments

This document marks the end of a long fulfilling journey of seven years of hard work and toil. The path was full of ups and downs, but what made the journey enjoyable was the support of my family, friends, mentors, colleagues, school staff, study participants, and every single person I met along the way.

My PhD journey and getting a higher education degree in the United States started long before, precisely, seven years prior to starting the PhD program in Maryland. From figuring out whether I wanted to do a PhD to starting in Maryland to finding my way to the top CS PhD program at UW was a long hard journey. I want to take this opportunity to acknowledge every person who helped me reach this point, spanning more than a decade.

First and foremost, I want to thank my parents and my sister who were a source of *constant* inspiration and support. My parents—my role models—because of whom I could have such an ambitious dream. Their humble beginnings and hard work throughout their life inculcated those values of persistence and kept me grounded throughout. My younger sister, Srishti, who is and has always been my rock, my strongest critic, and who has never failed to guide me during those tumultuous times when I was unsure about myself and my abilities. She was the one I leaned on to get myself back up. And towards the end of my PhD, my brother-in-law Sumitabh, who together with my sister, were always the guiding light for making firm clear-headed decisions. This would not have been possible without them by my side.

Next, I want to thank my advisors and mentors during my PhD, starting with Jon Froehlich, my PhD advisor. His PhD dissertation inspired me to pursue HCI research and join Maryland. Given how perfectly our research interests and motivations aligned—using technology for social impact—I followed him to Seattle to join UW. This was the best academic decision I made. Working with him and Project Sidewalk, the project that drives my entire PhD research, has brought diverse immensely satisfying experiences as well as numerous accomplishments. Being a part of this ambitious project with Jon has further strengthened my resolve to continue working towards technology for the betterment of our society.

I have also been fortunate to have had the chance to work with Jeffrey Heer, a close collaborator and an inspiring mentor for almost half of my PhD. Starting from his class I took followed by him working with me on the visualization project, changed the course of my PhD research and engendered my newfound research interest in working towards *visualization for social good* during and post-PhD. Jeff and his lab, IDL's work has always served as a motivator for building tools that make impact at scale. Even though the pandemic made direct advising hard, I will carry the lessons I learnt working with him beyond PhD.

My mentors across my three amazing internships at Adobe Research, Microsoft Research (MSR), and Autodesk Research: Tom Jacobs (Adobe), David Tompkins (Adobe), Meredith Ringel Morris (MSR), Ed Cutrell (MSR), Alex Fiannaca (MSR), and Justin Matejka (Autodesk). My first research internship and working with Tom and David at Adobe introduced me to the world of industrial research labs. My summer at MSR with Merrie, Ed, and Alex was the most fulfilling experience both academically and personally because of the lovely friends I made for life. My pandemic internship with Justin at Autodesk, who has been the most patient and wise mentor making a remote internship enjoyable and enriching. All three experiences had been vastly different, yet all together made my desire towards pursuing industry research post-PhD even stronger.

My pre-PhD mentors who set me on the right path towards pursuing a PhD in the US. Sandeep Chatterjee, my first mentor who inspired me to pursue research and was there at the very start 14 years ago, guiding a confused undergrad. My mentors during the IIIT-Delhi tenure—Amarjeet Singh, Yuvraj Agarwal, and Anind Dey—who taught me how to do good research. I hope they continue to guide me and see me grow post-PhD.

Research is no fun without a cohort: my academic siblings, friends, colleagues, and research collaborators. First and foremost, Liang He, my academic sibling of seven years. We started our PhD journeys together at Maryland, continued together to Seattle, and finished within months of each other. His friendship and wisdom has been a constant source of solace in those isolating and tough times. I am grateful to have had him as a companion in this long journey. Dhruv Jain, one of the OGs of the Makeability Lab (ML), who joined Jon, Liang, and I on the Seattle journey. He has been my peer mentor as we worked in accessibility and HCI. Brainstorming sessions with him, irrespective of the duration, always inspired new thoughts and directions and helped me get unstuck numerous times. Annie Ross, my officemate, research soundboard, and my bestie at UW! Without her, my life in Seattle would have been extremely lonely. I cannot thank her enough for being my constant cheerleader, mood booster, and friend. She has been instrumental every step of the way of my life in Seattle. Kotaro Hara, whose PhD research was one that I inherited and made my own. All my academic successes were built on the foundation he laid in his PhD; I will be forever grateful for that. Matthew Mauriello, my PhD colleague, mentor, and a friend. I learnt everything about HCI research from him in my first year. Since then, he has been my mentor I reach out during any research life crisis. Thank you all for being there.

My Maryland friends, the family away from home, who made the transition to US life seamless and natural: Pallabi Ghosh, Sudha Rao, Meethu Malu, Kartik Nayak, Bhaskar Ramasubramanian, Soumyadip Sengupta, Uran Oh, Jonggi Hong, Alejandro Flores-Velazco, and Karthik Badam. All my MLers: Mikey Saugstad, Teja Maddali, Majeed Kazemitabaar, Ladan Najafizadeh, Lee Sterns, Seokbin Kang, Venkatesh Potluri, Ather Sharif, Kelly Mack, Aileen Zeng, Jesse Martinez, Daniel Campos Zamora, Xia Su, Lisa Orii, and Chu Li. My lovely Allen School officemates: Liang Luo, Peter West, Keunhong Park, and Chungyi Weng. My dear Allen School friends: Esther Jang, Eunice Jun, Pascal Sturmfels, Vinitha Ranganeni, Audrey Seo, Swati Padmanabhan, Tal August, Sofia Serrano, Chris Geeng, Naveena Karusala, Amanda Baughan, Elizabeth Clark, Dominik Moritz, Galen Weld, Edward Wang, Nicasia Beebe-Wang, Jennifer Brennan, Ivan Evtimov, Lee Organick, Philip Garrison, Yasaman Sefidgar, Jane Hoffswell, and Matthew Johnson. My MSR internship 'baes': Stephanie Valencia, Jaeyeon Lee, and Anastasia Schaadhardt. My non-PhD-program friends: Rajan Vaish, Ahmad Wani, Sunil Rodger, Alexa Siu, Bryce Blankenagel, Manoj Gulati, Pandarasamy Arjunan, Nipun Batra, Milan Jain, Piyush Nathani, Urvashi Pandey, Naveen T. Premnath, Ambrish Pandey, and Nivedita Patni. All my student interns and collaborators. Finally, people who made the pandemic years bearable: Eunyoung Won, my Korean teacher (선생님) who through her amazing teaching skills, nurtured my newfound love for learning Korean (한국어); friends made during this learning journey, who made my last year in Seattle and PhD so much more fun: Jisoo Han, Dean Kim, Heejee Chang, Ranggyu Kim, Heejun Park, Kyoungock Choi, Yoon Choi, and Junha Roh. 너무 감사합니다!

Last but not least, the *amazing* Allen School staff, especially Elise DeGoede Dorough, who was a pillar of support throughout my UW journey. Without her patience and kindness, my first few tough years at UW would not have been manageable. All my study participants on whose shoulders this entire dissertation stands. The open and diverse HCI research community and the funding organizations, who recognized and appreciated my work. My research was funded in part by the Google PhD Fellowship Award in HCI, Amazon Catalyst Award, National Science Foundation, Pacific Northwest Transportation Consortium (PacTrans), Allen School, and UW CREATE. Finally, along with Jon and Jeff, my amazing dissertation committee–Anat Caspi, William 'Bill' Howe, and Bo Zhao.

Thank you!

1 Introduction

Urban accessibility, particularly physical infrastructure such as streets and sidewalks, support us in our ability to reach destinations. While urban inaccessibility affects everyone, it significantly impacts people with mobility disabilities (or, MI individuals¹) such as people using wheelchairs, walkers, and canes [254]. Inaccessible physical infrastructure disproportionately affects them by making day-to-day tasks prohibitive such as going to work, traveling to unfamiliar cities, and getting to medical facilities. While urban infrastructure includes buildings, transit, and pedestrian infrastructure, I primarily focus on sidewalks.

Sidewalks form the backbone of pedestrian infrastructure. Accessibility barriers such as missing curb ramps, uplifted surfaces (*e.g.*, due to tree roots), and blocked sidewalks (*e.g.*, due to utility poles or parked cars) inhibit mobility for MI individuals (Figure 1.1). In the US, amongst 30 million people with mobility disabilities, half report using mobility aids including wheelchairs (3.6 million), canes or crutches, and walkers (11.6 million) [58]. Despite 30+ years since the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) was passed in 1990 [361], sidewalk accessibility still remains an issue.

¹We used medical-centric terms such as "people with Mobility Impairments (MI) and "people with Visual Impairments (VI)" in the early on projects. However, we switched it to a broader and a more inclusive term "people with mobility disabilities", to include *anyone* who uses a mobility aid such as a wheelchair, cane, walker, or a stroller. This term allows including *all* people who experience mobility challenges beyond those having upper and/or lower body physical impairments, such as older adults, people with other medical conditions that cause mobility challenges (*e.g.*, someone with POTS), and people with visual impairments. For consistency, we did not change the acronym for this group across projects. Therefore, throughout this dissertation, I use the acronym MI to refer to people with mobility disabilities.

Lower Inaccessibility

→ Higher Inaccessibility



Figure 1.1: Illustration showing a range of sidewalk issues. In this dissertation, I have focused primarily on four of sidewalk features: curb ramps, missing curb ramps, obstacles, and surface problems.

One of the fundamental impediments to addressing sidewalk accessibility and larger urban accessibility issues is the lack of comprehensive tools to understand, assess, and make decisions (e.g., sidewalk repairs) [**Tools** problem]. As a result, lawsuits remain the most common method of drawing attention to the problem, holding cities accountable, and making change happen (e.g., forcing mandatory sidewalk repairs). For example, several cities have been sued with multi-million dollar lawsuits for ADA violations [65, 118, 199, 206, 207, 225, 272, 344], including major cities like New York, Seattle, San Francisco, and Los Angeles. However, lawsuits often happen after a catastrophic incident-e.g., someone becoming a paraplegic after an accident due to a cracked sidewalk [207]. Beyond government accountability, making daily living decisions (e.g., "where should I live that is accessible?") and answering planning or policymaking questions (e.g., "where do we allocate resources for sidewalk repairs?") is also challenging without relevant data and tools. This presents a need for comprehensive tools that (a) provide a sense of the state of (in)accessibility of the physical urban infrastructure, (b) visualize and quantify (in)accessibility, and (c) surface the root causes such as any demographic inequity and disparity in resource allocations for underserved areas within cities. Developing these accessibility-aware tools is identified as one of the grand challenges [124].

The lack of such comprehensive tools that cater to wide range of decision-making questions has three primary reasons: (1) Insufficient understanding of the impact of the sociopolitical complexities on accessible infrastructure development decision-making and the role of data/tech therein, (2) Inadequate urban-scale data collection methods to acquire relevant data, and (3) Insufficient understanding on how to effectively utilize this data to design tools for diverse stakeholders and decision contexts.

Past work has suggested that the broader social, cultural, economic, and political environment barriers contribute to urban inaccessibility [150, 371]. For example, cities' civic ecosystem has multiple stakeholders (*e.g.*, policymakers, transit department officials, people with disabilities), each with individual priorities that might conflict with each other and diverse accessibility needs, leading to ineffective decisions taken around accessibility (*People*) problem). Note, 'people' inherently includes the context within which these stakeholders operate and thus, suggests understanding the problem domain context as well.

The second reason for the lack of tools is the absence of comprehensive and relevant accessibility datasets for these diverse contexts (*Data* problem). Prior work has extensively studied the physical barriers in the environment through traditional approaches of manually auditing city streets and sidewalks [254, 366]. However, no scalable approaches exist for digitally collecting such accessibility data at scale.

Finally, designing for such diverse decision contexts while considering the varied stakeholder perspectives and data needs is challenging. While past work has studied individual contexts separately [158], further investigation is needed to understand how stakeholders want to interact with this data and what data representations would best cater to the diverse contexts.

In this dissertation, I characterize urban accessibility along these three prongs to develop a deeper understanding of the influence of the socio-political context on urban scale decisionmaking and design of tools in this multi-stakeholder space. Further, I investigate the design of interactive data-driven tools that provide actionable insights about infrastructure (in)accessibility.

1.1 Thesis Statement

The dissertation claim is summarized in the following thesis statement:

Interactive data-driven tools for urban accessibility that incorporate the social, political, and individual contexts of varied stakeholders lead to multi-faceted decision-making tools providing actionable insights.

1.2 Dissertation: Overview and Contributions

To support my thesis claim, this dissertation contributes an analysis of the urban accessibility domain, its stakeholders and users, and studies the role and design of data-driven technology within the socio-political complexities of the civic decision-making ecosystem.

I take a multi-stakeholder approach to study the needs of diverse stakeholder groups, referred as 'stakeholders' for the rest of the dissertation. Specifically, there are two primary stakeholder groups: (1) *People who are directly affected by inaccessible infrastructure*. They include MI individuals (*e.g.*, wheelchair users, cane users, guide dog users) and caregivers. (2) *People who are responsible for making change i.e., improving infrastructure accessibility*. They include policymakers such as elected officials; department officials such as from Department of Transportation (DOTs); accessibility advocates such as NGOs, non-profits, or individuals. Finally, a third group are the volunteers who are crucial towards large-scale data collection efforts and may not directly benefit from accessibility improvements.

I pose the overarching research question of "*how can data-driven technology support stakeholders in understanding, advocating, and making decisions about urban accessibility?*" I aim to transform how we collect, quantify, visualize, and communicate urban accessibility data. This dissertation research involves designing, building, evaluating, and deploying a suite of interactive data-driven tools for mapping and assessing urban accessibility.

I break down the overarching research question along the previously identified three-pronged problem space of urban accessibility:

- **RQ1:** How do stakeholders assess urban accessibility and what are the factors in their decision-making processes? (*People* problem)
- **RQ2:** How do we gather sidewalk accessibility data at scale? (*Data* problem)
- **RQ3:** How might we design accessibility-aware tools to facilitate understanding, decision-making, and communication of urban accessibility data? (*Tools* problem)

1.2.1 Dissertation Overview

For addressing each of these problems, my research follows three threads: (i) Socio-Political Environment Analysis (RQ1), (ii) Scalable Data Collection (RQ2), (iii) Interactive Data-driven Decision-Making Tools (RQ3).

To address the people problem (RQ1), Chapter 3 captures the first thread where I uncover urban accessibility assessment decision-making processes for infrastructure development of multiple stakeholders, the socio-political challenges therein, and the role of data and technology supporting stakeholder needs [306].

Chapter 4 covers the Scalable Data Collection thread (RQ2), where I present Project Sidewalk, a Google Street-View based tool for crowdsourcing sidewalk accessibility data remotely and at scale [238, 308, 310]. I further show how we designed, deployed, and evaluated Project Sidewalk through three studies: public city-wide deployment, data validation, and an interview study.

Finally, towards designing urban accessibility tools (RQ3), I present two design-probe studies that generate design implications for two applications: interactive visualizations (Chapter 5) [309] and AI-driven in-situ navigation (Chapter 6) [307]. The tools aim to allow stakeholders to enquire and assess the state of urban (in)accessibility in-situ during travel for people with visual disabilities and remotely by multiple stakeholders. The tools answer questions such as "What is around me?", "Why does my neighborhood have poor accessibility?", "What are the major areas that need significant repairs?", "Is accessibility poor in historically underserved areas with low socioeconomic status?".

1.2.2 Thesis Contributions

Contributions from my dissertation research are two-fold: academic and real-world impact. The key academic contributions (Figure 1.2) include,



Figure 1.2: Overview of the dissertation contributions (clockwise from the top): Civic Interaction Space (Subfig A), Project Sidewalk (Subfig B), City-scale Sidewalk Datasets (Subfig C), and Interactive Data-driven Tools (Subfig D-E).

- (i) demonstrating multi-stakeholder analysis as a method to understand complex sociopolitical realities of a civic and urban ecosystem as well as understand human-data interactions with urban accessibility datasets [306, 309]
- (ii) a *Civic Interaction Space* that lays out the roles of and interactions between stakeholders in a civic decision-making structure and identifies points of technological interventions for urban accessibility tasks [306]
- (iii) Project Sidewalk demonstrating a scalable approach for remote data collection of sidewalk accessibility at scale [239, 310]
- (iv) the first-ever tech-enabled and publicly available city-wide sidewalk accessibility datasets with over 260,000+ labels from the pilot deployment in Washington DC [239, 240, 308]

- (v) AccessVis, a set of design guidelines for building interactive geo-visualization tools for urban accessibility through the analysis of stakeholders' sensemaking practices interacting with urban accessibility data [309]
- (vi) Landmark AI, a prototype demonstrating an AI-driven navigation approach using computer vision with audio-based AR to overcome the wayfinding challenge of the last few meters of destinations where GPS fails [307]

Beyond academic contributions, this research has led to real-world impact by inspiring (i) 10+ cities around the world to deploy Project Sidewalk [232–238] for informing policymaking (*e.g.*, San Pedro (Mexico)'s Pedestrian Master Plan), (ii) research efforts in universities to develop automated data collection approaches using our datasets [376, 378], and (iii) data enthusiasts visualizing these datasets for their personal context and needs [263, 264].

2 Background and Related Work

In this chapter, I review relevant work framing the dissertation. Specifically, I present a background on mobility disabilities and the corresponding physical access needs, followed by a review of urban accessibility definitions, what constitutes an accessible environment, and the laws and regulations that govern infrastructure development. Finally, I review what interactive data-driven tools exist in this space. Related work specific to a particular chapter is introduced before that chapter.

2.1 Target Community: People with Mobility Disabilities

People with mobility disabilities have some form of mobility impairment, which can be caused by sensory impairments (*e.g.*, loss of vision or hearing), motor impairments (*e.g.*, loss of function in the lower- and/or upper-body), and cognitive impairments. Depending on the type and severity of disability, MI individuals may choose to use different forms of mobility aids such as wheelchairs, canes, and/or walkers. Both the type of MI and form of mobility aid impacts how an individual may move about and navigate a city. For example, people with vision impairments may use canes or guide dogs and use physical features of the environment as landmarks for navigation [29, 113, 307]. People in wheelchairs require wide sidewalks without path obstacles such as poles, surface degradations, or missing curb ramps. In this dissertation, we focus on individuals having an impairment affecting their lower and/or upper body extremities as well as people with visual impairments (blind or low-vision); both groups' mobility is directly impacted by inaccessible physical infrastructure. Collectively, I refer to them as MI individuals throughout this dissertation. The implications from our findings on data/tool needs to support daily living decisions would likely apply to other groups as well.

2.2 Defining Urban Accessibility: Confluence of Accessibility, Mobility, and Disability

Urban accessibility is a wicked problem¹ spanning multiple disciplines such as transportation and urban planning, disability studies, human geography, and urban sociology. To understand what makes a *'built environment'* inaccessible, we need to understand the confluence of *accessibility*, *disability*, and *mobility*.

Since the 1950s, urban accessibility has been primarily studied within transportation and urban planning. Here, researchers broadly characterize accessibility as *"interactions between human and lands"* [156], and more specifically, *"the ease or difficulty for people to reach opportunities and services"* [92, 371]. These definitions strongly tie accessibility to mobility within cities [219], however, they do not account for mobility and physical differences across individuals [73, 333]. In contrast, the socio-political model of disability defines disability as *"a product of a dynamic interaction of human and the environment"*, an expansion of the earlier definition [156], and shifts the emphasis from *"the individual"* to *"the broader social, cultural, economic, and political environment"* [149, 150, 188]. In this dissertation, I adopt this socio-political model to advance understanding of the barriers to urban infrastructure accessibility [157, 253].

Prior work has shown that built infrastructure [111, 254, 366] and socio-economic status [5, 49, 128, 146, 371] can lead to inequities in access to opportunities and services of an MI

¹Wicked problems are *"ill-defined and they rely upon elusive political judgment for resolution"* [81, 300]. Rittel and Webber cast public policy and planning problems such as urban accessibility as wicked where there is no definitive formulation or clear solution

individual. Beyond availability of built infrastructure, quality of access across the entire spectrum of physical access needs is crucial: from accessible pedestrian infrastructure (*e.g.*, sidewalks) to public transportation (*e.g.*, buses, trains) and transit infrastructure (*e.g.*, elevators, subway platforms) to the accessibility of destinations (*e.g.*, buildings and facilities). In this dissertation, I focus on pedestrian infrastructure accessibility, specifically sidewalks; however, the participants often referred to accessibility issues along the entire spectrum, allowing us to draw broader implications on factors influencing accessible infrastructure development.

My focus is on sidewalks which are a part of the 'public right-of-way', defined as the land or property reserved for transportation purposes [48]. According to the US Access Board and Federal Highway Administration (FHWA) guidelines [47, 48, 114], accessible sidewalks include wide pathways and clearly defined zones such as pedestrian clear zone, sidewalk furniture zone (e.g., utility poles), and the frontage zone (e.g., storefront entrances)—Figure 2.1. The guidelines also require that sidewalks have minimal obstacles and protruding objects, moderate grades and cross slopes. For example, sidewalks must have as a minimum width of 1.525m (5ft) for pedestrian zones (Figure 2.1a) and a four-by-four foot length for perpendicular curb ramp at intersections (Figure 2.1b). Non-compliance constitutes a disabling built environment for an MI individual [150, 177].

2.3 Laws and Regulations

This dissertation focuses on the geographical context of the United States. In the US, the first public policy measure by Congress was the *Architecture Barriers Act of 1968* (ABA) [45, 248]. However, a growing movement of disability rights activists began reframing disability not as a problem of mind or body but as a socially constructed form of societal oppression [110]. Bolstered by these efforts, the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 was passed stating that no qualified individual with a disability should be excluded from or denied benefits of any



Figure 2.1: Illustrations of sidewalk and curb ramp design. Figure A shows City of Montgomery's Urban Design Guidelines on designing sidewalks [285]. US Access Board requires a minimum of 5ft width for Pedestrian Zones. Figure B shows the design of an accessible curb ramp [46].

program receiving federal assistance (29 U.S.C. 794d. Section 504). It was not until the landmark Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) in 1990 [248], however, that protections were extended beyond the government sector. Critically, the ADA recognized the minority status of Americans with disabilities—modelled after the Civil Rights Act of 1964—and required places of *"public accommodation"* to provide people with disabilities appropriate aids or services [361].

Together, the Rehabilitation Act and the ADA regulate the accessibility of public rightsof-way and facilities in the US [48]; however, they do not define the specific accessibility standards themselves. For this, the US employs the US Access Board—an independent federal agency responsible for developing official accessible design requirements [48, 360] (Figure 2.1). Compliance is mandatory and enforced by the Department of Justice.

The impact of these policies on pedestrian infrastructure can be seen in cities, where, for example, curb ramps are increasingly common at street intersections [1, 82, 108, 293, 345]. However, despite 30 years since the passage of the ADA, most cities still remain inaccessible

[348]. In the US, lawsuits typically led by advocacy groups are the most common way of holding cities accountable [42, 70, 206, 345]. However, lawsuits only draw attention to the problem after the fact—*e.g.*, an accident due to a cracked sidewalk [207]. Alternatively, proactive measures to assess and track urban accessibility can promote accountability; however, with few exceptions [350, 352], these measures are not yet part of a city audit process due to time-consuming and expensive traditional physical audit methods. Crowdsourced data collecting tools (*e.g.*, [286, 310]) offer promising opportunities to quickly assess accessibility at scale. Additionally, new efforts demonstrate the power of involving citizens early in the infrastructure planning process and the use of technology to formulate and implement better policies [283]. Next, I review how data-driven technology and tools are currently being employed for urban accessibility needs across daily living, urban planning, policymaking, and advocacy.

2.4 Interactive Data-driven Urban Accessibility Tools

The aim of this dissertation is to transform the way we collect, quantify, visualize, and communicate urban accessibility data to support various stakeholder needs across diverse decision-making contexts. Across stakeholders [306], the data and task needs can be categorized into macro and micro level [309]. Macro level needs include urban planning (*e.g.*, prioritizing resources), policymaking (*e.g.*, conducting holistic analysis), and advocacy (*e.g.*, raising awareness). Micro-level needs include daily living decisions (*e.g.*, navigation). In this section, I frame my work by reviewing existing data-driven tools that serve these contexts, categorized across *data collection and generation*, *assessment and analytics*, and *communication and decision-support* for urban accessibility.

Data Collection and Generation Tools

Understanding urban accessibility at scale requires high-quality city-scale data on accessibility of the physical infrastructure. Efforts from universities, technology companies, and non-profit organizations have resulted in web-and mobile-based tools for gathering building and transit accessibility data such as Google Maps [10, 41], *WheelMap* [260, 380], UnlockedMaps [362], and others [125]. In this dissertation, I present *Project Sidewalk* [239, 310], a web-based crowdsourcing tool for collecting sidewalk accessibility data at scale.

Beyond raw accessibility data, there is also the need for capturing and generating the city streets and sidewalk network structure for serving tasks such as accessible navigation between destinations. While current mapping and navigation apps have comprehensive street network data, sidewalk networks are largely missing in these tools. Initial work by Bolten *et al.* [54] investigated algorithmically generating a well-connected sidewalk and crossing pedestrian graph. Very recently, Hosseini *et al.* [168] have started exploring crowd+ML pipelines with streetscape and satellite imagery for semi-automatically building a sidewalk network topology.

Finally, in addition to data collection and generation tools and techniques, established data standards are needed to ensure interoperability of the collected datasets from diverse settings [54, 124]. For example, cities and non-profits collecting their own accessibility datasets vary in the formats, granularity, and data types. As a result, the diversity of dataset formats significantly impacts design and development of interactive tools for urban planning due to data integration issues [125]. Recent standards such as *OpenSidewalks* [341] and *Accessibility Cloud* [6] are pushing towards addressing the lack of data standards and formats for urban accessibility. However, much work is needed to push these standards towards wider adoption across cities and independent organizations [125].

Assessment and Analytic Tools

Once we have well-formatted standardized datasets, next is the need for data-driven tools that consume these datasets to help discover and analyze patterns of (in)accessibility in cities. These assessment and analytic tools are envisioned to find socio-economic correlates to accessibility such as demographics, income, and geographic contexts and support cross-city comparisons. To enable these analytic tasks, we need city-scale accessibility metrics and models that are parameterizable to account for different factors of analyses such as sidewalk accessibility features, mobility profiles, and socio-economic factors. In this dissertation, we developed a preliminary accessibility model called *AccessScore* [220] that parameterizes sidewalk features and mobility level (*e.g.*, manual wheelchair *vs.* powered wheelchair). We used this model to create urban accessibility visualizations for later design probe studies [309]. However, the model is very simple and does not adequately capture the complexity in diverse mobility and accessibility needs as well as support socio-economic analysis. Recent work by Bolten *et al.* [53] propose more comprehensive metrics, namely, *normalized sidewalk reach* (*NSR*) and *sidewalk reach quotient* (*SRQ*), a walkshed-based metric and an inequity estimate respectively, that are based on individual pedestrian mobility profiles to evaluate their pedestrian access to the sidewalk network. More on accessibility metrics and models are covered in Section 5.2.2.

With these metrics and models, novel accessibility-infused tools can be developed ranging from accessible transit [334] to urban accessibility maps [51, 158, 220, 309]. Urban accessibility visualizations can enable identifying macro-level patterns such as inaccessible hotspots to micro-level patterns such as causes for inaccessibility in specific neighborhoods to complex analyses such as equity of access. With increasing number of urban-scale accessibility datasets, more accessibility-infused tools are now being developed. In this dissertation, I specifically study urban accessibility visualizations within the context of multi-stakeholder needs: how these diverse decision-contexts impact the design of geovisual analytic tools for urban accessibility.

Communication and Decision-Support Tools

Finally, the third category of tools are for communication and decision-support. These tools help convert analysis results into actionable insights for individual decision-making, by providing relevant context associated with the quantitative analysis. As a result, communication and decision-support tools operate in the realm of sensemaking and persuasion towards driving actions and decisions.

In this dissertation, I studied two categories of communication and decision-support tools: (1) visualization and storytelling tools (2) trip planning and navigation tools. Visualization and storytelling tools allow end users to create immersive stories by combining text, interactive maps, and other multimedia content. They can be designed to serve as a persuasive medium to support goals such as raising awareness. They also allow stakeholders, especially, non-technical users, to make sense of the raw data and associated analyses. As a result, they are commonly used for macro-level urban-scale decision-making needs (*e.g.*, civic text visualizations [31]). Other examples include using commercial tools such as Tableau Public [338] and ArcGIS [21] to create custom visualizations and story maps by data enthusiasts and non-profits (*e.g.*, Disability Rights WA's story map showing testimonials from MI individuals [374]). I studied the stakeholders' sensemaking practices to understand the information needs for aiding and driving decisions for their personal contexts (*e.g.*, daily living, advocacy).

Within the second tool category, I investigated the design of daily living (micro level) decisionmaking tools for people with mobility disabilities. These tools allow MI individuals to utilize urban accessibility datasets for accomplishing tasks such as finding an accessible path to travel or neighborhood to live or visit. Tools such as *AccessMap* [51, 54] provides customizable navigation support by visualizing pedestrian accessibility tailored to their personal mobility level (*e.g.*, manual wheelchair *vs.* cane user). *WheelMap* [260, 380] helps users find accessible destinations to visit. I specifically investigated tools for providing in-situ navigational guidance for people with visual disabilities (*Landmark AI* [307]) and determining neighborhood accessibility to determine where to live (*AccessVis* [220, 309]).

3 Urban Accessibility as a Socio-Political Problem: A Multi-Stakeholder Analysis

This chapter explores the socio-political context of urban accessibility, where I interviewed five primary stakeholder groups (N=25): (1) people with mobility disabilities, (2) caregivers, (3) accessibility advocates, (4) department officials, and (5) policymakers. Using a multi-stakeholder approach, I identify the different stakeholder perspectives, their accessibility assessment and decision-making practices, their data needs, their interactions with each other, and the existing challenges for making accessible infrastructure development decisions. Using the insights from these interviews, I explore how may technology enhance the stakeholders' decision-making processes and facilitate accessible infrastructure development.

3.1 Introduction

The United Nations' *New Urban Agenda* positions equity and inclusion as core principles of modern urban development [176]. However, understanding, planning, maintaining, and even defining *urban accessibility*—from sidewalks to public transportation to buildings—is complex and has long-challenged urban planners and governments [73]. While early work focused on understanding the impact of *physical barriers* on access and quality of life [111, 159, 254, 310, 366], more recent work investigates the underlying and often less visible *social* and *political* barriers [131, 209, 254, 265, 366]. Though valuable in broadening the foci of

urban accessibility research, this work has focused on only one or two stakeholder groups such as occupational therapists, architects [209] or people with disabilities [366].

In this work, we present a complementary, multi-stakeholder analysis of the priorities, perspectives, and local decision-making around urban accessibility—specifically, pedestrian infrastructure (Figure 3.1)—in three US cities: Seattle, Washington DC, and New York. We performed semi-structured interviews with 25 participants drawn from five stakeholder groups: (1) *policymakers* who develop city-wide accessibility policies and regulations, (2) *department officials* who implement and maintain these regulations (e.g., Department of Transportation, Office of Aging), (3) *accessibility advocates* who work towards changing ineffective policies, (4) *people with mobility impairments* (MI individuals) who have some form of mobility disability and directly experience (in)accessible environments; and (5) *caregivers* who are friends, family members, or professionals that care for MI individuals.

The semi-structured interview had two-parts: a formative component, which asked about perspectives of, approaches for, and decision-making processes around urban accessibility, and a design probe component, which examined reactions to envisioned urban accessibility analysis and visualization tools. In this work, we focus solely on the former to examine urban accessibility as a socio-political problem and how civic technologies may support change in this context. Here, change refers to improving accessibility development efforts. We seek to address the following research questions:

- **RQ1:** Across stakeholder groups, what are the information needs and challenges for assessing and making decisions around urban accessibility and the role of data and technology in these practices?
- **RQ2:** How do stakeholder groups communicate and interact together to assess priorities and make decisions?
- **RQ3:** What are the future design opportunities to improve existing assessment and decision-making practices?


Figure 3.1: Examples of sidewalk accessibility barriers. The last sub-figure shows multiple barriers present together: missing ramp, no sidewalk, and uneven surface.

Using iterative qualitative coding, we identify and present three high-level themes related to: data and technology practices, decision-making, and challenges impeding accessible infrastructure development. Our findings highlight the technological barriers in assessing urban accessibility as well as the socio-political barriers to infrastructure development. For the former, we identified disparities amongst groups in data and tool access. For example, policymakers had the least data/tool access while advocates had insufficient tools to fit their needs. For the latter, we found the presence of many actors, organizations, and their conflicting interests complicated decision-making and made accountability towards accessibility improvements hard. Combined with limited funding and public disinterest, political will to bring change was also affected.

Our work contributes to the growing CSCW/HCI literature on urban governance and civic systems using multi-stakeholder analysis as a method [24, 83, 193]. Using this approach, we extend prior work [209] by presenting the first US-focused study that brings multiple perspectives to understand accessible infrastructure development processes. Our contributions include: (1) understanding current practices and challenges of working within the sociopolitical realities of a civic ecosystem, (2) the role of technology in supporting and potentially undermining existing practices, (3) a *civic interaction space* that lays out the roles of and interactions between stakeholders in the civic decision-making structure, and (4) identifying points of future technological interventions in the form of data-driven assessment and civic engagement tools for improving accessibility through planning, advocacy, and policymaking.

3.2 Related Work: Civic Technology for Accessible Infrastructure Development

CSCW and HCI literature [23, 99, 106, 214, 281] suggests that civic engagement practices and the supporting civic tech have the potential to: (1) enable transparent interaction between the government and the public, promoting accountability [23, 84]; (2) help public officials make decisions around project planning [215]; (3) guide advocates [12, 22, 23, 132] and engage the public to participate in city decision-making [87, 202, 271, 312]. While civic tech has been studied broadly for infrastructure planning [83, 212, 213, 215, 216, 256], we explore the largely underexplored needs of urban accessibility planning and infrastructure development.

In the last decade, there has been a rise in data-driven civic participation tools for crowdsourcing data around urban accessibility. Few examples include 311 service requests [379] and citizen-reporting apps such as *SeeClickFix* [320], *StreetBump* [335], and others [116, 216, 252, 328]) to log broken sidewalk and other physical infrastructure issues. Beyond citizen-reporting apps that require physical presence at locations, remote inspection tools crowdsource accessibility issues (*e.g.*, via online streetview imagery [310]). In this chapter, we further investigate the role of data and civic technology in urban accessibility beyond data collection. We specifically expand our focus from daily living needs for MI individuals (*e.g.*, [54, 158]) to urban-scale decision-making: identify differences in needs and availability of data-driven decision support tools for advocacy, city maintenance, and policymaking.

More recently, Olivier and Wright argued going "beyond volunteerism toward a model of *citizen-led service commissioning*" that encourages long-term engagements with *multiple* stakeholders through relational models of public service instead of transactional models where citizens act as consumers of government-led services [281]. Rooted in participatory design methods [267], the relational model encourages shared governance via collaborative decision-making practices [14, 283] that ensures citizens' voices are heard and reflected in

government policies [72]. While participatory methods have been used to design accessibilityaware assistive tools [158], no efforts have yet been made to study the needs for developing tools that support citizen participation in infrastructure planning decisions to address accessibility issues. In this chapter, I introduce a civic interaction space based on our findings and insights from prior CSCW case studies [83, 87, 271] on understanding the challenges in operating within complex socio-political urban contexts with participatory tools and processes.

3.3 Interview Study

3.3.1 Methodology

To better understand contrasting perspectives, decision-making practices, and socio-political factors surrounding urban accessibility in US cities, we conducted semi-structured interviews with five stakeholder groups (N=25): (1) *policymakers* (*e.g.*, elected officials from city councils or their legislative staff members), (2) *department officials* (*e.g.*, employees from city transportation departments (DOTs) and related organizations), (3) *accessibility advocates* (*e.g.*, those working or volunteering in disability advocacy groups or organizations), (4) *MI individuals*, and (5) *caregivers*. The interview session had two parts: a formative inquiry asking about experiences with urban accessibility and a *design probe* inquiry soliciting reactions to interactive visualizations of sidewalk accessibility data. Below, we focus our analyses on Part 1 that investigated the decision-making practices and uncovered socio-political factors affecting accessibility development efforts.

Our Part 1 interview script included questions shared across all five stakeholder groups as well as a group-dependent set. For the shared questions, we asked about urban accessibility perspectives, how they assess "accessibility", and the role of data and technology therein. For the group-specific questions, we asked department officials, policymakers, and advocates groups about their role in their organization and the citizen engagement practices used. We

P#	Group	Affiliation	Role(s)	Additional Notes
P1	М			Powered Wheelchair User
P2	М			Powered Wheelchair User
P3	D & C	Department of Transportation	Sidewalk Repair Program Manager	Father under care
P4	С			Husband under care
P5	М			Powered Wheelchair User
P6	С			Daughter under care
P7	A & C	Tech-based Disability Adv. Org.	Director	Daughter under care
P8	D	Department of Transportation	Asset Management Strategic Advisor	
P9	М			Manual wheelchair User
P10	М			Cane User
P11	Α	Walkability Adv. Org.	Vice Pres., Policy Committee Chair	
P12	D	Department of Transportation	ADA Coordinator	
P13	A & M	Disability Adv. Org.	Senior official	Manual Wheelchair User
P14	А	Neighborhood Adv. Group	Co-lead	Former Mayoral Candidate
P15	A & M	City Commission for Disabilities	Member	Cane User
P16	A	Law Firm	Partner, Lawyer	
P17	РМ	City Council	Policy Analyst	Assists all city council members; Liaison between DOT and the council
P18	PM	State Legislation	Ex-State Representative	Former Mayoral Candidate
P19	D	Office of Disability Rights	ADA Architect	
P20	A & C	City Commission for Disabilities	Volunteer	Husband under care
P21	D	Department of Transportation	Chief Performance Officer	
P22	D	Department of Transportation	ADA Coordinator	
P23	PM	City Council	Analyst	
P24	А	Disability Adv. Org.	Executive Director	
P25	PM	City Council	Elected Official	

Table 3.1: Participant demographics. For groups, M=MI individuals, C=caregivers A=advocates, D=department officials, and PM=policymakers. Five participants self-identified into multiple group categories.

also enquired about accessibility considerations during decision-making such as when moving to a new neighborhood (for MI/caregivers) or when determining where to allocate time and resources (for department officials, policymakers, and advocates). The full study session lasted approximately two hours (Part 1 was approximately 30 minutes). Sessions were audio and video recorded and conducted in person by the first author in the participants' respective city. At the beginning of the interview, participants completed a pre-study questionnaire gathering demographic data, where participants self-identified with a group(s). Participants were compensated US\$25/hour and up to US\$30 for transportation costs.

3.3.2 Participants

We recruited 25 participants (11 female) aged between 25–72 (*Mean*=48.3, *Median*=45, SD=14.5) across three major US cities: Washington DC (*N*=5), Seattle (*N*=19), and New York (*N*=1). All three cities have a mayor-council form of government, where the city council members are elected members responsible for developing policies (legislative branch) and the mayor directs the city departments (*e.g.*, DOT) for implementing those policies (executive branch) [266]. Across these cities, we had six department officials (D), eight accessibility advocates (A), four policymakers (PM), seven MI individuals (M), and five caregivers (C). Five participants identified with two stakeholder groups and were interviewed from both perspectives (Table 3.1). Participants were recruited through mailing lists, word-of-mouth, social media, and directed emails. Below, we refer to participants by 'P' suffixed by their participant number and stakeholder group [D | A | PM | M | C].

3.3.3 Analysis Method

The audio recordings were transcribed and we thematically analyzed the interviews using a mixture of deductive and inductive coding [56]. The primary researcher prepared an initial codebook based on the interview questions. Four researchers coded a randomly selected transcript. We used Cohen's Kappa [367] for establishing inter-rater reliability (IRR); three pairs of IRR values were calculated with respect to the primary researcher. For the first iteration, the average IRR was 0.41 (pairwise IRRs: $R1_{\kappa}=0.63$, $R2_{\kappa}=0.35$, $R3_{\kappa}=0.24$) suggesting more iterations [367]. The codebook went through three such iterations of removing and/or collapsing conflicting codes and resolving disagreements, before establishing substantial agreement (range=0.61-0.80) at an average IRR of 0.68 (pairwise IRRs: $R1_{\kappa}=0.81$, $R2_{\kappa}=0.62$, $R3_{\kappa}=0.61$). The final codebook contained 62 codes grouped into seven high-level themes, including assessment methods, data sources and tools used, and prioritization practices and factors (Table 3.2). The remaining transcripts were divided amongst the four researchers and coded independently using the final codebook (Appendix A).

Major Themes	Description		
T1: Participant Roles	What roles did stakeholders have as an official in their organization towards accessibility development? Applicable only to advocates, policymakers, and department officials.		
T2: Barriers to Travel	What do stakeholders look for when assessing state of accessibility and needs? Describes the barriers that people with mobility disabilities face. Code examples include personal barriers, physical barriers, building accessibility.		
T3: Assessment Methods	What were the assessment methods used for accessibility? Code examples include visual inspection, taking pictures, physical audits, surveys, ask people.		
T4: Accessibility Metrics	How did stakeholders quantify accessibility? Code examples include sidewalk feature measurements, priority index, building feature measurements, travel time.		
T5: Data Sources	What data do they rely on for making these assessments? Code examples include citizen provided data, internal data sources, external/agency data, open data.		
T6: Digital Tools Used	What digital tools do participants use (if any) for making accessibility assessments? Code examples include online streetview imagery, imaging equipment, satellite imagery, GIS and mapping tools.		
T7: Prioritization Practices and Factors	What parameters/factors are considered when making assessments and decisions? How do they or would want to prioritize when making decisions (<i>e.g.</i> , for resource investments, policy making, advocacy efforts, daily living)? Code examples include infrastructure utilization, population density, area demographics, decision-making questions, limitations		

Table 3.2: Codebook summary of our seven high-level themes. Detailed list of codes available in Appendix A. T2 and T4 are not covered due to their prominence in prior work (see [254, 366]).

3.4 Findings

We categorize our findings into four groups: (1) data and technology practices for accessibility assessments, (2) interactions between stakeholders influencing accessible infrastructure development, (3) decision-making practices related to urban accessibility, and (4) complexities and challenges for city-scale decisions. Across these categories, we highlight similarities and differences in perspectives among our stakeholder groups. Participant quotes have been lightly edited for concision, grammar, and anonymity.

3.4.1 Overview of Stakeholders and Perspectives

To contextualize our findings and establish each stakeholder group's position, we first synthesize their key needs, goals, and responsibilities related to urban accessibility. Upon analysis, we recognized that both MI and caregivers voiced similar perspectives, leading us to subsequently combine them. MI individuals make up 58.3% (7/12) of the combined group.

MI/Caregivers (N=12). MI individuals and caregivers emphasized safety and quality of physical access—to transportation and destinations—as well as the freedom and support to move around a city. For example, "Is it going to be a smooth [curb ramp], is it going to end in a safe place, not out in the middle of the traffic?" (P6C), "How accessible is the entrance to the building? Are there stairs?" (P10M), "Is there transit and where is it?" (P15AM). These decision-making factors are dictated by personal needs and are granular in nature.

Policymakers (N=4). Policymakers care about the prioritization and distribution of resources amongst several urban issues, one of which is accessibility. A key concern and tension is funding: "Making the funding pie for walking facilities as big as possible when we would have budget negotiations, really putting a strong stake in the ground" (P18PM). Policymakers must carefully balance new proposed capital projects, which are typically easier to fund, with maintenance projects: "Do we only invest in new sidewalks or do we invest in repairing our existing sidewalks?" (P25PM). Given that policy decisions affect the entire city, equitable distribution of resources is an important consideration especially for serving historically underserved neighborhoods. This involves "…working with my constituents, particularly my constituents who may be disabled. […] We would literally just talk about parts of the district that were in need of additional investment. I would then go and specifically advocate for those investments." (P18PM).

Department Officials (N=6). Department officials are the implementers. They are responsible for executing policy and making accessibility improvements to create ADA-compliant infrastructure. Their primary concern is understanding how best to utilize allocated funds: "what are potentially the highest priority sidewalks?" (P12D). To do so, they first understand current infrastructure conditions to identify unsafe or inaccessible locations (e.g., "Are there minimum clearance issues? [...] Cross slope issues?" —P8D, "If it's lifted, is it sunk

in?"—P21D). To inform their decision making, department officials conduct precise, onsite measurements of infrastructure and potential accessibility issues.

Advocates (N=8). Advocates represent people in need. They closely engage with the disability community to understand and change the status quo, gather support around issues, and act as an intermediator with the city leadership: "We [an advocate] ask a representative from either the council, [...] or [city] department to come to a commission meeting so that we can ask them about any upcoming ideas or projects that might be happening to address that concern" (P15AM). Their primary concern is to maximize the impact of their advocacy efforts and affect change, which requires raising awareness around issues: "We do a tremendous amount of what's called systems advocacy, and we do a great deal of education of community leaders in [city-name] and [state-name] concerning the status of people with disabilities" (P24A). In addition to understanding the city infrastructure, advocates are interested in understanding city politics for efficient and impactful communication with the government. They identify and investigate ongoing problems and hold administrators accountable, as P14A explained: "There's a new curb bulb or new curb ramp, but they didn't install it correctly. Like when did that happen and how? Was it a part of this administration [...]?".

3.4.2 Data and Technology Practices for Accessibility Assessments

To understand how our stakeholders perceived, experienced, and assessed pedestrian accessibility—in their daily and/or professional lives—we asked participants about their assessment practices and the role of data and technology therein. Across stakeholder groups, two primary methods emerged: in-person and technology-mediated approaches.

In-person Methods

The two primary in-person methods were (1) physical inspections, where participants went out to assess the built environment and (2) engaging with people, where participants interacted with others to gain knowledge.



Figure 3.2: Roles and Interactions between groups involved in city-scale decision-making.

Physical inspections. All stakeholder groups used some form of physical on-site inspection—which were perceived as the most accurate and up-to-date technique—but they differed in terms of purpose, measurement approach, and outcome. MI individuals and caregivers constantly "inspect" as part of their everyday lived experience, taking note of safe, accessible routes in situ. As P5M describes: "*If* [a sidewalk is] too steep of an angle, I have to tip my chair back. Or if there's a big bump, I'd have to go extra slow." In contrast, department officials took precise measurements using specialized civil engineering tools to ensure ADA compliance and inform maintenance and construction efforts. Though this quantitative data lacked the qualitative nuance of the MI experience, it could be easily input into planning tools. As P8D, a DOT official, explains:

"We use non-subjective data measurements to collect that [sidewalk] information...apply a condition algorithm, in addition to what we found along the sidewalk to say is it very poor, poor, fair, good, or excellent condition sidewalk? An excellent condition sidewalk has at least 48" of width, it has a cross slope of no more than 2%. It has no observable issues along the sidewalk for barriers." (P8D) Similarly, but with varied measurement technique and purpose, advocates used both physical measurements as well as taking pictures of sites to gather evidence for accessibility litigations and advocacy campaigns. As P24A described,

"In our survey, [...] people used actual measurements of each curb ramp. We documented that at least 77% of the curb ramps in [city] were missing, not constructed according to Americans with Disabilities Act standards, or were not maintained and were broken in a way that is dangerous not only for people using wheelchairs but also canes and walkers." (P24A)

Advocates also resorted to creative methods such as using their shoes as an instrument to gauge surface issues: *"I use my shoes. If the heave is bigger than that, then that's really bad."* (P11A).

In contrast, policymakers did not conduct precise physical audits themselves but instead relied on formal reports from city departments. They did, however, participate in neighborhood walk-throughs [231] with their constituents to better understand issues in their localities either proactively or reactively to citizen complaints. A department official described a walkthrough involving all stakeholder groups, which blends physical inspections with citizen engagement:

"We'll do mayor's walk through [...] that'll be a walk with the mayor and the community and all the agencies. We walk for two miles and look at everything from signs to sidewalks to ramps to abandoned cars, vacant buildings. So, it's usually 30 or 40 government employees and anywhere from 30 to 100 citizens." (P21D)

Engaging with People. While physical inspections provided visual validation, direct measurements, and experiential evidence, engaging with people enabled understanding on-the-ground "lived" experiences of MI individuals as exemplified by an advocate (P24A): "people being stuck at the base of an improperly constructed curb ramp, or being jettisoned from their chair into the street as a result of a wrongly-designed curb ramp." Similarly, for MI individuals and caregivers, these personal experiences became the next most trusted

information source after their own when making life decisions (*e.g.*, traveling to unfamiliar locations): *"I've found that able bodied people, they're not reliable because they don't look with the eyes of a disabled person."* (P1M).

Each group differed in their approach and purpose to gather these personal accounts. Similar to prior work [83], we found department officials performed both transactional service engagements and relational engagements. Transactional engagements involved acquiring subjective experiences reactively through 311 service requests or proactively through large-scale field surveys to inform project priorities and investments. Relational engagements [83, 281, 368] involved engaging with advocates and the public through community meetings to gain deeper understanding of issues: "We go to seven to 12 ANC [advisory neighborhood commissions] meetings every two weeks, roughly. Those are representatives of the community. [...] We go to those meetings [...] where the public is supposed to work through those [ANC] people" (P21D). In contrast, policymakers primarily performed relational engagements through townhalls, the aforementioned neighborhood walk-throughs, and digital media to develop trust and build public support from potential voters. Unlike government officials, advocates collected lived experiences primarily through personal interactions with people with disabilities and the community to run campaigns for raising awareness, educating community leaders, drawing public attention to an issue, and gathering evidence for issue-based litigations. Depending on the goal, often a combination of the in-person methods was utilized to complement the gathered qualitative evidence. An advocate explained,

"We created this class action based on, at first, anecdotal evidence obtained through focus groups, interviews, review of data, public notification, and [then] direct on-the-ground, monitored surveys using an approved instrument, so that we could be confident that we [were able to] generalize beyond anecdotal evidence, which is often disdained, despite its validity." (P24A) Despite the benefits, policymakers found it challenging to engage with a wide range of people due to the need for additional effort, time, continued motivation to participate, especially for unpaid volunteers and resource-constrained engaged citizens:

"Usually, we'll only have the ANC commissioner, the hyper-local representative for that area and ANCs tend to be somewhat representative but it's also not paid so people have to either have the time or the resources to do it. And then usually on top of that, we'll maybe get like one or two other residents that generally are already pretty well plugged in to that process. So yeah, I will say it's difficult to hear from a wider range of people but that's a problem everywhere." (P23PM)

Technology-based Assessment Methods

All groups utilized some form of a digital tool to help locate and assess inaccessible areas. Unlike other groups, department officials had access to specialized mapping and analytic tools such as ArcGIS's Field Maps (formerly, Collector app) [20] and Cyclomedia [91], which enabled complex geo-spatial analyses such as connecting demographics with accessibility conditions to help inform planning. In contrast, policymakers desired summary reports and visualizations to help gain broad overviews and make resource appropriation decisions. For example, P18PM mentioned using geo-located dot maps: "Nothing super sophisticated but city maps with dots saying, 'There is a broken sidewalk here. There is a curb cut here." (P18PM). Advocates created maps for their own analytical understanding and to aid advocacy efforts: "We have created maps of the city and we have used them to overlay obstacles to transportation, so that we can identify on a map showing where people in the greatest need live, the transportation deserts for people with disabilities" (P24A). Finally, MI and caregivers used publicly available mapping tools, such as Google Street View (GSV) or AccessMap [51], to assess both the accessibility of routes and destinations (reaffirming work by Hara *et al.* [158]).

Our stakeholders relied on a variety of data sources for achieving their group-specific goals and tasks such as using online streetview imagery to perform initial remote assessments. However, for some stakeholders such as policymakers, the availability, quality, and accessibility of datasets limited data-driven analyses and decision making; many city data sources were only available-on-request. As a result, advocates and policymakers relied on external sources (*e.g.*, from transit agencies) and open data sources (*e.g.*, collision and incident reports, planning documents, academic research). Advocates desired up-to-date data that were often not readily available (*e.g.*, pedestrian and bicycle incidents). Consequently, they often resorted to unconventional data sources such as news articles about accessibility issues in an area, subpoenas, and depositions. In contrast, MI individuals and caregivers did not explore these avenues, likely due to high costs of access and low returns.

Limitations. Despite their advantages, the value of technology-based methods was limited by the appropriateness of tools and underlying data sources. Most commercially available tools did not provide up-to-date information, a key need of advocates and people with disabilities—for example, locations of construction blockages. The most common tool used by all groups, especially MI/caregivers, was GSV, yet participants found it insufficient due to a lack of precise information (*e.g.*, curb ramp slope), obstructed views, and outdated imagery: "Often they are so delayed in reaching the Internet that they're not relevant to current conditions, or they may have been remedied or they may have been assessed by us as being fine, but then become damaged because they are so delayed" (P24A). These limitations can be attributed to the fact that GSV was not designed with accessibility concerns at the forefront.

Similar concerns of lack of reliable, up-to-date, and granular data sources also hold true for open city data sources. Department officials mentioned maintaining an accurate reliable dataset of sidewalk issues is challenging due to high maintenance costs. Beyond mapping tools, existing visualization tools were insufficient to inform and aid people in making goaloriented decisions around urban accessibility. Policymakers and department officials both described a lack of visual tools in legislator and city meetings: "As a legislator, we very rarely got briefed with visual tools. It was very sad." (P18PM). The policymaker P18PM, who previously worked as an advocate, further noted: "Honestly as an advocate, we would have been much more likely to use finely grained visual tools so that we could, from the ground up, help develop policy".

3.4.3 Interactions between Stakeholders for Accessible Infrastructure Development

In this section, we explore interactions between stakeholder groups and their decisionmaking practices around accessible infrastructure development. We focus on policymakers and department officials who govern, plan, and implement infrastructure development and advocates who attempt to influence policy decisions and voice MI/caregiver concerns.

Figure 3.2 summarizes the role of the three stakeholders in accessible urban development, which we expand on below. All stakeholder interactions were to achieve two key goals: (1) setting city priorities and agendas and (2) prioritizing investments. We first elaborate how policymakers and department officials interacted and worked together and then explain the various roles advocates adopted to participate in the decision-making process.

Role of Policymakers and Department Officials

To achieve the two decision-making goals, both stakeholders worked together to investigate accessibility issues, evaluate the issues' impact, set funding priorities, develop policies and courses of action, and monitor progress. As legislators and elected representatives, policymakers are responsible for developing laws and regulatory measures. As advisors, investigators, and implementers, department officials assist policymakers to meet the set agendas by developing and implementing infrastructure maintenance plans.

As the first step of developing action plans, policymakers identified the most vulnerable populations affected by inaccessible infrastructure. To do so, further analyses into the specific accessibility issues and their impact were determined with the help of department officials, who conduct analyses using field data such as sidewalk condition assessments. Further, both stakeholders interacted with the affected communities to ensure citizen needs were represented in the decision-making process. While department officials engaged with people with disabilities to inform their maintenance plans, policymakers focused on communicating process and potential outcomes to their constituents. Policymakers also oversaw departmental progress on identified priorities: *"[one role of] the legislative department is oversight.* Bring in the [city DOT] to explain themselves [...] - what is their approach for addressing scooter use on sidewalks?" (P17PM).

Beyond determining citizen needs, budgeting was the next crucial element for developing action plans. Policymakers controlled the budgetary allocations. When formulating plans, they asked questions such as: "how efficient is this [an action plan]; how much money are we spending; can we move things around? [...]" (P17PM) and relied on department officials to bring policy recommendations forward. Based on allocated funds, department officials determined the specifics of the action plan: "I will work on identifying, given the budget we have, usually around \$3 to \$5 million a year, which sidewalks are in greatest need of repair. And then we work on drawing up plans and scheduling those projects with our internal crew staff." (P8D).

Role of Advocates

While policymakers and department officials had significant control from within the government, advocates externally influenced policies and investment plans by taking on several roles: investigator for locating issues, advisor for providing policy recommendations, educator for raising awareness around issues, mediator for bridging the gap between government and the public through communication, and litigator for fighting on behalf of the people in need.

As investigators, advocates identified communities in need of assistance and the barriers they faced. Based on their investigations, they sought support from the political leadership to make them aware of accessibility issues in their constituencies by educating them: *"We look at disparities between people with and without disabilities on each of the issues and across* each of the populations and publish reports that we make available to policymakers [and] community leaders" (P24A).

Communicating with policymakers involved understanding the political atmosphere, dynamics of city politics, and building relationship. For instance, advocates identified who had the most power and who they had to convince or negotiate with for affecting change

"In [our city] for example, the mayor runs the DOT and really has a lot of power. And in theory, the city council controls the purse strings, controls how funding is doled out. [...]. And so, I'd look at that and see, is this something where I'd be butting heads with the mayor all the time... or is it something where the council members could actually make something happen?" (P14A)

To effectively communicate, advocates identified policymakers' priorities and concerns and accordingly framed their requests: *"Trying to get to know legislators and sort of understand them so that you can [...] frame the issue in a way that makes sense to them."* (P11A). Additionally, serving on advisory boards to the mayor, city council, and/or city departments allowed for closer interactions and influence over policy decisions. As advisors, they had *"a voice at the table"* (P18PM) representing community needs, helping set agendas, and crafting ADA transition plans for barrier removal:

"The city council or the mayor or a department [DOT] would reach out to myself, my co-chair or liaisons and say 'Hey, we are thinking about putting curb cuts in this neighborhood. We want to make sure we do it right. Either can I send a legislative aid to come to your meeting or can you give us some recommendations on how to do that?" (P15AM)

Finally, for raising public awareness, advocates conducted campaigns through various media to draw attention to the identified accessibility issues. For example:

"...[We] went to the public media—the large newspapers, television stations, radio stations—and talked about these problems and we had them film people with disabilities attempting to navigate, to cross streets, and demonstrating by physically showing what happens when a curb ramp is improper. These were aired publicly, drawing attention to the issue so that the general public might know, including people with disabilities who might then come forward with their issues." (P24A)

3.4.4 Decision-Making Practices for Accessible Infrastructure Development

Continuing with the three stakeholder groups—policymakers, department officials, and advocates—we describe decision-making practices related to accessible infrastructure development. In short, all stakeholder groups attempted to maximize impact of the limited funding and ensure equitable distribution; however, groups differed in their goal, data access, and analysis approaches. We elaborate on this decision-making workflow by first discussing impact assessment considerations followed by a set of prioritization factors and strategies.

Impact Assessment Considerations

Participants described two considerations for assessing potential investment impact: equity and gentrification. For equity, stakeholders analyzed how investments reached across socioeconomic strata of the city. Similar to past studies [16, 142, 273, 385, 386], policymakers and advocates noted that some neighborhoods remained historically underserved and mobility issues disproportionately affected people of color and people with disabilities, who commonly relied on public transit and pedestrian infrastructure: *"People who are Hispanic and Latino, and people who are Black or African-American would be disproportionately affected, because they live in greater concentrations in low-income housing, according to our statistical portraits. And they have less access to transportation due to transportation deserts in their neighborhoods, the lack of access to subway, elevators, ramps, escalators." (P24A). An elected official described the need for conscious and aggressive efforts towards making cities equitable:*

"The city has a commitment, and I have a commitment personally, [...] to try to make our city more equitable. To the extent that inequities exist, and they exist massively in [city-name], we need to be making disproportionate investments to undo the disproportionate investments made by prior generations." (P25PM) Policymakers and advocates also assessed the impact of urban development on gentrification and displacement: "A complicated reality is that gentrified neighborhoods tend to be more accessible neighborhoods, which is complicated for a whole host of reasons" (P13AM). As urban neighborhoods gentrify, their street-level infrastructure is upgraded, improving accessibility; however, those who could benefit the most are often forced out due to unaffordability. This complex relationship between urban investment and impact on livability and affordability has long-been a concern amongst the urban planning community since the 1960s [121, 133, 135, 140, 398]. However, the specific role of accessibility is still an open question, as P25PM explains:

"Another factor that is complicated [...] is will this [...] investment accelerate displacement? If I'm in a low-income neighborhood in a community that doesn't have any sidewalks, I think it would be appropriate to make significant investments in sidewalks to improve accessibility. But if everyone that lived in that neighborhood rents and as soon as they put in sidewalks, their landlords are going to raise the rents because it's now a more desirable neighborhood. And the people [...] that I was trying to help now no longer live in that neighborhood because they had to move to another neighborhood without sidewalks because that's all they can afford, then ... we just think we've fixed the problem, but we haven't. Frankly, it's not often with sidewalks, but it's with bigger transportation investments like light rail or transit investments [...] or road improvements. But sidewalks certainly can fit in there, too." (P25PM)

Prioritization Factors and Strategies

Building on these considerations, the three stakeholder groups prioritized geographic areas largely based on infrastructure utilization, population density, proximity to important destinations, citizen complaints, demographics, and comparing (in)accessibility levels between regions. As one policymaker summarized, "[We consider] how many people are using the sidewalk; how high a priority is it? Maybe not just how many people but how many people with special needs are using the sidewalk? What are the destinations around it so that you can assess again from [a] prioritization standpoint?" (P18PM).

Each approach had its own advantages and limitations and thus required using complementary methods together. For example, infrastructure utilization and population density, both aimed at maximizing impact by serving as many people as possible, can create inequities in serving communities in need if demographics are not considered:

"Someone may live in a residential area that typically would not fall high on the list if we were going to prioritize denser locations first. But if we know that there's someone living on that street who uses a wheelchair or has a mobility impairment, we have that separate list where they [citizens] can help generate and prioritize curb ramps to be repaired at those more residential locations that maybe we wouldn't get to as quickly." (P3DC)

Similarly, citizen complaints (*e.g.*, 311 requests), commonly used as a low-cost decision support tool [64, 372], alone would be insufficient as voices of certain communities may never be heard. Low participation may be caused by time constraints, commonly seen in low income communities where people work multiple jobs, or limited technology access [83]. P21D noted that these external circumstances need to be carefully weighed in while making data-driven decisions. P23PM suggested taking proactive measures such as actively seeking out historically underserved communities:

"We'll frequently hear from people, constituents actively coming to us more from those western half neighborhoods, and so whenever I hear from someone there, I try to intentionally say, 'Is there somewhere else in the ward where this issue might be happening where we may not necessarily hear from someone and actually seek that out?" (P23PM)

Finally, comparing accessibility between regions was also useful in addressing inequities across areas. For example, policymakers compared conditions between neighborhoods, "*Trying to understand, relative to neighbors, 'Is this a well-served neighborhood by sidewalks or not?*" Looking at that, a percentage or some sort of measurement that shows where these [neighborhoods] rank." (P25PM). Further, comparing with other cities also aided advocates in pushing for more accessibility efforts by demonstrating success stories to government officials: "Look what [City-name]'s doing. You should do more of that, because [...] when you give people a dedicated revenue stream, they can get stuff done." (P11A).

3.4.5 Challenges in Accessible Infrastructure Development

Across the different stakeholders and their decision-making practices, we highlight sociopolitical and economic factors that impeded accessible infrastructure development.

Socio-Political Challenges

Social and political attitudes of city decision makers and the general public towards accessibility caused several tensions, including lack of support from city leadership, public disinterest, government inaction, conflicting priorities and responsibilities within and across organizations, and inconsistent regulations.

Lack of Support from City Leadership and Public. Though critical for urban accessibility, a common issue for maintenance projects was their inability to attract elected official or public attention vs. new development:

"You have to really make it a priority and keep making it a priority for a long time. And that's hard for our political system. We're not built for that. We're built for crisis. We're built for 'go do this one big thing.' [...] But that's not how it works. [...] I think as a country, specifically as a state, [we] have this obsession with not wanting to talk about the basics. We don't want to talk about maintenance. [...] We don't want to focus on those because they're not sexy. They're not interesting but they're crucial." (P11A)

Similar to prior work [209], obtaining support from city leadership becomes challenging without their vested interests:

"Only if a legislator had a particular interest would you then request to have a [transportation] committee hearing on the state. We often didn't, in part because when I was there, the chair was not particularly interested in pedestrian issues so that was not a real focus of the committee." (P18PM)

Similarly, public disinterest weakens advocacy efforts due to a lack of strong, persistent citizen voices: *"The challenge is that it's competing priorities and that pedestrian voices usually are low in number when people go to advocate for things because everybody wants to talk about the new bright, shiny thing."* (P11A). Public disinterest can directly influence the interest of decision makers in accessibility issues. P17PM elaborated that anticipating the lack of public interest in an issue—*"will the public pay taxes for this issue?"* –could lead policymakers to reduce the issue's priority on their political agenda:

"At the end of the day, it becomes a political discussion of how much money do we think the citizens are willing to vote for... it's going to be nine council members and the mayor deciding, 'here's what we think the population will bear', and it becomes more of a political discussion and less of a policy one." (P17PM)

Lack of Government Action. In addition to disinterest, lack of proactive action hampered accessible infrastructure development. An advocate (P24A) explained that despite their efforts in presenting a case supported by evidence such as existing citizen complaints and making formal inquiries for an implementation plan, the city DOT only responded when the advocacy organization filed a lawsuit: "We went to the [City-name] Department of Transportation, which has jurisdiction, and we identified all of these issues and sought a negotiation to create a plan that would be very specific and concrete, identifying the work to be done at every curb ramp and at every intersection that's missing curb ramps across the city. We provided our evidence. [...] The city having refused to come to an agreement, we were forced to go to court. We won." (P24A). Even with sufficient evidence of inaccessible infrastructure, the communication with the DOT failed, further highlighting the need for change in social and political attitudes.

Conflicting Priorities and Responsibilities. Accountability towards resolving issues becomes challenging when conflicting priorities and responsibilities, and discoordination between agencies results in inaction. Often, for policymakers, making funding available

becomes a negotiation between agencies. For example, getting transit agencies to invest in updating sidewalk infrastructure: "In some areas, it meant asking them to invest in some pedestrian infrastructure that might be a block or so away from their [transit] stations. They would push back and say, 'that's your responsibility'. So, it becomes a negotiation." (P17PM). As a result, policymakers spend significant time in encouraging better coordination:

"We did spend a lot of time thinking about how best to inspire better coordination between transit agencies. For example, what happens if you were going between jurisdictional boundaries? [Anonymized-org-name] Transit to [Anonymized-org-name] Transit, somebody's trying to get to [City-name]. We spent a lot of time thinking about how to use some of these funds as a carrot to get transit agencies to do a better job of coordinating [...] particularly on the jurisdictional issues." (P18PM)

In addition to within-city conflicts, state and city governments deflect fault and blame one another. For example, an advocate described a legal case of a sidewalk accident on a public bridge, wherein the state DOT was responsible for bridges and city DOT was for sidewalks:

"So underneath the sidewalk was the state's problem, and the sidewalk itself was the city's [problem]. Both of them had a problem inspecting. The state did find this problem, find that there was an unsafe drop off, about two years before Mr. [Anon-name] was injured, but they took no action. They should have contacted the city and they didn't. The city ultimately was responsible for fixing it." (P16A, a lawyer working on a lawsuit against the city for a sidewalk-related accident)

Inconsistent Regulations. Due to the decentralized nature of accessibility infrastructure updates, variance in accessibility guidelines across agencies slowed down or led to ineffective accessibility improvements. P11A described a project where *"[Anon-org-name] Transit decided they were going to put a light rail station fairly proximate to Lighthouse for the Blind"*. Since the light rail location fell under the Federal Highway Administration (FHWA)'s jurisdiction, cross organizational differences in accessibility guidelines complicated the development process:

"All of the other [Anon-org-name] Transit stations fall under the Federal Railway Administration (FRA) guidelines. So, they have guidelines for the touch sensors for people who are both deaf and blind. But FHWA, which controls the rules for that particular station because of where it's located, they do not have that standard. So [Anon-org-name] Transit was going to design this station, which is four blocks away from the single biggest concentration of deaf blind people in the state with no tactile sensors whatsoever." (P11A)

To resolve this situation, the advocates "got them to agree to put in electrical conduit and a station marker where the sensors will be" (P11A). Once the federal rule changes, taking about two years, accessibility features would be added. The result of these regulation differences led to an inaccessible environment for an extended period of time.

Economic Challenges

While the socio-political challenges were often a result of human interactions or lack thereof, there were severe economic constraints to accessible infrastructure projects. Funding for infrastructure improvements is a complex issue that involves public support, competing priorities from capital projects, and political constraints. Cities rely on various funding sources such as levies, property taxes, project specific funding, and grants from local transit agencies and government. However, due to lack of public support as seen earlier, it can be challenging to levy taxes: *"They [public] understand the importance of doing it, but they also don't necessarily want to pay more taxes to pay for it."* (P11A).

In general, sidewalks are severely underfunded, particularly for maintenance and repair. P3DC explained, for a total sidewalk replacement value of approximately \$5.4 billion, and a 100-year replacement cycle, the ideal yearly required funding would be \$54 million. However, current available funding is between \$3 to \$5 million—a deficit of \$50 million/year. Most funding goes to capital projects or *"mega projects like the waterfront tunnel downtown"* (P11A). Due to state and federal mandates, capital projects funded with federal dollars lead to the development of peripheral accessible infrastructure. Sidewalk maintenance projects do not get enough funding unless the conditions are severe and need immediate repair. Additionally, P3DC commented on the transient nature of available funding and the challenges to sustain over time without public interest: "[after] a levy that lasts for nine years, if the voters don't vote to renew that levy then that money potentially goes away as well". Even though funding is a valid concern, advocates argued that "cost" as a defense for inaccessibility is harmful: "Very often, people focus on the costs of remedying barriers, but failing to remedy barriers also has costs. [...] It affects social isolation, employment, access to health care, and many other factors" (P24A).

3.5 Discussion

Our findings highlight how urban accessibility is not just about inaccessible physical infrastructure but also the underlying socio-political factors that influence its development. Building on prior work [130, 131, 209], we identified how specific socio-political tensions impede infrastructure development, including conflicting priorities, unclear burden of responsibility, lack of public interest and participation, and conflicting regulations. In this section, we discuss two underlying socio-political challenges: lack of accountability and lack of civic participation. We observe that both issues are a result of communication gaps between stakeholders, which requires us to understand the civic interactions more closely when multiple stakeholders are involved in a decision-making process. Thus, we introduce a civic interaction space that looks at interactions between stakeholders and explores opportunities for improving communication.

3.5.1 Exploring the Role of Civic Technologies in Urban Accessibility

Within CSCW and HCI literature [19, 50], civic tech has been positioned as a platform for open collaborative government and community action, facilitating civic conversations and collaborative decision-making practices [87, 120, 208, 368]. Establishing trust between stakeholders is at the core of a successful civic engagement model [141, 163]. In our findings, *lack of accountability* and *civic participation* were two significant issues in accessible infrastructure development. Trust strongly interconnects both issues: increasing accountability leads to increased trust in the government, which further reinforces and encourages civic participation. Below, we elaborate on these two issues within urban accessibility and present open questions for the CSCW community working on civic tech.

Lack of accountability. Due to the decentralized nature of accessibility improvements, the seamless blend between private and public spaces in urban centers, and current governmental policies, individuals and agencies lack a clear understanding of *who* is responsible for accessible infrastructure. In US cities, DOTs manage street and sidewalk infrastructure on public land; however, commercial building entrances and indoor spaces are the purview of private businesses and sidewalks adjacent to residences are the property owner's responsibility [103, 104, 351]. These interdependencies, though core to urban life, create conflict and obscure accountability [369]. As P22D stated when describing tensions between a privately-owned transit agency and their governmental organization: *"[it's] city vs. private vs. federal"*. How can civic technology better surface these tensions and allow private citizens and governmental agencies to track and assess accessibility progress and, ultimately, increase accountability?

Lack of Civic participation. Relatedly, the issue of perceived public disinterest by policymakers and department officials can impact infrastructure development. For example, without voter interest on transportation levies, policymakers have difficulty funding large transportation projects through taxes. Public disinterest is often the result of being unaware of inaccessible environments or lack of perceived personal impact. This suggests a need for wider awareness amongst communities about accessibility and the importance of civic participation. Current engagement practices of 311 service requests are largely volunteer based and often have inadequate representation of citizen voices. A successful approach to bring wide-scale policy change has been disability activism [59, 150, 200] such as the 1990

ADA civil rights legislation [361] and the 2019 block-the-box legislation in Washington¹ [210, 355]. The success of such initiatives leads us to ask, *how can civic technology support new practices that strengthen the collective voice of the people to drive change?*

3.5.2 Civic Interaction Space: Enabling Civic Interactions in Urban Accessibility

Drawing on our findings and prior work on civic engagement practices (e.g., voting, advocacy, and grassroots-level activism) [12, 23, 83, 364], we introduce a Civic Interaction Space (Figure 3.3) that (a) highlights the points of interaction between stakeholders in urban accessibility and (b) visualizes the similarities and differences in communication (or, interaction) goals between them. The space includes interactions occurring directly through personal communication [22] and indirectly through civic participation apps/tools [98, 215]. To simplify the space, we include MI/Caregivers within the larger 'Community' stakeholder group while acknowledging that some interactions do occur between communities, where policymakers or advocates act as mediators. Mapping the similar interaction goals across stakeholders reveal the varying contexts within which they are accomplished—crucial for facilitating better support through civic tech. For example, 'raising awareness' by an advocate for a community (Figure 3.3: point 3) vs. a department official to a policymaker (Figure 3.3: point 6) would pose differences in message framing as well as environmental constraints wherein the interaction occurs (e.g., rigid and risk-averse political structures vs. widely varying interests of the general public). Although applicable to any urban socio-political agenda with multiple stakeholders, we demonstrate the utility of this interaction space by taking urban accessibility as an example.

For urban infrastructure planning decisions, most interactions are between department officials and policymakers, with advocates providing community-specific solutions and policy

¹'Don't block-the-box' legislation was passed via House Bill 1793, which permits Seattle to use camera enforcement to fine motorists from blocking crosswalks and bus lanes [355]



Figure 3.3: Civic Interaction Space. Illustrates the different civic interactions between the primary stakeholder groups and identifies six points of interactions. Groups are denoted by: CM=community includes, MI/caregivers and general public, A=advocates (and activists), D=department officials, and PM=policymakers. The perceived number of interactions between stakeholders is represented by the weight of the arrows. For example, high interactions between policymakers and department officials due to interdependent roles vs relatively less interactions between government officials and citizens

recommendations to the local government and serving as intermediaries for communities-inneed. To reimagine participatory processes for a *collaborative* decision-making environment, we walk through two areas that need strengthening in urban accessibility-improving community input and supporting advocacy efforts.

Improving Community Input and Government Feedback. From Figure 3.3 (points 4 and 5), there is an asymmetry between the amount of communication from the community to government officials *vs.* the limited reciprocal government feedback. *How do we increase government response to close the feedback loop, to ensure sustained civic participation over time,*

and to establish a collaborative decision-making environment? Currently, the interaction is heavily one-sided with community input such as sidewalk service requests being the primary communication medium for making citizens' voices heard [229] (Figure 3.3: points 1-5). This is primarily due to the prevalence of transactional service models in most cities, whereby local governments are the service providers [281, 368]. However, how a government responds to the community input in terms of planning policies, decisions, and actions is not always communicated back-the key for developing a transparent democracy [112]. For example, knowing how a citizen request on fixing broken sidewalks in their neighborhood is being processed and turned into a decision such as whether their neighborhood receives a work order or not and why. Additionally, the transactional nature of service models do not allow iterative decision-making with the public, wherein they can contribute during intermediary decision-making [87]. With the emergence of digital civics [87, 281, 368], there are a growing number of participatory models that cities could use. For urban accessibility, feedback tools are needed to establish a stronger two-way interaction with the government, bring citizens "in the know" about their inputs' impact on planning decisions, and establish trust leading to sustained participation. Furthermore, new mechanisms for tracking progress based on citizen input and channels to communicate with the appropriate party are needed to improve accountability [55].

Supporting Advocacy Efforts. In contrast, lack of communication is not seen as the major concern with advocates. They are typically in a position of having a dialogue with the local government branches for setting city priorities and agenda through advisory boards (Figure 3.3: points 1 and 2). However, advocates are resource constrained with insufficient tool support. *How do we better facilitate advocates in their interactions with both the government and the community*? Similar to prior work [13, 22], our findings showed that advocates often used ad-hoc approaches such as repurposing available data sources to investigate sidewalk issues. While these dynamic practices provide flexibility and agility to advocates, lack of appropriate tools lead to time-consuming laborious efforts to acquire relevant data. Prior

CSCW work emphasized designing for such dynamic practices rather than "system designs that rely on stability and persistency" of work processes [22]. New easy-to-use tools are needed to support agile work practices while providing a framework to support organizing efforts. For example, building capacity and raising awareness often require advocates to build alliances amongst groups that have common interests such as pedestrian and bicyclists interest groups, both having a shared goal of making sidewalks better. Tools that support these needs by, for example, facilitating assemblage of relevant information pertaining to their shared interests would better support advocacy efforts.

3.5.3 Critical Reflection on the Role of Data and Technology for Change

We return to our overarching goal of examining the role of technologies to support change in the socio-political context of urban accessibility. Systemic change requires solutions within social, political, and economic contexts. The use of technology for change, although promising, comes with caveats—technology is not a panacea to socio-political problems; the sheer complexity requires multi-faceted solutions [4, 164, 346, 347]. Despite its limitations, technology can play an important role in social change. Toyama [346] states that technology acts as an amplifier of underlying human practices. In our discussions above, we carefully proposed technical solutions that consider the underlying socio-political challenges and attempted to not overemphasize the impact of these interventions. Similarly, data also comes with its own biases and limitations. By supplementing quantitative with qualitative data, tools can aid stakeholders to make holistic assessments and decisions. However, would technology-mediated solutions impact the quality of civic interactions?

Prior work has shown that the use of technology for facilitating civic interactions is both useful and detrimental. While technology supports advocacy work in creating better infrastructure policies [23] and increases engagement with policymakers [250], the use of technology can also reduce the relational aspect of engagements valued by policymakers [83]. Along the same thread, HCI systems built for mediating civic interactions fail when underlying human

relationships are strained [163]. This was seen in the failure of Harding et al. 's prototype engagement technology due to fears, vulnerabilities, and mistrust between stakeholders with the "civic authority fearing litigation and the public anticipating disinterest and inaction from the authorities" [163]. Although a department official spoke in support of litigations as an accountability measure, lawsuits put the onus on the disability community, prevent proactive measures, and give compliance with accessibility standards a negative overtone. New accountability measures such as feedback mechanisms discussed earlier to track impact of citizen input have the potential to affect change. However, system designers need to first establish trust relationships between stakeholders for such technological interventions to be successful [163]. Finally, consistent with prior work [132], we found equity and inclusion issues may arise with tech-based civic participation (e.g., apps/tools) and can promote systemic exclusion: "those who have access to tech and identify as technologically adept end up having more power in a movement over those who have less or limited access" [132]. This brings us to ask, how do we handle power disbalance inherent with these technologies? How do we avoid such inequalities in access while developing tech-mediated solutions? We leave these open questions for future research.

3.5.4 Limitations

First, the studies were conducted in few large metropolitan US cities with established civic engagement and infrastructure assessment practices. Our findings may only be specific to those local governments and may not generalize to rural areas or international contexts. Future work should study urban accessibility issues across regions, cultures, and political structures, as we have begun to do in our recent preliminary work [123]. Second, we had a limited number of participants and diversity within each stakeholder group (*e.g.*, out of four policymakers, two were elected officials). Though interviewing more elected officials would have been useful, we found similar challenges in civic engagement practices as prior work [83]. Further, the proposed civic interaction space should include other tertiary stakeholders

such as transit agencies who address accessibility needs. Finally, our study interviews were primarily with people with lower body impairments. Future work should include more perspectives from people across a broader set of sensory, physical, and cognitive abilities.

3.6 Chapter Conclusion

In this chapter, we investigated urban accessibility as a socio-political problem by studying the various assessment, decision-making, and citizen engagement practices. Using multistakeholder analysis, this work presents an expansive view of methods and challenges in making accessibility improvements. We tease apart each stakeholder's roles and interactions within the urban decision-making structure for accessible infrastructure development. Our study found several socio-political tensions impeding infrastructure development, including conflicting interests, unclear burden of responsibility, public disinterest, and limited funding. To facilitate accessibility efforts in this socio-political context, we identified six points of civic interactions and proposed directions for future technologies to utilize complementary dataand citizen-driven approaches, while acknowledging that technology is a facilitator rather a solution to socio-political problems.

4 Project Sidewalk: Collecting Sidewalk Accessibility Data at Scale



Figure 4.1: In an 18-month deployment study of Project Sidewalk, we collected 205,385 sidewalk accessibility labels, including curb ramps, missing curb ramps, sidewalk obstacles, and surface problems. Each dot above represents a geo-located label rendered at 50% translucency. Try out the tool at http://projectsidewalk.io.

This chapter explores the problem of urban-scale data collection of sidewalk accessibility. We specifically investigate sidewalk accessibility from a wheelchair user's perspective.

We introduce *Project Sidewalk*, a new web-based tool that enables online crowdworkers to remotely label pedestrian-related accessibility problems by virtually walking through city streets in Google Street View. To train, engage, and sustain users, we apply basic game design principles such as interactive onboarding, mission-based tasks, and progress dashboards. In an 18-month deployment study, 797 online users contributed 205,385 labels and audited 2,941 miles of Washington DC streets. We compare behavioral and labeling quality differences between paid crowdworkers and volunteers, investigate the effects of label type, label severity, and majority vote on accuracy, and analyze common labeling errors. To complement these findings, we report on an interview study with three key stakeholder groups (N=14) soliciting reactions to our tool and methods. Our findings demonstrate the potential of virtually auditing urban accessibility and highlight tradeoffs between scalability and quality compared to traditional approaches.

4.1 Introduction

Geographic Information Systems (GIS) such as *Google Maps*, *Waze*, and *Yelp* have transformed the way people travel and access information about the physical world. While these systems contain terabytes of data about road networks and points of interest (POIs), their information about physical accessibility is commensurately poor. GIS websites like *Axsmap.com*, *Wheelmap.org*, and *AccessTogether.org* aim to address this problem by collecting location-based accessibility information provided by volunteers (*i.e.*, crowdsourcing). While these efforts are important and commendable, their value propositions are intrinsically tied to the amount and quality of data they collect. In a recent review of accessibility-oriented GIS sites, Ding *et al.* [101] found that most suffered from serious data sparseness issues. For example, only 1.6% of the Wheelmap POIs had data entered on accessibility. One key limiting factor is the reliance on local populations with physical experience of a place for data collection. While local users who report data are likely to be reliable, the dependence on *in situ* reporting dramatically limits scalability—both who can supply data and *how* much data they can easily supply.

In contrast, we are exploring a different approach embodied in a new interactive tool called *Project Sidewalk* (Figure 4.2), which enables online crowdworkers to contribute physicalworld accessibility information by *virtually* walking through city streets in Google Street View (GSV)—similar to a first-person video game. Rather than pulling solely from local populations, our potential pool of users scales to anyone with an Internet connection and a web browser. Project Sidewalk extends previous work in streetscape imagery auditing tools like *Canvas* [27], *Spotlight* [36], *BusStop CSI* [157], and *Tohme* [161], all which demonstrate the feasibility of virtual auditing and, crucially, that virtual audit data has high concordance with traditional physical audits. However, this past work has focused on small spatial regions, relied on specialized user populations such as public health researchers [27, 36] and paid crowdworkers [157, 161], and has not been publicly deployed.

In this chapter, we present an 18-month deployment study of Project Sidewalk in Washington DC. In total, 797 users contributed 205,385 geo-located accessibility labels and virtually audited the entirety of Washington DC (1,075 miles of city streets; see Figure 4.2). As the first public deployment of a virtual auditing tool, our research questions are exploratory: How can we engage, train, and sustain crowd workers in virtual accessibility audits? Are there behavioral and/or labeling quality differences between paid crowd workers and volunteers? What are some common labeling mistakes and how may we correct them in future tools? Finally, how do key stakeholder groups react to crowdsourcing accessibility and what are their concerns?

To address these questions, we analyzed interaction logs from our DC deployment, performed a semi-controlled data validation study, and conducted semi-structured interviews with three stakeholder groups (N=14): government officials, people with mobility impairments (MI), and caretakers. In our deployment study, we found that *registered* volunteers completed significantly more missions, on average, than our *anonymous* volunteers (M=5.8 vs. 1.5) and that our *paid* workers—who were compensated per mission—completed more than both (M=35.4 missions). In the data validation study, paid workers also significantly outperformed registered and anonymous volunteers in finding accessibility problems (*recall*=68% vs. 61% and 49%, respectively) but precision was roughly equivalent for all groups (~70%). Our findings also show that the number of found issues significantly increases with the number of labelers per street—with five labelers, recall rose from 68% to 92%.

To complement these findings, our interview study asked about perceptions of and experiences with urban accessibility and solicited reactions to Project Sidewalk and the idea of crowdsourcing accessibility in general. All three stakeholder groups were positive: while government officials emphasized cost-savings and civic engagement, the MI and caregiver groups focused more on personal utility and enhanced independence. Key concerns also arose, including data reliability, maintenance, and, for the MI participants, whether labels properly reflected their accessibility challenges (the latter echoes findings from [158]).

In summary, the contributions of this work include: (i) Project Sidewalk, a novel web-based virtual auditing tool for collecting urban accessibility data at scale; (ii) results from an 18-month deployment and complementary data validation study exploring key behavioral and labeling quality differences between volunteer and paid crowdworkers; (iii) findings from semi-structured interviews with three stakeholder groups soliciting reactions to Project Sidewalk and identifying key concerns and design suggestions; (iv) and our large, open-source sidewalk accessibility dataset¹, which we believe is the largest of its kind. By scaling up data collection methods for sidewalk accessibility, our overarching aim is to enable the development of new accessibility-aware mapping tools (*e.g.*, [158, 221]), provide increased transparency and accountability about city accessibility, and work with and complement government efforts in monitoring pedestrian infrastructure.

4.2 Related Work

We present background on sidewalk accessibility, survey existing methods for collecting street-level accessibility data, and review volunteer geographic information (VGI) systems.

4.2.1 Street-Level Accessibility

Accessible infrastructure has a significant impact on the independence and mobility of citizens [2, 280]. In the U.S., the *Americans with Disability Act* (ADA) [361] and its revision, the 2010 ADA Standards for Accessible Design [360], mandate that new constructions and renovations meet modern accessibility guidelines. Despite these regulations, pedestrian infrastructure remains inaccessible [147, 174]. The problem is not just inaccessible public rights-of-way but a lack of reliable, comprehensive, and open information. Unlike road networks, there are no widely accepted standards governing sidewalk data (though some recent initiatives are emerging, such as OpenSidewalks [341]). While accessible infrastructure is intended to benefit broad user populations from those with unique sensory or physical needs to people with situational impairments [388], our current focus is supporting those with ambulatory disabilities. In Project Sidewalk, we focus on five high-priority areas that impact MI pedestrians drawn from ADA standards [358–360] and prior work [246, 254]: curb ramps, missing curb ramps, sidewalk obstacles, surface problems, and the lack of a sidewalk on a pedestrian pathway.

4.2.2 Collecting Street-Level Accessibility Data

Traditionally, collecting data on street-level accessibility has been the purview of local and state governments; however, with widespread access to the Internet and smartphones, three alternatives have emerged: *in situ* crowdsourcing where a user explicitly captures and reports data [88, 101, 247, 260], automatic or hybrid reporting using sensors [60, 183, 198, 294, 330], and remote crowdsourcing using streetscape imagery [148, 157, 160, 161]. Each approach has benefits and drawbacks—*e.g.*, in terms of data type, maintenance, and coverage—and should be considered complementary. While *in situ* crowdsourcing relies on local knowledge and is likely to produce high-quality data, both academic and commercial tools have struggled with data sparsity [101], perhaps because of high user burden and low adoption. Automatic reporting tools lower user burden by implicitly capturing accessibility


Figure 4.2: In Project Sidewalk, users are given missions to explore city neighborhoods and find accessibility problems. The UI is comprised of four parts: (center) GSV-based exploration and labeling pane; (top) button menu bar; (right) mission pane with progress tracking and navigation; (left) and settings menu. See the Supplementary Video for a demonstration.

data using smartphone- or wheelchair-based sensors; however, accurately converting these quantitative measurements (*e.g.*, accelerometer data) to useful sidewalk assessments is still an open research area. Moreover, these tools are limited to capturing where wheelchair users already go, not where they are *unable* to go (though [189] is attempting to address this limitation, in part, by combining sensor data with continuous video recording).

Most related to our work are virtual auditing tools of street-level accessibility using streetscape imagery. While initial research focused on establishing the reliability of GSV-based audits compared with traditional, physical-based methods [28, 76, 304, 384], more recent work has introduced and evaluated web-based tools in controlled studies [148, 157, 160, 161]. Project Sidewalk builds on these systems by gamifying the user experience and supporting open-world exploring via missions—similar to first-person video games. Additionally, we present the first public deployment study, which enables us to uniquely compare user behavior and labeling performance across user groups and contributes the largest open dataset on sidewalk quality in existence.

4.2.3 Volunteered Geographic Information (VGI)

Project Sidewalk is a new type of *volunteered geographic information* (VGI) system [153]. In VGI, non-experts contribute GIS-related data through open mapping tools—*e.g., Wikimapia, Mapillary, CycloPath* [284], and most notably, *OpenStreetMap* (OSM). In comparison to more authoritative sources, VGI data quality and spatial coverage are key concerns [17]. While some studies have shown comparable quality between VGI and government maps [151, 152, 245], recent work has identified strong biases in contributions correlated with population density [244, 296]. We address this limitation by combining both volunteer and paid crowd workers and by eliminating the need to have physical access to a place to contribute data. Our work contributes to VGI by analyzing contribution patterns and labeling quality differences between these two user groups.

4.3 Project Sidewalk

To use Project Sidewalk, users visit http://projectsidewalk.io on a laptop or desktop (touchscreens are not currently supported). The landing page provides a brief description of the tool—both its purpose and how to use it—along with basic statistics and visualizations to encourage participation. Upon clicking the '*Start Mapping*' button, new users are greeted by a multi-stage interactive tutorial to learn both about the user interface and basic accessibility concepts. Once the tutorial is completed, users are auto-assigned a neighborhood in DC and given their first mission. Missions guide users through specific neighborhood streets: as the user walks virtually along their route, they are asked to find, label and rate street-level accessibility issues. After completing a mission, a "mission complete" screen is displayed and a new mission is assigned. Users can choose to contribute anonymously or to register and login. We prompt anonymous users to register after finishing their first street segment. Registered users can resume missions and check their contribution activity on an interactive dashboard. Currently, however, there is no way to view or compare performance to others (*e.g.*, a leaderboard).

Training users. Training crowdworkers is difficult, especially for subjective judgment tasks like classifying entities [11]. While a wide range of training approaches are possible—from ground truth seeding with real-time performance feedback to qualification tasks that ensure proficiency [299]—our current training strategy is three-pronged. First, new users are presented with an interactive tutorial, a technique common to modern video games called *onboarding* [290]. We onboard users through an initial *guided* mission that explains the UI and key game mechanics, provides information about street-level accessibility concepts, and monitors and helps the user correct mistakes. As users step through the onboarding experience, their mission status pane is updated just like a normal mission. In total, there are 37 onboarding parts, which are designed to take less than four minutes.



Figure 4.3: Project Sidewalk has five primary color-coded label types: curb ramps, missing curb ramps, obstacles, surface problems, and no sidewalk. The images above are example accessibility issues found by users in our public deployment.

Second, after completing onboarding, initial missions include pre-scripted help dialogs that are triggered based on user behavior. For example, after panning 360° around their first street intersection, Project Sidewalk helps the user use the top-down mission map to take a step in the right direction. These help dialogs are complementary to onboarding: there is an inherent tradeoff between building skills and knowledge through initial training time, and actually having the user begin using the tool in earnest.

Finally, throughout every mission, our tool continuously observes user behavior and provides brief, transient usage tips to encourage proper labeling behavior and increase user efficiency. For example, if we observe that a user is not providing severity ratings, we provide a friendly reminder. If we observe only mouse clicks, we encourage keyboard shortcuts. These one-line tips auto-disappear and can also be explicitly dismissed. Importantly, we cannot provide *corrective* labeling feedback because we do not know about a label's correctness *a priori*.

Exploring and labeling. Similar to [157, 161], Project Sidewalk has two modes of interaction: *explorer mode* and *labeling mode*. In explorer mode, users follow turn-by-turn directions to explore their assigned mission routes using GSV's native navigation controls. If users get lost exploring, they receive reminders to return to their mission routes, which can be clicked to auto-jump back. At any location, the user can pan (360° horizontally and 35° vertically) and zoom to assess sidewalks more closely. The user's FOV is 89.75°.

Users enter the labeling mode by clicking on a labeling button. There are five primary label types: *curb ramp*, *no curb ramp*, *obstacle*, *surface problem*, and *no sidewalk* (Figure 4.3). In this mode, all interactions for controlling movement and the first-person camera view (*e.g.*, pan, pitch) are disabled and the mouse cursor changes to a circular icon representing the selected label. To place a label, the user clicks directly on the accessibility target in the GSV image. A context menu then appears, which asks the user to rate problem severity on a 5-point scale where '5' represents an impassable barrier for someone in a manual wheelchair. The user can also enter additional notes in a description text field or mark a problem as temporary (*e.g.*, due to construction). After closing the context menu, Project Sidewalk automatically reverts to explorer mode.

Project Sidewalk seamlessly repositions applied labels in their correct location as the user pans or zooms—thus, labels appear to "stick" to their associated target. However, once a user takes a step, their labels are no longer visible in the GSV interface (unless they return to their original labeling location). This is due to GSV API limitations. Instead, previously placed labels can be viewed on the top-down mission map.

Missions. Missions serve a two-fold purpose: first, as a game mechanic, they provide an easy-to-understand and engaging narrative for directing data collection tasks. Second, from a system design perspective, missions provide a flexible approach to discretize, assign, and distribute work. Though we envision a variety of future mission types—*e.g.*, data validation missions, labeling user supplied imagery—our current system focuses on encouraging exploration and labeling in the GSV interface. Users are assigned a high-level goal of auditing a neighborhood and then routed on missions of increasing length and complexity within that neighborhood. Mission lengths increase from 500ft to a maximum of 0.5mi (2,640ft). Mission feedback is provided via a mission status pane, completion screens, and, for registered users,

an interactive dashboard. If a user gets stuck during a mission, they can choose to "jump" to a different part of their assigned neighborhood or manually choose a new neighborhood. For finishing a mission or completing a neighborhood, users are rewarded with mission completion screens and sound effects.

4.4 Implementation, Data, and API

Creating a robust, usable, and publicly deployable system required a significant humancentered design and engineering effort. Our open-source GitHub repository² has 2,747 commits from 20 team members and 43,898 lines of developed code (excluding comments). Project Sidewalk's backend is built in *Scala* and *PostgreSQL* with the *PostGIS* spatial extension, and the frontend is in *JavaScript* and *HTML/CSS*. Below, we describe four key implementation areas: preparing a city for deployment, work allocation algorithms, triangulating and clustering labels, and our API.

4.4.1 Preparing a City

Project Sidewalk has two data prerequisites for deployment: GSV and OSM availability. To construct a street network topology, we extract OSM <way> elements marked with street-related tags within a city's geographic boundary. We also extract <node> and <nd> elements for metadata (e.g., lat-long coordinates) and links between nodes and edges. Because <way> polylines can extend multiple city blocks, we create smaller units, called *street segments*, by partitioning streets at each intersection. For DC, this resulted in 15,014 street segments with a total length of 1,164 miles. We filtered 892 segments that contained highways and/or where GSV imagery was unavailable due to government security precautions. In total, we were left with 14,037 segments over 1,075 miles (Figure 4.4).

²https://github.com/ProjectSidewalk/SidewalkWebpage



Figure 4.4: DC's 179 neighborhoods and 14,037 street segments (1,075mi), which we used in the Deployment Study.

4.4.2 Allocating and Distributing Work via Missions

Allocating and distributing work is a two-step process consisting of assigning neighborhoods then street segments. We use the *mission* construct to do both. We iterated on these task allocation algorithms throughout our deployment as we discovered inefficiencies or mistakes. Below, we present our current approach, which was used for the last three months of our deployment, and briefly mention old approaches.

Our current version is based on a "work quality" threshold determined by analyzing labeling behavior from our research group and informal manual reviews of end-user contributions. We define a "good" user as someone who contributes a minimum of 3.75 labels per 100 meters on average. While labeling frequency is an imperfect proxy for worker quality, it is easy to implement and fast to compute. We integrate this quality metric to prioritize street segments:

$$priority_{street} = \begin{cases} 1, & if cnt(`good' users)=0\\ 1/(1+x), & otherwise \end{cases}$$

where, x = cnt("good" users) + 0.25 * cnt("bad" users). This algorithm prioritizes street segments inversely proportional to the number of previous audits with a weight penalty assigned for "bad" users.

Allocating neighborhoods. Users are given missions to explore and label assigned neighborhoods. Neighborhoods are allocated at two points: after a user completes onboarding and after they complete a previously assigned neighborhood. In earlier versions of Project Sidewalk, we randomly assigned users to neighborhoods within the top ten lowest completion rates. This approach, however, treated all previous work equivalently. In the current version, we incorporate street segment priority by first calculating the mean priority of all street segments for each neighborhood and then randomly assigning neighborhoods; however, this feature was somewhat hidden and not prominently used in our deployment.

Calculating mission routes. Mission routes are composed of street segments, which are dynamically selected when a user reaches an intersection (*i.e.*, the end of a segment). To enhance immersion and limit user confusion, the routing algorithm attempts to select contiguous segments whenever possible. In older versions of Project Sidewalk, the segment selection algorithm simply chose a randomly connected segment that the current user had not already audited. However, this failed to incorporate work completed by other users, which was inefficient. In our current implementation, for each neighborhood, we maintain a discretized list of unaudited street segment priorities (*bin size*=0.25). When a user reaches an intersection, we randomly select any unaudited connected street segment with the same discretized priority as the highest one in the neighborhood list. If none exist, we inform the user that they have completed this part of the neighborhood and automatically transport them to the highest priority remaining neighborhood street. We use a similar process for positioning users when they first begin a new neighborhood—we place them at the beginning of the highest priority street segment.

4.4.3 Project Sidewalk Data

In Project Sidewalk, users label streetscape panoramas projected into 3D space [138]. We need to convert these 3D-point labels to 2D lat-lng coordinates and then aggregate multiple labels for the same target into a single cluster.

3D to 2D. To obtain geo-located labels from the 3D projection, we use: (i) the panorama's 3D-point cloud data, which is obtained by LiDAR on the GSV cars; (ii) the *lng,lat* coordinate of the GSV car; and (iii) the x_{img} , y_{img} position of the label on the panorama. More specifically:

$$\left(\begin{array}{c} lng_{target} \\ lat_{target} \end{array}\right) = \left(\begin{array}{c} lng_{GSV_car} \\ lat_{GSV_car} \end{array}\right) + \left(\begin{array}{c} \Delta lng \\ \Delta lat \end{array}\right)$$

where, we compute Δlng , Δlat by using the x_{img}, y_{img} label position on the panorama and the 3D-point cloud data to obtain the offset dx, dy, dz at x_{img}, y_{img} . The offset is in meters, which we convert to Δlng , Δlat and plug into the equation. See the function imageCoordinateToLatLng(imageX, imageY, lat, lng) in MapService.js (Line 1275) in the GitHub repo.

Raw label data. For each label, we record three sets of information: who provided the label and when, how the data was collected in GSV (the user's *POV*, *heading*, *source panorama id*), and information about the label itself, such as *label type*, *lat-long position*, *x*, *y position* on panorama, *severity rating*, *textual description*, and a *temporary* flag.

Clustering. Because users can find and label the same accessibility problem from different panoramas, we needed to develop an algorithm to aggregate labels for the same target together. We do this by clustering. Each cluster refers to a single found problem (and may contain one or more raw labels). We use a two-stage clustering approach: *single-user* clustering followed by *multi-user* clustering. First, we consolidate raw labels for each individual user into intermediate clusters—this is necessary because some users choose to

label a single problem from multiple viewpoints. Second, we combine these individual user clusters together to create our final cluster dataset. Both stages use the same hierarchical agglomerative clustering approach: the Vorhees clustering algorithm with the haversine formula to compute distances between labels and clusters.

For stage one, we cluster raw labels of the same type that are within a certain distance threshold. Because some label types are often legitimately close together—*e.g.*, two curb ramps on a corner—we use two different thresholds: 2 meters for curb and missing curb ramps and 7.5 meters for other label types. These thresholds were determined empirically by iteratively computing clusters at different threshold levels from 0 to 50 meters (*step size*=1 meter) and qualitatively analyzing the results. Stage two clustering is similar but uses the centroids of stage one clusters with slightly looser thresholds (7.5 and 10 meters, respectively).

4.4.4 Public API

To enable the use and broader study of our collected data, we developed and released an initial public REST API (http://projectsidewalk.io/api). The API has three endpoint types: *labels* for obtaining raw label data, *clusters* for obtaining label clusters, and scores, which provide computed scores for street and neighborhood accessibility. Each API requires a latlong bounding box to specify an area of interest for input and returns data in the *GeoJSON* format. For the score APIs, we developed a simple scoring model that incorporates the number of problem labels and returns an accessibility score between 0 and 1. Providing a robust, personalizable, and verifiable scoring algorithm is ongoing work.

4.5 Deployment Study

In August of 2016, we launched an 18-month deployment study of Project Sidewalk. Washington DC was selected as the study site because of its large size (158 km²), diverse economic

	Volunteers		Turkers	Researchers	Total	Total
	Anon	Registered	(N=170)	(N=28)	Labels	Clusters*
	(N=384)	(N=243)				
Curb Ramp	9,017	27,016	88,466	18,336	142,835	51,098
M. Curb Ramp	1,085	3,239	13,257	1,138	18,719	7,941
Obstacle	934	2,799	16,145	1,498	21,376	12,993
Surf. Prob.	620	1,885	3,213	2,591	8,309	5,647
No Sidewalk	1,185	6,192	28,167	7,919	43,463	23,468
Occlusion	47	310	462	438	$1,\!257$	953
Other	62	147	1,137	34	1,380	928
Total Labels	12,950	41,588	150,847	31,954	237,339	103,028

Table 4.1: The total amount of data collected during our deployment. *Total clusters refers to filtered data only. All other columns are the full dataset.

and geographic characteristics, and substantial commuter population—many of whom take public transit and use pedestrian infrastructure [357]. Additionally, as the nation's capital, which draws ~20m visitors/yr [375], there is increased pressure to follow and model ADA guidelines.

We recruited two types of users: *volunteers* through social media, blog posts, and email campaigns, and *paid crowd workers* from Amazon Mechanical Turk (turkers). We further divide volunteers into *anonymous* and *registered* groups; the former was tracked by IP address. For comparison, we also show data from 28 members of our research lab, who voluntarily contributed to help test the tool and received in-person training on *how* and *what* to label. We paid turkers a base amount for completing the tutorial and first mission (\$0.82) and a bonus amount for each mission completed thereafter (\$4.17/mile). These rates were based on US federal minimum wage (\$7.25/hr), assuming an expected labeling rate of 1.74 miles/hr, which was drawn empirically from our data. In practice, our turkers earned

\$8.21/hr on average (*SD*=\$5.99), which increased to \$12.76 (*SD*=\$6.60) for those 69 turkers who audited at least one mile. Turkers could see their earnings in real-time via the mission panel. We posted a total of 298 assignments over a 6-month period.

4.5.1 Results

Overall, Project Sidewalk had 11,891 visitors to the landing page, of which 797 (627 volunteers; 170 turkers) completed the tutorial and audited at least one street segment in the first mission. In total, these users contributed 205,385 labels and audited 2,941 miles of DC streets (Table 4.1). Below, we analyze user behavior, contribution patterns, and responses from a pop-up survey given to turkers. We examine worker and data quality in a separate section.

User behavior. On average, registered users completed more missions (5.8 vs. 1.5), contributed more labels (171.1 vs. 33.7), audited faster (1.93 mi/hr vs. 1.22), and spent more time on Project Sidewalk (55.8 mins vs. 18.3) than anonymous users (Table 4.2). Registered users also took longer on onboarding (6.9 mins vs. 3.8) and left more open-ended descriptions (10.0 vs. 1.6). Paid workers, however, did significantly more work on average than either volunteer group: 35.4 missions, 887.3 labels, and spent 4.4 hrs using the tool. If we examine only those users who passed our "good" user heuristic, we filter 28.2% paid, 23.7% anonymous, and 22.6% registered workers; however, relative user behaviors stay the same. Similar to [189], user contribution patterns resemble a power law distribution: the top 10% anonymous, registered, and paid workers contributed 56.7%, 86.6%, and 80.2% of the labels in their group, respectively. By the top 25%, contribution percentages rise to 77.4%, 93.6%, and 94.8%.

User dropoff. To examine user dropoff, we analyzed interaction logs for the last eight months of our deployment (after we added comprehensive logging to the tutorial). User dropoff was steep. While 1,110 users started the tutorial, only 568 finished it (51%), 479 (43.2%) took one step in their first mission, and 328 (29.5%) completed at least one mission.

	Anonymous		Registered		Turkers		Researchers	
	All	Filtered	All	Filtered	All	Filtered	All	Filtered
Num. users	384	293	243	188	170	122	28	21
% Filtered	-	23.7%	-	22.6%	-	28.2%		25.0%
Tot. miles	155.5	79.9	535.6	391.6	2,248.9	1,016.4	238.5	211.7
Avg (SD)	0.4 (1.2)	0.3 (1.0)	2.2 (8.2)	2.1 (9.1)	13.2 (37)	8.3 (32)	8.5 (19)	10.1 (22)
Tot. missns	576	316	1,406	1,044	6,017	2,953	690	604
Avg (SD)	1.5 (3)	1.1 (2.5)	5.8 (20)	5.6 (22)	35.4 (95)	24.2 (87)	24.6 (53)	28.8 (62)
Tot. labels	12,950	10,760	41,588	35,923	150,847	103,820	31,954	30,488
Avg	33.7	36.7	171.1	191.1	887.3	851.0	1,141.2	1,451.8
Lbls/100m	8.0	10.5	5.8	6.8	7.1	8.9	6.0	7.1
Avg speed	1.22	0.74	1.93	1.58	1.68	1.14	2.76	2.57
Avg time	18.29	17.59	55.83	57.88	266.20	225.22	195.81	233.84
Avg desc	1.6	1.9	10.0	12.1	47.2	58.1	28.1	37.0

Table 4.2: The total amount of data collected during our deployment. Averages are per user. Avg. speed is in mi/hr, time is in mins, lbls/100m is median labels per 100m, and 'avg desc' is the average number of open-ended descriptions.

Of those 328, a majority, went on to finish their second mission (59.8%; 196 users) and then dropoff dampened substantially. For example, 74.0% of the users who completed *Mission 2* also completed *Mission 3*. When splitting the 1,110 users by group—846 volunteers and 264 turkers—we found different patterns of behavior. While only 43.9% of volunteers finished the tutorial and only 19.1% finished the first mission, turkers were far more persistent: 74.6% finished the tutorial and 62.9% completed the first mission.

Pop-up survey. To begin exploring why users contribute to Project Sidewalk, we developed a 5-question survey shown to users after their second mission. The first three questions asked about task enjoyment, difficulty, and self-perceptions of performance via 5-point Likert scales while the last two questions were open-ended asking about user motivation and soliciting

feedback. A single researcher analyzed the two write-in questions via inductive coding. Though the survey is now given to all user groups, it was only available to turkers during our deployment study—which we analyze here.

In all, 123 turkers completed the survey. Of those, 110 (89.4%) stated that they enjoyed using Project Sidewalk (*Mean*=4.4; *SD*=0.7). For task difficulty, the responses were slightly more mixed: 83 turkers (67.5%) selected *easy* or *very easy* and 5 selected *difficult* (*M*=3.9; *SD*=0.9). When asked to self-rate their performance, 81 turkers (65.9%) felt that they did at least a *very good* job and none reported *poor* (*M*=4.0; *SD*=0.9). For the first open-ended question (required) about user motivation, 74 (60.2%) mentioned that the task was interesting or fun—"*It was an interesting and unique change to my day*" (U111); 48 (39.0%) felt that the task was important/helpful—"*I think it is important for those who are using wheelchairs to be able to safely navigate streets.*" (U223); and 20 (16.3%) mentioned money—"*It was interesting work and good pay*" (U61). The last question was optional and asked for feedback: 68 turkers chose to answer, mostly to thank us for the task (55 of 68): "*Good & interesting task. Thank you*" (U96). Six suggested features, five asked questions about labeling, and two reported bugs.

4.6 Data Validation Study

To investigate data quality and compare performance across user groups, we performed a data validation study using a subset of DC streets. This study occurred approximately halfway into our public deployment. Because pedestrian infrastructure can differ based on neighborhood type (*e.g.*, commercial *vs.* residential), age, and density, we first divided DC into four quadrants based on official geographic segmentation data [93]. We then sub-divided each quadrant into land-use zones using DC's open zoning regulation dataset [95]. Finally, we randomly selected the first two or three mission routes completed by individual volunteer users. This resulted in a test dataset of 44 miles (625 street segments) from 50 registered and 16 anonymous users across 62 of the 179 DC neighborhoods. We then verified that the selected routes had similar geographic and land-use distributions compared to all streets in DC.

To compare volunteer *vs.* paid worker performance, we posted the selected missions in our test dataset to Amazon Mechanical Turk. Other than payment, we attempted to carefully mimic the volunteer work experience: individual turkers completed onboarding and then were implicitly assigned either an *anonymous* user's mission set (two) or a *registered* user's mission set (three). To control for experience and learning effects, we did not allow deployment turkers to participate. We paid workers based on US federal minimum wage drawn from median volunteer completion times: \$2.00 for the tutorial + two missions (~2,000ft) and \$3.58 for the tutorial + three missions (~4,000ft). Unlike the deployment study, turkers could not choose to complete additional missions for bonus payment. To examine the effect of multiple labelers on performance, we hired five turkers per mission set for a total of 330 turkers.

To create ground truth, we first developed a labeling codebook based on ADA guidelines [358–360], which was then vetted and refined by a person who has used a wheelchair for 20 years. Following iterative coding [171], three researchers began labeling the same subset of data: one randomly selected mission set for an anonymous user and one for a registered user. For each round, the researchers met, resolved disagreements, and updated the codebook accordingly. After seven rounds, the average Krippendorff alpha score was 0.6 (range=0.5-0.8) and raw agreement: 85.4% (SD=4.1%). The three researchers then split the remaining 52 mission sets equally and a final review was performed. In total, ground truth consists of: 4,617 clusters, including 3,212 curb ramps, 1,023 surface problems, 295 obstacles, and 87 missing curb ramps. Though laborious, we note that this ground truth approach allows us to more deeply examine labeling performance compared with verifying placed labels—as the latter does not allow us to calculate false negatives.

Analysis. We examine accuracy at the street-segment level. We first cluster all labels from anonymous, registered, and paid workers using *single-user* clustering. We then use haversine distance to associate label clusters to their closest street segment. To compute our accuracy measures, we sum the number and type of label clusters for each segment and compare the result to ground truth. This produces counts of true/false positives and true/false negatives at each segment, which we binarize for final analysis. In total, 89.6% (560/625) of the street segments contained accessibility labels in ground truth. Unlike the four other label types, the *no sidewalk* label is not used for single-point targets but rather targets that extend multiple panoramas. Thus, we exclude this label from our analysis.

We report on *raw accuracy* (number of segments that match ground truth), *recall*, and *precision*. Here, recall measures the fraction of accessibility targets that were found (labeled) compared to those in ground truth while precision measures the correctness of those labels. Ideally, each measure would be 1.0; however, similar to other crowdsourcing systems (*e.g.*, [161]), we prefer *high recall* over precision because correcting false positives is easier than false negatives—the former requires verification while the latter requires users actually re-explore an area. Except for the multiple labelers per segment analysis, we use only the *first* hired turker for each mission (rather than all five). For statistical analysis, we use binomial mixed effects models with user nested in mission route id and a logistic link function with accuracy, recall, and precision modeled as binomials. We assess significance with likelihood-ratio (LR) tests and use post-hoc Tukey's HSD tests to determine statistical orderings. Our analysis was performed using the *R* statistical language.

4.6.1 Results

We examine overall performance across user groups, the effect of label type, label severity, and multiple labelers on accuracy, and common labeling mistakes.



Figure 4.5: Average recall and precision for all user groups.

User performance. The overall average raw accuracy was 71.7% (*SD*=13.0%) with all three user groups performing similarly (~70%). Because of the high true negative rates in our data—that is, most panoramas do *not* have accessibility issues and were correctly labeled that way—recall and precision are more insightful measures (Figure 4.5). Turkers found significantly more issues than registered and anonymous users (*recall*=67.8% *vs.* 61.4% *vs.* 48.8%, respectively) at similar precision levels (68.8% *vs.* 72.2% *vs.* 74.5%). With an LR test, user group had a statistically significant association with recall (*lr*=21.6, *df*=2, *n*=132, *p*<0.001) and precision (*lr*=7.1, *df*=2, *n*=131, *p*=0.028) but not raw accuracy. Pairwise comparisons for recall were all significant but none were for precision.

To explore the effect of multiple labelers on performance, we hired five turkers per mission set. We examine *majority vote* for each group size (3, 5) as well as treating each contribution individually (*e.g.*, Turk3_{maj} *vs*. Turk3_{all}). We expect that Turk_{maj} will result in higher precision but lower recall as it requires more than one user to label the same target and just the opposite from Turk_{all} (*i.e.*, higher recall, lower precision). Indeed, this is what we found: from Turk1 (baseline) to Turk5_{all}, recall rose from 67.8% to 91.7% but at a cost of precision (from 68.8% to 55.0%). In contrast, for majority vote, recall fell from 67.8% to 59.5% for Turk1 to Turk5_{maj} but precision rose from 68.8% to 87.4%. We found turker group had a statistically significant association with recall (*lr*=498.96, *df*=4, *n*=330, *p*<0.001) and precision (*lr*= 374.88,

	Gnd Truth Clusters	Raw Acc.	Recall	Precision
Curb Ramp	3,212	83.7 (23.1)	86.0 (25.7)	95.4 (7.5)
No Curb Ramp	87	72.9 (21.9)	69.3 (43.5)	20.5 (31.7)
Obstacle	295	71.2 (18.8)	39.9 (36.9)	47.5 (37.4)
Surface Problem	1,023	59.0 (24.8)	27.1 (30.5)	72.6 (35.4)

Table 4.3: Accuracy by label type. All pairwise comparisons are significant.

df=4, n=330, p<0.001). All pairwise comparisons for recall and precision were significant except for Turk5_{maj} < Turk3_{maj}—for recall only.

Label type. To examine accuracy as a function of label type, we analyzed labeling data across users (Table 4.3). *Curb ramps* were the most reliably found and correctly labeled with *recall*=86.0% and *precision*=95.4%. In contrast, while *no curb ramps* had reasonably high recall at 69.3%, precision was only 20.5% suggesting an incorrect understanding of what justifies a *no curb ramp* label. The other two label types, *obstacle* and *surface problem*, had lower recall (39.9% and 27.1%) but comparatively higher precision (47.5% and 72.6%), which mirrors our experience with ground truth—these accessibility problems are hard to find and require diligent exploration. In addition, these two label types can legitimately be switched in some cases (*e.g.*, a patch of overgrown grass could be marked as either an *obstacle* or *surface problem*). We explore labeling mistakes in more detail below.

Effect of severity. We hypothesized that high-severity problems would be easier to find. To explore this, we partitioned ground truth labels into two groups: *low severity* (<= 2 rating) and *high severity* (>= 3 rating). The low severity group contained 1,053 labels and the high 352 labels. As expected, we found that high-severity labels had significantly higher recall (M=83.3%; avg=69.8%; SD=35.5%) than low-severity labels (Mdn=56.3%; M=57.0%; SD=32.3%). To determine significance, we created a binomial mixed effect model with *severity*

(high or low) as the fixed effect and *user* nested in *mission route id* as random effects. Result of LR test (lr=10.6, df=1, n=246, p=0.001).



Figure 4.6: An overview of false positive and negative labeling mistakes ordered by frequency (taken from 432 error samples in the data validation study).

4.6.2 Common Labeling Errors

To better understand labeling errors and to contextualize our quantitative findings, we conducted a qualitative analysis of labeling errors. We randomly selected 54 false positives and 54 false negatives for each label type, which resulted in 432 total error samples from 16 anonymous, 43 registered, and 80 paid workers. A single researcher inductively analyzed the data with an iteratively created codebook. We show the top three errors with examples in Figure 4.6.

In analyzing false positives, we observed that most mistakes were understandable and either easy to correct with better training or innocuous. For example, 66.6% of incorrect *curb ramp* labels were applied to driveways, nearly half of *obstacles* and *surface problems* were potentially legitimate issues but not on the primary pedestrian route (*e.g.*, middle of street *vs*. crosswalk), and almost 30% of incorrect *missing curb ramps* were on extended residential walkways. Moreover, 32.7% of *surface problems* and 9.3% of *obstacles* were correctly labeled as problems but with a different label type from ground truth—*e.g.*, a surface problem marked as an obstacle. For false negatives (*i.e.*, a user did not label a problem when one exists), it is harder to discern clear patterns—at least for some label types. For *obstacles* and *surface problems*—both of which had the lowest recall and thus can be considered hardest to find—salience appears to be a contributing factor: 50% of missed *obstacles* were only partially blocking the pedestrian path and nearly 30% of *surface problems* were grass related. For *missing curb ramps*, 46.3% of missed labels were at a corner where at least one other curb ramp exists though the second most common error was more egregious: a pedestrian path to a street had no curb ramp and no alternative accessible route (37.0%). We discuss potential solutions to address labeling errors in the Discussion.

4.7 Semi-Structured Interview Study

To complement our deployment and data validation studies and to solicit reactions to Project Sidewalk from key stakeholders, we conducted an interview study with three DC-area groups (N=14): six government officials (G), five people with mobility impairments (MI), and three caregivers (C). G included state and city transportation employees with oversight of pedestrian infrastructure, MI participants used a mobility aid such as a wheelchair or cane, and caregivers took care of a person with a MI either as a professional, family member, or friend. Participants were recruited via mailing lists, word-of-mouth, and social media.

The three-part study began with a semi-structured interview about participants' current perceptions of and problems with urban accessibility. We then asked participants to use Project Sidewalk while "thinking aloud." Finally, we concluded with a debrief interview about the tool, including its perceived utility, concerns, and design ideas. Sessions lasted between 60-65 minutes, and participants were compensated \$25. One government session was a group interview with three participants (coded G3); all other interviews were individual. Sessions were audio- and screen-recorded, which were transcribed and coded to find emergent themes using peer debriefing [86, 332]. Using deductive coding, one researcher created an initial

codebook for the interviews, which was refined with the help of a peer. A randomly selected transcript was then coded, which was reviewed by a second researcher using peer debriefing. To resolve conflicts and update the codebook, the two researchers met after each review process. The final codebook was produced after three iterations (with one transcript coded per stakeholder group) and 46 conflict resolutions over 305 excerpts and 1,466 applied codes. The remaining data was then coded by the initial researcher.

4.7.1 Results

We describe findings related to the perceived value and usability of Project Sidewalk as well as design suggestions and concerns. For quotes, we use (participant group + id).

Perceived value. Overall, all three stakeholder groups felt that Project Sidewalk enabled rapid data collection, allowed for gathering diverse perspectives about accessibility, and helped engage citizens in thinking about urban design. Government officials emphasized cost savings and community involvement envisioning Project Sidewalk as a triaging tool before sending out employees to physically examine areas: *"It's really good for a starting point. This is a first observation, and when you send somebody out in the field, they can see those observations and pick up more information. It's just neat" (G4). The MI and caregiver groups focused more on personal utility, envisioning accessibility-aware navigation tools that could incorporate Project Sidewalk data: <i>"I might take advantage of more opportunities knowing that, okay, if I could rely on the data and knew I could anticipate how difficult it was going to be for me to get around"* (MI1). Six of the seven MI and caregiver participants mentioned that Project Sidewalk data could enhance their independence, give them confidence to explore new and unfamiliar areas, and/or help them achieve the same pedestrian rights as everyone else.

Usability. Participants across groups felt that the tool was easy-to-learn and fun to use. G3, for example, stated: *"I think it's awesome. [...] It's a lot of fun"* and reported *"feeling good"* contributing data to a social purpose while also being motivated by the game design elements:

"we're looking at the 71 percent complete, and we're pretty excited!" Three participants appreciated relying on a familiar technology like GSV, "You're not introducing like yet another platform that somebody has to relearn—that was helpful" (G3). Almost everyone (13/14) found the labeling system comprehensive as captured by MI3: "the labeling is pretty all-inclusive."

Concerns. Key concerns included outdated GSV imagery or labels (*N*=6), data reliability (3), and conflicting data (4). Towards outdated imagery and labels, C1 asked "*if a street light was marked as an obstacle and if it was replaced or moved, would the labels reflect that?*" While this is one limitation of our virtual auditing approach, four participants mentioned that they would rather be aware of a potential issue even if it no longer existed. For example, C2 stated: "*if there was a label, I'd rather be aware of it.*" For data reliability, G4 suggested that each road be audited by multiple people: "*I would have more confidence if different people did it, did the same street.*" Four participants (2 Cs, 2 MIs) were concerned about how labelers may differ in interpreting problems compared with their needs and experiences. For example, MI1 said: "*my concern as a user … someone said this was accessible and I got there and it wasn't accessible, because everyone has different opinions on accessibility.*"

Suggestions. Participants suggested developing mechanisms to keep information up-to-date (4)—for example, by adding a complementary smartphone-based data collection app, adding verification interfaces (3), and surfacing data age (2). All government officials were interested in ways to export and visualize the data; one suggested integrating directly into their service request backend. At a more detailed tool level, seven participants suggested adding new label types, including for crosswalks, the presence of sidewalks, access points (such as driveways), and construction.

4.8 Discussion

Through a multi-methods approach, our results demonstrate the viability of virtually auditing urban accessibility at scale, highlight behavioral and labeling quality differences between user groups, and summarize how key stakeholders feel about Project Sidewalk and the crowdsourced data. Below, we discuss worker and data quality, future deployment costs and worker sources, and limitations.

4.8.1 Label quality

Our data validation study found that, on average, users could find 63% of accessibility issues at 71% precision. This is comparable to early streetscape labeling work by Hara *et al.* [160], where turkers labeled at 67.0% and 55.6% for recall and precision, respectively; however, our tasks are more complex, contain more label types, and are evaluated at a larger scale. Like [160], we also show how assigning multiple labelers can improve results and describe tradeoffs in aggregation algorithms—*e.g.*, by combining labels from five turkers per street, recall rose to 92%; however, precision fell from 69% to 55%. We believe our findings represent a lower bound on performance and provide a nice baseline for future work.

To improve quality, we envision four areas of future work: first, a more sophisticated workflow pipeline that dynamically verifies labels [34, 299], allocates the number of assigned labelers per street based on inferred performance, and integrates other datasets (*e.g.*, top-down imagery). Second, though not explored in this work, our mission-based architecture supports a large variety of diverse mission tasks—*e.g.*, verification missions and ground truth seeding missions, both which will enable us to more reliably identify poor-quality workers. Third, Project Sidewalk currently relies solely on manual labeling; we are experimenting with deep learning methods trained on our 240,000+ image-based label dataset to detect problems automatically (building on [161, 336]), triage likely problem areas, and/or aid in verifications. Finally, our results suggest that many *false positives* could be corrected via improved training (*e.g.*, a driveway is not a curb ramp) and by using simple automated validation (*e.g.*, check for labels in unlikely areas).

4.8.2 Data age

Our interview participants raised two concerns about data age: GSV image age and label age. Towards the former, prior work has found high agreement between virtual audit data of pedestrian infrastructure compared with traditional audits [28, 76, 157, 161, 304, 384]. Google does not publish how often their GSV cars collect data; however, in a 2013 analysis of 1,086 panorama sampled across four North American cities, the average age was 2.2yrs (SD=1.3) [161]. In our dataset, workers labeled 74,231 panoramas, which at the time of first label, were also M=2.2yrs old (SD=1.5). As a comparison, the official opendata.dc.gov curb ramp dataset [94] was captured in 1999 and last updated in 2010 (nine years ago) but this only covers curb ramps (no other label types are included). Our general approach should work with any streetscape imagery dataset, including *Mapillary* [189], *CycloMedia*, or *Bing StreetSide*—many of which are exploring high-refresh methods via automated vehicles and crowd contributions. In terms of maintaining labels over time, one benefit of our scalable approach is that streets can be periodically re-audited and old labels can be used to study historical change (*e.g.*, as initially explored in [269]).

4.8.3 Cost

While future deployments could rely solely on paid workers, ideally Project Sidewalk would also engage online and local communities who are concerned with urban accessibility. Based on our deployment study, we estimate that auditing DC with 100 paid workers alone would cost \$34,000 and take 8 days (assuming five labelers/street, 8hrs of work per day, and that 72 of 100 met our "good" user quality threshold). If one-third of DC was audited by volunteers, costs fall below \$25,000. However, DC is a large city and has a reasonably well-resourced transportation department with full-time ADA compliance staff; small-to-medium sized cities often lack ADA budgets and could particularly benefit from Project Sidewalk. Indeed, we have been contacted by more than a dozen cities in the US and Canada about future deployments.

4.8.4 Increasing user engagement

While ~63% of turkers who started the tutorial went on to complete one mission, this value was 3x lower—19.1%—for volunteers. To increase user engagement, we plan to explore: (1) supporting smartphones, which will increase the reach of the tool and allow any-time access (*e.g.*, users can complete missions while on the bus or subway). This will hopefully result in more repeated visits and higher mission completion rates (our web logs show nearly 25% of traffic is mobile); (2) providing users with visual feedback about the impact of their contributions (*e.g.*, via accessibility visualizations like [221]); (3) incorporating more gamification principles such as additional mission types (*e.g.*, rapid data validation minigames, scavenger hunt missions), badges, and leaderboards—all of which have been shown to improve retention in VGI systems [122]; and (4) and better engaging the local community through outreach efforts to pedestrian and accessibility advocacy organizations.

4.8.5 Limitations

There are three main limitations with crowdsourcing virtual audits: panorama age, label quality, and the ability for crowdworkers to see and assess sidewalks from GSV. We addressed the former two points above. Towards the latter, users could mark areas as occluded in our tool (*e.g.*, a truck blocking a sidewalk); however, *occlusion* constituted only 0.4% of all applied labels in our deployment suggesting that most sidewalks are visible. For study limitations, we employed a multi-methods approach to mitigate the effects of any one study technique. Still, longitudinal deployment studies are messy and ours is no exception: we lost over two months of deployment time due to changes in the GSV API, maintenance upgrades to our servers, and personnel changes. For the data validation study, we were unable to consistently reach high α agreement for *obstacles* and *surface problems* during our seven iterative rounds of coding; these label types are challenging and can be legitimately conflated (*e.g.*, marking overgrown grass as a surface problem *vs.* an obstacle). Our performance results for these label types may have been impacted.

Finally, while our studies take place in the US, accessible infrastructure is a global problem. Project Sidewalk should, ostensibly, work wherever GSV and OSM are available. That said, Project Sidewalk's label types were drawn from US ADA standards [358–360], prior work [246, 254], and our previous experience working with US-based stakeholders. While we believe that these label types constitute primary accessibility barriers for people with mobility impairments and are likely relevant to most North American and European cities, more work is necessary to explore mobility barriers in other regions. As we plan future deployments, we will work with local stakeholders to better understand regional contexts, socio-cultural concerns, and unique, localized infrastructural accessibility issues. Project Sidewalk can be updated per region to, for example, add specific label types or instructions for a city.

4.9 Acknowledgements

This work was supported by an NSF grant (IIS-1302338), a Singapore MOE AcRF Tier 1 Grant, and a Sloan Research Fellowship. We thank Soheil Behnezhad, Daniil Zadorozhnyy, and Johann Miller for their code contributions and Rachael Marr for designing our landing page and logo.

4.10 Chapter Conclusion

This chapter introduced a scalable data collection approach for sidewalk accessibility using online streetview imagery and crowdsourcing. For validating this approach, we conducted three studies, including a city-wide public deployment in Washington DC, a data validation study to evaluate data quality, and an interview study with multiple stakeholders to understand their perceived data utility, concerns, and future tool improvements. We also generated the first city-wide tech enabled sidewalk accessibility dataset. Finally, this work forged the path for future deployments in the United States and abroad.

5 AccessVis: Modeling and Visualizing Urban Accessibility

This chapter explores the first application category for utilizing urban accessibility datasets: interactive visualizations. I present a multi-stakeholder analysis of diverse data and assessment needs and sensemaking practices of understanding urban accessibility datasets, with the goal of exploring how interactive visualizations can support stakeholder decision making. I call this project *AccessVis*, named after the preliminary prototype I built for visualizing sidewalk accessibility that inspired this work (Figure 5.1).

For this investigation, I conducted a three-part interview study with 25 participants across five stakeholder groups using map visualization probes. In this chapter, I elaborate how stakeholders' varying levels of familiarity with accessibility, geospatial analysis, and specific geographic locations influences their sensemaking needs. Further, I present 10 design considerations for geovisual analytic tools for urban accessibility communication, planning, policymaking, and advocacy. Finally, I apply this design space to existing urban accessibility visualization tools such as *AccessMap* and *WheelMap*.



Figure 5.1: AccessVis, a geospatial visualization interface for sidewalk (in)accessibility. AccessVis provides exploration at the high-level via city-wide accessibility visualizations and allows drilling down to explore the raw label data using semantic zoom. The figure shows Washington DC's accessibility at the highest level through a neighborhood based choropleth. The tool allows 'coloring' *i.e.*, drawing a box over an area to find and color based on the neighborhood accessibility score. The complementary sidebar visualizations dynamically respond to user interactions, such as zooming, panning, brushing, linking, hovering, and clicking, to show detailed information on neighborhood(s).



Figure 5.2: Interview setup and three-part study process. Part 1 presents visualization probes with seven map types. Row-by-row we gradually build a 5 x 5 map grid (A & B), where each row shows a different map type. Part 2 involves performing three sensemaking tasks. In (C), a participant completes a task using the map grid. (D) illustrates a task involving three ego-centric isochrone maps. Part 3 critiques map types and gathers opinions for future interactive visualization tools.

5.1 Introduction

A recent UN report notes a "widespread lack of accessibility in built environments, from roads and housing to public buildings and spaces" and this lack contributes to and further reinforces systemic inequalities in economic opportunity and access to basic services such as transportation, medicine, and education for people with disabilities [176]. While the open data movement has enabled new types of urban analytics and insights for transportation [349], climate change [77, 78], and public health [165], similar efforts in urban accessibility have been hampered by a lack of data [124]. Towards addressing this problem, new data collection tools such as *Project Sidewalk* [238, 310] and *WheelMap* [380] as well as open data initiatives such as *OpenSidewalks* [341] and *Accessibility Cloud* [6] have emerged, spurring new urban access visualization and mapping tools [51, 220, 319, 380]. While this progress is commendable, little work has characterized how best to visualize urban accessibility datasets across different stakeholders: what are the key visual analytic tasks and data needs (**RQ1**) and how might key stakeholders' sensemaking practices differ (**RQ2**). To begin addressing these questions, we first developed 24 urban accessibility visualization design probes across seven map types using Project Sidewalk's Washington DC dataset [239, 310]: point visualizations, severity point visualizations, grid maps, heatmaps, choropleth, street visualizations, and ego-centric isochrones. Our designs were informed by prior work in urban accessibility visualizations [51, 124, 158, 380] and support a range of questions and tasks from *"Where are key (in)accessible hotspots in my city and why might this be?"* to *"How does neighborhood X compare to Y?"*. Using the probes to ground discussion and solicit feedback, we then conducted a three-part interview study (Figure 5.2) of five stakeholder groups (N=25): local transit officials, policymakers, accessibility advocates, caregivers, and people who use a mobility aid such as a cane or wheelchair (MI individuals). In Part 1, we observed how participants reacted to and made sense of the visualizations while in Part 2, they used the maps to complete specific sensemaking tasks. In Part 3, participants critiqued and reflected on their experience.

Through iterative coding and thematic analysis of the interview recordings, we present findings on urban accessibility tasks and data needs across stakeholders and share observations of the influence of professional role and/or life experience on their sensemaking process. Specifically, personal experience with accessibility, geographic location, and data analysis influenced their sensemaking processes. We find that participants analyzed maps based on personally relevant assessment factors and preferred maps that aligned with their mental model for assessing accessibility. For example, MI/Caregivers preferred localized views of the data (*e.g.*, street level), while policymakers and department officials preferred city-scale views. Participants built confidence when they could personally verify their assessments with other maps. Finally, establishing trust with the data was crucial to confidently interpret and draw insights from the visualizations.

Our contributions, which are situated at the intersection of the accessibility and visualization literature, are three-fold: (1) a multi-stakeholder data and task characterization within a multi-layered task model for urban accessibility visualizations, (2) elaborating the influence of individual differences on sensemaking processes, and (3) a set of 10 design considerations for implications and opportunities for future interactive geovisual analytic tools to support advocacy, policymaking, city planning, and daily living.

5.2 Background and Related Work

I present a background on urban accessibility assessments, metrics, and stakeholders' needs for urban accessibility decision-making followed by prior work in visual analytics and sensemaking.

5.2.1 Urban Accessibility Assessments

Urban accessibility seeks to enable access to opportunities and services while ensuring comfort and quality of experience to people of all abilities [92, 306, 371]. Physical access includes pedestrian infrastructure (*e.g.*, sidewalks), transit (*e.g.*, buses, trains), and Points of Interest or POIs (*e.g.*, buildings and facilities) [109, 154, 306, 326]. In this chapter, we use sidewalk accessibility data to study visualization-based urban accessibility assessment needs. Physical access issues to sidewalks include the presence and absence of curb ramps, surface problems, sidewalk path obstacles, and the availability of sidewalks themselves. The Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) [360, 361] together with US Access Board [363] provides standards for accessible sidewalks by specifying design requirements. For example, sidewalks must be a minimum 1.5m (5ft) passing width, a maximum 5% grade, and have curb ramps at intersections. Governments conduct field measurements by taking physical instruments such as digital scales to check for ADA compliance.

Beyond physical assessments, digital assessments widely utilize maps for analyzing and communicating urban issues due to their spatial arrangement, visual impact, and perceived credibility [197]. Existing accessibility assessment tools are largely map-based [6, 51, 54, 220, 260, 380] with street- and sidewalk-level views. While these tools offer information on

POI accessibility [6, 380] and customized views of sidewalk accessibility based on mobility needs [51, 220], these tools and visualization types have yet to be studied across different stakeholders. Closest to our work is a design probe-based study that envisioned future accessibility-aware location-based tools for MI individuals [158], where maps played a central role in the resultant designs. We extend that work [158] by studying sensemaking processes and visualization needs across five stakeholder groups using map-based paper prototype probes. We contribute to urban accessibility task and data characterization [268] by elaborating stakeholder goals, tasks, and needs for future geovisual decision support tools.

5.2.2 Quantifying Accessibility: Models, Indexes, and Metrics

For representing multiple assessment factors, map visualizations often aggregate raw data with other factors using models, indexes, and metrics. In this section, I will review some of these accessibility measures from the transportation, urban design and planning, and urban informatics literature.

Accessibility metrics allow benchmarking cities [38, 75, 119], mitigating urban problems (*e.g.*, traffic accidents and pollution emissions [223]), and exploring relationships between urban planning factors such as land-use [129, 156, 373], social equity [67, 222, 377], and sustainability (*e.g.*, use of green transportation [68]). For example, identifying food-deserts for underrepresented communities (*e.g.*, elderly populations) in diverse socio-economic regions (*e.g.*, low-income areas) [323] is a common usage of accessibility-based planning and assessment.

Due to the many definitions of accessibility (discussed in Chapter 2), defining a single precise metric is a widely debated subject [30, 37, 377], resulting into numerous types of metrics and classes [90, 129]. While Geurs *et al.* [129] categorize metrics across four groups—infrastructure-based, location-based, person-based, and utility-based, Bhat *et al.* [37] categorize across five classes: spatial separation, cumulative opportunity, gravity, log-



Figure 5.3: Chen *et al.*'s Accessibility Framework [68]. Illustration shows the four components of this model, namely, constructing service area, calculating accessibility to urban opportunities, characterizing by multiple socio-economic variables for comparison with different social groups; with the goal of assessing transportation equity for disadvantaged groups.

sum/utility, and time/space models. According to the Bhat *et al.*'s taxonomy, these models vary by the accounted factors, such as travel mode (*e.g.*, auto, transit), trip purpose (*e.g.*, access to employment, public facilities), time of day (*e.g.*, peak period, average week day), level of service (*e.g.*, Euclidean distance, travel time), and spatial granularity (*e.g.*, zone, node, household, individual).

All these models follow the traditional conceptual framework of accessibility—studying the effects of land-use and transportation systems on access to destinations and services. However, more recent models [38, 67, 186, 222, 223, 377] have looked beyond to socio-economic (*e.g.,* promote equity) and environmental considerations (*e.g.,* promote sustainability) and towards creating 'accessibility profiles' [162]. For example, Chen *et al.* [68] proposed an accessibility

framework to evaluate transportation equity using diverse socio-demographic variables for disadvantaged groups, where accessibility is defined as the "number of urban opportunities falling inside each service area" (Figure 5.3). Biazzo *et al.* [38], through the use of isochrones, proposed metrics such as *velocity score*, *sociality score*, and *cohesion score* to measure the performance of transport systems, rank cities according to their overall accessibility, and highlight inequalities across populations; their results are accessible via an interactive vis platform, *CityChrone* [75]. Finally, toolkits such as MIT's Urban Network Analysis [258, 259, 325], part of the ArcGIS toolbox, have made using accessibility indexes more accessible; giving access to graph analysis indexes on spatial networks such as Reach, Gravity, Betweenness, Closeness, and Straightness. These models and metrics enable accessibility visualizations highlight global patterns and differences across cities and relationships to human well-being and environmental impact (*e.g.*, forest loss) [377].

Despite the long history of accessibility indexing of over six decades [37], accessibility metrics considering disability needs are scarce to-date. Within this context, past models' foci were on auto and transit accessibility [316]; however, pedestrian accessibility models are extremely limited [53, 282, 370]. They have ranged from mapping wheelchair users' needs with binary values [282] to pre-defined user profiles for limited user groups [370] to more comprehensive pedestrian mobility profiles [53]. The latest work from Bolten *et al.* [53] propose sidewalk accessibility metrics based on pedestrian mobility profiles within a personalized pedestrian network analysis framework. However, for conducting more comprehensive analysis of pedestrian accessibility within the disability context (*e.g.*, across socio-economic and demographic factors), much more work is warranted.

In this chapter, we present and use AccessScore, a simple parameterizable model to show the impact of sidewalk inaccessibility on the mobility for people with and without mobility disabilities. This model scores regions based on the impact of physical barriers to access important destinations, called as *accessible reach* (described in more detail later). While not as comprehensive as the ones mentioned earlier, the model was sufficient for creating visualizations such as choropleth (Section 5.3.1) and ego-centric isochrones (Section 5.3.2) for the purposes of the design probe study described in this chapter.

5.2.3 Stakeholders and their Decision Making Perspectives

Urban accessibility stakeholders include, people with disabilities, caregivers, occupational therapists, advocates and activists, policymakers, department officials, transit agency officials, and other professionals [209, 306, 366]. These groups, each with their own accessibility perspective, can be divided into two overlapping categories: people who are affected by accessibility issues and people who make or support infrastructure planning decisions and improvements. In Chapter 3 [306], I discussed the decision-making process and needs of five stakeholder groups: policymakers, department officials, accessibility advocates, MI individuals, and caregivers. We found that MI individuals and caregivers prioritize travel safety and quality, and therefore, have localized questions such as "Is it doing to be a smooth ramp?" or "Is the entrance accessible?". Policymakers and department officials are concerned with more macro-scale questions related to planning and resource distribution: what are the highest priority sidewalks?" or "do we invest in new sidewalks or in repairing" existing sidewalks?". Finally, advocates often act as an intermediate representative body between the government and the citizens to communicate needs and concerns to push for change. The nature of their questions are both investigative and exploratory to aid them in (a) understanding the extent and impact of the problem and (b) analyze effectiveness of remediation approaches to ensure accountability (e.g., investigating a non-compliant curb ramp: "When was this curb ramp installed? Was it part of this administration?"). With these needs and perspectives in mind, we study these stakeholder groups' visualization needs for analyzing urban accessibility data.

5.2.4 Making Sense of Visualizations

Russell *et al.* [305] define sensemaking as the "process of searching for a representation and encoding data in that representation to answer task-specific questions". Within geovisual analytics, sensemaking focuses on how people perceive information in geovisualizations and make sense of their inferences [302]. While past work in visual analysis research [291] typically focused on understanding analysts' sensemaking processes, a recent body of work has started studying how non-experts understand, process, and construct visualizations [218, 287]. With the proliferation and wide-scale consumption of visualizations in mass media, especially during the ongoing COVID crisis [217, 396], emerging research is examining visualization use in real world contexts, especially the social and political contexts of visualizations [102, 217, 287]. Our work fits within this growing body of work, where we study visualization use within the urban accessibility context, studying sensemaking processes of multiple stakeholders and the influence of stakeholder differences on their interpretation process of making accessibility assessments.

In this work, we develop an understanding of the sensemaking processes of diverse non-expert stakeholders while performing geovisual analysis for urban accessibility. We specifically study people with little or no professional data analysis experience but have data questions for assessing accessibility. They have indirect interactions with such data-driven visual analyses. For example, policymakers are usually consumers of the visualizations (rather than an analyst) while advocates, who are not analysts by profession, are often involved in geovisual analysis as part of their job.

5.3 Design of Map Visualization Probes

To structure our visualization design work, we drew on common urban accessibility questions identified in the literature [158, 310]: "where are the most (in)accessible parts of the city?", "which is the most accessible neighborhood to live?", and "why is my neighborhood inaccessi-


POINT VIS & SEVERITY POINT VIS Visualizes raw label counts and a severity-weighted variant as points. Point density proportional to brightness.







Aggregates problem counts into 1km grids. Cells colored proportional to cumulative counts. Higher counts are brighter.



STREET VIS Streets colored proportional to problem count or a severityweighted variant. Redder areas correspond to more problems.



EGO-CENTRIC ISOCHRONES Plots accessible reach of a selected location and 'AccessScore' calculations. Approximated both walking and rolling times.

Figure 5.4: Design Probes. Seven map types used in the study. PointVis and SevPointVis are represented in one sub-figure.

GRID MAPS

ble?". We attempted to create a diverse visualization set that enabled both micro-assessments of urban accessibility such as via point- or street-level visualizations similar to AccessMap [51] as well as more holistic analyses via heatmaps using Inverse Distance Weighting method for spatial interpolation and Gaussian distributions [169], choropleths using AccessScore metric [220] and ego-centric isochrones using *BarrierTimePenalty* metric described next.

Dataset. All visualizations were created using Project Sidewalk's open sidewalk data from Washington DC [239, 240, 310]. The DC repository consists of 250,000+ geo-located sidewalk annotations identifying and assessing curb ramps, missing curb ramps, obstacles, and surface problems. Each label is annotated with a severity assessment on a 5-point Likert scale (5 most severe) and optional open-ended descriptions.

5.3.1 Access Score

When creating AccessScore, we had three key design tenets. First, while urban accessibility visualizations would be useful to urban planners, government workers, and other audiences, our primary target community are MI individuals. Second, based on our formative work [158], the system must adapt to individual mobility needs. Finally, the visualizations and underlying model should incorporate the proximity to and priority of destinations (similar to walkscore.com).

The *AccessScore* model discretizes a city into a grid of equally-sized rectangular cells. For each cell, we compute an accessibility score by, first, using the Google Maps Directions API to find the *n* nearest points of interest corresponding to *p* categories (*e.g.*, library, park, restaurant). We then request a pedestrian route to each destination (n * p destinations in total) from the cell's center and score these routes based on the accessibility data from Project Sidewalk. For each accessibility feature along the route (*e.g.*, curb ramp), we add a weight *c* and for each sidewalk barrier (*e.g.*, missing curb ramp), we subtract a weight *d*. The two weights can vary depending on the given accessibility feature, severity, and end-user customizations. We also apply a cost penalty as a function of distance (from [331]). Finally, accessibility scores are normalized based on route length.

5.3.2 Barrier Time Penalty

Barrier Time Penalty is a delta time estimate for a person in a wheelchair to reach a particular destination or travel within a neighborhood given the sidewalk barriers. This penalty score is used to create ego-centric isochrones showing physical access differences between people with and without mobility disabilities. The same set of pedestrian routes to destinations from the *AccessScore* algorithm is used as the origin route pool. The sidewalk problems identified via Project Sidewalk and elevation changes along a route are incorporated to compute this score. In theory,

ActualTravelTime = EstimatedTravelTime + BarrierTimePenalty

where, BarrierTimePenalty = ProblemPenalty + ElevationPenalty.

Problem Penalty. If there are *n* sidewalk problems within a collection $\{p_i\}$ (*e.g.*, within 12 meters of a route or street segment) then p_i is a problem of some type that has significance w_i and severity s_i . The *Problem Penalty* for a route or collection of problems in a neighborhood is given by

$$Problem Penalty = \sum_{i=1}^{n} w_i * s_i$$

Elevation Penalty. Elevation changes along a route are computed at point locations along the street centerline every 100 meters. If e_i is the elevation in meters at point *i* along a route, then $slope_i = (e_{i+1} - e_i)/100$ is the slope between consecutive points. Then the *Slope Cost* for a slope in $\{slope_i\}$ is given by

$$SlopeCost_{i} = \begin{cases} 0, & ifslope_{i} \leq 0.05 \\ 4*(3+100*|slope_{i}-0.05|), & ifslope_{i} > 0.05 \end{cases}$$

The value 4 was selected as the significance of slope changes greater than 5% (based on ADA requirements [47, 48, 114]), and 3 was selected as the base severity level. Notice that severity level increases by one for each percentage point the slope is above 5%. For example, if a given segment had a slope of 0.07, then the actual severity of the slope of this segment would be 3 + 100 * |0.07 - 0.05| = 5. However, the severity of a segment with slope less than 0.05 (*e.g.*, 0.04) would be 0.

These slope costs are aggregated by summing the slope costs of each segment j along a route. If there are m segments along a route, then the *Elevation Penalty* is computed as

$$ElevationPenalty = \sum_{j=1}^{m} SlopeCost_{j}$$

Finally, to compute *BarrierTimePenalty*, we sum *ProblemPenalty* with *ElevationPenalty*,

$$BarrierTimePenalty = \sum_{i=1}^{n} w_i * s_i + \sum_{j=1}^{m} SlopeCost_j$$



Figure 5.5: Design Dimensions of Map Probes. A. Zoom Level, B. Analysis Unit, C. Color Codes and Scales and D. Other Encodings (*e.g.*, size and opacity). For the accessibility label categories, we used Project Sidewalk's color palette [239, 240, 310] as color codes.

5.3.3 Design Space Dimensions

Through iterative design amongst our cross-disciplinary team and informed by the geovisualization and cartography literature [15, 57, 97], we distilled a guiding set of design dimensions (Figure 5.5): *zoom level, analysis unit, color codes and scales,* and *other encodings.*

Zoom level describes map data at two different zoom levels: *city scale*, which are full maps of DC, and *neighborhood scale*, which visualize a zoomed-view of a specific neighborhood.

Analysis unit refers both to how the underlying sidewalk data is aggregated as well as how it is expressed on a map. For example, point visualizations render the frequency of a sidewalk label as small as 2px circles, grid maps and street visualizations render cumulative aggregated counts, and heatmaps visualize density clusters.

Color codes and scales. To visualize raw problem counts and severity-weighted variants, we used mono-hue gradients. Aggregated views such as grid maps and choropleths used discretized multi-hue color schemes denoting low-to-high problem areas. For some map types, we created multiple visualizations—one per sidewalk assessment type. Here, we used Project Sidewalk's color palette [239, 240, 310]: curb ramps (green), missing ramps (pink), surface problems (orange), and obstacles (blue). To emphasize problematic areas, we used a black background with bright problem clusters [251, 315].

Other Encodings. The size of map elements such as points or grids were chosen to facilitate comparison across map types. For point maps, where overplotting is common, we used opacity to convey point density.

5.3.4 Final Urban Accessibility Design Probes

For our interview study, we ultimately created 24 map-based visualizations across seven map types (Figure 5.4 and Figure 5.6): point (*PointVis*), severity point (*SevPointVis*), grid (*GridMaps*), heatmaps (*Heatmaps*), choropleth (*Choropleth*), street (*StreetVis*), and egocentric isochrone (*Isochrones*). The maps are situated in different points in our design space utilizing unique aggregation models, visual encodings, and zoom levels and also reflect emerging prior work in urban accessibility visualizations [51, 124, 158, 380]. For *PointVis*, *SevPointVis*, and *GridMap* visualizations, we created five individual maps—one map for each label type (*e.g.*, obstacles, surface problems) as well as an aggregate map for all problems. To create the visualizations, we used Project Sidewalk's DC API ¹ and geospatial mapping tools–Mapbox, kepler.gl, and QGIS [195, 242, 295]. To simplify technical map names, in the interviews, we used the terms "area map" for choropleth and "time plot" for Isochrones. While all designs were presented as paper prototypes, our findings are intended to inform the design of future interactive visualizations.

¹dc.projectsidewalk.org/api





Figure 5.6: Illustration showing the 5x5 map grid of 24 prototypes across seven map types. High-resolution images are available in Appendix A.

5.4 Interview Study

5.4.1 Study Methodology

To investigate our primary research questions on understanding visual analytic tasks and data needs (**RQ1**) and individual differences in sensemaking processes across stakeholder

groups for urban accessibility (**RQ2**), we conducted a three-part interview study with the 24 paper-based map visualizations (Figure 5.2). In Part 1, we observed how participants reacted to and made sense of the visualization; in Part 2, they used the maps to complete specific sensemaking tasks; in Part 3, participants critiqued and reflected on their experience. Study sessions lasted 1.5–3 hours and were audio and video recorded. We provided compensation of US\$25/hour and up to US\$30 for transportation costs. Interviews were conducted by the first author, and the study was conducted as part of a larger interview study with the same participants. During all study parts, participants were asked to "*think aloud*."

Part 1: Initial Exploration of Visualizations. In Part 1, we studied cross-stakeholder similarities and differences in how participants initially reacted to and interpreted the map visualizations. Specifically, we studied *exploration*, *sensemaking*, *interpretation* practices, and solicited feedback on perceived *usefulness* and *desired features*. A secondary goal was to familiarize participants before the sensemaking tasks in Part 2. To begin, we first introduced Project Sidewalk and the collected data then sequentially introduced each map type by building a row-by-row visualization grid (Figure 5.6) on a large table surface. For each row, participants were asked: *"What do you learn from these visualizations?"*. While the order of the seven map types was kept the same across all participants, the rows closest to the participant (Figure 5.2) were randomly changed across participants.

Part 2: Visual Sensemaking Tasks. Next we sought to understand *sensemaking* processes with respect to a task: how do participants use the visualization(s) to answer task questions and why use specific visualizations? We asked participants to perform three sensemaking tasks: one *"find"* task and two *"compare"* tasks. These tasks, which were derived from the literature [158], require participants to assess overall city accessibility, compare accessibility of regions (such as neighborhood/locale), and compare the accessible reach of individuals. They represent common tasks for assessing and prioritizing infrastructure improvements and/or for informing travel decisions.

In Task 1, we asked participants to "find the *three most accessible* and *three most inaccessible* areas in the city" using any of the city-level maps (Figure 5.6: Types 1–6). Participants marked identified areas using Post-Its (Figure 5.2: sub-figure C) and were asked to explain their rationale. For Tasks 2 and 3, we used Isochrones (Type 7 in Figure 5.6). Here, participants compared the *accessible reach* of an individual ². In Task 2, participants compared the *accessible reach* of an individual ². In Task 2, participants compared the *accessible reach* of an individual ². In Task 2, participants compared the *accessible reach* of an individual ². In Task 2, participants compared the most accessible neighborhoods (Figure 5.9) and were asked to select the most accessible neighborhood for a family member using a manual wheelchair. After each task, we asked: (1) What aspects of the selected visualization helped answer the question? (2) Was there any missing information? (3) How did they envision using these visualizations in their personal or professional lives?

Part 3: Critique and Reflections. Participants critiqued and reflected on their experience by discussing the perceived utility and limitations of the map types, rated the usefulness and trustworthiness of each, and stated their map preferences. We then solicited design recommendations for interactive visualization tools.

5.4.2 Participants

We recruited 25 people (11 female) aged 25–72 (*Mean*=48.3, *Median*=45, *SD*=14.5) across five stakeholder groups: six department officials (D), eight accessibility advocates (A), four policymakers (PM), seven people with mobility impairments (M), and five caregivers (C). Five participants identified with two stakeholder roles (*e.g.*, P4 and P20 both identified as advocates and caregivers) and were interviewed from both perspectives. Department officials included employees from city departments of transportation (DOTs) and other related government organizations. Policymakers were either elected officials or their legislative staff members. Advocates worked as active disability rights advocates either as paid employees or

 $^{^{2}}$ For tasks 2 and 3, *accessible reach* is defined as an area that can be covered by a person within the existing sidewalk barriers, specifically characterized as POIs that are within reach and how far are they from a given location

volunteers. MI participants used a mobility aid such as a wheelchair or a cane, and caregivers took care of an MI individual either as a professional, family member, or friend. During recruitment, we asked MI participants if they used a mobility aid and to describe their disability. We provide a description of all participants in Appendix A. Only one participant had a professional data analysis background. Participants were recruited from three cities: Washington DC (N=5), Seattle (N=19), and New York (N=1) via mailing lists, word-of-mouth, social media, and directed emails. All interviews were conducted in person in the participants' respective city. We refer to participants by 'P' suffixed by their participant number and stakeholder group [D | A | PM | M | C].

5.4.3 Analysis Method

We audio and video recorded the interviews and analyzed the data in two phases: (1) through iterative coding and thematic analysis [56] to identify common themes and (2) through video analysis to study how the five groups performed the sensemaking tasks.

For the first phase, four researchers independently open coded two participants' data interview transcript and video—to generate initial codes. Next, we used affinity diagramming [211] on these codes to create a codebook followed by collaboratively coding the videos and transcripts of one participant using it. Codes covered the sensemaking practices used, insights learned, envisioned usage of those insights, confusions and challenges faced, map inspired new analysis questions, and desired features for future interactive tools. We coded nine participants across all coders to form the codebook before splitting the rest to code independently. During the process, new codes were added if required and all coders were updated.

For the second phase, the first author went through all the videos and conducted a part-bypart analysis of the study sections. The researcher made notes on the sensemaking processes and their responses to individual interview questions and conduced a stakeholder analysis analysing the similarities and differences between stakeholder groups. The sensemaking process analysis involved going over the study video to notice how they used the maps such as combining maps to answer questions, pointing at certain areas of the maps, and reasoning about them. For the analysis and reported findings, we combine MI individuals and caregivers (MI/Caregivers) into one group as their data/tool needs were similar.

5.5 RQ1: Task and Data Needs

To address *what are the key visual analytic tasks and data needs* (RQ1), we summarize participants' comments across the study on desired data and map usage for different decision contexts. The analytic task and data needs are represented and combined in a multi-layer task model for urban accessibility analysis (Figure 5.7).

Across stakeholders, participants wanted to use interactive maps for planning travel, city planning and policymaking, supporting civic interactions, and advocacy. While MI/Caregivers primarily talked about *navigability*, policymakers, department officials, and advocates talked about sidewalk network *connectivity* and *livability* for investment decisions. To inform resource prioritization, stakeholders wanted to perform *impact analysis*—impact of (in)accessibility on quality of life such as healthcare, jobs, and housing and *equity analysis*—equitable access to resources and physical infrastructure across diverse populations and geographic regions. An example analysis question was *how does accessibility of low-income areas compare with high-income areas?*. Beyond prioritization of resources, department officials described using maps for communication and citizen engagement, while advocates envisioned them as a persuasion and accountability tool to visualize equity issues: *"You know that not all neighborhoods are created equal, so being able to show that view of the world is a useful tool, especially when places have goals that say they want to do the right thing"* (P11A). These analytic tasks are represented as macro goals, analysis strategies, and micro tasks in Figure 5.7: Analysis Task Needs.



Figure 5.7: Mapping Stakeholders' Analysis Task and Data Needs into a Multi-layered Task Model for Urban Accessibility. The analysis needs are on a task spectrum, spanning from low-level micro tasks such as determining sidewalk (in)accessibility to high-level analysis tasks such as assessing healthcare access based on physical infrastructure conditions. The analyses occur at specific levels or across multiple levels (*e.g.*, equity analysis). 'Stakeholder Interests' represent stakeholders' primary focus and overlapping task needs: MI/Caregivers (MI/CVG) operate at low to mid levels, policymakers (PM) and department officials (DO) at mid to high, and advocates (ADV) across the spectrum. Note: The represented needs are not an exhaustive list, but reflect our participants' key tasks, strategies, and data needs. Icons from the Noun Project [275–279].

Participants mentioned various assessment factors have to be balanced across these decisionmaking contexts: "I feel like I understand the map. The question is what am I willing to compromise?" (P4C, a caregiver). The assessment factors ranged from disaggregated sidewalk problems (e.g., "I want to know how many of these obstacles are parking signs? Utility poles?"-P23PM) to destinations, transit, and routes (e.g., "What this isn't telling me is where I can and cannot get through"-P21D) to experiential (e.g., travel safety) and socioeconomic factors. For example, policymakers and advocates wanted to perform equity analysis and analyze correlations with socioeconomic factors such as demographics (*e.g.*, where people with disabilities lived), population, and business density: "*I want to be able to look at it by tract or zip code or some other defined district and probably in multiple ways. I want to look at population data. These [all maps] are fantastic for outreach with our programs and our advocacy. They also are suggestive of solutions.*" (P24A). These factors are categorized across quantitative and qualitative measures (Figure 5.7: Data Needs).

We map the identified analytic tasks and data needs into a multi-layer task model to demonstrate the observed analysis workflow and how these needs overlap across stakeholders (Figure 5.7). Participant tasks are mapped on a spectrum as high-level (macro) analyses goals, mid-level strategies, and low-level (micro) tasks. Depending on the task, analyses occur at either a specific level such as the low level task of determining sidewalk (in)accessibility and associated causes or across levels such as equity analysis using mid-level assessment strategies such as connectivity analysis and complementary data such as regional income levels. For example, an advocate requested: "I would want to look at home ownership income and education level by zip code, and see if those zip codes intersect with where the problem counts are high, and the severity is the least passable, or perhaps see if there is an intersection there" (P15A). The stakeholder groups' primary tasks are at specific levels with some overlapping (shared) tasks (Figure 5.7: Stakeholder Interests). MI/Caregivers' primary tasks were between low to mid level, policymakers and department officials were usually at high-to-mid level, and advocates' were across the entire task spectrum. For example, policymakers and department officials talked about sidewalk network connectivity breakdowns as assessment strategies to perform impact analyses.

5.6 RQ2: Sensemaking Practices

To examine *how sensemaking practices differ across stakeholders* (RQ2), we summarize observations across the open-ended map explorations (Part 1) and targeted visual analytic tasks (Part 2). We describe map use and present contributing factors for map preferences and trust in visualizations, supplemented with participants' Likert Scale ratings on each map type's utility and trustworthiness.

5.6.1 Task Analysis: Open and Targeted

Across both open exploration and targeted tasks, we report on participants' sensemaking processes for map understanding and usage for addressing the task prompt, challenges, and desired information.

Participants followed the sensemaking loop model. During open exploration, participants utilized the *bottom-up* processes of Pirolli *et al.*'s model [291] by building theory from data where sensemaking processes involved reading and extracting patterns and building a case for determining (in)accessibility. In contrast, participants employed *top-down* processes [291] for Task 1, namely searching for relevant information, relations across maps, and supporting evidence for self-evaluating assessments. Further, participants used 'tasks' as a sensemaking framework during Task 1: "*T'm trying to think of what my task is. Whether it's like to live there or to be there*" (P4C, a caregiver). Using a higher-level task as a "frame" to determine an area's (in)accessibility aligns with Klein *et al.*'s [201] data-frame theory of sensemaking, where the selected task is the mental frame within which sensemaking processes are performed. Policymakers and department officials adopted a prioritization of resources and investment decisions framing while MI/caregivers and advocates used navigability and livability. This layered approach is captured in the previously described task model (Figure 5.7).

Task 2: Comparing Accessible Reach of a Person



Figure 5.8: Isochrones used for Task 2: Comparing accessible reach of a person. The task is to compare the accessible reach of two individuals: one with a mobility disability (in this case, a manual wheelchair user) and an individual without mobility disability. Illustration shows the accessible reach for both individuals for a specific point in DC's North Cleveland Park neighborhood.

In line with prior work [217, 287], personal experiences drove sensemaking. We identified three influential factors: (1) a participants' relationship with sidewalk accessibility as a function of their lived and/or professional experience (*Accessibility Familiarity*); (2) previous experience with analyzing map-based visualizations (*Map Familiarity*); and (3) familiarity with the city (*Location Familiarity*)³. For example, those familiar with map types immediately started reasoning about the identified patterns (*e.g.*, causes of high inaccessibility) based off their prior knowledge: "It looks like there's a high density of obstacles. I could imagine the sidewalks are really narrow in Georgetown, so I could imagine there being a utility pole or something in the middle of the sidewalk" (P3GC, non-DC department official speaking based off prior visits to DC). Individuals with personal experience of disability analyzed maps based on their lived experience: "From my perspective, even a severity of three, I can manage there. But once we get up to five, then that's a huge problem. So on this [PointVis], it looks really, really bad, and on this [SevPointVis], it still looks pretty bad" (P1M, a motorized wheelchair user analyzing obstacle maps across both map types). Participants

³Six participants were Washington DC residents and three had visited or were otherwise familiar with DC.

familiar with map-based analysis focused on searching for specific insights: "what I'm looking for here [StreetVis] is not just redness, but the distribution of redness across a particular area as it connects to other red markings." (P7AC, an advocate analyzing connectivity).

Contextualizing patterns was a core sub-task and need. All groups wanted to know the "why" behind the patterns seen: "I don't feel like I can say anything about what is the cause of having it take the person longer" (P4C, a caregiver during Task 2). Participants suggested contextualizing identified problem hotspots with quantitative data such as problem count, demographics as well as qualitative information (e.g., problem images): "There is a lot of problems highlighted in this area. It makes me wonder if that area has a lot of people of color who are disabled." (P15AM, a black advocate interested in assessing racial inequities). Participants emphasized showing *personally* relevant information: problem locations (geocontext), problem types (identity context—e.g., identifying utility pole from a water hydrant), reason for problems (root cause context), and what is harder to repair (remediation context): "Adding a curb ramp is changeable. [...] [In contrast,] moving a telephone pole is really hard. [...] There are many, many agencies that have to approve that. So it would be interesting to find a way to assess the remediation possibility." (P2M, an MI individual who assisted government agencies on accessible infrastructure). Unfamiliarity with the city's geography, makeup, and history with accessibility investments hindered analysis for policymakers as these external geo-contextual factors played key roles in drawing conclusions and making funding decisions. For Tasks 2 and 3, participants requested information on land topography (e.g., elevation), underlying street grids, and important POIs.

Participants weighed metrics to determine *personally* **relevant assessment factors.** To pick (in)accessible areas in Task 1, participants weighed metrics such as problem count and severity based on what accessibility meant to them. An advocate explained her preferred quality of travel experience with her choice of low severe problem count over high problem count: *"I'd rather have the one big leech bite [high severity, low problem count] than the 100 mosquito bites [low severity, high problem count]*" (P15AM). Similarly, partic-

ipants weighed label types against each other: missing ramps are a prime candidate for repairs (*e.g.*, for department officials) while obstacles are dealbreakers for navigation (*e.g.*, for MI/Caregivers). Depending on one's relation with accessibility, the metric combination varied.

Accounting for the diversity of accessibility needs across MI individuals was key. Accessibility assessments being a deeply personal problem manifested as participants found existing qualitative measures like severity useful but limited. While some participants expressed that severity added a nuanced information layer (e.g., more problems does not always lead to an inaccessible path), others pointed out that severity is a subjective measure: "Severity is in the eye of the beholder, or the eye of the traveler" (P7AC, a caregiver) and "people will have different ideas on what severity means to them" (P10M, a cane user). During tasks 2 and 3, participants noted differences in accessible reach depending on a person's mobility profile, such as their pace and and functional status: "I bet it's [accessible reach] even smaller than this when you consider functional status, meaning one uses a manual chair, but one is in excellent condition and doesn't have any other limitation in terms of upper body or fatigue. Because then what looks like 10 minutes is way longer because you've got to stop and rest." (P24A, an advocate).

5.6.2 Map Types: Usefulness and Preferences

All groups wanted access to multiple map types to view the data from different perspectives and serve diverse audiences and decision contexts. Participants evaluated maps based on comprehensibility, comprehensiveness, and perceived utility for different contexts. In terms of self-reported usefulness, the top three map types were StreetVis (Median=5, SD=1.16), Isochrones (Median=4.5, SD=1.2), and SevPointVis (Median=4, SD=1.22). StreetVis and Isochrones were useful—especially preferred by MI/Caregivers and advocates—for their ability to inform travel decisions and equity advocacy. Below, we unpack contributing factors to a map's interpretability, utility, and preference.





Figure 5.9: Isochrones used for Task 3: Comparing accessibility of a locale. The task is choosing the neighborhood with the most accessible neighborhood in terms of accessible reach for a manual wheelchair user. Illustration shows the three neighborhood maps used for comparing accessible reach.

Perceived utility aligned with how well a map supported existing mental models. Department officials preferred GridMaps and StreetVis because of the maps' close alignment with their mental model of sensemaking: GridMaps for its normalized data representation and StreetVis for streets as an analysis unit, both of which were commonly used in their jobs. MI/Caregivers focused on highly-localized problems such as the navigability of routes confined to specific areas (*e.g.*, neighborhoods, streets): *"I'm kind of wrapping my head around the fact that this is a global assessment versus usually my needs are very localized. And so from that perspective, this feels more like a data analysis task than really a problem assessment task. Because whenever I'm going someplace, it's highly context specific"* (P4C).

Stakeholder's decision context influenced map choices. A department official summarized a map's usefulness with respect to the ease of making individual decisions: "What's most useful about the point maps, or the street map, or the zoomed in area map, is it allows me to begin to make individual choices about where I'm going to walk or route today. Or where I'm going to choose to make investments." (P3DC). An advocate (P14A) preferred Heatmaps when acquiring investments and StreetVis when convincing MI/Caregivers with granular information like routes between A to B. Choropleth with access scores brought a sense of competitiveness that is useful as a persuasive political tool. Policymakers and advocates discussed Isochrones' wide utility from analysis to communication: understanding the impact of socioeconomic factors on MI individuals' navigability and neighborhood liveability, identifying points of change (*e.g., "translating general feeling that we know to be true into [...] actual points of change*"—P23PM), and communicating with policymakers and civic groups. In contrast, all department officials acknowledged Isochrones' usefulness in guiding others while expressing limited personal utility due to insufficient specificity for city planning.

The analysis unit influenced map usefulness based on information granularity. Extending past work [158], the analysis unit (*e.g.*, points *vs.* grids *vs.* neighborhoods), referred as "location precision" in Hara *et al.* [158], influenced the information granularity and eventual usefulness towards decision-making tasks. For example, P3DC gave low ratings to Heatmaps, Choropleth, and GridMaps because of lower information granularity. Despite the ease of use, Choropleth was not preferred because of conflicting insights relative to other map types. The difference was due to the chosen analysis (aggregation) unit of neighborhoods *vs.* a much smaller area (*e.g.*, 1km grids) for PointVis, SevPointVis, HeatMap, GridMaps, also known as the Modifiable Areal Unit Problem (MAUP) [389, 390].

Participants preferred maps with experiential context. Policymakers preferred maps that conveyed the experiential context such as what an accessible path would look/feel like. For example, Isochrones to "get a more dynamic change of what you're seeing [on the ground]" (P17PM) and StreetVis as "it is just more visceral because you can see the grid. [...] I want a presentation to be able to put someone in the mindset of someone who's in a wheelchair or blind or having a special mobility need" (P18PM). A policymaker (P17PM) suggested showing PointVis coupled with the GSV problem image and associated severity as an effective way of visualizing experiential data.

Stakabaldar Task	Primary Unit of Analysis	Low Level data		High level data	Context of Use	
Stakenolder Task		Quantitative	Qualitative	Metrics / Trends	(envisioned usage)	
Equity analysis	city neighborhood street	problem count income data past investments	demographics	temporal trends historical trends equity scores	Investment decisions Persuading public officials	
Connectivity analysis	neighborhood street	problem count	severity POI locations issue images	priority scores distribution of "badness"	Informing policy Guiding MI individuals Persuading public officials Resource prioritization	
Navigability of routes	street	problem count	severity issue images	temporal trends priority scores	Finding accessible routes Guiding MI individuals Persuading public officials Resource prioritization	
Livability of neighborhoods	neighborhood street	pop. density business density	POI locations	historical trends	Guiding MI individuals Persuading public officials Resource prioritization	
Policymakers Department Officials Advocates MI/Caregivers						

Table 5.1: Characterizing key stakeholder tasks. We adapt the design space dimensions of Schulz *et al.* [317]. Individual task cells are marked with stakeholder color markers to show tasks shared across groups. Note: This is not an exhaustive list; we represent a selected set of tasks mentioned by participants.

5.6.3 Trustworthiness of Map Visualizations

Overall, trust in the underlying data and participants' ability to interpret the metrics and maps primarily drove trustworthiness. Participants who rated trustworthiness low (\leq 3) or refused to rate it (N=2), wanted to know more about how the data was collected, how it was aggregated and modeled, and desired to personally confirm learned insights with on-the-ground reality (e.g., field work). Some participants were skeptical about relying on crowdsourced data: "I don't know who did this"—P20AC who rated 1 for all maps. In contrast, participants rating high (\geq 4) talked about having belief in the researcher, work, and the scientific methods used to generate the data and maps.

Information on the visualized data establishes trust. In line with the *disclosure* principle [102], participants suggested showing stronger ties to the underlying data to

establish trust in the data, visualization, and gained insights. For example, algorithmic understanding of access scores, data collection method (*e.g.*, relative to ADA standards) and frequency, and impact of user bias on collected data: "*Did they annotate all the issues or just the ones they happen to care or know about*, [...] but then didn't bother with other things?" (P7AC). Underlying numbers and quantities such as sidewalk measurements (for ADA compliance) increase trust in the resultant analyses for decision-making and communication: "As a district, state and local government, we need to be clear because the requirement by the law is to have the numbers. [...] Even though you can see it's wrong, you still need the numbers [sidewalk feature measurements] to confirm." (P22D, a department official).

Ability to triangulate across map types and reaffirm inferred insights helped establish trust. Participants mentioned the ability to confirm their insights from other maps (e.g., maps agreeing with each other) and prior knowledge: "The areas that I am personally familiar with and I know to be problems in general showed up as problems here. So that makes me trust the areas that this highlights as problems that I'm maybe not so familiar with." (P23PM). Corroborating prior work showing progressive disclosure via semantic zooming to assess data trust [71], participants suggested using interactivity to probe the raw data: "If you have a heat map and you click in and it changes to, "Cool, I see streets." And you can click on a street segment and you can see what the problems are, maybe it shows you the three missing curb ramps and the obstacles and stuff. Something like that would allow me to trust it." (P14A).

Influence of data/information granularity on trust varied based on relevance to the individual. For example, P24A trusted StreetVis because "of how granular it is" and PointVis for its strong association with the raw data: "when you show a dot it's a specific problem. When you show a cluster of dots, it's very specific". In contrast, a policymaker P17PM did not trust PointVis because of lack of desired information granularity to understand the "why": "I just don't know what this is telling me. I feel more comfortable at this scale [city level] aggregating things". However, aggregation in GridMaps reduced trust for an advocate P7AC: "amassing all of that[data] into some kind of generalized area, not score, but cumulative, is even more opaque. I'll reduce the trustworthiness for that reason".

5.7 Discussion

Our interview study indicates that assessing urban accessibility requires multi-faceted analysis across diverse factors, ranging from quantitative measures (*e.g.*, problem count and severity) to qualitative concerns (*e.g.*, POI accessibility and lived experiences). We explored stakeholders' sensemaking processes through both open-ended and targeted exploration of map-based accessibility assessments. Through these tasks, we learned about individual differences in stakeholders' sensemaking processes and visualization needs. We reflect on these findings and present design implications for future interactive geovisual analytic tools for urban accessibility.

5.7.1 Assessing and Quantifying Accessibility

Q1: How do we handle the diverse assessment factors needed across varied decision-making contexts for urban accessibility? Do we need separate tools for each context?

Earlier, we mapped our participants' key analytic tasks into a multi-layered task model (Figure 5.7) where tasks ranged from low-level tasks such as assessing sidewalk accessibility to high-level tasks such as analysing access to healthcare. Table 5.1 breaks down these tasks at various levels into their individual data needs and envisioned use. Since these high level analyses can be performed in different ways, Table 5.1 represents one possible task analysis breakdown. For example, a policymaker's task of assessing the impact of sidewalk (in)accessibility on connectivity helps evaluate the impact on other aspects of life such as employment or healthcare. These interdependencies serve as a useful tool for policymaking, advocacy, daily living, and subsequently impact prioritization of resources by city departments. The task model (Figure 5.7) helps guide the design of tools to support

complex analyses of urban accessibility: "I think a lot of these visualization types as graphics are helpful, but then playing around with different overlays helps people to begin making decisions or understand what all this means." (P3DC, department official).

We also found that many mapped tasks are shared across stakeholders (Table 5.1). For example, an advocate and a policymaker both care about equity analysis. To support these shared tasks, we envision a single geoanalytic tool that can be personalized towards a particular stakeholder and a specific decision-making context while providing access to perform other shared multi-level tasks. This could prevent siloed analysis in existing task workflows of city governments and foster better cross-stakeholder interactions.

To complement these analysis tasks, we also need varied computational models to develop accessibility metrics (*e.g.*, access scores [220]) and account for the diversity of factors and analyses. A set of metrics supplemented by qualitative data such as lived experiences is needed to allow for comprehensive analyses. For example, an *Access Equity Score* to model the correlation of physical accessibility factors with socioeconomic factors, similar to the Tree Equity Score [249, 353] used by city governments to evaluate tree cover with respect to income and race. An extension of sidewalk accessibility metrics by Bolten *et al.* [53] with the expressive accessibility framework by Chen *et al.* [68] introduced earlier could be another way forward. As one of the grand challenges in accessible visualizations, modeling accessibility is a rich open research problem for future work [124].

5.7.2 Stakeholders' Sensemaking Processes

Q2: How did individual differences in stakeholders' needs and experiences impact sensemaking processes?

Urban accessibility assessments are challenging because they are *deeply personal* and *deeply political* [306]. In our study, we saw how this dual nature manifests in the stakeholders' sensemaking and assessment processes of urban accessibility. We argue that engaging with

the subjective nature of accessibility assessments, infused by the different stakeholders' analytical lenses and lived experiences, will be crucial for designing visualizations (and tools) for this application context.

Stakeholders' experiences with accessibility and disability (*Accessibility Familiarity*), either professionally and/or personally, introduced subjectivity in assessments. We saw differences in sensemaking processes in stakeholder's preferred information granularity, map types based on preferred unit of analysis (*e.g.*, streets or neighborhoods), and personally relevant assessment factors, metrics, and tasks. In line with prior work [287], we saw participants use 'personal relevance' to guide their process, from choosing a personally relevant task to weighing metrics based on the assessment factors that mattered the most (*e.g.*, severity more important than problem count). Further, a mismatch between a user's mental model of accessibility and the visualization made assessment challenging. For example, city-scale maps did not meet MI/Caregivers' localized needs. Similar to prior work [287], our findings suggest that an 'overview-first' model of visualization [329] is not suited for these participants, further suggesting a clear need to support varied accessibility tasks across stakeholders.

Relatedly, participants' personal experience with maps and geo-spatial analysis (*Map Familiarity*) influenced interpretation: maps that did not align with participant's mental model of map analysis were harder to use. Not all participants were familiar with these maps, imposing a learning curve. For example, a caregiver found PointVis overwhelming *vs.* a policymaker that found Heatmaps too abstract. These observations complement past work [217, 287] that finds personal ties with the data and visualization can supersede design dimensions for assessing usefulness based on *relatability*: if the user can relate to their own perspective or goal using the maps.

Finally, participants' personal experience with the city or location in question (*Location Familiarity*)—either lived, visited, or having prior knowledge—also influenced how they interpreted, used, and drew value from the maps. We found that a lack of geographic con-

	Design Considerations (C)	Example Application of Design Considerations		
Fatablishing Data Trust	C1: Make clear where the data comes from (Data Provenance)	Document data sources and collection information		
Establishing Data Trust	C2: Make clear how data is modeled (Analytic Provenance)	Provide explanation of the algorithms/models used		
Handling Diverse Assessment Factors	C3: Support for adding diverse datasets	Advocates can add their personally collected data in their desired format (e.g., Excel, CSV)		
	C4: Support multivariate analysis: both analyzing across accessibility assessment factors and visualizing diverse datasets	Policymakers assess the impact of inaccessible infrastructure on MI individuals to reveal inequities		
Supporting Shared Stakeholder Tasks	C5: Support for varied, often conflicting, stakeholder group needs	MI/Caregivers assess navigability of a neighborhood Department officials assess equity in distribution and prioritization of resources and investments		
	C6: Support for individual differences (e.g., familiarity with maps, accessibility, location)	MI/Caregivers' view tailored to localized data and neighborhood and street level maps (e.g., Isochrones)		
	C7: Support for adjusting to visualization user needs as an analyst or target consumer			
Supporting Comparisons	C8: Make it easy to compare between multiple data, map, and geo-contextual views (e.g., providing historical context on accessibility investments across locations)	Department officials comparing accessibility of multiple locations within and across cities		
Building Persuasive Stories	C9: Support for audience-driven message framing by adding relevant contextual data	Framing for policymakers: show impact of investments on citizen's quality of life Framing for MI/Caregivers: show impact of inaccessibility on their personal life		
	C10: Support for exporting audience-driven stories in multiple visualization formats			

Table 5.2: Design Considerations for Interactive Visualization Tools in Urban Accessibility. The highlighted design considerations for 'Supporting Shared Stakeholder Tasks' play a central role across other design considerations.

text hindered comprehensive analyses and participants requested more location-oriented information (*e.g.*, neighborhood name, street name, historical context). As we expect urban accessibility visualizations to be consumed by a variety of end-users, including those unfamiliar with the represented city (*e.g.*, when planning a trip), it is important to surface geographic contextual information to facilitate sensemaking.

In conclusion, our findings suggest the need to support stakeholders' personal differences and preferences, reaffirming Peck *et al.* [287]'s open question, *how can we design [visualization]* systems that align with the personal experiences of our audience?

5.7.3 Visualizing Urban Accessibility: Design Considerations

Q3: Given these challenges, how might we utilize interactive visualizations to support communication and decision-making needs for urban accessibility? Here, we discuss selected design implications for visualizing urban accessibility across diverse stakeholders and tasks. Table 5.2 lists ten corresponding design considerations.

5.7.3.1 Establishing Data Trust

We found that trust in the underlying data influences trust in the visualizations and insights. Hara *et al.* [158] emphasized the importance of *data quality* with five features: granularity, relevance, credibility, recency, and coverage. We extend this work by adding two data features for establishing trust: data and analytic provenance. Elaborating Hara *et al.*'s credibility feature, *data provenance* describes where the data is coming from and how was it collected. *Analytic provenance* refers to how models and metrics (*e.g.*, access scores [220]) are calculated. We suggest that future interactive urban accessibility visualizations should include features to provide both data and analytic/algorithmic provenance. While recent discussions around trust building in visual analytic systems has been in terms of describing and calibrating the trust continuum [155], *how we design these interactions to effectively support trust building* remains an area for future research.

5.7.3.2 Handling Diverse Assessment Factors

Diverse assessment factors require integration of numerous data sources, ranging from publicly available datasets from city governments to independently collected datasets by academic and advocacy organizations. The data formats vary and may be unstructured. Future visual analytic tools for urban accessibility could account for this diversity by making it easier to blend datasets and facilitate multivariate analysis. However, *how do we provide interactive visual support for these multivariate analysis tasks?* For example, assessing the impact of sidewalk inaccessibility on connectivity for MI individuals living in largely black neighborhoods requires multi-level analyses across four dimensions, namely—sidewalk accessibility, connectivity, population density for MI individuals, and race. Visualizing such multivariate geographic patterns effectively is a known challenge [145]. Current state-of-theart geovisual analytic tools utilize linked views and layering to convey multivariate patterns, with a primary focus on univariate or bivariate patterns. Recent work for multivariate analysis [191] explored self-organizing maps [205] and parallel coordinate plots [179] to visualize high dimensional data. However, using such complex visualization techniques for non-expert users like our stakeholders seems ill-advised. We hope to explore the rich space of visualizing complex multivariate patterns for non-expert users in future research.

5.7.3.3 Supporting Shared Stakeholder Tasks

Previously, we characterized stakeholder tasks in a shared multi-layered task model (Figure 5.7), where tasks overlapped across stakeholder groups (Table 5.1). To account for group differences and support the rich shared task ecosystem for diverse stakeholders, future work is needed to explore tool designs that uses task characteristics as a configuration parameter. Do we design a full-featured analytic tool and have a derivative tool for MI/Caregivers? Is there a middle ground that serves all stakeholders? How easily could we customize such shared tasks based on stakeholder needs and differences?

5.7.3.4 Building Persuasive Stories

All groups envisioned using visualizations as a storytelling medium to spark engagement and dialogue with other stakeholders (*e.g.*, push agendas to decision makers) while driving awareness (*e.g.*, educating the general public). Crafting persuasive stories for cross-stakeholder interactions (*e.g.*, between policymakers and advocates for new policy/change [306]) requires tailored data stories for the target audience that consider their background while appropriately framing and contextualizing the data. Participants suggested adding and representing contextual information pictorially (*e.g.*, accessibility problem images, animations), textually (*e.g.*, lived experience stories), and quantitatively (*e.g.*, accessibility statistics). Future tool designs might explore a combination of visualization authoring techniques (*e.g.*, Lyra and others [314]), visualization recommenders (*e.g.*, Voyager 2 [180, 391]), and narrative visualization techniques [322] to provide interactive story-building support to produce artifacts such as story maps [374]. Handling existing biases by balancing maps with enough context



Figure 5.10: Interactive Visualization Tools used for AccessVis Design Space Analysis. The top row are the Accessibility Exploration tools: AccessMap and WheelMap. The bottom row are the Visualization Authoring Tools: CARTO and Tableau Public.

biased wanting to show their area in the worst light, corroborating an advocate's views on preferring maps showing problems in the worst way possible for a strong impact.

Comparative Analysis of Interactive Vis Tools using AccessVis Design Space

In this section, we apply the above design space to conduct a comparative analysis of some map visualization tools used by accessibility communities across decision-making contexts of daily living and advocacy. The goal is to demonstrate the utility of this design space in evaluating existing mapping tools for missing functionalities and features and potential enhancements.

	CHARACTERISTICS				
		Category	Decision-making Context	Primary Datasets	Features / Tasks
TOOLS	AccessMap	Custom: Accessibility	Daily Living: Navigation and Trip Planning	Sidewalk Network, Elevation	Finding personalized accessible routes between destinations
	WheelMap	Exploration		POI	Finding and rating wheelchair accessible places
	Carto	General Purpose: Visualization	Communication and Advocacy	customizable	creating map visualizations, exporting visualizations, advanced GIS features
	Tableau Public	Authoring		customizable	creating map visualizations, data stories, exporting visualizations, advanced data prep features

Table 5.3: Tool Characteristics for Design Space-based Tool Analysis. The table highlights the tool context, namely, their decision-making usage context, datasets used, and supported features/tasks.

Tools. We review two tool groups (Figure 5.10): (1) Custom Accessibility Exploration Tools– AccessMap⁴ [51] and WheelMap⁵ [380] and (2) General Purpose Map Visualization Authoring Tools— $CARTO^{6}$ [63] and Tableau Public⁷ [338]—both are commonly used by social advocacy organizations [61, 339]. AccessMap and WheelMap are for visualizing accessibility needs, sidewalk and building respectively, to make trip planning decisions by MI/Caregivers. CARTO and Tableau Public allow end-users to create interactive visualizations and provide comprehensive features such as storytelling and exporting data in diverse visualization formats. They are not tailored for specific stakeholder groups. More details in Table 5.3.

Method of Analysis. Given the tools were made with specific needs and tasks in mind, each tool group is analyzed separately within the scope of the primary purpose of the tools for

⁴accessmap.io

⁵wheelmap.org

⁶carto.com/platform Figure 5.10 image taken from CARTO User Manual: Tutorials

⁷public.tableau.com Figure 5.10 image taken from Tableau Public Resources

a fair comparative analysis. Further, we also analyze whether each design dimension is applicable to the tool. We do not argue that every tool should provide full support across each dimension. Rather, supporting additional dimensions would result into a richer decisionmaking tool, providing *actionable* insights with applicability across stakeholder groups and decision-making contexts. The specific design consideration from Table 5.2 is denoted by C followed by the index number. For example, C1 refers to 'Data Provenance' consideration from the first dimension 'Data Trust'. The order of the dimensions presented is changed for clarity and readability.

Shared Stakeholder Tasks. This dimension is about providing multi-stakeholder support by accounting for user differences: group specific tasks [C5], individuals' prior experience or background with accessibility, data/map analysis, and location [C6], and customized vis end-user support (*e.g.*, vis consumer *vs.* analyst) [C7]. Through these considerations, the goal is to provide a customizable task support for the end-user. Currently, both tool groups have inadequate customizable support for diverse stakeholders within a shared task ecosystem. The accessibility exploration tools are designed specifically for the MI/Caregivers group, with limited task support for urban-scale decision-makers (*e.g.*, policymakers, advocates). The visualization authoring tools can be used to design decision-making interfaces tailored to a specific stakeholder's needs. However, for providing true multi-stakeholder support within the shared task ecosystem, we would need to reimagine tools' inherent support by taking task as a configuration parameter within the visualization authoring interface.

Diverse Assessment Factors. In this dimension, we examine whether the tools allow adding [C3] and analysing multiple datasets and assessment factors with respect to each other [C4]. Both accessibility-infused tools allow investigating a single physical accessibility factor *i.e.*, sidewalk elevation and building accessibility for an MI individual. While these tools' intended purpose do not need performing multivariate analysis, the tools can be extended to support other stakeholder groups (*e.g.*, policymakers, advocates) to analyze socio-demographic patterns. On the other hand, CARTO and Tableau have inherent support for adding and



Figure 5.11: WheelMap and AccessMap Data Trust Analysis. The left illustration shows the data explanations provided during viewing and editing a POI's accessibility rating. The right illustration shows the data explanation—*i.e.*, trip information and map legend—to explain the route accessibility map in the center.

analysing multiple datasets to multivariate analysis. However, further interactive guidance would be needed to assist technically novice users to analyse and extract actionable insights.

Comparisons. This dimension requires support for comparing across different data, map, and geo-contextual views (*e.g.*, historical context) [C8]. Currently, the accessibility exploration tools provide examining accessibility of individual routes or destinations across filterable data views based on specific parameters. However, accessibility comparisons are not possible. On the other hand, the authoring tools have inherent support for showing different views. CARTO, in particular, has advanced GIS features for supporting geo comparisons (*e.g.*, diverse map views) [62].

Data Trust. This dimension pushes for providing appropriate explanations about the underlying data and their sources [C1] and metrics/models used for data aggregation [C2] to establish trust. WheelMap provides detailed explanation of a POI's wheelchair accessible rating (Figure 5.11). While adequate, adding metadata about the data collection process would

further strengthen data trust. AccessMap provides explanations about the route accessibility through trip information and map legend. However, providing real-time interactive support (*e.g.*, on hover) to examine the route and its characteristics would allow closer engagement with the data. Further, a simple text explanation on why the route was chosen would also engender more trust in the underlying routing algorithm. For the authoring tool group, both tools provide features to design static and dynamic data interactions to provide data context.

Persuasive Data Stories. For building persuasive data stories, this dimension suggests having interactive tool support for contextualizing and framing data stories [C9] and ability to export these data stories in formats specific to a stakeholder's individual and decision-making context [C10]. Both visualization authoring tools support exporting the analysis results in different data formats (*e.g.*, png, jpeg, gif). However, neither of them provide advanced story framing support during creation stage (*e.g.*, pull relevant data for the intended audience's perspective) and export stage for framing the results to a target audience (*e.g.*, for policymaker's political interests). The two accessibility exploration tools were not designed to create data stories. However, we argue that providing a data story support would transform them into powerful advocacy tools for not only MI/Caregivers' self advocacy needs, but also larger NGOs/non-profits for communicating with city officials.

CONCLUSION. Existing tools do not provide full support for urban accessibility needs based on the AccessVis design space analysis. We would need to reimagine existing data analysis and communication workflows in interactive data-driven tools for supporting diverse stakeholders and their decision-making needs. The ultimate goal is moving beyond siloed analysis, towards true cross-stakeholder decision-making tools keeping the stakeholder's context as the core element.

5.7.4 Limitations

We conducted this work in large US cities. While local government structures influence the decision-making processes, we argue that our findings would apply to most developed countries with similar structures and existing accessibility regulations. Second, we had very few participants from DC (N=6). Therefore, the map interpretation differences based on location familiarity may not hold as strongly in a dedicated local context. Future work could systematically study how location familiarity impacts one's interpretation process. Third, due to overlapping roles of some participants, both roles impacted their map interpretation and use, making it hard to identify the perspective they spoke from. Finally, the visualizations were not designed to support people with different visual abilities. Making accessible visualizations is an important and active area of research [196, 230], which we plan to draw upon in the future.

5.8 Acknowledgements

This work was funded in part by the National Science Foundation under grant SCC-IRG #2125087 and Award #1901386, a Google PhD Fellowship, Paul G. Allen School, and UW CREATE. We thank all our participants for their time and feedback.

5.9 Chapter Conclusion

As an early work in understanding sensemaking processes using urban accessibility visualizations, this chapter developed an understanding of how different stakeholders from diverse backgrounds and professions analysed urban accessibility. Through an interview study with 24 map visualizations as design probes, we studied the stakeholder groups' similarities and differences in map interpretation and urban accessibility assessment needs. We found that personal ties to data, task, and maps played a primary role in driving sensemaking processes. Based on our findings, we mapped stakeholders' data and analysis needs into a multi-layered task model and proposed 10 design considerations for designing future geovisual tools for urban accessibility. While we map the visualization task space based on our focused lab study, future longitudinal design studies with interactive tools are needed to closely engage with stakeholders and extend the visualization task space for urban accessibility.

6 Landmark AI: Designing for the Last-Few-Meters Wayfinding Problem

This chapter explores how the need for personalization is manifested on tool design for a second group of MI individuals: people with visual disabilities and problem context: in-situ navigation in the last few meters of a destination.

Despite the major role of Global Positioning Systems (GPS) as a navigation tool for people with visual impairments (VI), a crucial missing aspect of point-to-point navigation is the *last-few-meters wayfinding problem*. Due to GPS inaccuracy and inadequate map data, systems often bring a user to the vicinity of a destination but not to the exact location, causing challenges such as difficulty locating building entrances or a specific storefront from a series of stores. In this work, we study this problem space in two parts: (1) A formative study (N=22) to understand challenges, current resolution techniques, and user needs; and (2) A design probe study (N=13) using a novel, vision-based system called *Landmark AI* to understand how technology can better address aspects of this problem. Based on these investigations, we articulate a design space for systems addressing this challenge, along with implications for future systems to support precise navigation for people with visual impairments.

6.1 Introduction

According to the World Health Organization [381], there are 285 million people with visual impairments (VI), of which 39 million are blind. For this group of people, navigation can be difficult due to challenges such as obstacles, crowds, noise, or complex layouts of physical spaces [26, 100, 394]. Among the many navigation tools that have been developed to cater to the needs of this community, GPS-based systems [25, 43, 255, 342] are the most popular. This presents a challenge, in that smartphone-based GPS has a horizontal accuracy of about $\pm 5m$ at best [139], with potential for much worse accuracy in areas like urban canyons [257].

This means that smartphone GPS can guide a user to the vicinity of their destination, but not to the precise location (*e.g.*, to the front of a building, but not to the actual door). This gap of a few meters is acceptable for people who can rely on their vision to identify their destination but creates confusion and uncertainty for people with VI. In addition to GPS inaccuracy, location-based systems rely on map data that is often inadequate to guide the user to their intended destination due to lack of granular information. Together, these imprecisions can limit blind users' sense of independence. We call this challenge the *last-few-meters wayfinding problem* (also known as the "last 10-meters/yards" problem [134, 224]).

In this chapter, we investigate the problem of navigation for people with VI from the lens of the last few meters to a destination and use landmark recognition as the central strategy for navigation, building on the typical landmark-based navigation strategy taught to people with VI by Orientation and Mobility (O&M) specialists [227]. We conducted a formative study to understand the characteristics of this problem including the challenges faced, current resolution techniques (and where they fall short), and how an ideal system might fill the gaps left by existing navigation aids. We then developed *Landmark AI*, a computer vision system intended as a design probe for understanding how technology could be employed to help users answer three common questions surfaced by participants in our formative study: (i) *"What is around me?"*, (ii) *"What does this sign read?"*, and (iii) *"Is this the place I am looking*

for?". Using this design probe, we conducted a user study to elicit feedback and opinions on the design of applications to address some of the last-few-meters challenges that blind pedestrians' experience.

As the first work to comprehensively investigate the last-few-meters wayfinding challenge, our contributions include:

- 1. An investigation into the problem via a formative online survey with 22 participants
- 2. A qualitative study of our Landmark AI design probe with 13 visually impaired users
- 3. A description of the design space resulting from the two studies capturing the relationship between use of landmarks and other information types with a person's mobility skills, residual vision, and situational context
- 4. Design implications for future camera-based AI systems targeting the last-few-meters problem

6.2 Background and Related Work

Onset of VI impacts a person's ability to perform day-to-day activities, and traveling independently is a core skill that must be developed [292]. As a key part of rehabilitation training, O&M specialists teach people with VI how to safely navigate indoors and outdoors. The basic O&M techniques for navigating independently include performing systematic search and trailing [292], as well as skills based on locating and using a series of physical landmarks between locations [227]. Some commonly used landmarks to ascertain location include contrasting floor textures and coverings (*e.g.*, carpet to tiled surface or concrete sidewalk to grass pavements); using sounds (*e.g.*, refrigerator humming, birds chirping, church bells, traffic) and smells (*e.g.*, laundry room odors, kitchen smells, perfume store aromas) [178]. An O&M specialist teaches a route by breaking it down into small sections and helps the VI person identify useful landmarks along them. Using the identified set of landmarks as a checklist, the person moves from one section of the route to another by taking an action at
each section endpoint marked by a landmark. For example, trailing a building line until it ends (landmark) and then taking a right turn (action). In this work, we aim to address the last-few-meters challenge by complementing these existing mobility skills with technology that supports the discovery and use of landmarks.

6.2.1 Navigation Systems for the Blind

Navigation systems for the blind is a well-studied field for both indoor and outdoor navigation. Outdoor GPS-based systems [25, 43, 255, 342], are the most widely deployed, providing features such as announcing nearby Points of Interests (POIs) and street intersections, and providing directional guidance via turn-by-turn directions [43, 342] and spatialized audio [25, 255]. Although they allow a user to navigate large distances, the localization accuracy is $\pm 5m$ [139], preventing users from getting very close to their target POI.

Information on locating landmarks such as doors, elevators, or stairs can play a crucial role in getting to a destination successfully. However, most systems lack such granular information. Some recent work on indoor navigation systems [29, 113, 126, 127, 288, 313] have looked into providing information on such semantic features of the environment[289]. For example, NavCog3 [313] uses a BLE beacon network to provide sub-meter localization accuracy indoors and information on nearby landmarks. Such systems demonstrate the usefulness of the landmark-based navigation approach; however, they require (i) additional deployment and maintenance effort to augment the physical environment (*e.g.*, with RFID sensors [126], NFC tags [127], or Bluetooth beacons [313]), (ii) significant bootstrapping cost for setting up databases of floor maps [113] and landmarks [29, 113, 127, 270] [126], or (iii) require a user to carry an additional/specialized device [126]. These issues reduce the scalability and applicability of existing systems in diverse environments (*e.g.*, outdoors). The BlindWays [44] smartphone app is a system that aims to address the last-few-meters challenge without augmentation; using crowdsourced clues to assist in finding transit stops. In this work, we investigate the full breadth of the last-few-meters wayfinding challenge

and evaluate a camera-based (rather than crowdsourced) solution to find landmarks. This approach could work in tandem with outdoor or indoor navigation systems without requiring custom infrastructure.

6.2.2 Camera-based Systems for the Blind

Camera-based applications serve a wide array of purposes for VI users, including simple object recognition [8, 321, 397], text recognition [192, 203, 321], and search tasks [39, 40]. Object recognition systems either use computer vision [8, 321], human-assistance [9, 32, 35], or a hybrid of the two [340]. Human-in-the-loop systems' latency (ranging from several seconds [79, 340] to several minutes [35]) may be unacceptable for many navigation tasks; hence, our focus with Landmark AI is on automated approaches.

Coughlan *et al.* [85] used a phone camera for wayfinding by utilizing computer vision to locate and read aloud specially designed signs. Subsequent systems have looked into combining phone and wearable cameras (*e.g.*, [29, 354, 392]) with other sensors (*e.g.*, smartphone and motion sensors [204, 301, 354]), or augmenting a smartphone camera [167, 173]. Using computer vision and sensor fusion techniques, these systems localize, keep track of the user's path, and provide precise corrective heading instructions. However, these systems require a time-consuming and laborious process of creating a database of likely locations, landmarks, or paths and augmenting the physical environment, making them unsuitable for exploring infrequent and unknown destinations, and unscalable for open-world exploration in natural environments. In contrast, our design probe uses only a smartphone camera without augmenting the environment and provides in-situ feedback for both familiar and unfamiliar environments.

6.3 Formative Study

We conducted an online survey on how people with VI currently navigate to understand: (i) challenges they face in the last few meters, (ii) how they resolve them, and (iii) what information would aid them in resolving these challenges.

Informed by O&M literature [227, 292] and a discussion with an O&M specialist, we grouped commonly used landmarks into five categories—structural, sound, tactile, air, and smell. Some landmarks may be included in multiple categories (*e.g.*, an elevator is both a structural and a sound landmark). Structural Landmarks are part of the physical structure of the built environment and are usually detected either via residual vision, vision of the guide dog, or haptic resistance through a cane (*e.g.*, doors, stairways, elevators, and dropped curb edges). Sound Landmarks such as fountains, bell towers, and elevators generate noise. Tactile Landmarks have a distinct texture that is easily recognizable either through direct contact or through aids such as canes (*e.g.*, carpeted surfaces, tactile domes on curb ramps). Air Landmarks produce some form of heat or cool air that is felt through the skin, such as HVAC units or fans. Smell Landmarks have a distinct aroma (*e.g.*, perfumeries, tobacconists, bakeries).

6.3.1 Method

Participants. We recruited 22 blind participants (9 female): 15 were between the age of 31-50, four were between 18-30, and three were above 50. Participants had varying levels of residual vision: 15 were totally blind and seven had some degree of light or color perception. 13 participants used canes as their primary mobility aid, six used guide dogs, 1 used a sighted guide, and one used other aids. Most described themselves as independent travelers (16) with varying self-confidence levels (Mdn=4, SD=0.9), ranging from Not at all Confident (1) to Extremely Confident (5).

Procedure. The survey was conducted over three weeks in August 2018. It took 30 minutes to complete and participants were compensated US\$25. The survey used a recent critical incident approach [117] in which we asked participants to think of a specific recent episode in which they had experienced a last-few-meters navigation challenge. We used affinity diagramming [211] to analyze open-ended responses and identify themes. For the rest of the chapter, survey participants are referred to by "S" suffixed by the participant number (*e.g.*, S1) and the counts of the responses are included in parenthesis.

6.3.2 Findings

Challenges in the Last Few Meters

Participants described challenging situations including tasks such as getting to an apartment, visiting the doctor's office, and finding specific buildings within large areas like business complexes. For instance, S19 explained *"I was dropped off at a college campus and I was unable to locate the building of my scheduled interview."* Amongst all participants, visiting the doctor's office in a medical center was the most common scenario (6). In addition, the challenge of navigating open spaces where there is a lack of helpful environmental cues was a clear theme. Examples included indoor open spaces such as airports and malls (8), spaces with complex and varied paths like parks or universities (5), and open parking lots (5). These challenges are commonly encountered, with two-thirds of participants reporting at least some degree of familiarity with problematic destinations.

In most cases, the hardest part of traversing the last few meters was finding the intended doorway (11). Participants reported this was caused by: (i) failure of existing guidance systems such as the inaccuracy of navigation technology, the limitations of guide dogs, or missing or inaccessible signage (9); (ii) finding the right door from a cluster of doors (5); (iii) transit drop-off points being far away from the actual destination (5). S8 gave an example situation where these reasons get intermixed: *"The entrance to the building was off the*

parking lot rather than at the end of a sidewalk and the inside was a series of doors off a long hall."

Resolution Techniques

Participants responded to these challenges by using sighted assistance (17), O&M skills (11), trial and error (7), technology (2), or completely giving up (2). Though participants described sighted assistance as the most common and effective technique, it was not always useful: "We resolved it by asking people, whoever could understand English, which was not too many at the airport at that time of the morning (S9)." Almost everyone (21) received O&M training for navigating physical spaces (known techniques included counting steps, finding landmarks, and using sensory clues such as aromas, sounds, or tactile surfaces). Trial and error was also quite common (7) as indicated by S3: "It's a matter of feeling around until you find the actual handle of the store." Participants often combined these techniques: "I usually ask for assistance from a passing pedestrian. If no one is around, I simply try all the doors until I locate the right one. It's easier if it's a restaurant or coffee shop or any store that has a distinct aroma that I can use to pinpoint the exact location. (S11)"

Technological Limitations

All participants mentioned using technological solutions during navigation to access information like turn-by-turn directions (9), nearby streets, intersections and POIs (9), and human assistance (e.g., Aira [9]) (1). Despite these benefits, participants reported many types of failures: "Mainly the accuracy with it not putting me exactly at my location instead putting me a few yards away. (S12)" The most important concern with current technology (16) was imprecision in terms of localization and granularity of information (e.g., floor number of the location): "Sometimes the GPS gets really thrown off and I end up walking in circles." (S3). Other issues included lack of indoor navigation (3), intermittent GPS signal (2), use of headphones blocking ambient noise (2), and battery power drain (2).

Useful Information in Resolving the Challenges

Given the recent critical incident participants reported, we asked them to rate the categories of landmarks previously defined in terms of usefulness in that situation. Across all participants, tactile landmarks (Mdn=5, SD=1.1) were most preferred (11). For example, S2 "...used the grass on the [entrances] to the apartment buildings." Structural landmarks (Mdn=5, SD=1.3) and sound (Mdn=4, SD=1.4) were next. Smell (Mdn=3, SD=1.5), and air (Mdn=3, SD=1.1) landmarks were least mentioned amongst all participants. S11 summarized the use of the landmark types based on the usage scenarios and their primary mobility aid, "Because I travel with a guide dog, I mostly rely on smell and sound cues when traveling, with tactile landmarks being useful if they are under my feet, and structural landmarks being helpful if I know they are there and can give my dog the command to find the landmark such as 'find the stairs'." When asked about missing information that would be useful in these situations, knowing about the layout of indoor and outdoor spaces was the most popular request (9).

Participants also wanted to know more about existing signage (5): "If something could identify a sign, i.e., text/logos that identify a business then that would be very helpful." (S6) Several participants indicated they would like to receive ego-centric layout information about nearby things (4): "Imagine being able to walk down the hallway of an office building and hear 'men's bathroom on your left.' (S15)." Other examples of desired information were precise auditory guidance on a smart mobile or wearable device (e.g., "approaching apartment building entrance"), granular map information (e.g., location of parking lots), and creating personal landmarks (e.g., an arbitrary location like a bench in a park).

6.4 Design Probe Study

Based on our formative study's findings, we developed a vision-based app called Landmark AI as a design probe. We designed Landmark AI to demonstrate how landmark recognition could work, with the goal of helping participants imagine how they might use such technology combined with their existing mobility skills to overcome wayfinding problems. Because we were interested in broad questions of potential utility and context, Landmark AI was not rigorously optimized for accuracy. Rather, our probe identified categories of information for which AI developers might gather large, robust training sets such that more accurate recognition algorithms could be trained. While we do not wish to minimize the importance of accuracy and precision for such systems, these questions are out of scope for this work. Based on this investigation, we developed a set of design considerations for future systems addressing navigation challenges in the last few meters.

6.4.1 Landmark AI System

Landmark AI (Figure 6.1) is a camera-based iOS app that allows users to gather information about the space around them once they get close to a destination. It is designed to provide information that supports their existing mobility skills to aid in decision-making during navigation. We modeled our app's design on Microsoft Seeing AI [321], an iOS app that provides users with visual information via so-called channels (*e.g.*, reading short text, scanning bar codes, and reading currency notes). Basing our design probe on Seeing AI allowed us to minimize user training, to segregate different information types (via the channel metaphor), and to provide the user with an appropriate mental model of the feasible capabilities of current and near-term AI solutions (*i.e.*, computer vision can succeed at specific, scoped tasks such as recognizing doorways, but open-ended description of unpredictable scenes is not currently accurate). In Landmark AI we provide three new channels—Landmarks, Signage, and Places—to provide visual information that is relevant in navigating the last few meters. The app is operated by either panning the phone's back-facing camera or taking a picture (depending on the channel) to get auditory callouts.

6.4.1.1 Landmark Channel: "What is around me?"

Given landmarks that were indicated as useful in our formative study and prior literature on critical landmarks for navigation [289], we designed the Landmark channel to recognize



Figure 6.1: Landmark AI is a vision-based app that is modeled on Seeing AI iOS app. The app is fully operable non-visually via the VoiceOver screen reader, but we show the visual UI here for clarity. (a) The Soundscape iOS navigation app helps the user get near the location. In this case, it's outside See's Candies. The top-right button is included to switch to Landmark AI once near the destination. (b) The Landmark AI app has three channels: Landmarks, Signage, and Place (a pair of Capture Place and Find Place functions). (c) Using the Landmark and Signage channels, the user can locate the entrance of See's Candies once close to the store

structural landmarks (*e.g.*, doors, stairs, windows, elevators, and pillars) and obstacles (*e.g.*, tables, chairs, and benches) around the user as they scan the environment. Instead of choosing computationally heavy methods [66, 324, 343], we used a light-weight pre-trained object recognizer with reasonable accuracy (F1 = 69.9 at a 99% confidence threshold for

recognition) to run on commodity smartphones. The recognizer is based on the SqueezeNet [136] deep neural network model, and trained on 2,538 randomly selected images from the ImageNet database [96]. As the user pans the phone's camera, the channel announces landmarks when first recognized and every two seconds the landmark remains in the camera's view. While a real-world system would likely need to detect a much larger set of landmarks and at a much higher accuracy, constraining the detected landmarks to features common in our study location was sufficient for the purposes of a design probe demonstrating the landmark recognition concept.

6.4.1.2 Signage Channel: "What does this sign read?"

In our formative study, participants indicated that knowing more about nearby signage would be helpful in navigating the last few meters to a destination (*e.g.*, finding store names or signs with directions), so we designed a channel to read signage in static images the user captures with Landmark AI. An ideal implementation of this channel would perform recognition on-device in real-time [226, 327], but implementing such an algorithm was out of scope for our design probe, so we used Microsoft's cloud-based Cognitive Services [80] to implement the recognition. These services require several seconds to process a frame, preventing a fully real time interaction for this channel. Despite this limitation, the signage channel gave us the opportunity to test different feedback mechanisms and study the utility of signage versus other cues when traversing the last few meters.

6.4.1.3 Place Channel: "Is this the place I am looking for?"

We designed the place channel to allow users to define and recognize custom landmarks. To use the channel, a user first saved a picture of a specific place they wanted to find in the future either by taking a picture themselves using Capture Place function or saving a picture sent from a friend (*e.g.*, a meeting place like the box office window at a theater or a specific table outside a storefront, Figure 6.2). The user could then use the Find Place function to search for the location in the captured image. Due to the complexity of this scene matching task, we simulated this functionality in our design probe via a Wizard of Oz [194] approach,



Figure 6.2: Examples of places for the Place Channel. (a) "box office counter of a theater" (b) "benches outside the ice-cream store" (c) "gummy bear outside the storefront of Margo's Sweet Shop"

whereby a researcher would trigger customized feedback ("*<X> place found*") when users of the design probe scanned the phone running Landmark AI over a visual scene that matched the stored scene.

6.4.2 Study Method

We conducted a three-part study using a scenario-based design [303] involving three tasks, each highlighting a last-few-meters challenge. Before using the Landmark AI design probe, users completed a set of short tutorials demonstrating the use of each channel. Each task involved getting close ($\sim 2-5$ ft) to a particular business using a popular GPS-based iOS navigation application called Microsoft Soundscape [255] and then using Landmark AI to cover the last few meters. For every task, the participants were asked to think aloud as they made navigation decisions. We solicited feedback on their experience including perceived utility, limitations, and design recommendations for future systems. Tasks took place within a large, outdoor two-story shopping center in the U.S. Study sessions lasted about 90 minutes, and participants also completed a demographic questionnaire. Participants were compensated US\$75.

Task 1. Find the elevator near the restrooms and ice-cream store. First, participants were asked to locate the store using the GPS app and then find the elevator using their own mobility skills. Then participants were asked to walk back to the location where the GPS app stopped being useful and switch to Landmark AI to locate the elevator again. The goals of this task were to contextualize the use of Landmark AI after experiencing challenges in the last few meters when navigating on their own, and to study the use of Landmark AI in a familiar place (familiarization after completion of the first sub-task).

Task 2. Find a table near the entrance of the candy shop. In this task, participants were guided to the second floor of the shopping center and asked to use the GPS app to locate a candy shop. Participants were informed that they could switch to Landmark AI at any time. We observed how they used the two apps together, when they switched between the two, and when and why they chose to use particular channels in Landmark AI. The goal of this task was to test the usefulness of Landmark AI in visiting an unfamiliar place.

Task 3. Find the box office counter for the theater. For this task, participants were asked to imagine a scenario where they are meeting with a friend (in this case, the researcher) at the box office counter of the theatre, which the friend had sent a photo of. Their task was to locate the counter using the Place channel in Landmark AI after using the GPS app to get near the theater. The goal of this task was to understand how participants would use the more open-ended scene recognition of the Place channel.

6.4.3 Participants

We recruited 13 people with VI (4 female) aged 24–55 (*Mean*=39, *SD*=11). Six participants used guide dogs, six used white canes, and one had low-vision (P3) and used magnifiers to

read text. During the study, two guide dog users switched to using their canes, as they felt canes were better suited for the tasks. Participants had varying levels of functional residual vision: color perception (3), visual acuity (2), contrast sensitivity (3), peripheral vision (4), central vision (6), no vision (5), and others (2). On a 5-point Likert scale ranging from Not at all Confident (1) to Extremely Confident (5), participants had varying self-confidence levels for navigating on their own (Mdn=4, SD=0.86), and on a 4-point Likert scale ranging from Not at all Familiar (1) to Very Familiar (4), most participants were users of both Soundscape (Mdn=3, SD=0.86) and Seeing AI (Mdn=3, SD=0.75). Only 5 participants had some familiarity with the study location (Mdn=1, SD=0.85), and amongst them, none were familiar with the specific task locations.

6.4.4 Data and Analysis

We audio recorded, transcribed, and coded the sessions to find general themes using deductive coding [56]. We transcribed 12 audio files; one participant's (P7) transcript was unavailable due to audio recording device failure. One researcher prepared an initial codebook based on the formative study findings and our research questions, which was later refined by a second researcher. Both researchers coded a randomly selected transcript. We used Cohen's Kappa [367] for establishing inter-rater reliability (IRR) which was 0.42 for the first iteration of the codebook, suggesting a need for more iterations [367]. We conducted three such iterations, resolving disagreements and removing or collapsing conflicting codes, before establishing IRR ($\kappa = 0.69$, *SD*=0.23) with the final codebook. The remaining transcripts were divided and coded independently.

6.5 Findings

6.5.1 Existing Wayfinding Strategies

Participants first described their wayfinding strategies included employing their O&M training, mobility aid, and residual vision (if any) to either discover what is around them or search for a specific target when they get close to their destination, depending on their familiarity with the space. Guide dogs are particularly useful in search tasks (*i.e.*, looking for a known object that the dog can recognize in the last few meters), whereas canes are more suitable for discovery tasks via O&M techniques like building trailing and structured discovery. P10 described using their residual vision to search for geometric and photometric properties of a landmark (*e.g.*, "I can see the gleam off the metal" or "It looks like a big blob of colors so I think I'm in the area") and falling back to technology when their residual vision is not sufficient: "I usually have a monocular. [...] I visually try to look around. If I get really confused, I'll go into Google Maps and zoom." (P10).

6.5.2 Information Utility

All participants valued the information provided by Landmark AI, as the app gave access to information they might not have otherwise. They listed several reasons: ability to know what's around them, faster mobility by speeding up their search and discovery tasks, and increased independence. Participants identified several situations where they would use a system like Landmark AI: common places such as transit stops (most commonly mentioned), airports, pedestrian crossings, universities, and malls; unfamiliar places with confusing layouts such as conference centers or theaters; finding specific objects such as trash cans; and avoiding obstacles.

6.5.2.1 Channel-Specific Utility

The Landmark channel was viewed as the most useful due to instant access to contextual information and most likely use in day-to-day life: *"I like the real time feedback. Even if it's not perfect, it's so cool because it gives you kind of a quick sense of what's around you. That's something that, as a blind person, you usually have to be pretty slow, careful, and rigorous about exploring your environment. This gives you a chance to be a little freer, or a little more spontaneous."* (P6) Participants saw the potential to use it in different contexts by expanding the list of landmarks recognized by the system such as including restrooms and transit stops or recognizing rideshare cars' make and model. P10 described using a gummy bear statue outside the candy shop to confirm the store location; the use of residual vision with landmark detection in this case suggests that landmark detection should be designed to work in combination with users' residual vision (e.g., identifying color and shape of an identified landmark) to support future visits even without the system.

The Signage channel was used to get confirmation when participants reached their destination. It was especially liked by those who had enough residual vision to detect, but not read, signs: *"I like the fact that they can pick up signage that might be too far away to see."* (P10). The channel also provided a way to be independent, especially where Braille is unavailable. In spite of the benefits, many (5) participants found it hard to use because of difficulty in knowing when to look for signs (*"I didn't visually see a sign, so I didn't have a trigger to switch to sign [channel]"*—P3) and where to point the camera (*i.e.*, both framing the view and conceptually knowing where signs could be). To remedy this, four participants suggested detecting existence of signs in the Landmark channel and providing more guidance to capture the signs as they scan the environment.

The Place channel was the most liked channel (9) because of the ability to capture and share an uncommon location (*e.g., "Meet at the bench outside Baskin Robbins in the mall"*), simplicity of usage, the wide potential of usage scenarios, and increased feeling of independence. People with residual vision found utility where their vision was inadequate: *"Because I don't have* any peripheral vision, I wouldn't have noticed it [box office counter], but now that I've been there, if you said, 'Okay, go find a box office at that place.' I'd go right straight to it. It's a good learning tool." (P10). Participants liked the channel's social focus: "Being able to be precise and to share landmarks and to connect with people in that way, there's fun there, right?" (P3).

6.5.2.2 Importance of Landmarks

Amongst the landmarks currently identified by Landmark AI, the popularity of detecting doors was unanimous. Additionally, the differentiation between a door and a window was appreciated since (i) people with residual vision often have a hard time differentiating between the two due to the similarity of materials used (glass) in large shopping complexes and commercial buildings, (ii) guide dogs, who are usually good at finding doors, often get confused and lead the VI individual to a full-pane window, and (iii) cane users have trouble finding the door since they have to manually feel the door handle (*"You don't have to do that weird fumbling thing."*—P8).

6.5.3 System Design Considerations

6.5.3.1 Seamless User Experience

Six participants liked the instantaneous feedback from the Landmark and Place channels since it gave a "quick sense of what's around you." Several participants (4) felt the need for less information as it incurred cognitive load while walking. "I really don't wanna hear everything that's coming in my way. That's too much information to process." (P9). They expressed the need to filter irrelevant information based on the task at hand (e.g., finding the building entrance), or the situational context (e.g., entering a restaurant vs. looking for a table) by either manually or algorithmically "determining the importance of putting the landmark with respect to where you wanna go and what you're trying to do"—P9.

In the design of Landmark AI, users had to switch between channels to access different types of information. Multiple participants (4) indicated the need for a simpler design favoring a

merged channel to enable efficient interactions and transitions between the different types of information. Participants suggested the system should intelligently ascertain the information need based on the situational context such that the cognitive load of *"where to point and having to pick the category"* (P3) is reduced. For example, if looking at a sign, read the sign automatically instead of switching to the channel to trigger the feedback.

Physical form factor was an important consideration that was noted by several participants (4). Hands-free use was desired so as to not disrupt their navigation routine and pace. Having to hold the phone out is not ideal due to safety concerns and the difficulty of managing it along with their primary mobility aid [393]. Participants suggested using wearables such as head-mounted devices (e.g., Google Glass) or wearing on-body cameras "Because you have to hold the phone for the camera to work, I would be very limited if I wasn't using my guide dog, because she works on my left side. I can only hold the phone with my right hand. If I was using my cane, I would not be able to use this app." (P12). In addition to the awkwardness of using the phone, holding the phone straight was another issue. If not held straight, some participants had difficulty in understanding what was around them and where items were with respect to them; holding a tilted phone was the likely reason for their confusion.

6.5.3.2 Accuracy

Accuracy was one of the most important concerns amongst all participants (13) as it forms the foundation for establishing trust and confidence in the system. Factors that influenced accuracy were either system-oriented or user-oriented. System oriented factors included presence of false positives in the object recognizer and lack of robustness in handling a variety of materials. For example, false positives from objects located across the glass window and false negatives caused due to environmental conditions (*e.g.*, lighting and color contrasts causing inability to read signs). User-oriented factors included difficulty in framing a well-focused image, handling users' walking pace, and perceived inaccuracy caused by not holding the phone straight and in line with their body's position. Despite the current object recognizer's inaccuracy, participants explained even with inaccurate information, they would rely on their mobility skills to support them when technology fails. An instance was confirming the information provided by the application (*e.g.*, checking a table's existence with their cane).

Closely tied to the accuracy of the object recognizer is accurately capturing the scene and receiving usable feedback. For example, participants were concerned about being too far away or too close while taking a picture. Similarly, some participants were concerned whether the system could handle the variability in the perspectives of a captured location in the Place channel. Participants liked that the system was able to recognize landmarks from a distance as that didn't require them *"to be up close and personal with [the] building"* (P8). However, they were frustrated when the system failed to recognize landmarks from a distance, which happened for a few participants due to variability of phone usage. Getting feedback at the right distance is important when the feedback is crucial to be received ahead of time (*e.g.*, detecting obstacles). Participants wanted to hear the feedback as *"further out it can tell"* —P10 or periodically when moving towards their target (*e.g.*, in decrements of *"50 feet, 25 feet, 10 feet"* —P10).

6.5.3.3 Future Design Enhancements

Participants wanted access to more information with both more granularity and variety. For example, recognizing objects such as trash/recycling bins and drinking fountains, or landmarks such as pedestrian signals and restrooms. They wanted to identify objects that cannot be detected with their primary mobility aid such as railings when using a cane, empty tables when using a guide dog, and if there are people in the way when capturing a picture. In addition to the feedback about the environment, participants wanted precise directional guidance to reach their intended target as well as in situ guidance to use the system better. Precise directional guidance included providing information on the VI person's spatial orientation, ego-centric directions, and distance from the object of interest. In situ guidance included: (i) how to hold the phone and manipulate the camera: *"I don't know if a sighted person would look down to find the table. So, does that mean I have to angle the phone* down?" (P5—congenitally blind participant); and (ii) identify and prompt the user when to use the system: "I keep forgetting that sometimes there are signs that hang out perpendicular to the building; [...] signs are things that we avoid as blind people because they hurt." (P6). They also suggested using earcons to help them capture a picture better (e.g., a beeping sound to guide the user in capturing the full sign). Additionally, participants mentioned varying directional instructions depending on an individual's residual vision, e.g., using more visual instructions vs. more directional feedback. As P10 explains, "I would give her [a friend with residual vision] more visual instructions because I know she can see that to a point." For a completely blind person, much more granular information is needed such as precise ego-centric directions to the object of interest (e.g., "men's bathroom 10 feet to your left" or "door 20 feet ahead").

Finally, participants envisioned how such a vision-based system could be integrated or could work in tandem with other existing applications. Some examples included using it with native phone apps (e.g., Photos), GPS-based apps such as Soundscape (e.g., being able to set a beacon on the landmark of interest), using images from messaging applications or Google Street View as "places" to find, and mapping applications such as Google Maps: "Collaboration is really an important thing when it comes to AI. If you could have the landmark feature integrated into [...] Google Maps for indoor navigation, that would be really nice in big hotels." (P11).

6.6 Design Space For Landmark-Based Systems

As articulated by Williams *et al.* [383], individual differences play an important role in a VI person's use of navigation technology. Based on our studies' findings, literature on O&M training, and prior studies of VI peoples' navigation behaviors [7, 292, 382, 383], we articulate a design space for creating adaptive systems using landmarks as the primary wayfinding strategy. Systems designed according to these principles would provide personalized informa-

tion relevant to the user and the situational context. The need for tailored information based on the user's specific abilities is a key aspect in O&M training and the proposed principles strongly comply with the Ability-based Design paradigm [388].

As described earlier, landmarks have varied sensory properties such as having distinct colors, shapes, sizes, aromas, sounds, or textures. Landmark preferences depend on the landmark's availability, the mobility aid individuals use, residual vision, and the presence of other senses (*e.g.*, hearing). Based on these factors, the relevance of a particular landmark in a given situation may differ. We define a design space to capture this relationship by mapping a person's mobility need to the different affordances of a landmark and its environmental context. We break the design space into four components: (i) Visual Abilities, (ii) Mobility Aid, (iii) User Personality and Preferences, and (iv) Context.

6.6.1 Visual Abilities

Adapting a system to VI user's visual abilities requires accommodating a person's use of their residual vision (if any) to navigate and how their navigation strategy impacts the choice of landmarks. During O&M training, an instructor assesses a user's residual vision to determine which landmarks would be usable. Relevant visual indicators include user's color perception, contrast sensitivity, visual acuity, and presence/absence of peripheral and central vision. As we saw from our study, landmarks are chosen based on their color, shape, size, and the location with respect to the user. For completely blind users, providing granular directional guidance is key. For people with residual vision, using visual instructions (*e.g.*, by describing visual features of the environment) is more appropriate. For example, for a person with color perception, an adaptive system should identify landmarks with distinct colors (*e.g.*, a bright red mailbox). Wayfinding apps could also be personalized in ways that best augments users' existing capabilities, *i.e.*, focusing only on calling out landmarks in the periphery if someone's central vision is intact. Alternatively, as suggested by one of our participants, a user may wish to specify in their profile that they would like an app to focus only on identifying landmarks in the region they can detect with their residual vision, so that they can then learn to attend to these landmarks in the future without the aid of the app.

6.6.2 Mobility Aid

An adaptive system should consider the differences in the information received from a person's mobility aid. Mobility aids such as guide dogs and white canes have different affordances. For example, a guide dog is mainly used to avoid obstacles and is most suitable for search tasks, while a cane is effective for detecting obstacles and is most suitable for discovery tasks. These differences impact an individual's navigation strategy [383], as we saw VI individuals' ability to use our system differed depending on their primary mobility aid. For example, finding doorways is easier for guide dog users while it is a laborious and a manual process for cane users. On the other hand, guide dog users do not receive any tactile information of objects and surfaces around them. This suggests adaptive systems should make discovery of landmarks dynamic depending on a user's mobility aid [7, 143]. For example, technology to assist in detecting tactile landmarks would be beneficial for guide dog users while systems that find structural landmarks such as doors and elevators would benefit cane users.

6.6.3 User Personality and Preferences

An individual's confidence traveling independently is a major personality trait that influences how they wish to use guidance systems [7]. Confidence may depend on years of mobility training received and/or the number of years of sight loss. Such differences could inform the level of support and guidance needed from a wayfinding system. For example, a person with recent sight loss might need constant feedback while a person who has never had vision may be more confident and may only need specific informational cues depending on what they want to achieve. In our study, we found that some participants were very task-oriented and only cared about the information relevant to the current context. In contrast, some participants wanted a full report on every landmark or object in the environment to get acclimatized and build a more complete mental model. Systems could support both pull and push interactions, allowing users to explicitly set their personal preferences.

6.6.4 Context

Complementing prior work [3, 7, 190], the fourth aspect of adaptation relates to the contextual factors that determine landmark choices when on-the-go. Depending on a VI individual's situational context (*i.e.*, familiarity with the space, noise level, crowd density, weather, and time of day), the usefulness of a landmark will vary. For example, a user's familiarity with the location changes the navigation task from discovery (for unfamiliar spaces) to search (for familiar spaces). Certain landmark types may not be useful based on the environment (*e.g.*, sound landmarks when the environmental noise is high) or may not be available (*e.g.*, "ding" sounds if the elevator is out of service). When a location is crowded, navigation becomes slower and use of mobility aids becomes difficult (*e.g.*, guide dogs losing line of sight to targets such as doors); in such scenarios, detection of obstacles would be important to provide for a clear path to the user and their mobility aid. Finally, lighting conditions, depending on the time of day and weather, may affect computer vision technologies and users' residual vision.

6.7 Discussion

Using two exploratory studies, we investigated the characteristics of the last-few-meters wayfinding challenge and explored specific user needs in this space. From these studies, we articulated a design space for creating adaptive systems providing tailored feedback to VI pedestrians. This design space is not only limited to the last-few-meters problem but can also be applied to traditional point-to-point navigation applications where the primary means of navigation is walking.

In the last few meters, we found that the spatial relationship between the person and the surrounding landmarks and/or obstacles needs to be established (*e.g.*, elevator is 10 feet away from the user at their 2 o'clock). Amongst landmark categories, we found discovering structural landmarks was the most preferred across all participants. Usefulness of landmark categories depended on the user's situational context and personal preferences based on their vision level and mobility aid, and we captured this relationship in our proposed design space. Our findings demonstrate how Landmark AI can be useful in complementing a VI individual's mobility skills, *i.e.*, how the system would be used with their primary mobility aid and residual vision. We reflect on these findings and present implications for designing and developing camera-based AI tools for accessibility, and present limitations and future work.

6.7.1 Implications for Camera Systems for VI Pedestrians

In this work, we demonstrated the feasibility of using a smartphone camera-based system that provides near-real time information about the world within the accessibility context when the user is mobile. Within the three interaction paradigms we observed, *i.e.*, real-time scanning (Landmark channel), image capture (Signage channel), and hybrid—combining capturing images and real-time scanning (Place channel), participants preferred real-time scanning as it was fast, simple, and easy to use on-the-go. Capturing a good image was a frustrating experience [184, 185]. Partial coverage or misfocus in capturing images of signs were common reasons for difficulty in using the channels. Applying blind photography principles [33] could help guide users to capture accurate pictures, though this remains a challenging area for further research. Additionally, participants preferred a simpler interaction than switching channels. Even though channels are an artifact of Seeing AI, this system design allowed us to analyze the implications and impact of these interaction paradigms: while channels simplify a system's technical implementation, they add overhead for the end user, and we recommend avoiding them. Consistent with prior work [113, 241], some participants had difficulty positioning the phone while walking. This caused misinterpretation of the app's feedback. Implementing camera guidance mechanisms [184, 365] to handle hand-body coordination could resolve such difficulties. Alternatively, participants suggested using a wearable camera to allow hands free usage when they are mobile—critical for many participants due to either situational or motor impairments. Prior work [115] and industry solutions (*e.g.*, [181, 182, 387]) have looked into wearables for VI users. However, further work is required on wearable solutions to study scene capture accuracy and its impact on users' understanding and knowledge of the environment; Manduchi *et al.*'s investigation of blind users' ability to use smartphone object recognizers [241] is an important step in this direction.

6.7.2 Implications for Vision Algorithms for Accessibility

On-device Recognition. In this work, we looked at the application of deep neural networks (DNNs) for recognition tasks on mobile devices [170, 175, 395]. Use of fast and light-weight recognizers are crucial for providing real-time feedback when the user is mobile. We used a fast on-device recognizer based on SqueezeNet [175] to identify landmarks, making instantaneous response a possibility. However, a contributing factor to the signage channel being least preferred was the slow processing time due to dependence on cloud-based API calls. Current on-device recognizers lack the robustness in handling the variety of font styles encountered in the open world, particularly stylized logos common in commercial spaces. Future work from the vision community to develop on-device text recognition algorithms will be crucial in making signage recognition real-time. In addition to enabling real-time information, on-device recognition would also preserve privacy, especially for people captured in the scene.

Need for Material Recognition. Our design space highlights the importance of identifying a landmark's photometric and geometric properties to support varied vision levels in order to customize landmark detection. For this to happen, materials and texture recognition [33,

74, 172, 318] would play a critical role, for example, detecting the material of the landmark and detecting changes in surface texture (for tactile landmarks). However, current computer vision algorithms [33, 74, 172] are not accurate enough, warranting an effort in improving their speed and accuracy. Combining material recognition with object recognition could also improve landmark recognition accuracy. In addition to materials, determining the color, shape, and size of landmarks is important when integrating them with object recognition.

Implementing Place Recognition. Landmark AI's place channel, which used a Wizard of Oz approach, was popular among study participants. Participants expressed interest in knowing whether the system would support recognizing the place if the original angle of capture differed from angle of the real-time feed. Prior work in robotics has looked into using deep learning approaches [69, 228, 337] and traditional computer vision techniques [89] for performing place recognition [137]. Future work in implementing a real-time place recognizer that is both viewpoint invariant and time invariant will be crucial in making this demonstrated experience a reality. Within the accessibility context, the place recognition problem can be constrained at two stages: (i) at the image capture stage, where unique landmarks are captured in the scene along with the location, and (ii) at the recognition stage, where performing a fuzzy match between the previously stored image and the current scene could be sufficient, thus circumventing the need for semantic scene understanding. This approach would be particularly useful for scenes for which specific classifiers have not been trained or that contain unusual uncommon objects.

Achievable Accuracy. We found that participants preferred certain types of landmarks such as doors over others. This suggests that we may not need general-purpose recognizers that classify a wide range of possible objects, a daunting task for current computer vision algorithms. Instead, collecting a large and realistic dataset of common landmarks and objects (*e.g.*, doors of different types), combined with counterexamples of objects that are similar and confusable with the object of interest (*e.g.*, full-pane windows) would be a priority. Building a robust recognition model for a smaller (but important) set of objects could have a significant

impact on VI users' daily navigation abilities. Our design decision of using simpler vision models with preset landmarks was guided by this fact to maintain a reasonable level of accuracy.

In our system, we cared more about precision (low false positives) than recall (low false negatives). Ideally, there should be a balance between the two. However, realistically there are high chances of the results being skewed. In those cases, low precision causes more harm than low recall. In our study, we found participants getting frustrated with false positives, making it hard to rely on the system. Participants did understand that a system cannot be perfect, and they valued access to rich contextual information. However, the system cannot "provide the user too much of wrong information, because that will directly confuse the user more than really help them out." (P9). DNNs have been found to get easily "fooled" even with a high confidence threshold [274]. For a deployable level of accuracy, using computer vision techniques alone may be insufficient. Potential solutions relying on humans to use their own judgment to reason about the inference (e.g., using explainable AI techniques [144]) or using heuristics and sensor fusion techniques to supplement the vision results could help establish more confidence in AI-based navigation aids.

6.7.3 Limitations and Future Work

Two main limitations may impact our findings. First, due to Landmark AI's high rate of false positives, participants were often frustrated and confused. While we believe that accuracy should have been better, this allowed us to understand the implications of poor accuracy, a likely scenario in the open world in the near-term with state-of-the-art AI. Studying how people learn to adapt to system inaccuracies will be valuable for understanding usage of fault-prone AI systems [3]. Second, Landmark AI did not provide navigational guidance to reach the landmark target once it was identified, an important characteristic for a wayfinding system [241, 392]. However, this gave us an opportunity to investigate the guidance needs in the last few meters. Indeed, we observed that the system does not have to be hyper-accurate

with such guidance, as one's existing mobility skills (through O&M training or otherwise) plays an important role of being independent. As participant P10 summarizes, "At some point, you got to leave something out to the user to use their brain. Some people want to be spoon-fed every single little bit of information, but how do you learn if you don't find the stuff out for yourself?".

6.8 Chapter Conclusion

In this chapter, we looked at the second application category—in-situ navigation—targeting a second group of MI individuals: blind and low-vision travellers. Specifically, we investigated the last-few-meters wayfinding problem for this target community. Our formative study identified common challenges faced in the last few meters, how VI users currently overcome them, and where current technology falls short. Based on these findings, we designed *Landmark AI* and elicited feedback on the usefulness of the system design via a design probe study. Using qualitative data analysis, we found that an individual's choice of mobility aid (*e.g.*, guide dogs or white canes) and their visual ability impacted the manner in which they used the system and the provided feedback. We captured this rich relationship between the information types and an individual's mobility needs in a design space for creating adaptive systems and presented a set of design implications for future camera-based AI systems for people with visual disabilities.

7 Discussion: What Lies Ahead?

Building inclusive cities requires understanding the lived experiences of diverse communities. Beyond acquiring qualitative accounts of their experience, data can play an important role in understanding and quantifying the accessibility needs of the city and its people. In this dissertation, my goal was to identify those data-driven opportunities for tools and technological interventions. I took a holistic approach by understanding the larger landscape of urban accessibility problems, going beyond the physical accessibility barriers that exist to reveal the underlying causes. Specifically, the human factors that influence the physical (in)accessibility of urban infrastructure. Through my research, I studied a mix of stakeholders who had the power for influencing change in terms of accessibility improvements and those affected by inaccessible infrastructure. I studied how their needs differed and sometimes conflicted. Finally, I developed interactive tools for urban-scale data collection, navigation, and visualization, and generated design guidelines for future interactive data-driven applications for this domain.

In this chapter, I review these contributions, present limitations of the work, and lay out a vision for future interactive data-driven tools for urban accessibility.

7.1 Review of Thesis Claim and Contributions

In the Introduction (Chapter 1), I presented the following thesis claim:

Interactive data-driven tools for urban accessibility that incorporate the social, political, and individual contexts of varied stakeholders lead to multi-faceted decision-making tools providing actionable insights.

Below, I describe how my dissertation research supports this claim through a review of the contributions.

Multi-stakeholder analysis as a method

Throughout the dissertation, I took a multi-stakeholder approach by studying five different stakeholder groups with respect to each other to understand their individual perspectives on urban accessibility, data needs, and decision-making practices. Building this foundation allowed us to understand the socio-political complexities of a civic ecosystem where infrastructure development decisions are made (Chapter 3). Further, using this approach to study human-data interactions with accessibility datasets, allowed us to understand how their individual perspectives affected their understanding of urban accessibility and the consequent implications towards designing for those specific perspectives (Chapter 5).

Civic Interaction Space

Through the multi-stakeholder approach described above, I identified the roles of individual stakeholders, the different goals and tasks they carried out, and the required crossstakeholder interactions for accomplishing those goals (Chapter 3). Mapping these interactions revealed the varying decision contexts within which the tasks are performed. Understanding these points of interactions are crucial for designing tools catering to these stakeholders and facilitating collaborations through technology.

Project Sidewalk, a tool for remote data collection of sidewalk accessibility at scale

One of the primary reasons for the lack of these comprehensive accessibility-aware tools is the lack of urban scale datasets that help answer wide range of decision-making questions. Project Sidewalk addresses this concern for collecting sidewalk accessibility data at scale. We chose sidewalks as they form the backbone of the pedestrian infrastructure and is crucial for MI individuals' day-to-day travel. In this dissertation (Chapter 4), I described a scalable approach of combining crowdsourcing, GSV imagery, and gamification techniques, to design, deploy, and evaluate a data collection tool for labeling sidewalk accessibility issues such as missing curb ramps, surface issues, sidewalk obstacles, and no sidewalks. We evaluated the tool with a deployment study in Washington DC, where we remotely collected the first-ever city-wide sidewalk accessibility dataset. We also identified common labeling errors made by crowdworkers, which has led to further development of Project Sidewalk, active till date. Since the initial deployment in DC, the Project Sidewalk team has increased in size and the tool itself (Figure 7.1–top) has an improved interface design, new label types (*e.g.*, crosswalks, pedestrian signals), new features (*e.g.*, public leaderboards – Figure 7.1–bottom), and complementary tools for data validation (Figure 7.2–top) and data exploration (*e.g.*, Sidewalk Gallery ¹ [105]) (Figure 7.2–bottom).

Publicly available urban-scale sidewalk accessibility datasets

Through this dissertation work, we generated first-ever tech-enabled and publicly available city-wide sidewalk accessibility datasets with over 260,000+ labels from the pilot deployment in Washington DC. This has led to significant real-world impact, including inspiring (i) 10+ cities around the world to deploy Project Sidewalk [232–238] for informing policymaking (*e.g.*, Mexico City's Pedestrian Master Plan), (ii) research efforts in universities to develop automated data collection approaches using our datasets [376, 378], and (iii) data enthusiasts visualizing these datasets for their personal context and needs [263, 264].

AccessVis: Design guidelines for interactive geovisualization tools for urban accessibility

Towards designing novel multi-faceted decision-making tools for varied stakeholders and diverse contexts, the first was interactive visualizations of urban accessibility. Through analysis of how different stakeholders interpreted map visualizations of the DC dataset, I uncovered how the alignment with their existing mental models of accessibility and sensemaking processes influenced their perceived usefulness of the visualizations. Specifically, I

¹https://sidewalkgallery.io/



Figure 7.1: Project Sidewalk Developments. This illustration shows some of the developments made to Project Sidewalk (top) since the initial Washington DC deployment, namely improved interface design, new label types (*e.g.*, crosswalks, pedestrian signals), and new features (*e.g.*, public leaderboards - bottom).



Figure 7.2: Project Sidewalk Developments – Complementary Tools. Illustration shows two complementary tools. First is a data validation tool (top) that allows crowdworkers to review and correct data from other crowdworkers. The second is a data exploration tool called *Sidewalk Gallery* (bottom) that allows exploring the collected dataset by label types and their attributes such as severity and tags (*e.g.*, "bumpy surface").

found that an individual's relation to accessibility through lived or professional experience, familiarity with the location being visualized, and familiarity with map-based analysis influenced their sensemaking process as well as the insights gained. As discussed in Chapter 5, these findings suggest significant implications for future geovisualization tools to provide actionable insights to such diverse audiences. More specifically towards personalizing data analytics, which I will discuss in the future directions section later in this chapter.

Landmark AI, a computer vision based navigation tool for addressing the last-few-meters wayfinding challenge of people with visual disabilities

The second application I explored was for supporting people with visual disabilities in navigating the last-few-meters of a destination where GPS fails. Through several formative studies, I designed and evaluated the feasibility of using computer vision with audio-based AR to provide relevant navigational guidance for covering the last-few-meters to an actual destination (*e.g.*, a building entrance). Landmark AI explored three interaction paradigms providing real-time feedback, server-processed feedback, and a hybrid information channel. I then presented how the system worked in tandem with an individual's mobility skills, the mobility aid used (*e.g.*, guide dogs, canes), and on-the-go travel. Beyond the system design contribution, I also generated a design space for future landmark-based navigation systems and implications for computer-vision based navigation tools. Specifically, I found that personalized information delivery tailored to their specific context, residual vision, mobility aid, and personality will be key for designing for this population. Finally, the ideas explored and the findings from this work are now available as accessibility features in Apple iPhones (May 2022 feature release) [18].

7.2 Assumptions and Limitations

Urban Accessibility is a global problem. At the beginning of this dissertation, I set my larger vision towards mapping the physical accessibility of the world. Towards this goal, this

dissertation investigated the accessibility of US cities, where relying on technologies such as Google Street View is easier due to abundance of data across cities, as compared to other countries where regulatory troubles can limit use of these technologies [166]. In addition, in the US, comprehensive accessibility regulations and policies exist, but non-compliance with these standards is the issue. However, cities around the world, where these regulations do not exist, might have completely different implications for tools needed. Similarly, the presence of accessible infrastructure features cannot be assumed in many parts of the world either. Our recent initial investigations of these socio-cultural and geographical differences on urban accessibility demonstrates this fact [123]. However, the impact on tool design accounting these differences is an unexplored area. Despite the specific geographic context of this dissertation, the core findings around how stakeholders' perspectives, needs, and interactions with one another impact urban accessibility, can be extended across different geographic locations and communities, thus, providing the foundation to pursue future research.

Defining (in)accessibility for diverse disability communities. (In)accessibility means different things to different groups. Tools presented in this dissertation operated on the definition most closely relevant to a wheelchair users' perspective. For simplicity, I used this definition through the dissertation. However, my research also revealed how personal perspectives change the definitions for an individual based on their lived and/or professional experience with accessibility. Thus, for addressing the broader range of accessibility needs, we need to expand the definition and create a broader taxonomy. For example, as we saw in Chapter 6, sidewalk features such as water hydrants can serve as landmarks as opposed to 'obstacles' for guiding people with visual disabilities. Presence of tactile strips are beneficial to a person with a visual disability but might be a sidewalk barrier for a new wheelchair user. This suggests that we need to work towards making tools and their underlying taxonomies inclusive and customizable to an individual's personal context.

7.3 Future Directions

The primary theme of this dissertation is the impact of the stakeholders' diverse needs on tool design. Considering the challenges presented by this diversity, I present some future directions for the next generation of interactive data-driven tools along the previously defined three-pronged problem space of urban accessibility: people, data, and tools.

7.3.1 *People*: Catering to Diverse Audiences

We saw a mix of audiences with diverse data/technical skills and physical abilities. Accounting for these differences would require personalized interfaces across task domains such as urban data analytics and navigation. I call these applications '*Accessible Data Tools*', where accessibility is defined across two spectrums: data skills and physical abilities. Below, I describe two personalization spaces: *personalized accessibility profiles* and *personalized data analytics*. Accessible visualizations for people with visual disabilities is an example application that sits at the intersection of the two.

Personalized Accessibility Profiles. Chapter 5 and Chapter 6 demonstrated the need for personalized information feedback depending on the individual's personal context. For example, accessibility for a manual wheelchair user *vs.* a powered wheelchair user *vs.* a cane user would be significantly different. Therefore, acknowledging these differences in tools for audiences with varied accessibility needs is crucial. Recent work has looked at creating personal mobility profiles for providing navigation information [51]. However, a broader set of accessibility profiles would be needed for different task domains (*e.g.*, visualizations), warranting further research.

Personalized Data Analytics. Complementing the above need is addressing the lack of accessible data tools catering to varied data skills. Currently, the power of using data remains in the hands of the few with technical expertise. For example, in the public and non-profit

sector, the stakeholders are advocates and government officials who often work together to develop policies. The non-profit sector often have individuals with deep data questions but lack necessary technical skills. Additionally, they are often financially constrained to hire dedicated in-house data support. To support these individuals in their pursuit for data-driven advocacy, we would need to reimagine data analysis workflows that cater to their existing data skills. I call these individuals, the 'novice data scientist'. So the question is how do we make cognitively challenging analytics accessible to novice data scientists? how do we make considerations around their sensemaking processes? I call future researchers to work towards 'Personalized (Novice) Data Analytics'.

Combining the two personalized spaces would be a step towards the larger vision for future accessible data tools: *Designing intelligent information systems that consider the abilities of the end-users-both physical and technical-to guide them in the data-oriented tasks*.

7.3.2 Data: Crowdsourcing and Maintaining Diverse Datasets

This dissertation presented a scalable approach to crowdsource sidewalk accessibility data. However, as seen in Chapter 3 and Chapter 5, stakeholders require numerous types of datasets, some being more challenging to collect through manual methods than others. One of them is *experiential data*. Policymakers had noted that being able to understand what the on-the-ground experience feels like could be beneficial on the decision-making table. Another example of experiential data are non-visual cues such as smell and sound, which are used by people with visual disabilities as landmarks for navigation (Chapter 6). These types of data can also be used for other map-based applications such as Smelly Maps [297, 298] to find enjoyable travel paths. But *how do we gather such experiential data i.e., non-visual cues at scale*? Quercia *et al.* proposed using geo-referenced social media posts. However, data for the accessibility context would require more granular data attributes and descriptions such as temporality, quality, and reliability of these non-visual data. Future work is warranted towards extending the existing approaches and/or innovating new approaches for the accessibility context.

Data collection efforts are important but they are only the first step. For long-term use of such location-based applications, datasets need to be kept updated. Project Sidewalk addresses an important issue of the lack of urban-scale accessibility datasets, however, the problem of data age and update is an open problem. In-person approaches suffer from being slow and tedious and generating sparse datasets [101]. Could a hybrid model where people traveling in cities update the existing remotely collected data work? Google Maps uses this approach to collect transit crowd data. Could this be applied to an accessibility context without leading to data sparsity? I call researchers towards more investigations for this challenging, yet crucial problem of data maintenance.

7.3.3 Tools: Facilitating Cross-stakeholder Interactions

While I explored applications for three main tasks—data collection through crowdsourcing and online streetview imagery, data exploration through interactive visualizations, and navigation through computer vision and mobile applications—this dissertation also revealed a vast set of tasks and problems where urban accessibility tools are missing. Specifically, tools for facilitating civic interactions between stakeholders is especially lacking. Below, I describe directions for tools supporting two communication tasks—storytelling and collaboration within the urban accessibility context.

How do we enable data-driven interactions and collaborations between different stakeholders? Chapter 3 laid out the different cross-stakeholder interactions that take place for urban-scale decision-making. Some examples of these interaction goals are raising awareness, setting priorities, acquiring community input, and issue resolution. For accomplishing these goals, variety of stakeholders with diverse backgrounds need to collaborate to make large- and small-scale decisions. Recent work has started looking into participatory approaches for
enabling civic discourse and civic action [31, 187]. Within the urban accessibility context, recent work by Bolten *et al.* [52] proposed a community-based participatory action framework and present how data-driven technologies can show inequities in data collection processes in cities. More work will be needed for designing tools that facilitate such collaborative decision-making processes.

How do we support building persuasive data stories for cross-stakeholder communication? Chapter 5 emphasized the importance of combining quantitative data with qualitative emotional context to build a story. This work reaffirms prior findings that emotions can often drive decisions [107]. This is especially true for politically and emotionally charged issue domains beyond accessibility such as climate change and police violence [262]. Past work have used 3D videos, simulations, and citizen testimonials for appealing to a person's emotions [311, 356]. However, more work is needed to facilitate building data-driven stories via interactive tools. Specifically, investigations on the type of interactive storytelling support needed for combining data-based facts with emotional and historical context of the people involved. Immersive technologies such as VR could be a space for exploration for showing the experiential data augmented with statistical data facts. Situated urban visualizations [261] through interactive displays or AR and place-based digital storytelling approaches [243] could be another avenue of exploration.

7.4 Concluding Remarks

With the growing need for inclusive walkable/rollable cities, new interactive data-driven tools will be needed to enable and support decision-making for accessible infrastructure development, policymaking, advocacy, and daily living. In this dissertation, I studied the issue of urban accessibility by studying stakeholders across these decision contexts: their data, sensemaking, and tool needs. Based on those findings, I designed and evaluated multiple tools from data collection to data visualization to navigation. I further demonstrated the importance of keeping stakeholders and their specific contexts central during tool design. I hope the findings from the tool and stakeholder analyses presented in this dissertation will form the foundation for future researchers and technologists to study and design tools not just for urban accessibility, but any socio-political domain that share similar characteristics (*e.g.*, diverse stakeholders, complex decision-making and organizational structures).

Bibliography

- [1] 3 Cities Taking On ADA Compliant Curb Ramps | Tekway High Performance ADA Tiles by StrongGo. https://www.stronggo.com/blog/3-cities-taking-adacompliant-curb-ramps (page 12).
- [2] Court of Appeals 3rd Circuit. Kinney v. Yerusalim, 1993 No. 93-1168. Tech. rep. 1993 (page 54).
- [3] Ali Abdolrahmani, William Easley, Michele Williams, Stacy Branham, and Amy Hurst. "Embracing Errors: Examining How Context of Use Impacts Blind Individuals' Acceptance of Navigation Aid Errors". In: Proceedings of the 2017 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems - CHI '17. New York, New York, USA: ACM Press, 2017. ISBN: 9781450346559. DOI: 10.1145/3025453.3025528 (pages 147, 151).
- [4] Rediet Abebe, Solon Barocas, Jon Kleinberg, Karen Levy, Manish Raghavan, and David G. Robinson. "Roles for Computing in Social Change". In: *Proceedings of the* 2020 Conference on Fairness, Accountability, and Transparency. FAT* '20. Barcelona, Spain: Association for Computing Machinery, 2020. ISBN: 9781450369367. DOI: 10. 1145/3351095.3372871 (page 47).
- [5] Lauren C. Abercrombie, James F. Sallis, Terry L. Conway, Lawrence D. Frank, Brian E. Saelens, and James E. Chapman. "Income and Racial Disparities in Access to Public Parks and Private Recreation Facilities". In: *American Journal of Preventive Medicine* (Jan. 2008). ISSN: 07493797. DOI: 10.1016/j.amepre.2007.09.030 (page 10).

- [6] accessibility.cloud. https://accessibility.cloud. 2018 (pages 14, 83, 85, 86).
- [7] Dragan Ahmetovic, João Guerreiro, Eshed Ohn-Bar, Kris M Kitani, and Chieko Asakawa. "Impact of Expertise on Interaction Preferences for Navigation Assistance of Visually Impaired Individuals". In: Web for All Conference (W4A). 2019. DOI: 10. 1145/3315002.3317561 (pages 144, 146, 147).
- [8] Aipoly Vision: Sight for Blind & Visually Impaired. https://itunes.apple.com/us/ app/aipoly-vision-sight-for-blind-visually-impaired/id1069166437?mt=8 (page 128).
- [9] Aira. https://aira.io/ (pages 128, 131).
- [10] Rio Akasaka. Introducing "wheelchair accessible" routes in transit navigation. https: //blog.google/products/maps/introducing-wheelchair-accessible-routestransit-navigation/ (page 14).
- [11] Ahmed Ali, Nuttha Sirilertworakul, Alexander Zipf, Amin Mobasheri, Ahmed Loai Ali, Nuttha Sirilertworakul, Alexander Zipf, and Amin Mobasheri. "Guided Classification System for Conceptual Overlapping Classes in OpenStreetMap". In: *IS-PRS International Journal of Geo-Information* (June 2016). ISSN: 2220-9964. DOI: 10.3390/ijgi5060087 (page 57).
- [12] Adriana Alvarado Garcia and Christopher A. Le Dantec. "Quotidian Report: Grassroots Data Practices to Address Public Safety". In: *Proceedings of the ACM on Human-Computer Interaction* (Nov. 2018). DOI: 10.1145/3274286 (pages 20, 44).
- [13] Adriana Alvarado Garcia, Alyson L. Young, and Lynn Dombrowski. "On Making Data Actionable: How Activists Use Imperfect Data to Foster Social Change for Human Rights Violations in Mexico". In: *Proc. ACM Hum.-Comput. Interact.* (Dec. 2017). DOI: 10.1145/3134654 (page 46).
- [14] Code for America. "Delivery-driven Policy, Policy designed for the digital age". https: //codeforamerica.org/ideas/policy/http://s3-us-west-1.amazonaws.com/ codeforamerica-cms1/documents/delivery-driven-policy-code-for-america. pdf. 2019 (page 20).

- [15] Gennady Andrienko, Natalia Andrienko, Jason Dykes, Sara Irina Fabrikant, and Monica Wachowicz. "Geovisualization of Dynamics, Movement and Change: Key Issues and Developing Approaches in Visualization Research:" in: http://dx.doi.org/10.1057/IVS.2008.23 (Sept. 2008). DOI: 10.1057/IVS.2008.23 (page 94).
- [16] Isabelle Anguelovski, James JT Connolly, Laia Masip, and Hamil Pearsall. "Assessing green gentrification in historically disenfranchised neighborhoods: a longitudinal and spatial analysis of Barcelona". In: Urban geography (2018). DOI: 10.1080/02723638. 2017.1349987 (page 35).
- [17] V Antoniou and A Skopeliti. "Measures and Indicators of VGI Quality: An Overview".
 In: ISPRS Annals of the Photogrammetry, Remote Sensing and Spatial Information Sciences (2015). DOI: 10.5194/isprsannals-II-3-W5-345-2015 (page 56).
- [18] Apple's Innovate Accessibility Features. https://www.apple.com/newsroom/2022/ 05/apple-previews-innovative-accessibility-features/ (page 158).
- [19] Pablo Aragon, Adriana Alvarado Garcia, Christopher A. Le Dantec, Claudia Flores-Saviaga, and Jorge Saldivar. "Civic Technologies: Research, Practice and Open Challenges". In: Conference Companion Publication of the 2020 on Computer Supported Cooperative Work and Social Computing. New York, NY, USA: Association for Computing Machinery, 2020. ISBN: 9781450380591. DOI: 10.1145/3406865.3430888 (page 42).
- [20] ArcGIS Field Maps Capture Field Data. https://www.cyclomedia.com/us (page 30).
- [21] ArcGIS Story Maps. https://storymaps.arcgis.com/. 2022 (page 16).
- [22] Mariam Asad and Christopher A. Le Dantec. "Illegitimate civic participation: Supporting community activists on the ground". In: CSCW 2015 Proceedings of the 2015 ACM International Conference on Computer-Supported Cooperative Work and Social Computing. Association for Computing Machinery, Inc, Feb. 2015. ISBN: 9781450329224. DOI: 10.1145/2675133.2675156 (pages 20, 44, 46, 47).

- [23] Mariam Asad and Christopher A. Le Dantec. "Tap the "Make this public" button: A design: Based inquiry into issue advocacy and digital civics". In: Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems - Proceedings. New York: Association for Computing Machinery, May 2017. ISBN: 9781450346559. DOI: 10.1145/3025453. 3026034 (pages 20, 44, 47).
- [24] Mariam Asad, Christopher A. Le Dantec, Becky Nielsen, and Kate Diedrick. "Creating a Sociotechnical API: Designing City-Scale Community Engagement". In: *Proceedings of the 2017 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*. CHI '17. Denver, Colorado, USA: Association for Computing Machinery, 2017. ISBN: 9781450346559. DOI: 10.1145/3025453.3025963 (page 19).
- [25] Autour.http://autour.mcgill.ca/en/(pages 125, 127).
- [26] Mauro Avila and Limin Zeng. "A Survey of Outdoor Travel for Visually Impaired People Who Live in Latin-American Region". In: Proceedings of the 10th International Conference on PErvasive Technologies Related to Assistive Environments - PETRA '17. New York, New York, USA: ACM Press, 2017. ISBN: 9781450352277. DOI: 10.1145/ 3056540.3064953 (page 125).
- [27] Michael D.M. Bader, Stephen J. Mooney, Yeon Jin Lee, Daniel Sheehan, Kathryn M. Neckerman, Andrew G. Rundle, and Julien O. Teitler. "Development and deployment of the Computer Assisted Neighborhood Visual Assessment System (CANVAS) to measure health-related neighborhood conditions". In: *Health & Place* (Jan. 2015). ISSN: 1353-8292. DOI: 10.1016/J.HEALTHPLACE.2014.10.012 (page 52).
- [28] Hannah M Badland, Simon Opit, Karen Witten, Robin A Kearns, and Suzanne Mavoa.
 "Can virtual streetscape audits reliably replace physical streetscape audits?" In: Journal of urban health : bulletin of the New York Academy of Medicine (Dec. 2010).
 ISSN: 1468-2869. DOI: 10.1007/s11524-010-9505-x (pages 56, 78).
- [29] Yicheng Bai, Wenyan Jia, Hong Zhang, Zhi-Hong Mao, and Mingui Sun. "Landmark-Based Indoor Positioning for Visually Impaired Individuals". In: *International confer-*

ence on signal processing proceedings. International Conference on Signal Processing (Oct. 2014). DOI: 10.1109/ICOSP.2014.7015087 (pages 9, 127, 128).

- [30] Michael Batty. Accessibility: in search of a unified theory. 2009. DOI: 10.1068/b3602ed (page 86).
- [31] Eric PS Baumer, Mahmood Jasim, Ali Sarvghad, and Narges Mahyar. "Of Course it's Political! A Critical Inquiry into Underemphasized Dimensions in Civic Text Visualization". In: Computer Graphics Forum, EuroVis (2022). DOI: 10.1111/cgf. 14518 (pages 16, 163).
- [32] Be My Eyes. https://www.bemyeyes.com/ (page 128).
- [33] Sean Bell, Paul Upchurch, Noah Snavely, and Kavita Bala. "Material Recognition in the Wild with the Materials in Context Database". In: Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition (CVPR) (2015). DOI: 10.48550/arXiv.1412.0623 (pages 149, 150).
- [34] Michael S Bernstein, Greg Little, Robert C Miller, Björn Hartmann, Mark S Ackerman, David R Karger, David Crowell, and Katrina Panovich. "Soylent: A Word Processor with a Crowd Inside". In: Proceedings of the 23Nd Annual ACM Symposium on User Interface Software and Technology. UIST '10. New York, NY, USA: ACM, 2010. ISBN: 978-1-4503-0271-5. DOI: 10.1145/1866029.1866078 (page 77).
- [35] BeSpecular. https://www.bespecular.com/ (page 128).
- [36] John R Bethlehem, Joreintje D Mackenbach, Maher Ben-Rebah, Sofie Compernolle, Ketevan Glonti, Helga Bárdos, Harry R Rutter, Hélène Charreire, Jean-Michel Oppert, Johannes Brug, and Jeroen Lakerveld. "The SPOTLIGHT virtual audit tool: a valid and reliable tool to assess obesogenic characteristics of the built environment". In: *International Journal of Health Geographics* (Dec. 2014). ISSN: 1476-072X. DOI: 10.1186/1476-072X-13-52 (page 52).
- [37] Chandra Bhat, Susan Handy, Kara Kockelman, Hani Mahmassani, Qinglin Chen, Lisa Weston, et al. "Development of an urban accessibility index: Literature review".
 In: (2000) (pages 86, 88).

- [38] Indaco Biazzo, Bernardo Monechi, and Vittorio Loreto. "General scores for accessibility and inequality measures in urban areas". In: *Royal Society open science* (2019). DOI: 10.1098/rsos.190979 (pages 86–88).
- [39] Jeffrey P Bigham, Samual White, Tom Yeh, Chandrika Jayant, Hanjie Ji, Greg Little, Andrew Miller, Robert C Miller, Robin Miller, Aubrey Tatarowicz, and Brandyn White. "VizWiz: nearly real-time answers to visual questions". In: *Proceedings of the* 23nd annual ACM symposium on User interface software and technology - UIST '10. New York, New York, USA: ACM Press, 2010. ISBN: 9781450302715. DOI: 10.1145/ 1866029.1866080 (page 128).
- [40] Jeffrey P. Bigham, Chandrika Jayant, Andrew Miller, Brandyn White, and Tom Yeh.
 "VizWiz::LocateIt Enabling blind people to locate objects in their environment". In: 2010 IEEE Computer Society Conference on Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition
 Workshops, CVPRW 2010. IEEE, June 2010. ISBN: 9781424470297. DOI: 10.1109/ CVPRW.2010.5543821 (page 128).
- [41] Sasha Blair-Goldensohn. Find wheelchair accessible places with Google Maps. https: //blog.google/products/maps/wheelchair-accessible-places-google-maps/ (page 14).
- [42] Sasha Blair-Goldensohn. Opinion: New York Has a Great Subway, if You're Not in a Wheelchair | The New York Times. https://www.nytimes.com/2017/03/29/ opinion/new-york-has-a-great-subway-if-youre-not-in-a-wheelchair. html. 2017 (page 13).
- [43] BlindSquare.http://www.blindsquare.com/(pages 125, 127).
- [44] BlindWays free app makes using public transit easier for riders with visual impairments | Perkins School for the Blind. https://www.perkins.org/access/ inclusive-design/blindways (page 127).
- [45] United States Access Board. Architectural Barriers Act. https://www.accessboard.gov/aba/. 1968 (page 11).

- [46] United States Access Board. Chapter 4: Ramps and Curb Ramps. https://www. access-board.gov/guidelines-and-standards/buildings-and-sites/aboutthe-ada-standards/guide-to/ (page 12).
- [47] United States Access Board. Chapter 5—Model Sidewalks. https://www.accessboard . gov / prowag / planning - and - design - for - alterations / chapter5/ (pages 11, 93).
- [48] United States Access Board. Proposed Rights-of-Way Guidelines. https://www. access-board.gov/prowag/ (pages 11, 12, 93).
- [49] Juan Pablo Bocarejo S. and Daniel Ricardo Oviedo H. "Transport accessibility and social inequities: a tool for identification of mobility needs and evaluation of transport investments". In: *Journal of Transport Geography* (Sept. 2012). ISSN: 09666923. DOI: 10.1016/j.jtrangeo.2011.12.004 (page 10).
- [50] Kirsten Boehner and Carl DiSalvo. "Data, Design and Civics: An Exploratory Study of Civic Tech". In: Proceedings of the 2016 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems. CHI '16. San Jose, California, USA: Association for Computing Machinery, 2016. ISBN: 9781450333627. DOI: 10.1145/2858036.2858326 (page 42).
- [51] Nicholas Bolten and Anat Caspi. "AccessMap Website Demonstration: Individualized, Accessible Pedestrian Trip Planning at Scale". In: *The 21st International ACM SIGAC-CESS Conference on Computers and Accessibility*. 2019. DOI: 10.1145/3308561.
 3354598 (pages 15, 16, 30, 83–86, 91, 95, 118, 160).
- [52] Nicholas Bolten and Anat Caspi. "Towards Operationalizing the Communal Production and Management of Public (Open) Data: A Pedestrian Network Case Study: A Pedestrian Network Case Study in Operationalizing Communal Open Data". In: ACM SIGCAS/SIGCHI Conference on Computing and Sustainable Societies (COMPASS). COMPASS '22. Seattle, WA, USA: Association for Computing Machinery, 2022. ISBN: 9781450393478. DOI: 10.1145/3530190.3534821 (page 163).
- [53] Nicholas Bolten and Anat Caspi. "Towards routine, city-scale accessibility metrics: Graph theoretic interpretations of pedestrian access using personalized pedestrian

network analysis". In: *PLOS ONE* (Mar. 2021). DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0248399 (pages 15, 88, 112).

- [54] Nicholas Bolten, Sumit Mukherjee, Veronika Sipeeva, Anissa Tanweer, and Anat Caspi. "A pedestrian-centered data approach for equitable access to urban infrastructure environments". In: *IBM Journal of Research and Development* (Nov. 2017). DOI: 10.1147/JRD.2017.2736279 (pages 14, 16, 20, 85).
- [55] Mark Bovens. "Analysing and assessing accountability: A conceptual framework 1". In: European law journal (2007). DOI: 10.1111/j.1468-0386.2007.00378.x (page 46).
- [56] Virginia Braun and Victoria Clarke. "Using thematic analysis in psychology".
 In: Qualitative Research in Psychology (2006). ISSN: 14780887. DOI: 10.1191/ 1478088706qp063oa (pages 23, 99, 138).
- [57] Aileen Buckley. Design principles for cartography. https://www.esri.com/arcgisblog/products/product/mapping/design-principles-for-cartography/. Oct. 2011 (page 94).
- [58] US Census Bureau. "Americans With Disabilities 2010 Report". In: (2012) (page 1).
- [59] Jane Campbell and Mike Oliver. *Disability politics: Understanding our past, changing our future*. Routledge, 2013 (page 43).
- [60] Carlos Cardonha, Diego Gallo, Priscilla Avegliano, Ricardo Herrmann, Fernando Koch, and Sergio Borger. "A Crowdsourcing Platform for the Construction of Accessibility Maps". In: Proceedings of the 10th International Cross-Disciplinary Conference on Web Accessibility. W4A '13. New York, NY, USA: ACM, 2013. ISBN: 978-1-4503-1844-0. DOI: 10.1145/2461121.2461129 (page 54).
- [61] CARTO Grants. https://carto.com/grants/. 2022 (page 118).
- [62] CARTO Map Views | CARTO Documentation. https://docs.carto.com/cartouser-manual/maps/map-view-modes/. 2022 (page 120).
- [63] CARTO Platform. https://carto.com/platform/. 2022 (page 118).
- [64] Census. Service Requests (311) Datasets US City Open Data Census. https: //city.census.okfn.org/dataset/service-requests (page 37).

- [65] Center for Independence of the Disabled New York (CIDNY), et al. v. City of New York, et al. - Disability Rights Advocates. https://dralegal.org/case/centerindependence-disabled-new-york-cidny-et-al-v-city-new-york-et-al/. 2019 (page 3).
- [66] Long Chen, Bao-long Guo, and Wei Sun. "Obstacle detection system for visually impaired people based on stereo vision". In: 2010 Fourth International Conference on Genetic and Evolutionary Computing. IEEE. 2010. DOI: 10.1109/ICGEC.2010.183 (page 134).
- [67] Na Chen and Gulsah Akar. "How do socio-demographics and built environment affect individual accessibility based on activity space? Evidence from Greater Cleveland, Ohio". In: Journal of Transport and Land Use (2017). DOI: 10.5198/jtlu.2016.861 (pages 86, 87).
- [68] Na Chen and Chih-Hao Wang. "Does green transportation promote accessibility for equity in medium-size US cites?" In: *Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment* (2020). DOI: 10.1016/j.trd.2020.102365 (pages 86, 87, 112).
- [69] Zetao Chen, Adam Jacobson, Niko Sunderhauf, Ben Upcroft, Lingqiao Liu, Chunhua Shen, Ian Reid, and Michael Milford. "Deep Learning Features at Scale for Visual Place Recognition". In: (Jan. 2017) (page 150).
- [70] City of Chicago. Chicago Seattlement 2007. https://www.documentcloud.org/ documents/3526451-Chicago-Settlement.html. 2007 (page 13).
- [71] Jason Chuang, Daniel Ramage, Christopher Manning, and Jeffrey Heer. "Interpretation and trust: Designing model-driven visualizations for text analysis". In: Proceedings of the SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems. 2012. DOI: 10.1145/2207676.2207738 (page 110).
- [72] Soon Ae Chun, Stuart Shulman, Rodrigo Sandoval, and Eduard Hovy. "Government 2.0: Making Connections between Citizens, Data and Government". In: *Information Polity* (Apr. 2010). ISSN: 1570-1255. DOI: 10.3233/IP-2010-0205 (page 21).

- [73] Richard L. Church and James R. Marston. "Measuring Accessibility for People with a Disability". In: *Geographical Analysis* (Jan. 2003). ISSN: 00167363. DOI: 10.1111/j. 1538-4632.2003.tb01102.x (pages 10, 17).
- [74] Mircea Cimpoi, Subhransu Maji, and Andrea Vedaldi. "Deep filter banks for texture recognition and segmentation". In: 2015 IEEE Conference on Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition (CVPR). IEEE. 2015. DOI: 10.1109/CVPR.2015.7299007 (pages 149, 150).
- [75] City hrone. http://www.citychrone.org/ (pages 86, 88).
- [76] Philippa Clarke, Jennifer Ailshire, Robert Melendez, Michael Bader, and Jeffrey Morenoff. "Using Google Earth to conduct a neighborhood audit: Reliability of a virtual audit instrument". In: *Health & Place* (Nov. 2010). ISSN: 1353-8292. DOI: 10.1016/J.HEALTHPLACE.2010.08.007 (pages 56, 78).
- [77] Climate Data.gov. https://www.data.gov/climate/. 2021 (page 83).
- [78] Climate Datasets | GlobalChange.gov. https://www.globalchange.gov/browse/ datasets. 2021 (page 83).
- [79] CloudSight AI. https://cloudsight.ai/ (page 128).
- [80] Cognitive Services | Microsoft Azure. https://azure.microsoft.com/en-us/ services/cognitive-services/(page 135).
- [81] Colding, Barthel, and Sörqvist. "Wicked Problems of Smart Cities". In: Smart Cities (Nov. 2019). ISSN: 2624-6511. DOI: 10.3390/smartcities2040031 (page 10).
- [82] City of Columbus. Curb Ramp Construction. https://www.columbus.gov/ publicservice/Design-and-Construction/document-library/Curb-Ramp-Construction/(page 12).
- [83] Eric Corbett and Christopher A. Le Dantec. "The problem of community engagement: Disentangling the practices of municipal government". In: *Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems - Proceedings*. Association for Computing Machinery, Apr. 2018. ISBN: 9781450356206. DOI: 10.1145/3173574.3174148 (pages 19–21, 29, 37, 44, 47, 48).

- [84] Cory Booker calls for tech-empowered open democracy | Pando. https://pando. com/2013/03/10/cory-booker-calls-for-tech-empowered-open-democracy (page 20).
- [85] James Coughlan, R Manduchi, and Huiying Shen. "Cell Phone-based Wayfinding for the Visually Impaired". In: *First International Workshop on Mobile Vision*. 2006 (page 128).
- [86] John W. Creswell. Qualitative Inquiry and Research Design: Choosing Among Five Approaches. Third Edition. Sage Publications, Inc, 2012 (page 74).
- [87] Clara Crivellaro, Rob Anderson, Daniel Lambton-Howard, Tom Nappey, Patrick Olivier, Vasilis Vlachokyriakos, Alexander Wilson, and Pete Wright. "Infrastructuring Public Service Transformation: Creating Collaborative Spaces between Communities and Institutions through HCI Research". In: ACM Trans. Comput.-Hum. Interact. (May 2019). ISSN: 1073-0516. DOI: 10.1145/3310284 (pages 20, 21, 42, 46).
- [88] Igor Gomes Cruz and Claudio Campelo. "Improving Accessibility Through VGI and Crowdsourcing". In: Volunteered Geographic Information and the Future of Geospatial Data. Ed. by Claudio Campelo, Michela Bertolotto, and Padraig Corcoran. 2017. DOI: 10.4018/978-1-5225-8362-2.ch020 (page 54).
- [89] Mark Cummins and Paul Newman. "FAB-MAP: Probabilistic Localization and Mapping in the Space of Appearance". In: *The International Journal of Robotics Research* (June 2008). ISSN: 0278-3649. DOI: 10.1177/0278364908090961 (page 150).
- [90] Carey Curtis and Jan Scheurer. "Planning for sustainable accessibility: Developing tools to aid discussion and decision-making". In: *Progress in planning* (2010). DOI: 10.1016/j.progress.2010.05.001 (page 86).
- [91] Cyclomedia | Visualize a better world. https://www.cyclomedia.com/us (page 30).
- [92] M. Q. Dalvi and K. M. Martin. "The measurement of accessibility: Some preliminary results". In: *Transportation* (Mar. 1976). ISSN: 00494488. DOI: 10.1007/BF00165245 (pages 10, 85).

- [93] DC.gov. OpenData DC Quadrants. http://opendata.dc.gov/datasets/ 02923e4697804406b9ee3268a160db99{_}11 (page 68).
- [94] DC.gov. OpenData DC Sidewalk Ramp Dataset. http://opendata.dc.gov/ datasets/sidewalk-ramps-2010 (page 78).
- [95] DC.gov. OpenData DC Zoning Regulations of 2016. http://opendata.dc.gov/ datasets/zoning-regulations-of-2016 (page 68).
- [96] Jia Deng, Wei Dong, Richard Socher, Li-Jia Li, Kai Li, and Li Fei-Fei. "ImageNet: A large-scale hierarchical image database". In: 2009 IEEE Conference on Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition. IEEE, June 2009. ISBN: 978-1-4244-3992-8. DOI: 10.1109/CVPR.2009.5206848 (page 135).
- [97] Borden D. Dent, Jeffrey. Torguson, and T. W. Hodler. Cartography: Thematic Map Design. 2009. ISBN: 978-0-07-294382-5 (page 94).
- [98] Kevin C Desouza and Akshay Bhagwatwar. "Citizen apps to solve complex urban problems". In: *Journal of Urban Technology* (2012). DOI: 10.1080/10630732.2012.
 673056 (page 44).
- [99] Kevin C. Desouza and Akshay Bhagwatwar. "Technology-Enabled Participatory Platforms for Civic Engagement: The Case of U.S. Cities". In: *Journal of Urban Technology* (Oct. 2014). ISSN: 14661853. DOI: 10.1080/10630732.2014.954898 (page 20).
- [100] Mary Beatrice Dias, Ermine A Teves, George J Zimmerman, Hend K Gedawy, Sarah M Belousov, and M Bernardine Dias. "Indoor Navigation Challenges for Visually Impaired People". In: Indoor Wayfinding and Navigation. Ed. by Hassan A Karimi. Mar. 2015 (page 125).
- [101] Chaohai Ding, Mike Wald, and Gary Wills. "A Survey of Open Accessibility Data". In: Proceedings of the 11th Web for All Conference. New York, NY, USA: ACM, 2014. ISBN: 978-1-4503-2651-3. DOI: 10.1145/2596695.2596708 (pages 51, 54, 162).
- [102] Marian Dörk, Christopher Collins, Patrick Feng, and Sheelagh Carpendale. "Critical InfoVis: Exploring the Politics of Visualization". In: CHI '13 Extended Abstracts on

Human Factors in Computing Systems - CHI EA '13. New York, New York, USA: ACM, Apr. 2013. DOI: 10.1145/2468356 (pages 90, 109).

- [103] DC DOT. Sidewalk Repair Policy. https://ddot.dc.gov/node/544192 (page 43).
- [104] NYC DOT. New York City Administrative Code Sidewalk Rules. https://www1.nyc. gov/html/dot/html/infrastructure/19-152.shtml (page 43).
- [105] Michael Duan, Aroosh Kumar, Michael Saugstad, Aileen Zeng, Ilia Savin, and Jon E. Froehlich. "Sidewalk Gallery: An Interactive, Filterable Image Gallery of Over 500,000 Sidewalk Accessibility Problems". In: *The 23rd International ACM SIGAC-CESS Conference on Computers and Accessibility*. 2021. DOI: 10.1145/3441852.3476542 (page 155).
- [106] Talitha Dubow, Axelle Devaux, Christian Stolk, and Catriona Manville. Civic Engagement: How can digital technologies underpin citizen-powered democracy? RAND Corporation, Oct. 2017. DOI: 10.7249/cf373 (page 20).
- [107] Brent Dykes. "Data storytelling: What it is and how it can be used to effectively communicate analysis results". In: *Applied Marketing Analytics* (2015) (page 163).
- [108] Civil Rights Education and Enforcement Center (CREEC). Increasing Accessibility City by City – Curb Ramps. https://creeclaw.org/2019/12/10/increasingaccessibility-city-by-city-curb-ramps/ (page 12).
- [109] Yochai Eisenberg, Kerri A Vanderbom, and Vijay Vasudevan. "Does the built environment moderate the relationship between having a disability and lower levels of physical activity? A systematic review". In: *Preventive medicine* (2017) (page 85).
- [110] Elizabeth Ellcessor. "Bridging disability divides: A critical history of web content accessibility through 2001". In: *Information, communication & society* (2010). DOI: 10.1080/13691180903456546 (page 11).
- [111] Rosemary D. F Bromley, David L. Matthews, and Colin J. Thomas. "City centre accessibility for wheelchair users: The consumer perspective and the planning implications".
 In: *Cities* (2007). ISSN: 02642751. DOI: 10.1016/j.cities.2007.01.009 (pages 10, 17).

- [112] Jenille Fairbanks, Kenneth D Plowman, and Brad L Rawlins. "Transparency in government communication". In: *Journal of Public Affairs: An International Journal* (2007). DOI: 10.1002/pa.245 (page 46).
- [113] Navid Fallah, Ilias Apostolopoulos, Kostas Bekris, and Eelke Folmer. "The user as a sensor: navigating users with visual impairments in indoor spaces using tactile landmarks". In: *Proceedings of the 2012 ACM annual conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems CHI '12*. New York, New York, USA: ACM Press, 2012. ISBN: 9781450310154. DOI: 10.1145/2207676.2207735 (pages 9, 127, 149).
- [114] US FHWA. Part II of II: Best Practices Design Guide -Sidewalk -Publications -Bicycle and Pedestrian Program. https://www.fhwa.dot.gov/environment/bicycle_ pedestrian/publications/sidewalk2/sidewalks204.cfm (pages 11, 93).
- [115] Alexander Fiannaca, Ilias Apostolopoulous, and Eelke Folmer. "Headlock: A Wearable Navigation Aid That Helps Blind Cane Users Traverse Large Open Spaces". In: Proceedings of the 16th International ACM SIGACCESS Conference on Computers & Accessibility. ASSETS '14. New York, NY, USA: ACM, 2014. ISBN: 978-1-4503-2720-6. DOI: 10.1145/2661334.2661453 (page 149).
- [116] Find It, Fix It Service Request Mobile App Customer Service Bureau | seattle.gov. https://www.seattle.gov/customer-service-bureau/find-it-fixit-mobile-app (page 20).
- [117] John C. Flanagan. "The critical incident technique." In: *Psychological Bulletin* (1954).
 ISSN: 1939-1455. DOI: 10.1037/h0061470 (page 130).
- [118] Florida Cities Move to Rework Websites After ADA Lawsuit. https://www.govtech. com/gov-experience/florida-cities-move-to-rework-websites-after-adalawsuit.html (page 3).
- [119] International Transport Forum. Benchmarking Accessibility in Cities. https://www. itf-oecd.org/benchmarking-accessibility-cities. 2022 (page 86).
- [120] Marcus Foth, Leonardo Parra Agudelo, and Robin Palleis. "Digital Soapboxes: Towards an Interaction Design Agenda for Situated Civic Innovation". In: *Proceedings of the*

2013 ACM Conference on Pervasive and Ubiquitous Computing Adjunct Publication. UbiComp '13 Adjunct. Zurich, Switzerland: Association for Computing Machinery, 2013. ISBN: 9781450322157. DOI: 10.1145/2494091.2495995 (page 42).

- [121] Lance Freeman. "Displacement or succession? Residential mobility in gentrifying neighborhoods". In: Urban Affairs Review (2005). DOI: 10.1177/1078087404273341 (page 36).
- [122] Steffen Fritz, Linda See, and Maria Brovelli. "Motivating and sustaining participation in VGI". In: (2017) (page 79).
- [123] Jon E Froehlich, Michael Saugstad, Manaswi Saha, and Matthew Johnson. "Towards Mapping and Assessing Sidewalk Accessibility Across Socio-cultural and Geographic Contexts". In: AVI Workshop on Data4Good-Designing for Diversity and Development. 2020 (pages 48, 159).
- [124] Jon E. Froehlich, Anke M. Brock, Caspi Anat, Guerreiro João, Kotaro Hara, Reuben Kirkham, Johannes Schöning, and Benjamin Tannert. "Grand challenges in accessible maps". In: *Interactions* (Feb. 2019). DOI: 10.1145/3301657 (pages 3, 14, 83, 84, 95, 112).
- [125] Jon E. Froehlich, Yochai Eisenberg, Maryam Hosseini, Fabio Miranda, Marc Adams, Anat Caspi, Holger Dieterich, Heather Feldner, Aldo Gonzalez, Claudina de Gyves, Joy Hammel, Reuben Kirkham, Melanie Kneisel, Delphine Labbé, Stephen J. Mooney, Victor Pineda, Cláudia Pinhão, Ana Rodríguez, Manaswi Saha, Mikey Saugstad, Judy L. Shanley, Ather Sharif, Qing Shen, Claudio Silva, Maarten Sukel, Eric K. Tokuda, Sebastian Felix Zappe, and Anna Zivarts. "The Future of Urban Accessibility for People with Disabilities: Data Collection, Analytics, Policy, and Tools". In: Virtual, 2022 (page 14).
- [126] Aura Ganz, Siddhesh Rajan Gandhi, James Schafer, Tushar Singh, Elaine Puleo, Gary Mullett, and Carole Wilson. "PERCEPT: Indoor navigation for the blind and visually impaired". In: 2011 Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering

in Medicine and Biology Society. IEEE, Aug. 2011. ISBN: 978-1-4577-1589-1. DOI: 10.1109/IEMBS.2011.6090223 (page 127).

- [127] Aura Ganz, James M. Schafer, Yang Tao, Carole Wilson, and Meg Robertson.
 "PERCEPT-II: Smartphone based indoor navigation system for the blind". In: 2014 36th Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society. IEEE, Aug. 2014. ISBN: 978-1-4244-7929-0. DOI: 10.1109/EMBC.2014.
 6944417 (page 127).
- [128] Ahmed El-Geneidy, David Levinson, Ehab Diab, Genevieve Boisjoly, David Verbich, and Charis Loong. "The cost of equity: Assessing transit accessibility and social disparity using total travel cost". In: *Transportation Research Part A: Policy and Practice* (Sept. 2016). ISSN: 09658564. DOI: 10.1016/j.tra.2016.07.003 (page 10).
- [129] Karst T Geurs and Bert Van Wee. "Accessibility evaluation of land-use and transport strategies: review and research directions". In: *Journal of Transport geography* (2004).
 DOI: 10.1016/j.jtrangeo.2003.10.005 (page 86).
- [130] Amin Gharebaghi and Mir Abolfazl Mostafavi. "A New Ontological Perspective for Integration of Social and Physical Environments: Disability and Rehabilitation Context". In: ISPRS Annals of Photogrammetry, Remote Sensing & Spatial Information Sciences (2016). DOI: 10.5194/isprs-annals-III-2-137-2016 (page 42).
- [131] Amin Gharebaghi, Mir-Abolfazl Mostafavi, Seyed Hossein Chavoshi, Geoffrey Edwards, and Patrick Fougeyrollas. "The role of social factors in the accessibility of urban areas for people with motor disabilities". In: *ISPRS International Journal of Geo-Information* (2018). DOI: 10.3390/ijgi7040131 (pages 17, 42).
- [132] Sucheta Ghoshal, Andrea Grimes Parker, Christopher A. Le Dantec, Carl Disalvo, Lilly Irani, and Amy Bruckman. "Design and the Politics of Collaboration: A Grassroots Perspective". In: Conference Companion Publication of the 2019 on Computer Supported Cooperative Work and Social Computing - CSCW '19. New York: ACM Press, 2019. ISBN: 9781450366922. DOI: 10.1145/3311957.3359438 (pages 20, 48).
- [133] Ruth Glass. London: Aspects of Change. MacGibbon & Kee, London, 1964 (page 36).

- [134] Cole Gleason, Alexander J. Fiannaca, Melanie Kneisel, Edward Cutrell, and Meredith Ringel Morris. "FootNotes: Geo-referenced Audio Annotations for Nonvisual Exploration". In: Proceedings of the ACM on Interactive, Mobile, Wearable and Ubiquitous Technologies (Sept. 2018). DOI: 10.1145/3264919 (page 125).
- [135] Jonathan Glick. "Gentrification and the Racialized Geography of Home Equity". In: Urban Affairs Review (2008). DOI: 10.1177/1078087408316971 (page 36).
- [136] Vladimir Golkov, Alexey Dosovitskiy, Jonathan I Sperl, Marion I Menzel, Michael Czisch, Philipp Sämann, Thomas Brox, and Daniel Cremers. "q-Space Deep Learning: Twelve-Fold Shorter and Model-Free Diffusion MRI Scans". In: *IEEE Transactions on Medical Imaging* (Feb. 2016). ISSN: 1558254X. DOI: 10.1109/TMI.2016.2551324 (page 135).
- [137] Reginald G Golledge. "Place Recognition and Wayfinding : Making Sense of Space". In: 2004 (page 150).
- [138] Google Inc. Google Street View Service. https://developers.google.com/maps/ documentation/javascript/streetview. 2018 (page 63).
- [139] GPS.gov: GPS Accuracy. https://www.gps.gov/systems/gps/performance/ accuracy/(pages 125, 127).
- [140] George Grier. Urban Displacement: A Reconnaissance. Tech. rep. 1978 (page 36).
- [141] Stephan Grimmelikhuijsen. "Linking transparency, knowledge and citizen trust in government: An experiment". In: *International Review of Administrative Sciences* (2012). DOI: 10.1177/0020852311429667 (page 42).
- [142] Carl Grodach and Anastasia Loukaitou-Sideris. "Cultural development strategies and urban revitalization: A survey of US cities". In: *International journal of cultural policy* (2007) (page 35).
- [143] João Guerreiro, Eshed Ohn-Bar, Dragan Ahmetovic, Kris Kitani, and Chieko Asakawa.
 "How Context and User Behavior Affect Indoor Navigation Assistance for Blind People". In: Proceedings of the Internet of Accessible Things on - W4A '18. New York,

New York, USA: ACM Press, 2018. ISBN: 9781450356510. DOI: 10.1145/3192714. 3192829 (page 146).

- [144] David Gunning. "Explainable artificial intelligence (xai)". In: *Defense Advanced Research Projects Agency (DARPA), and Web* (2017) (page 151).
- [145] Diansheng Guo, Mark Gahegan, Alan M MacEachren, and Biliang Zhou. "Multivariate analysis and geovisualization with an integrated geographic knowledge discovery approach". In: *Cartography and Geographic Information Science* (2005) (page 115).
- [146] Sihui Guo, Ci Song, Tao Pei, Yaxi Liu, Ting Ma, Yunyan Du, Jie Chen, Zide Fan, Xianli Tang, Yong Peng, and Yanbin Wang. "Accessibility to urban parks for elderly residents: Perspectives from mobile phone data". In: Landscape and Urban Planning (Nov. 2019). ISSN: 01692046. DOI: 10.1016/j.landurbplan.2019.103642 (page 10).
- [147] David Gutman. Seattle may have to spend millions making sidewalks more accessible to people with disabilities | The Seattle Times. https://www.seattletimes. com/seattle-news/transportation/seattle-may-have-to-spend-millionsmaking-sidewalks-more-accessible/(page 54).
- [148] Richard Guy and Khai Truong. "CrossingGuard: exploring information content in navigation aids for visually impaired pedestrians". In: *Proceedings of the SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems (CHI '12)*. CHI '12. New York, NY, USA: ACM, 2012. ISBN: 978-1-4503-1015-4. DOI: 10.1145/2207676.2207733 (pages 54, 56).
- [149] H Hahn. "Disability and the urban environment: a perspective on Los Angeles".
 In: *Environment and Planning D: Society and Space* (1986). ISSN: 0263-7758. DOI: 10.1068/d040273 (page 10).
- [150] Harlan Hahn. "Toward a politics of disability: Definitions, disciplines, and policies." In: *The Social Science Journal* (1985) (pages 3, 10, 11, 43).
- [151] Mordechai Haklay. "How Good is Volunteered Geographical Information? A Comparative Study of OpenStreetMap and Ordnance Survey Datasets". In: *Environment and*

Planning B: Planning and Design (Aug. 2010). ISSN: 0265-8135. DOI: 10.1068/b35097 (page 56).

- [152] Mordechai (Muki) Haklay, Sofia Basiouka, Vyron Antoniou, and Aamer Ather. "How Many Volunteers Does it Take to Map an Area Well? The Validity of Linus' Law to Volunteered Geographic Information". In: *The Cartographic Journal* (Nov. 2010). ISSN: 0008-7041. DOI: 10.1179/000870410X12911304958827 (page 56).
- [153] Muki Haklay. "Citizen Science and Volunteered Geographic Information: Overview and Typology of Participation". In: *Crowdsourcing Geographic Knowledge*. Dordrecht: Springer Netherlands, 2013. DOI: 10.1007/978-94-007-4587-2_7 (page 56).
- [154] Joy Hammel, Susan Magasi, Allen Heinemann, David B Gray, Susan Stark, Pamela Kisala, Noelle E Carlozzi, David Tulsky, Sofia F Garcia, and Elizabeth A Hahn. "Environmental barriers and supports to everyday participation: a qualitative insider perspective from people with disabilities". In: Archives of physical medicine and rehabilitation (2015) (page 85).
- [155] Wenkai Han and Hans-Jörg Schulz. "Beyond trust building—Calibrating trust in visual analytics". In: 2020 IEEE workshop on trust and expertise in visual analytics (TREX). IEEE. 2020 (page 115).
- [156] Walter G. Hansen. "How Accessibility Shapes Land Use". In: Journal of the American Planning Association (1959). ISSN: 01944363. DOI: 10.1080/01944365908978307 (pages 10, 86).
- [157] Kotaro Hara, Shiri Azenkot, Megan Campbell, Cynthia L Bennett, Vicki Le, Sean Pannella, Robert Moore, Kelly Minckler, Rochelle H Ng, and Jon E Froehlich. "Improving Public Transit Accessibility for Blind Riders by Crowdsourcing Bus Stop Landmark Locations with Google Street View: An Extended Analysis". In: ACM Transactions on Accessible Computing (TACCESS) (Mar. 2015). ISSN: 1936-7228. DOI: 10.1145/2717513 (pages 10, 52, 54, 56, 58, 78).
- [158] Kotaro Hara, Christine Chan, and Jon E. Froehlich. "The Design of Assistive Locationbased Technologies for People with Ambulatory Disabilities". In: *Proceedings of the*

2016 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems - CHI '16. New York, New York, USA: ACM, 2016. ISBN: 9781450333627. DOI: 10.1145/2858036.2858315 (pages 4, 15, 20, 21, 30, 53, 84, 86, 90, 91, 95, 97, 108, 115).

- [159] Kotaro Hara, Vicki Le, and Jon Froehlich. "Combining crowdsourcing and google street view to identify street-level accessibility problems". In: Proceedings of the SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems - CHI '13. New York: ACM Press, 2013. ISBN: 9781450318990. DOI: 10.1145/2470654.2470744 (page 17).
- [160] Kotaro Hara, Vicki Le, and Jon Froehlich. "Combining crowdsourcing and google street view to identify street-level accessibility problems". In: *Proceedings of the SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems CHI '13*. ACM. 2013. ISBN: 9781450318990. DOI: 10.1145/2470654.2470744 (pages 54, 56, 77).
- [161] Kotaro Hara, Jin Sun, David W Jacobs, and Jon E Froehlich. "Tohme: Detecting Curb Ramps in Google Street View Using Crowdsourcing, Computer Vision, and Machine Learning". In: Proceedings of the 27th annual ACM symposium on User interface software and technology. 2014 (pages 52, 54, 56, 58, 70, 77, 78).
- [162] David Hardcastle and I Cleve. "Accessibility Modelling using GIS". In: Geographic Information Systems: Proceedings of Seminar N, 23rd European Transport Forum, University of Warwick, England, September 11–15, 1995. Volume P400 (1995) (page 87).
- [163] Mike Harding, Bran Knowles, Nigel Davies, and Mark Rouncefield. "HCI, Civic Engagement & Trust". In: Proceedings of the 33rd Annual ACM Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems. CHI '15. Seoul, Republic of Korea: Association for Computing Machinery, 2015. ISBN: 9781450331456. DOI: 10.1145/2702123.2702255 (pages 42, 48).
- [164] David Harvey. "The Fetish of Technology: Causes and Consequences". In: Macalester International (2003) (page 47).
- [165] National Institutes of Health. Open-access data and computational resources to address COVID-19. https://datascience.nih.gov/covid-19-open-accessresources. 2020 (page 83).

- [166] HGoogle Maps launches Street View in India after 11-year wait. https://www.nasdaq. com/articles/google-maps-launches-street-view-in-india-after-11-yearwait (page 159).
- [167] Nghia Ho and Ray Jarvis. "Towards a platform independent real-time panoramic vision based localisation system". In: Australasian Conference on Robotics and Automation. 2008 (page 128).
- [168] Maryam Hosseini, Mikey Saugstad, Fabio Miranda, Andres Sevtsuk, Claudio T Silva, and Jon E Froehlich. "Towards Global-Scale Crowd + AI Techniques to Map and Assess Sidewalks for People with Disabilities". In: arXiv preprint arXiv:2206.13677 (2022). DOI: 10.48550/arXiv.2206.13677 (page 14).
- [169] How inverse distance weighted interpolation works. https://pro.arcgis.com/ en/pro-app/latest/help/analysis/geostatistical-analyst/how-inversedistance-weighted-interpolation-works.htm. 2022 (page 91).
- [170] Andrew G Howard, Menglong Zhu, Bo Chen, Dmitry Kalenichenko, Weijun Wang, Tobias Weyand, Marco Andreetto, and Hartwig Adam. "MobileNets: Efficient Convolutional Neural Networks for Mobile Vision Applications". In: CoRR (2017) (page 149).
- [171] Daniel J. Hruschka, Deborah Schwartz, Daphne Cobb St.John, Erin Picone-Decaro, Richard A. Jenkins, and James W. Carey. "Reliability in Coding Open-Ended Data: Lessons Learned from HIV Behavioral Research". In: *Field Methods* (Aug. 2004). ISSN: 1525-822X. DOI: 10.1177/1525822X04266540 (page 69).
- [172] Diane Hu, Liefeng Bo, and Xiaofeng Ren. "Toward Robust Material Recognition for Everyday Objects". In: *BMVC*. Citeseer. 2011 (page 150).
- [173] Feng Hu, Zhigang Zhu, and Jianting Zhang. "Mobile Panoramic Vision for Assisting the Blind via Indexing and Localization". In: European Conference on Computer Vision. Springer. 2014. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-319-16199-0_42 (page 128).
- [174] Winnie Hu. For the Disabled, New York's Sidewalks Are an Obstacle Course The New York Times. https://www.nytimes.com/2017/10/08/nyregion/new-york-citysidewalks-disabled-curb-ramps.html (page 54).

- [175] Forrest N Iandola, Matthew W Moskewicz, Khalid Ashraf, Song Han, William J Dally, and Kurt Keutzer. "SqueezeNet: AlexNet-level accuracy with 50x fewer parameters and <1MB model size". In: CoRR (2016) (page 149).</p>
- [176] UN Habitat III. The New Urban Agenda. https://habitat3.org/the-new-urbanagenda (pages 17, 83).
- [177] Rob Imrie. "Disabling Environments and the Geography of Access Policies and Practices". In: *Disability and Society* (2000). ISSN: 09687599. DOI: 10.1080/ 09687590025748 (page 11).
- [178] Indoor Movement and Orientation: Use Your Senses | VisionAware. http:// www.visionaware.org/info/essential-skills-2/an-introduction-toorientation-and-mobility-skills/indoor-movement-and-orientation-withvision-impairment/235 (page 126).
- [179] Alfred Inselberg. "Visualization and data mining of high-dimensional data". In: Chemometrics and intelligent laboratory systems (2002) (page 116).
- [180] UW Interactive Data Lab. Voyager 2 Tool. https://vega.github.io/voyager2/. 2021 (page 116).
- [181] Introducing Lookout: helping users who are blind learn about the world around them - Google Accessibility Blog - Google Accessibility. https://www.google.com/ accessibility/blog/post/announce-lookout.html (page 149).
- [182] IRSAW: Intel RealSense Spatial Awareness Wearable. https://github.com/IRSAW/ IRSAW (page 149).
- [183] Yusuke Iwasawa, Kouya Nagamine, Ikuko Eguchi Yairi, and Yutaka Matsuo. "Toward an Automatic Road Accessibility Information Collecting and Sharing Based on Human Behavior Sensing Technologies of Wheelchair Users". In: *Procedia Computer Science* (Jan. 2015). ISSN: 1877-0509. DOI: 10.1016/J.PROCS.2015.08.314 (page 54).
- [184] Chandrika Jayant and Chandrika. "MobileAccessibility: camera focalization for blind and low-vision users on the go". In: ACM SIGACCESS Accessibility and Computing (Jan. 2010). DOI: 10.1145/1731849.1731856 (pages 148, 149).

- [185] Chandrika Jayant, Hanjie Ji, Samuel White, and Jeffrey P Bigham. "Supporting blind photography". In: *The proceedings of the 13th international ACM SIGACCESS conference on Computers and accessibility - ASSETS '11*. New York, New York, USA: ACM Press, 2011. ISBN: 9781450309202. DOI: 10.1145/2049536.2049573 (page 148).
- [186] Yuqin Jiang, Diansheng Guo, Zhenlong Li, and Michael E Hodgson. "A novel big data approach to measure and visualize urban accessibility". In: *Computational urban science* (2021). DOI: 10.1007/s43762-021-00010-1 (page 87).
- [187] Ian G. Johnson, Dalya Al-Shahrabi, and John Vines. "From Creating Spaces for Civic Discourse to Creating Resources for Action". In: Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems - Proceedings (Apr. 2020). DOI: 10.1145/3313831.3376464 (page 163).
- [188] Lyn Jongbloed and Anne Crichton. "Difficulties in Shifting from Individualistic to Socio-political Policy regarding Disability in Canada". In: *Disability, Handicap & Society* (1990). ISSN: 02674645. DOI: 10.1080/02674649066780021 (page 10).
- [189] Levente Juhász and Hartwig H. Hochmair. "User Contribution Patterns and Completeness Evaluation of Mapillary, a Crowdsourced Street Level Photo Service". In: *Transactions in GIS* (Dec. 2016). ISSN: 13611682. DOI: 10.1111/tgis.12190 (pages 56, 66, 78).
- [190] Hernisa Kacorri, Sergio Mascetti, Andrea Gerino, Dragan Ahmetovic, Valeria Alampi, Hironobu Takagi, and Chieko Asakawa. "Insights on Assistive Orientation and Mobility of People with Visual Impairment Based on Large-Scale Longitudinal Data". In: ACM Transactions on Accessible Computing (Mar. 2018). DOI: 10.1145/3178853 (page 147).
- [191] Abhishek K Kala, Samuel F Atkinson, and Chetan Tiwari. "Exploring the socioeconomic and environmental components of infectious diseases using multivariate geovisualization: West Nile Virus". In: *PeerJ* (2020) (page 116).
- [192] Shaun K. Kane, Brian Frey, and Jacob O. Wobbrock. "Access lens: a gesture-based screen reader for real-world documents". In: *Proceedings of the SIGCHI Conference*

on Human Factors in Computing Systems - CHI '13. New York, New York, USA: ACM Press, 2013. ISBN: 9781450318990. DOI: 10.1145/2470654.2470704 (page 128).

- [193] Naveena Karusala, Jennifer Wilson, Phebe Vayanos, and Eric Rice. "Street-Level Realities of Data Practices in Homeless Services Provision". In: Proc. ACM Hum.-Comput. Interact. (Nov. 2019). DOI: 10.1145/3359286 (page 19).
- [194] J. F. Kelley and J. F. "An iterative design methodology for user-friendly natural language office information applications". In: ACM Transactions on Information Systems (Jan. 1984). ISSN: 10468188. DOI: 10.1145/357417.357420 (page 135).
- [195] *kepler.gl.* https://kepler.gl/demo. 2018 (page 95).
- [196] NW Kim, SC Joyner, A Riegelhuth, and Y Kim. "Accessible visualization: Design space, opportunities, and challenges". In: *Computer Graphics Forum*. Wiley Online Library. 2021 (page 122).
- [197] A. Jon Kimerling, Aileen R. Buckley, Phillip C. Muehrcke, and Juliana O. Muehrcke. Map Use: Reading, Analysis, Interpretation. Seventh. Redlands, California: ESRI Press, 2012. ISBN: 978-1589482791 (page 85).
- [198] Reuben Kirkham, Romeo Ebassa, Kyle Montague, Kellie Morrissey, Vasilis Vlachokyriakos, Sebastian Weise, and Patrick Olivier. "WheelieMap: An Exploratory System for Qualitative Reports of Inaccessibility in the Built Environment". In: Proceedings of the 19th International Conference on Human-Computer Interaction with Mobile Devices and Services. MobileHCI '17. New York, NY, USA: ACM, 2017. ISBN: 978-1-4503-5075-4. DOI: 10.1145/3098279.3098527 (page 54).
- [199] KIRO 7 News. Lawsuit over sidewalks could cost Seattle millions | The Spokesman-Review. https://www.kiro7.com/news/local/lawsuit-over-sidewalks-couldcost-seattle/508608085/ (page 3).
- [200] Rob Kitchin and Robert Wilton. "Disability activism and the politics of scale". In: Canadian Geographer/Le Géographe canadien (2003) (page 43).
- [201] Gary Klein, Jennifer K Phillips, Erica L Rall, and Deborah A Peluso. "A data–frame theory of sensemaking". In: *Expertise out of context*. Psychology Press, 2007 (page 103).

- [202] Reinout Kleinhans, Maarten Van Ham, and Jennifer Evans-Cowley. Using Social Media and Mobile Technologies to Foster Engagement and Self-Organization in Participatory Urban Planning and Neighbourhood Governance. May 2015. DOI: 10.1080/ 02697459.2015.1051320 (page 20).
- [203] KNFB Reader. https://knfbreader.com/ (page 128).
- [204] Eunjeong Ko, Eun Kim, Eunjeong Ko, and Eun Yi Kim. "A Vision-Based Wayfinding System for Visually Impaired People Using Situation Awareness and Activity-Based Instructions". In: Sensors (Aug. 2017). ISSN: 1424-8220. DOI: 10.3390/s17081882 (page 128).
- [205] Teuvo Kohonen. "The self-organizing map". In: Neurocomputing (1998) (page 116).
- [206] City of LA. Willits v. City of LA Sidewalk Settlement Announced | Office of Los Angeles Mayor Eric Garcetti. https://www.lamayor.org/willits-v-city-la-sidewalksettlement-announced. 2015 (pages 3, 13).
- [207] Lan Remme V. City of Seattle and State of Washington / 2013 Keith Kessler. https://www.keithkesslerlaw.com/cases/2018/8/28/lan-remme-v-city-ofseattle-and-state-of-washington-2013 (pages 3, 13).
- [208] Jaron Lanier and E. Glen Weyl. How Civic Technology Can Help Stop a Pandemic | Foreign Affairs. https://www.foreignaffairs.com/articles/asia/2020-03-20/how-civic-technology-can-help-stop-pandemic. 2020 (page 42).
- [209] Helen Larkin, Danielle Hitch, Valerie Watchorn, and Susan Ang. "Working with policy and regulatory factors to implement universal design in the built environment: The Australian experience". In: *International journal of environmental research and public health* (2015). DOI: 10.3390/ijerph120708157 (pages 17–19, 38, 42, 89).
- [210] Lawmakers approve 'block the box' bill allowing Seattle to ticket drivers for blocking crosswalks, bus lanes. https://www.ql3fox.com/news/lawmakers-approveblock-the-box-bill-allowing-seattle-to-ticket-drivers-for-blockingcrosswalks-bus-lanes. 2020 (page 44).

- [211] Jonathan Lazar, Jinjuan Heidi Feng, and Harry Hochheiser. Research methods in human-computer interaction. Morgan Kaufmann, 2017. ISBN: 9780128093436 (pages 99, 130).
- [212] Christopher A Le Dantec. "Data-Based Civic Participation". In: Second AAAI Conference on Human Computation and Crowdsourcing. 2014 (page 20).
- [213] Christopher A Le Dantec. "Infrastructures of Digital Civics: Transportation, Advocacy, and Mobile Computing". In: *Infrastructuring Publics*. Springer, 2019. DOI: 10.1007/ 978-3-658-20725-0_8 (page 20).
- [214] Christopher A. Le Dantec. The Right Way to Make Cities Smart The Atlantic. https: //www.theatlantic.com/technology/archive/2014/05/the-right-way-tomake-cities-smart/370900/. 2014 (page 20).
- [215] Christopher A. Le Dantec, Mariam Asad, Aditi Misra, and Kari E. Watkins. "Planning with Crowdsourced Data: Rhetoric and Representation in Transportation Planning". In: Proceedings of the 18th ACM Conference on Computer Supported Cooperative Work & Social Computing. CSCW '15. Vancouver, BC, Canada: Association for Computing Machinery, 2015. ISBN: 9781450329224. DOI: 10.1145/2675133.2675212 (pages 20, 44).
- [216] Christopher A. Le Dantec, Kari E. Watkins, Russ Clark, and Elizabeth Mynatt. "Cycle atlanta and OneBusAway: Driving innovation through the data ecosystems of civic computing". In: Lecture Notes in Computer Science (including subseries Lecture Notes in Artificial Intelligence and Lecture Notes in Bioinformatics). Springer Verlag, 2015. ISBN: 9783319210056. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-319-21006-3 32 (page 20).
- [217] Crystal Lee, Tanya Yang, Gabrielle D Inchoco, Graham M. Jones, and Arvind Satyanarayan. "Viral Visualizations: How Coronavirus Skeptics Use Orthodox Data Practices to Promote Unorthodox Science Online". In: (2021) (pages 90, 104, 113).
- [218] Sukwon Lee, Sung Hee Kim, Ya Hsin Hung, Heidi Lam, Youn Ah Kang, and Ji Soo Yi. "How do People Make Sense of Unfamiliar Visualizations?: A Grounded Model of Novice's Information Visualization Sensemaking". In: *IEEE Transactions on*

Visualization and Computer Graphics (Jan. 2016). DOI: 10.1109/TVCG.2015.2467195 (page 90).

- [219] Daniela Antunes Lessa, Carlos Lobo, and Leandro Cardoso. "Accessibility and urban mobility by bus in Belo Horizonte/Minas Gerais – Brazil". In: Journal of Transport Geography (May 2019). ISSN: 09666923. DOI: 10.1016/j.jtrangeo.2019.04.004 (page 10).
- [220] Anthony Li, Manaswi Saha, Anupam Gupta, and Jon E Froehlich. "Interactively modeling And visualizing neighborhood accessibility at scale: An initial study of Washington DC". In: Proceedings of the 20th international ACM SIGACCESS Conference on Computers and Accessibility. ACM, 2018. DOI: 10.1145/3234695.3241000 (pages 15, 16, 83, 85, 86, 91, 112, 115).
- [221] Anthony Li, Manaswi Saha, Anupam Gupta, and Jon E. Froehlich. "Interactively Modeling And Visualizing Neighborhood Accessibility At Scale: An Initial Study Of Washington DC". In: *Poster Proceedings of ASSETS'18*. 2018 (pages 53, 79).
- [222] Todd Litman. *Evaluating transportation equity*. Victoria Transport Policy Institute, 2017 (pages 86, 87).
- [223] Todd Litman. "Integrating public health objectives in transportation decision-making".
 In: American Journal of Health Promotion (2003). DOI: 10.4278/0890-1171-18.1.
 103 (pages 86, 87).
- [224] Jacobus Cornelius Lock, Grzegorz Cielniak, and Nicola Bellotto. "A Portable Navigation System with an Adaptive Multimodal Interface for the Blind". In: 2017 AAAI Spring Symposium Series. 2017 (page 125).
- [225] Long Beach settles Disability Act suit, will pay millions to repair sidewalks. https: //www.presstelegram.com/2017/04/12/long-beach-settles-disability-actsuit-will-pay-millions-to-repair-sidewalks/. 2018 (page 3).
- [226] LookTel Recognizer for iPhone. http://www.looktel.com/recognizer (page 135).

- [227] Jack M Loomis, Roberta L Klatzky, Reginald G Golledge, et al. "Navigating without vision: basic and applied research". In: Optometry and vision science (2001) (pages 125, 126, 129).
- [228] Stephanie Lowry, Niko Sunderhauf, Paul Newman, John J. Leonard, David Cox, Peter Corke, and Michael J. Milford. "Visual Place Recognition: A Survey". In: IEEE Transactions on Robotics (Feb. 2016). ISSN: 1552-3098. DOI: 10.1109/TR0.2015. 2496823 (page 150).
- [229] David Luna. How Mesa is Using Data to Guide CARES Relief. https://www.nlc. org/article/2020/04/27/how-mesa-is-using-data-to-guide-cares-relief (page 46).
- [230] Alan Lundgard, Crystal Lee, and Arvind Satyanarayan. "Sociotechnical considerations for accessible visualization design". In: 2019 IEEE Visualization Conference (VIS). IEEE. 2019 (page 122).
- [231] Samantha Madison. Neighborhood walk-throughs help Rome officials witness problems firsthand. https://www.uticaod.com/story/news/2016/07/20/ neighborhood-walk-throughs-help-rome/27463980007/. 2016 (page 28).
- [232] UW Makeability Lab. Project Sidewalk | Amsterdam. https://sidewalk-amsterdam. cs.washington.edu/ (pages 8, 155).
- [233] UW Makeability Lab. Project Sidewalk | Columbus. https://sidewalk-columbus. cs.washington.edu/ (pages 8, 155).
- [234] UW Makeability Lab. Project Sidewalk | La Piedad. https://sidewalk-la-piedad. cs.washington.edu/ (pages 8, 155).
- [235] UW Makeability Lab. Project Sidewalk | Mexico City (CDMX). https://sidewalkcdmx.cs.washington.edu/ (pages 8, 155).
- [236] UW Makeability Lab. Project Sidewalk | Newberg. https://sidewalk-newberg.cs. washington.edu/(pages 8, 155).
- [237] UW Makeability Lab. Project Sidewalk | San Pedro Garza Garcia. https:// sidewalk-spgg.cs.washington.edu/(pages 8, 155).

- [238] UW Makeability Lab. Project Sidewalk | Seattle. https://sidewalk-sea.cs. washington.edu/. 2017 (pages 6, 8, 83, 155).
- [239] UW Makeability Lab. Project Sidewalk | Washington DC. https://sidewalk-dc.cs. washington.edu/. 2018 (pages 7, 14, 84, 91, 94, 95).
- [240] UW Makeability Lab. Project Sidewalk API | Washington DC Dataset. https:// sidewalk-dc.cs.washington.edu/api. 2018 (pages 7, 91, 94, 95).
- [241] Roberto Manduchi and James M Coughlan. "The last meter: blind visual guidance to a target". In: *Proceedings of the 32nd annual ACM conference on Human factors in computing systems CHI '14*. New York, New York, USA: ACM Press, 2014. ISBN: 9781450324731. DOI: 10.1145/2556288.2557328 (pages 149, 151).
- [242] Mapbox GLJS. https://www.mapbox.com/mapbox-gljs. 2018 (page 95).
- [243] David J Marshall, Dima Smaira, and Lynn A Staeheli. "Intergenerational place-based digital storytelling: A more-than-visual research method". In: *Children's Geographies* (2022). DOI: 10.1080/14733285.2021.1916436 (page 163).
- [244] Afra Mashhadi, Giovanni Quattrone, and Licia Capra. "Putting Ubiquitous Crowd-sourcing into Context". In: Proceedings of the 2013 Conference on Computer Supported Cooperative Work. CSCW '13. New York, NY, USA: ACM, 2013. ISBN: 978-1-4503-1331-5. DOI: 10.1145/2441776.2441845 (page 56).
- [245] Afra Mashhadi, Giovanni Quattrone, Licia Capra, and Peter Mooney. "On the Accuracy of Urban Crowd-sourcing for Maintaining Large-scale Geospatial Databases". In: Proceedings of the Eighth Annual International Symposium on Wikis and Open Collaboration. WikiSym '12. New York, NY, USA: ACM, 2012. ISBN: 978-1-4503-1605-7. DOI: 10.1145/2462932.2462952 (page 56).
- [246] Hugh Matthews, Linda Beale, Phil Picton, and David Briggs. "Modelling Access with GIS in Urban Systems (MAGUS): capturing the experiences of wheelchair users". In: *Area* (Mar. 2003). ISSN: 0004-0894. DOI: 10.1111/1475-4762.00108 (pages 54, 80).
- [247] Andrew May, Christopher J. Parker, Neil Taylor, and Tracy Ross. "Evaluating a concept design of a crowd-sourced 'mashup' providing ease-of-access information

for people with limited mobility". In: Transportation Research Part C: Emerging Technologies (Dec. 2014). ISSN: 0968-090X. DOI: 10.1016/J.TRC.2014.10.007 (page 54).

- [248] Arlene Mayerson. The History of ADA, a Movement Perspective. https://dredf.org/ about-us/publications/the-history-of-the-ada/. 1992 (pages 11, 12).
- [249] Robert I. McDonald, Tanushree Biswas, Cedilla Sachar, Ian Housman, Timothy M. Boucher, Deborah Balk, David Nowak, Erica Spotswood, Charlotte K. Stanley, and Stefan Leyk. "The tree cover and temperature disparity in US urbanized areas: Quantifying the association with income across 5,723 communities". In: *PLoS ONE* (Apr. 2021). ISSN: 19326203. DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0249715 (page 112).
- [250] Samantha McDonald. How Congress turns citizens' voices into data points. https: //theconversation.com/how-congress-turns-citizens-voices-into-datapoints-120869. 2020 (page 47).
- [251] Matthew McGranaghan. "Ordering Choropleth Map Symbols: The Effect of Background". In: http://dx.doi.org/10.1559/152304089783813918 (Jan. 2013). DOI: 10. 1559/152304089783813918 (page 95).
- [252] Brian McInnis, Alissa Centivany, Juho Kim, Marta Poblet, Karen Levy, and Gilly Leshed. "Crowdsourcing Law and Policy: A Design-Thinking Approach to Crowd-Civic Systems". In: Companion of the 2017 ACM Conference on Computer Supported Cooperative Work and Social Computing. CSCW '17 Companion. Portland, Oregon, USA: Association for Computing Machinery, 2017. ISBN: 9781450346887. DOI: 10. 1145/3022198.3022656 (page 20).
- [253] H. Filiz Alkan Meshur. "Accessibility for people with disabilities in urban spaces: A case study of Ankara, Turkey". In: Archnet-IJAR (2013). ISSN: 19946961. DOI: 10.26687/archnet-ijar.v7i2.154 (page 10).
- [254] Allan R. Meyers, Jennifer J. Anderson, Donald R. Miller, Kathy Shipp, and Helen Hoenig. "Barriers, facilitators, and access for wheelchair users: Substantive and methodologic lessons from a pilot study of environmental effects". In: Social Science

and Medicine (Oct. 2002). ISSN: 02779536. DOI: 10.1016/S0277-9536(01)00269-6 (pages 1, 4, 10, 17, 24, 54, 80).

- [255] Microsoft Soundscape | A map delivered in 3D sound. https://www.microsoft.com/ en-us/research/product/soundscape/ (pages 125, 127, 136).
- [256] Aditi Misra, Aaron Gooze, Kari Watkins, Mariam Asad, and Christopher A. Le Dantec. "Crowdsourcing and Its Application to Transportation Data Collection and Management". In: Transportation Research Record: Journal of the Transportation Research Board (Jan. 2014). ISSN: 0361-1981. DOI: 10.3141/2414-01 (page 20).
- [257] Pratap Misra and Per Enge. Global Positioning System: signals, measurements and performance (Second Edition). Massachusetts: Ganga-Jamuna Press, 2006. ISBN: 9780970954428 (page 125).
- [258] MIT. Urban Network Analysis Toolbox for ArcGIS City Form Lab. http:// cityform.mit.edu/projects/urban-network-analysis.html (page 88).
- [259] MIT researchers create new Urban Network Analysis toolbox. https://www. kdnuggets.com/2011/09/mit-urban-network-analysis-toolbox.html. Sept. 2011 (page 88).
- [260] Amin Mobasheri, Jonas Deister, and Holger Dieterich. "Wheelmap: the wheelchair accessibility crowdsourcing platform". In: *Open Geospatial Data, Software and Standards* (Dec. 2017). ISSN: 2363-7501. DOI: 10.1186/s40965-017-0040-5 (pages 14, 16, 54, 85).
- [261] Andrew Vande Moere and Dan Hill. "Designing for the situated and public visualization of urban data". In: *Journal of Urban Technology* (2012). DOI: 10.1080/10630732.
 2012.698065 (page 163).
- [262] Mithra Moezzi, Kathryn B Janda, and Sea Rotmann. "Using stories, narratives, and storytelling in energy and climate change research". In: *Energy Research & Social Science* (2017). DOI: 10.1016/j.erss.2017.06.034 (page 163).
- [263] Barbara Moreno. SPGG Sidewalk Map. https://caminitoescuela.carto.com/ builder/b387edbe-58cc-4b4d-85b2-682234ebc220/. 2019 (pages 8, 155).

- [264] Barbara Moreno. Washington DC walkable scores | Quality of Sidewalks. https: //ggwash.org/view/73794/washington-dc-walkable-scores-quality-ofsidewalks. 2019 (pages 8, 155).
- [265] Iva Mrak, Tiziana Campisi, Giovanni Tesoriere, Antonino Canale, and Margareta Cindrić. "The role of urban and social factors in the accessibility of urban areas for people with motor and visual disabilities". In: AIP conference proceedings. AIP Publishing LLC. 2019. DOI: 10.1063/1.5138076 (page 17).
- [266] MRSC. City and Town Forms of Government. https://mrsc.org/Home/Explore-Topics/Legal/General-Government/City-and-Town-Forms-of-Government. aspx (page 23).
- [267] Michael J. Muller. "Participatory Design: The Third Space in HCI". In: The Human-Computer Interaction Handbook: Fundamentals, Evolving Technologies and Emerging Applications. USA: L. Erlbaum Associates Inc., 2002. ISBN: 0805838384 (page 20).
- [268] Tamara Munzner. "A nested model for visualization design and validation". In: IEEE Transactions on Visualization and Computer Graphics (Nov. 2009). DOI: 10.1109/ TVCG.2009.111 (page 86).
- [269] Ladan Najafizadeh and Jon E. Froehlich. "A Feasibility Study of Using Google Street View and Computer Vision to Track the Evolution of Urban Accessibility". In: Poster Proceedings of ASSETS'18. 2018. DOI: 10.1145/3234695.3240999 (page 78).
- [270] NAVATAR- A low cost indoor navigation system for blind students. https:// humanpluslab.github.io/Navatar/(page 127).
- [271] Matti Nelimarkka. "A Review of Research on Participation in Democratic Decision-Making Presented at SIGCHI Conferences. Toward an Improved Trading Zone Between Political Science and HCI". In: Proceedings of the ACM on Human-Computer Interaction (Nov. 2019). ISSN: 25730142. DOI: 10.1145/3359241 (pages 20, 21).
- [272] City of New York. New York City Seattlement 2014. https://www.documentcloud. org/documents/3526773-New-York-Lawsuit.html. 2014 (page 3).

- [273] Kathe Newman and Philip Ashton. "Neoliberal urban policy and new paths of neighborhood change in the American inner city". In: *Environment and Planning A* (2004) (page 35).
- [274] Anh Nguyen, Jason Yosinski, and Jeff Clune. "Deep Neural Networks are Easily Fooled: High Confidence Predictions for Unrecognizable Images". In: Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition (CVPR '15). IEEE Press, Dec. 2015 (page 151).
- [275] Arafat Uddin from NounProject.com. Policymaker Icon. https://thenounproject. com/icon/business-decision-1055414/. 2022 (page 101).
- [276] Luis Prado from NounProject.com. Caregiver Icon. https://thenounproject.com/ icon/wheelchair-aide-190311/. 2022 (page 101).
- [277] Saeful Muslim from NounProject.com. MI Icon. https://thenounproject.com/ icon/wheelchair-1258532/. 2022 (page 101).
- [278] Wilson Joseph from NounProject.com. Advocate Icon. https://thenounproject. com/icon/people-50800/. 2022 (page 101).
- [279] Wilson Joseph from NounProject.com. Department Official Icon. https:// thenounproject.com/icon/worker-215115/. 2022 (page 101).
- [280] Andrea Nuernberger. "Presenting Accessibility to Mobility-Impaired Travelers (Ph.D. Thesis)". PhD thesis. University of California, Santa Barbara, 2008 (page 54).
- [281] Patrick Olivier and Peter Wright. "Digital Civics: Taking a Local Turn". In: Interactions (June 2015). ISSN: 1072-5520. DOI: 10.1145/2776885 (pages 20, 29, 46).
- [282] OpenStreetMap: Mapping Wheelchair Access. https://wiki.openstreetmap.org/ wiki/Key:wheelchair (page 88).
- [283] Jennifer Pahlka. Beyond Tech: Policymaking in a Digital Age | Code of America Blog. https://medium.com/code-for-america/beyond-tech-policymaking-in-adigital-age-2776b9a17b69. 2017 (pages 13, 20).
- [284] Katherine Panciera, Reid Priedhorsky, Thomas Erickson, and Loren Terveen. "Lurking? cyclopaths?: a quantitative lifecycle analysis of user behavior in a geowiki". In: Proceedings of the SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Sys-

tems. CHI '10. New York, NY, USA: ACM, 2010. ISBN: 978-1-60558-929-9. DOI: 10.1145/1753326.1753615 (page 56).

- [285] The Maryland-National Park and Planning Commission. Rock Spring and White Flint 2 Design Guidelines | Montgomery Planning. https://montgomeryplanning.org/ planning/communities/midcounty/rock-spring-and-white-flint-2-designguidelines/ (page 12).
- [286] pathVu | Data Collection. http://pathvu.com/why_datacollection.php. 2021 (page 13).
- [287] Evan M Peck, Sofia E Ayuso, and Omar El-Etr. "Data is personal: Attitudes and perceptions of data visualization in rural pennsylvania". In: *Proceedings of the 2019 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*. ACM, 2019. DOI: 10.1145/ 3290605.3300474 (pages 90, 104, 113, 114).
- [288] PERCEPT: Indoor Wayfinding for The Blind and Visually Impaired. http://www. perceptwayfinding.com/ (page 127).
- [289] J Eduardo Pérez, Myriam Arrue, Masatomo Kobayashi, Hironobu Takagi, and Chieko Asakawa. "Assessment of Semantic Taxonomies for Blind Indoor Navigation Based on a Shopping Center Use Case". In: Proceedings of the 14th Web for All Conference on The Future of Accessible Work - W4A '17. New York, New York, USA: ACM Press, 2017. ISBN: 9781450349000. DOI: 10.1145/3058555.3058575 (pages 127, 133).
- [290] Falko Weigert Petersen, Line Ebdrup Thomsen, Pejman Mirza-Babaei, and Anders Drachen. "Evaluating the Onboarding Phase of Free-toPlay Mobile Games: A Mixed-Method Approach". In: Proceedings of the Annual Symposium on Computer-Human Interaction in Play. CHI PLAY '17. New York, NY, USA: ACM, 2017. ISBN: 978-1-4503-4898-0. DOI: 10.1145/3116595.3125499 (page 57).
- [291] Peter Pirolli and Stuart Card. "The sensemaking process and leverage points for analyst technology as identified through cognitive task analysis". In: *Proceedings of international conference on intelligence analysis*. McLean, VA, USA. 2005 (pages 90, 103).
- [292] Paul E Ponchillia and Susan Kay Vlahas Ponchillia. Foundations of rehabilitation teaching with persons who are blind or visually impaired. American Foundation for the Blind, 1996 (pages 126, 129, 144).
- [293] The Denver Post. Denver agrees to install curb ramps to comply with federal rules. https://www.denverpost.com/2016/03/15/denver-agrees-to-install-curbramps-to-comply-with-federal-rules/. 2016 (page 12).
- [294] Catia Prandi, Paola Salomoni, and Silvia Mirri. "mPASS: Integrating people sensing and crowdsourcing to map urban accessibility". In: 2014 IEEE 11th Consumer Communications and Networking Conference (CCNC). IEEE, Jan. 2014. ISBN: 978-1-4799-2355-7. DOI: 10.1109/CCNC.2014.6940491 (page 54).
- [295] QGIS. https://www.qgis.org/. 2018 (page 95).
- [296] Giovanni Quattrone, Afra Mashhadi, Daniele Quercia, Chris Smith-Clarke, and Licia Capra. "Modelling Growth of Urban Crowd-sourced Information". In: Proceedings of the 7th ACM International Conference on Web Search and Data Mining. WSDM '14. New York, NY, USA: ACM, 2014. ISBN: 978-1-4503-2351-2. DOI: 10.1145/2556195. 2556244 (page 56).
- [297] Daniele Quercia. "Chatty, Happy, and Smelly Maps". In: Proceedings of the 24th International Conference on World Wide Web. WWW '15 Companion. Florence, Italy: Association for Computing Machinery, 2015. ISBN: 9781450334730. DOI: 10.1145/ 2740908.2741717 (page 161).
- [298] Daniele Quercia, Rossano Schifanella, Luca Maria Aiello, and Kate McLean. "Smelly Maps: The Digital Life of Urban Smellscapes". In: Proceedings of the International AAAI Conference on Web and Social Media (Aug. 2015) (page 161).
- [299] Alexander J Quinn and Benjamin B Bederson. "Human Computation: A Survey and Taxonomy of a Growing Field". In: Proceedings of the SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems. CHI '11. New York, NY, USA: ACM, 2011. ISBN: 978-1-4503-0228-9. DOI: 10.1145/1978942.1979148 (pages 57, 77).

- [300] Horst W.J. Rittel and Melvin M. Webber. "Dilemmas in a general theory of planning". In: *Policy Sciences* (June 1973). ISSN: 00322687. DOI: 10.1007/BF01405730 (page 10).
- [301] Jose Rivera-Rubio, Saad Idrees, Ioannis Alexiou, Lucas Hadjilucas, and Anil A Bharath. "Mobile Visual Assistive Apps: Benchmarks of Vision Algorithm Performance". In: New Trends in Image Analysis and Processing – ICIAP 2013. Ed. by Alfredo Petrosino, Lucia Maddalena, and Pietro Pala. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2013. ISBN: 978-3-642-41190-8 (page 128).
- [302] A Robinson. "Geovisual analytics". In: The Geographic Information Science & Technology Body of Knowledge (3rd Quarter 2017 Edition), edited by John P. Wilson. UCGIS. (2017) (page 90).
- [303] Mary Beth Rosson and John M Carroll. "Scenario based design". In: *Human-computer interaction. boca raton, FL* (2009) (page 136).
- [304] Andrew G. Rundle, Michael D.M. Bader, Catherine A. Richards, Kathryn M. Neckerman, and Julien O. Teitler. "Using Google Street View to Audit Neighborhood Environments". In: American Journal of Preventive Medicine (Jan. 2011). ISSN: 0749-3797. DOI: 10.1016/J.AMEPRE.2010.09.034 (pages 56, 78).
- [305] Daniel M Russell, Mark J Stefik, Peter Pirolli, and Stuart K Card. "The cost structure of sensemaking". In: Proceedings of the INTERACT'93 and CHI'93 conference on Human factors in computing systems. 1993 (page 90).
- [306] Manaswi Saha, Devanshi Chauhan, Siddhant Patil, Rachel Kangas, Jeffrey Heer, and Jon E. Froehlich. "Urban Accessibility as a Socio-Political Problem: A Multi-Stakeholder Analysis". In: Proceedings of the ACM on Human-Computer Interaction (Jan. 2021). DOI: 10.1145/3432908 (pages 6, 7, 13, 85, 89, 112, 116).
- [307] Manaswi Saha, Alexander J. Fiannaca, Melanie Kneisel, Edward Cutrell, and Meredith Ringel Morris. "Closing the Gap: Designing for the Last-Few-Meters Wayfinding Problem for People with Visual Impairments". In: The 21st International ACM SIGACCESS Conference on Computers and Accessibility. ASSETS '19. Pittsburgh,

PA, USA: Association for Computing Machinery, 2019. ISBN: 9781450366762. DOI: 10.1145/3308561.3353776 (pages 6, 8, 9, 16).

- [308] Manaswi Saha, Kotaro Hara, Soheil Behnezhad, Anthony Li, Michael Saugstad, Hanuma Maddali, Sage Chen, and Jon E. Froehlich. "A Pilot Deployment of an Online Tool for Large-Scale Virtual Auditing of Urban Accessibility". In: Proceedings of the 19th International ACM SIGACCESS Conference on Computers and Accessibility -ASSETS '17. New York, New York, USA: ACM Press, 2017. ISBN: 9781450349260. DOI: 10.1145/3132525.3134775 (pages 6, 7).
- [309] Manaswi Saha, Siddhant Patil, Emily Cho, Evie Yu-Yen Cheng, Chris Horng, Devanshi Chauhan, Rachel Kangas, Richard McGovern, Anthony Li, Jeffrey Heer, and Jon E. Froehlich. "Visualizing Urban Accessibility: Investigating Multi-Stakeholder Perspectives through a Map-based Design Probe Study". In: *Proceedings of the 2022 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*. CHI '22. New Orleans, LA, USA: Association for Computing Machinery, 2022. ISBN: 9781450391573. DOI: 10.1145/3491102.3517460 (pages 6–8, 13, 15, 16).
- [310] Manaswi Saha, Michael Saugstad, Hanuma Teja Maddali, Aileen Zeng, Ryan Holland, Steven Bower, Aditya Dash, Sage Chen, Anthony Li, Kotaro Hara, and Jon Froehlich.
 "Project Sidewalk: A Web-based Crowdsourcing Tool for Collecting Sidewalk Accessibility Data at Scale". In: *Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems -Proceedings*. Association for Computing Machinery, May 2019. ISBN: 9781450359702. DOI: 10.1145/3290605.3300292 (pages 6, 7, 13, 14, 17, 20, 83, 84, 90, 91, 94, 95).
- [311] Yumiko Sakamoto, Samar Sallam, Aaron Salo, Jason Leboe-McGowan, and Pourang Irani. "Persuasive Data Storytelling with a Data Video during Covid-19 Infodemic: Affective Pathway to Influence the Users' Perception about Contact Tracing Apps in less than 6 Minutes". In: 2022 IEEE 15th Pacific Visualization Symposium (PacificVis). IEEE. 2022. DOI: 10.1109/PacificVis53943.2022.00028 (page 163).
- [312] Jorge Saldivar, Cristhian Parra, Marcelo Alcaraz, Rebeca Arteta, and Luca Cernuzzi."Civic Technology for Social Innovation: A Systematic Literature Review". In: Com-

puter Supported Cooperative Work: CSCW: An International Journal (Dec. 2018). ISSN: 15737551. DOI: 10.1007/s10606-018-9311-7 (page 20).

- [313] Daisuke Sato, Uran Oh, Kakuya Naito, Hironobu Takagi, Kris Kitani, and Chieko Asakawa. "NavCog3: An Evaluation of a Smartphone-Based Blind Indoor Navigation Assistant with Semantic Features in a Large-Scale Environment". In: Proceedings of the 19th International ACM SIGACCESS Conference on Computers and Accessibility ASSETS '17. New York, New York, USA: ACM Press, 2017. ISBN: 9781450349260. DOI: 10.1145/3132525.3132535 (page 127).
- [314] Arvind Satyanarayan, Bongshin Lee, Donghao Ren, Jeffrey Heer, John Stasko, John Thompson, Matthew Brehmer, and Zhicheng Liu. "Critical reflections on visualization authoring systems". In: *IEEE transactions on visualization and computer graphics* (2019) (page 116).
- [315] Karen B. Schloss, Connor C. Gramazio, Allison T. Silverman, Madeline L. Parker, and Audrey S. Wang. "Mapping Color to Meaning in Colormap Data Visualizations". In: *IEEE Transactions on Visualization and Computer Graphics* (Jan. 2019). DOI: 10.1109/TVCG.2018.2865147 (page 95).
- [316] Jan-Dirk Schmöcker, Mohammed A Quddus, Robert B Noland, and Michael GH Bell.
 "Mode choice of older and disabled people: a case study of shopping trips in London".
 In: Journal of Transport Geography (2008). DOI: 10.1016/j.jtrangeo.2007.07.002
 (page 88).
- [317] Hans-Jörg Schulz, Thomas Nocke, Magnus Heitzler, and Heidrun Schumann. "A design space of visualization tasks". In: *IEEE Transactions on Visualization and Computer Graphics* (2013). DOI: 10.1109/TVCG.2013.120 (page 109).
- [318] Gabriel Schwartz and Ko Nishino. "Recognizing Material Properties from Images". In: (Jan. 2018) (page 150).
- [319] Seattle City GIS Accessibility Map. https://seattlecitygis.maps.arcgis.com/. 2021 (page 83).

- [320] SeeClickFix | 311 Request and Work Management Software. https://seeclickfix. com/ (page 20).
- [321] Seeing AI | Talking camera app for those with a visual impairment. https://www.microsoft.com/en-us/seeing-ai (pages 128, 133).
- [322] Edward Segel and Jeffrey Heer. "Narrative visualization: Telling stories with data".
 In: *IEEE transactions on visualization and computer graphics* (2010). DOI: 10.1109/ TVCG.2010.179 (page 116).
- [323] Taekyung Seong and Sugie Lee. "Analysis of Accessibility Changes to Neighborhood Food Environment and Food Desert Phenomenon in Seoul, Korea : Focused on the High-density Areas of Low-income Older Adults". In: Journal of Korea Planning Association-Vol (2021). DOI: 10.17208/jkpa.2021.02.56.1.137 (page 86).
- [324] M Serrão, João M F Rodrigues, José I Rodrigues, and J M Hans du Buf. "Indoor localization and navigation for blind persons using visual landmarks and a GIS". In: *Procedia Computer Science* (2012) (page 134).
- [325] Andres Sevtsuk and Michael Mekonnen. "Urban Network Analysis: A New Toolbox for Measuring City Form in ArcGIS". In: Proceedings of the 2012 Symposium on Simulation for Architecture and Urban Design. SimAUD '12. Orlando, Florida: Society for Computer Simulation International, 2012. ISBN: 9781618397904 (page 88).
- [326] Judy L Shanley. "Innovative Mobility Management". In: TRANSED 2018 (2018) (page 85).
- [327] Huiying Shen and James M Coughlan. "Towards a real-time system for finding and reading signs for visually impaired users". In: *International Conference on Computers* for Handicapped Persons. Springer. 2012 (page 135).
- [328] Kelly Shigeno, Sergio Borger, Diego Gallo, Ricardo Herrmann, Mateus Molinaro, Carlos Cardonha, Fernando Koch, and Priscilla Avegliano. "Citizen Sensing for Collaborative Construction of Accessibility Maps". In: Proceedings of the 10th International Cross-Disciplinary Conference on Web Accessibility. W4A '13. Rio de

Janeiro, Brazil: Association for Computing Machinery, 2013. ISBN: 9781450318440. DOI: 10.1145/2461121.2461153 (page 20).

- [329] Ben Shneiderman. "The eyes have it: A task by data type taxonomy for information visualizations". In: *The craft of information visualization*. Elsevier, 2003 (page 113).
- [330] Daniel Sinkonde, Leonard Mselle, Nima Shidende, Sara Comai, Matteo Matteucci, Daniel Sinkonde, Leonard Mselle, Nima Shidende, Sara Comai, and Matteo Matteucci. "Developing an Intelligent PostGIS Database to Support Accessibility Tools for Urban Pedestrians". In: Urban Science (June 2018). ISSN: 2413-8851. DOI: 10.3390/ urbansci2030052 (page 54).
- [331] Sharon Eve Sonenblum, Stephen Sprigle, and Ricardo A Lopez. "Manual wheelchair use: bouts of mobility in everyday life". In: *Rehabilitation research and practice* (2012).
 DOI: 10.1155/2012/753165 (page 92).
- [332] Sharon Spall. "Peer Debriefing in Qualitative Research: Emerging Operational Models". In: *Qualitative Inquiry* (June 1998). ISSN: 1077-8004. DOI: 10.1177/ 107780049800400208 (page 74).
- [333] Lisa Stafford and Claudia Baldwin. "Planning Walkable Neighborhoods: Are We Overlooking Diversity in Abilities and Ages?" In: *Journal of Planning Literature* (Feb. 2018). ISSN: 0885-4122. DOI: 10.1177/0885412217704649 (page 10).
- [334] Aaron Steinfeld, Leslie Bloomfield, Sarah Amick, Yun Huang, Will Odom, Qian Yang, and John Zimmerman. "Increasing access to transit: localized mobile information".
 In: Journal of urban technology (2019). DOI: 10.1080/10630732.2019.1614896 (page 15).
- [335] Street Bump. http://www.streetbump.org/ (page 20).
- [336] Jin Sun and David W. Jacobs. "Seeing What is Not There: Learning Context to Determine Where Objects are Missing". In: 2017 IEEE Conference on Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition (CVPR). IEEE, July 2017. ISBN: 978-1-5386-0457-1. DOI: 10.1109/CVPR.2017.136 (page 77).

- [337] Niko Sünderhauf, Sareh Shirazi, Adam Jacobson, Feras Dayoub, Edward Pepperell, Ben Upcroft, and Michael Milford. "Place recognition with ConvNet landmarks: Viewpoint-robust, condition-robust, training-free". In: ARC Centre of Excellence for Robotic Vision; Science & Engineering Faculty (2015) (page 150).
- [338] Tableau Public | Platform. https://public.tableau.com/en-us/s/. 2022 (pages 16, 118).
- [339] Tableau Public | Social Impact. https://public.tableau.com/app/discover/ social-impact. 2022 (page 118).
- [340] TapTapSee Blind and Visually Impaired Assistive Technology. https:// taptapseeapp.com/ (page 128).
- [341] UW TCAT. OpenSidewalks. https://www.opensidewalks.com/. 2018 (pages 14, 54, 83).
- [342] The Seeing Eye GPS[™] App for cell-enabled iOS devices. http://www.senderogroup. com/products/shopseeingeyegps.html (pages 125, 127).
- [343] Yingli Tian, Xiaodong Yang, and Aries Arditi. "Computer vision-based door detection for accessibility of unfamiliar environments to blind persons". In: International Conference on Computers for Handicapped Persons. Springer. 2010 (page 134).
- [344] The Seattle Times. Seattle must deliver on promised transit, sidewalk and bike projects. https://www.seattletimes.com/opinion/seattle-must-deliver-on-promisedtransit-sidewalk-and-bike-projects/ (page 3).
- [345] The Seattle Times. Seattlement: Seattle to build thousands of sidewalk curb ramps over next 18 years. https://www.seattletimes.com/seattle-news/transportation/ settlement-seattle-to-build-thousands-of-sidewalk-curb-ramps-overnext-18-years/ (pages 12, 13).
- [346] Kentaro Toyama. Geek heresy: Rescuing social change from the cult of technology. PublicAffairs, 2015 (page 47).

- [347] Kentaro Toyama. Technology Is Not the Answer | The Atlantic. https://www. theatlantic.com/technology/archive/2011/03/technology-is-not-theanswer/73065/. 2011 (page 47).
- [348] City Lab Transportation. Crumbling Sidewalks Become a Legal Battleground. https: //www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2018-08-16/ada-lawsuits-targetpoorly-maintained-sidewalks. 2018 (page 13).
- [349] US Department of Transportation. Data Inventory | USDOT. https://www. transportation.gov/data.2021 (page 83).
- [350] District Department of Transportation (DDOT). DDOT Guidelines for Comprehensive Transportation Review (CTR) Requirements. https://ddot.dc.gov/publication/ ddot-guidelines-comprehensive-transportation-review-ctr (page 13).
- [351] Seattle Department of Transportation (SDOT). Property Owners' Responsibilities. https://www.seattle.gov/transportation/projects-and-programs/programs/ maintenance-and-paving/property (page 43).
- [352] Seattle Department of Transportation (SDOT). Sidewalk Repair Program. https: //www.seattle.gov/transportation/projects-and-programs/programs/ maintenance-and-paving/sidewalk-repair-program (page 13).
- [353] Tree Equity Score. https://www.treeequityscore.org/. 2021 (page 112).
- [354] Sylvie Treuillet, Eric Royer, Thierry Chateau, Michel Dhome, Jean-Marc Lavest, et al.
 "Body Mounted Vision System for Visually Impaired Outdoor and Indoor Wayfinding Assistance." In: *CVHI*. 2007 (page 128).
- [355] Doug Trumm. Don't Block the Box Bill Passes State Legislature | The Urbanist. https://www.theurbanist.org/2020/03/09/dont-block-the-box-bill-passesstate-legislature/. 2020 (page 44).
- [356] Chung-Hui Tseng and Tseng-Lung Huang. "Internet advertising video facilitating health communication: Narrative and emotional perspectives". In: *Internet Research* (2016). ISSN: 1066-2243. DOI: 10.1108/IntR-09-2014-0217 (page 163).

- [357] U.S. Census Bureau. U.S. Census QuickFacts: District of Columbia. https://www. census.gov/quickfacts/fact/table/dc/PST045217 (page 65).
- [358] U.S. Department of Transportation Federal Highway Administration. A Guide for Maintaining Pedestrian Facilities for Enhanced Safety. https://safety.fhwa.dot. gov/ped_bike/tools_solve/fhwasa13037/chap3.cfm (pages 54, 69, 80).
- [359] United States Access Board. "Accessible Guidelines for (Proposed) Public Rights-of-Way". In: () (pages 54, 69, 80).
- [360] United States Department of Justice. 2010 ADA Standards for Accessible Design. https://www.ada.gov/regs2010/2010ADAStandards/2010ADAstandards.htm. 2010 (pages 12, 54, 69, 80, 85).
- [361] United States Department of Justice Civil Rights Division. Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, Pub. L. No. 101-336, 104 Stat. 328. Tech. rep. 1990 (pages 1, 12, 44, 54, 85).
- [362] UnlockedMaps. https://unlockedmaps.com/ (page 14).
- [363] US Access Board. https://www.access-board.gov/. 2021 (page 85).
- [364] Katherine VanHoose and Federico Savini. "The social capital of urban activism: Practices in London and Amsterdam". In: *City* (2017) (page 44).
- [365] Marynel Vázquez and Aaron Steinfeld. "Helping visually impaired users properly aim a camera". In: Proceedings of the 14th international ACM SIGACCESS conference on Computers and accessibility - ASSETS '12. New York, New York, USA: ACM Press, 2012. ISBN: 9781450313216. DOI: 10.1145/2384916.2384934 (page 149).
- [366] Raquel Velho. "Transport accessibility for wheelchair users: A qualitative analysis of inclusion and health". In: International Journal of Transportation Science and Technology (June 2019). ISSN: 20460430. DOI: 10.1016/j.ijtst.2018.04.005 (pages 4, 10, 17, 18, 24, 89).
- [367] Anthony J Viera, Joanne M Garrett, et al. "Understanding interobserver agreement: the kappa statistic". In: *Fam med* (2005) (pages 23, 138).

- [368] Vasillis Vlachokyriakos, Clara Crivellaro, Christopher A. Le Dantec, Eric Gordon, Pete Wright, and Patrick Olivier. "Digital Civics: Citizen Empowerment With and Through Technology". In: Proceedings of the 2016 CHI Conference Extended Abstracts on Human Factors in Computing Systems. CHI EA '16. San Jose, California, USA: Association for Computing Machinery, 2016. ISBN: 9781450340823. DOI: 10.1145/ 2851581.2886436 (pages 29, 42, 46).
- [369] Amy Voida, Lynn Dombrowski, Gillian R. Hayes, and Melissa Mazmanian. "Shared Values/Conflicting Logics: Working around e-Government Systems". In: *Proceedings of the SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*. CHI '14. Toronto, Ontario, Canada: Association for Computing Machinery, 2014. ISBN: 9781450324731. DOI: 10.1145/2556288.2556971 (page 43).
- [370] Thorsten Völkel and Gerhard Weber. "RouteCheckr: Personalized Multicriteria Routing for Mobility Impaired Pedestrians". In: *Proceedings of the 10th International ACM SIGACCESS Conference on Computers and Accessibility*. Assets '08. Halifax, Nova Scotia, Canada: Association for Computing Machinery, 2008. ISBN: 9781595939760. DOI: 10.1145/1414471.1414506 (page 88).
- [371] Martin Wachs and T. Gordon Kumagai. "Physical accessibility as a social indicator". In: Socio-Economic Planning Sciences (1973). ISSN: 00380121. DOI: 10.1016/0038-0121(73)90041-4 (pages 3, 10, 85).
- [372] Lingjing Wang, Cheng Qian, Philipp Kats, Constantine Kontokosta, and Stanislav Sobolevsky. "Structure of 311 service requests as a signature of urban location". In: *PloS one* (2017). DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0186314 (page 37).
- [373] Zhongqi Wang, Qi Han, and Bauke de Vries. "Land use/land cover and accessibility: implications of the correlations for land use and transport planning". In: Applied Spatial Analysis and Policy (2019). DOI: 10.1007/s12061-018-9278-2 (page 86).
- [374] Disability Rights Washington. Transportation Access Story Map. https://www. disabilityrightswa.org/storymap/. 2021 (pages 16, 116).

- [375] Washington.org. Washington DC Visitor Research. https://washington.org/press/ dc-information/washington-dc-visitor-research (page 65).
- [376] weirdindiankid/BostonStreetCaster: Sidewalk segmentation and analysis project for the city of Boston. https://github.com/ddehueck/BostonStreetCaster (pages 8, 155).
- [377] D J Weiss, Andy Nelson, HS Gibson, W Temperley, Stephen Peedell, A Lieber, M Hancher, Eduardo Poyart, Simão Belchior, Nancy Fullman, et al. "A global map of travel time to cities to assess inequalities in accessibility in 2015". In: *Nature* (2018). DOI: 10.1038/nature25181 (pages 86-88).
- [378] Galen Weld, Esther Jang, Anthony Li, Aileen Zeng, Kurtis Heimerl, and Jon E. Froehlich. "Deep Learning for Automatically Detecting Sidewalk Accessibility Problems Using Streetscape Imagery". In: (2019). DOI: 10.1145/3308561.3353798 (pages 8, 155).
- [379] What Is 311? https://www.govtech.com/dc/articles/what-is-311.html (page 20).
- [380] Wheelmap. https://wheelmap.org. 2018 (pages 14, 16, 83-86, 95, 118).
- [381] "WHO | Global data on visual impairment". In: WHO (2017) (page 125).
- [382] William R. Wiener, Richard L. Welsh, and Bruce B. Blasch. Foundations of orientation and mobility. AFB Press, 1997. ISBN: 0891284613 (page 144).
- [383] Michele A. Williams, Amy Hurst, and Shaun K. Kane. ""Pray before you step out": describing personal and situational blind navigation behaviors". In: *Proceedings of the 15th International ACM SIGACCESS Conference on Computers and Accessibility -ASSETS '13*. New York, New York, USA: ACM Press, 2013. ISBN: 9781450324052. DOI: 10.1145/2513383.2513449 (pages 144, 146).
- [384] Jeffrey S. Wilson, Cheryl M. Kelly, Mario Schootman, Elizabeth A. Baker, Aniruddha Banerjee, Morgan Clennin, and Douglas K. Miller. "Assessing the Built Environment Using Omnidirectional Imagery". In: American Journal of Preventive Medicine (Feb. 2012). ISSN: 0749-3797. DOI: 10.1016/J.AMEPRE.2011.09.029 (pages 56, 78).

- [385] Sacoby Wilson, Malo Hutson, and Mahasin Mujahid. "How planning and zoning contribute to inequitable development, neighborhood health, and environmental injustice". In: *Environmental Justice* (2008) (page 35).
- [386] Sacoby M Wilson, Christopher D Heaney, John Cooper, and Omega Wilson. "Built environment issues in unserved and underserved African-American neighborhoods in North Carolina". In: *Environmental Justice* (2008). DOI: 10.1089/env.2008.0509 (page 35).
- [387] With Lookout, discover your surroundings with the help of AI. https://www. blog.google/outreach-initiatives/accessibility/lookout-discover-yoursurroundings-help-ai/(page 149).
- [388] J.O. Wobbrock, S.K. Kane, K.Z. Gajos, S. Harada, and J. Froehlich. "Ability-Based Design: Concept, Principles and Examples". In: ACM Transactions on Accessible Computing (TACCESS) (Apr. 2011). DOI: 10.1145/1952383.1952384 (pages 54, 145).
- [389] D. W. Wong. "Modifiable Areal Unit Problem". In: International Encyclopedia of Human Geography (Jan. 2009). DOI: 10.1016/B978-008044910-4.00475-2 (page 108).
- [390] David WS Wong. "The modifiable areal unit problem (MAUP)". In: WorldMinds: Geographical perspectives on 100 problems. Springer, 2004 (page 108).
- [391] Kanit Wongsuphasawat, Zening Qu, Dominik Moritz, Riley Chang, Felix Ouk, Anushka Anand, Jock Mackinlay, Bill Howe, and Jeffrey Heer. "Voyager 2: Augmenting Visual Analysis with Partial View Specifications". In: Proceedings of the 2017 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems. New York, NY, USA: Association for Computing Machinery, 2017. ISBN: 9781450346559 (page 116).
- [392] Zhuorui Yang and Aura Ganz. "Egocentric Landmark-Based Indoor Guidance System for the Visually Impaired". In: International Journal of E-Health and Medical Communications (July 2017). ISSN: 1947-315X. DOI: 10.4018/IJEHMC.2017070104 (pages 128, 151).
- [393] Hanlu Ye, Meethu Malu, Uran Oh, Leah Findlater, Hanlu Ye, Meethu Malu, Uran Oh, and Leah Findlater. "Current and future mobile and wearable device use by people

with visual impairments". In: *Proceedings of the 32nd annual ACM conference on Human factors in computing systems - CHI '14*. New York, New York, USA: ACM Press, 2014. ISBN: 9781450324731. DOI: 10.1145/2556288.2557085 (page 142).

- [394] Limin Zeng. "A Survey: Outdoor Mobility Experiences by the Visually Impaired". In: Mensch und Computer 2015–Workshopband (2015). DOI: 10.1515/9783110443905– 056 (page 125).
- [395] Xiangyu Zhang, Xinyu Zhou, Mengxiao Lin, and Jian Sun. "ShuffleNet: An Extremely Efficient Convolutional Neural Network for Mobile Devices". In: CoRR (2017) (page 149).
- [396] Yixuan Zhang, Yifan Sun, Lace Padilla, Sumit Barua, Enrico Bertini, and Andrea G.
 Parker. "Mapping the Landscape of COVID-19 Crisis Visualizations". In: Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems - Proceedings (Jan. 2021). DOI: 10.1145/ 3411764.3445381 (pages 90, 116).
- [397] Yu Zhong, Pierre J. Garrigues, and Jeffrey P. Bigham. "Real time object scanning using a mobile phone and cloud-based visual search engine". In: *Proceedings of the 15th International ACM SIGACCESS Conference on Computers and Accessibility ASSETS '13*. New York, New York, USA: ACM Press, 2013. ISBN: 9781450324052. DOI: 10.1145/2513383.2513443 (page 128).
- [398] Miriam Zuk, Ariel H Bierbaum, Karen Chapple, Karolina Gorska, and Anastasia Loukaitou-Sideris. "Gentrification, Displacement, and the Role of Public Investment". In: *Journal of Planning Literature* (2018). DOI: 10.1177/0885412217716439 (page 36).

A For Chapter 3: Socio-political Environment Analysis and Chapter 5: Visualizing Urban Accessibility

Participant Description

Group: M=MI individuals, C=caregivers A=advocates, D=department officials, PM=policymakers. Five participants self-identified into two groups.

P#	Group	Affiliation	Role(s)	Additional Notes
P1	М			Powered Wheelchair User Ehlers Danlos Syndrome
P2	М			Powered Wheelchair User Osteogenesis Imperfecta
P3	D&C	DOT	Sidewalk Repair Program Manager	Father under care
P4	С			Husband under care
P5	М			Powered Wheelchair User Complete Quadriplegic
P6	С			Daughter under care
P7	A & C	Tech-based Disability Adv. Org.	Director	Daughter under care
P8	D	DOT	Asset Management Strategic Advisor	
P9	М			Manual Wheelchair User Incomplete Quadriplegic
P10	М			Cane User
P11	А	Walkability Adv. Org.	Vice Pres., Policy Committee Chair	
P12	D	DOT	ADA Coordinator	
P13	A & M	Disability Adv. Org.	Senior official	Manual Wheelchair User Lumbar sacralagenesis
P14	A	Neighborhood Adv. Group	Co-lead	Former Mayoral Candidate
P15	A & M	City Commission for Disabilities	Member	Cane User POTS Syndrome
P16	А	Law Firm	Partner, Lawyer	
P17	PM	City Council	Policy Analyst	Assists all city council members; Liaison between DOT and the council
P18	PM	State Legislation	Ex-State Representative	Former Mayoral Candidate
P19	D	Office of Disability Rights	ADA Architect	
P20	A & C	City Commission for Disabilities	Volunteer	Husband under care
P21	D	DOT	Chief Performance Officer	
P22	D	DOT	ADA Coordinator	
P23	PM	City Council	Analyst	
P24	Α	Disability Adv. Org.	Executive Director	
P25	PM	City Council	Elected Official	



Interview Script for Chapter 3 and Chapter 5

Data from **Part 1** of the interview script was analyzed and presented in **Chapter 3**: Urban Accessibility as a Socio-Political Problem

Data from **Part 2 - 4** of the interview script was analyzed and presented in **Chapter 5**: Visualizing Urban Accessibility



Participant ID: ____

215

Formative Study on Visualizing Urban Accessibility

Semi-structured Interview Session

Introduction:

[READ TO PARTICIPANTS] - 5 min

Hi, I am Manaswi Saha, a PhD Student at UW. Thanks for coming in today.

Before we begin the study, let me give a brief overview of our project. I am going to read out from my script so that we present the same instructions to all participants.

Our goal is to design new methods and tools to inform people about inaccessible areas of a city. For example, places could be inaccessible due to lack of sidewalks, absence of curb ramps at intersections and so on. Our long-term research agenda is to develop tools that enable people like yourself (and others such as city governments, advocates) to utilize this data in the form of novel applications, support open data initiatives, and increase transparency. Some examples of applications include smart routing for people with mobility impairments and interactive visualizations of city's accessibility.

The goal of this study is to understand the sensemaking process of assessing accessibility through visualizations. The study will be in four parts:

- 1. The first part is an interview study, where the questions will be to understand on how you assess accessibility and what are your **current practices** of doing so?
- 2. The next two parts are geared around a set of paper prototypes visualizing urban accessibility data. We will use a **think aloud protocol** i.e., as you make sense of the visualizations, you will say your thoughts out loud such that in understanding your thought process in making assessments using those visualizations.
- 3. Finally, the last part is a short **debrief interview**, to reflect back on the previous part. We will ask questions about your overall experience of the study and future accessible mapping tools.

The whole study session should take about 90-120 minutes. Your data will be kept anonymous. We will be audio/video recording. For the video recording, your face will not be captured and we do not intend to take identifiable images of you. You have the right to stop participating in the study at any time. Before we begin the interview, we need to you sign the consent form and complete the background questionnaire [if the participant hasn't already].

Do you have any questions?



Begin Interview:

INSTRUCTIONS FOR RESEARCHER:

Keep these handy for the entire session:

- o Pre-Study Questionnaire (optional- if participant hasn't filled it out) (5 minutes)
- o Consent form
- o Interview Script
- Paper Prototypes
- Prototype Overview Sheet
- o Label Guide Sheet
- Payment form and cash

[Start recording once the participant signed the consent form and filled out the questionnaire.]

I have just started the recorder and we will begin the interview. Please feel free to say whatever is on your mind and to ask me questions at any time. Are you ready to begin?



Part 1 – Interview Session – Current Practices for Assessing Accessibility

Main goal: Understand **current practices** for assessing accessibility data and understand the **metrics** they use.

INSTRUCTIONS FOR RESEARCHER:

Have the questionnaire ready for reference. Note the timing of any interesting comment the interviewee mentioned.

Stakeholders:

- 1. Government Officials (GOV)
- 2. People with Mobility Impairments (MI) and Caregivers (CVG)
- 3. Accessibility Advocates (ADV)

General Questions

About Participants – 5 minutes

- 1. GOV + ADV: What is your role in your organization?
- 2. ADV: What is the role of your organization towards city's urban development efforts specifically with regards to accessibility?
- 3. CVG:
 - a. Who do you care for as a caregiver?
 - b. Which aid do they use?
 - c. Do you travel with him/her/them in the city? How often?
- 4. MI/CVG:
 - a. Could you recall a situation where they (CVG) OR you (MI) faced a challenge while moving around in the city using sidewalks? What were the biggest obstacles while traveling?

Assessing Accessibility – 10 minutes

- 1. How do you currently assess sidewalk accessibility? Prompt: Familiar vs non-familiar neighborhoods
- 2. Do you rely on any metrics to quantify accessibility? If yes, what are they?
- 3. GOV: What do you look for specifically when making an accessibility assessment of a region?
- 4. Do you use any digital tools to make these assessments?
 - a. Yes: What are some of the tools you use?
 - b. No: How do you make assessments?
- 5. GOV: What types of data sources do you rely on?
- 6. [MI, CVG: Consider you (and the person under your care) are moving to a new neighborhood.]
 - a. What types of questions would you ask when assessing a new neighborhood in terms of mobility? Example:
 - i. GOV: For fixing sidewalks
 - ii. ADV: For pushing policies/making a change
 - b. Do you factor in points of interests (POIs) when you assess accessibility? For example, transit stops, groceries, hospitals, restaurants.
 - i. Yes: How do you factor them in? For e.g., do you use any tools?
- 7. GOV, ADV: Do you work with citizens during your assessments? If so, who are they (demographics)?



--- TURN ON VIDEO CAM ---

Part 2 – Paper Prototype Study: Part A - Assessing Overall City Accessibility (60 min)

Main goal: To understand their sensemaking process using visualizations.

[READ TO PARTICIPANTS]

Let's begin the second part of the session—the think aloud activity—using paper prototypes. In this part, you will be asked to do a set of sensemaking tasks using the visualizations we created. Let's introduce you to the data and the corresponding visualizations.

DATA INTRODUCTION

[show the PS video: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=YZZK9mcH4Hc]

The data that we use for these visualizations is a tool called Project Sidewalk, a crowdsourcing based tool that is based on Google Street View where volunteers virtually explore city streets via SV images to find and label accessibility problems such as surface problems, curb ramps and missing curb ramps, sidewalk obstacles, or absence of sidewalks. Each applied label has a location associated with it and a severity rating ranging from low **in**accessibility (level 1) to high **in**accessibility (level 5). We collected data collected in Washington DC and you will be looking at maps of DC.

Here is a guide for your reference to see what severity of each problem type looks like.

Finally, in some of the visualizations, we incorporate street elevation data as well.



Part 2a: Initial Understanding (45 min)

PROTOTYPE INTRODUCTION

We have created six types of visualizations based on this data. Let's go over them one by one.

- 1. **Point Visualizations**: This shows the geo-located accessibility problems segregated by label types. Brighter areas are denser.
- 2. **Severity Point Visualizations**: These set of visualizations break down the point visualizations by their individual severity ratings ranging from 1 to 5 or low to high inaccessibility.
- 3. **Grid Maps**: This visualization breaks down the city in 1km grids. Each grid is colored by the label count in those regions. So higher the concentration, brighter is the grid color.
- 4. **Heatmaps**: This visualization highlights the density of problems by total point count and by severity i.e. highlighting regions with more severe issues.
- 5. Area Map: Based on the different problem types, we created an "access" score for measuring accessibility of regions (such as neighborhoods). They are calculated by assigning penalty to each problem type. Some types have more penalty than others. For example, missing curb ramps is given more over penalty than other problem types. The scores are on a scale 0 100 % from low to high accessibility. Note: The scale is now on *accessibility* and not inaccessibility as previously seen. To simplify, blue is good, and brown is bad.
- 6. **Street Visualizations**: We now move to streets and visualize the raw problem count and average severity of streets based on the problems associated with each street. **Exception**: High count/severity is the darker color and low is the brighter color.

[Ask after each visualization intro] Questions:

- 1. What do you understand/learn from these set of visualizations? [Prompt]: Do you notice any patterns?
- 2. Could you summarize your findings from these visualizations?
- 3. [MI: For severity point viz]: Rate the significance of problem types based on their importance to you on a scale of 1-5, Not at all Significant to Extremely Significant [Prompt]: Which problem types are more important to you? [Give label guide sheet]



Part 2b: Sensemaking task (15 min)

Task 1 Prompt: Identify the three most accessible and inaccessible areas of the city.

Clarification:

What is an area?

'Area' can be chosen by you based on how you define. Examples could be an area around a location of choice, a neighborhood, a district etc.

Post-task questions:

- 1. < Answer to the prompt asked >
- 2. What about the selected visualization(s) helped you answer this question?
- 3. Was there any information missing from the visualizations to answer this question? If yes,a. Follow-up: What types of information would have helped in answering the question?
- 4. How do you envision using these visualizations?
- 5. Do you trust the insights from these visualizations?
 - a. [Yes] What helped you in establishing this trust?
 - b. [No] What would you need to establish trust in the findings you learn from these visualizations?
- 6. Are there any other ways in which you would like to compare neighborhood accessibility? If so, what are they? Goal: What are the factors for the basis of comparison?
- 7. [Optional] Other than Project Sidewalk's severity scale, how would you want to define or measure severity of regions?

Interviewer Notes:



---- Break: 5 min ----

Part 3 – Paper Prototype Study: Part B- Assessing Accessibility of a Neighborhood/Locale (15 min)

Main goal: To understand their sensemaking process using visualizations.

[READ TO PARTICIPANTS]

In this part, you will look at a new visualization type, we call **time plots**, for assessing accessibility with respect to a location of your choice. Similar to the previous part, this will be a think aloud activity.

Part 3a: Initial Understanding (5 min)

[Show the ego-centric isochrones for person without mobility impairment for only one neighborhood]

[Meta Task] This visualization shows the accessible reach of a location: what points of interests (or POIs) are accessible to your location and how far are they from your location? [Point at the visualization] For example, the innermost circle shows what is accessible within 10 minutes of your location. In other words, this map shows how easily a certain point of interest can be reached by walking.

[Ask after showing visualization] Questions:

1. What do you understand from this visualization?

Part 3b: Sensemaking tasks (10 min)

[Show the ego-centric isochrones with access vs no access]

Task 2 Prompt: Here is the same visualization for a person on a manual wheelchair. Your task is to compare and identify the differences you notice in terms of accessible reach for each person.

Post-task questions:

- 1. <Answer to the prompt asked>
- 2. What about the selected visualization helped you answer this question?
- 3. Was there any information missing from the current visualizations to answer this question? If yes,
 - a. Follow-up: What types of information would have helped you in making this decision faster or easier?

Interviewer Notes:



[Show the ego-centric isochrones which incorporates accessibility]

Task 3 Prompt: Here is the same map for two other neighborhoods for a manual wheelchair user. Consider a situation where a family member who is in a wheelchair wants to move into a new neighborhood. Which neighborhood looks the most accessible in terms of accessible reach?

Post-task questions:

- 1. < Answer to the prompt asked >
- 2. What about the visualizations helped you answer this question? [Prompt]: What helped you in making the inference?
- 3. Was there any information missing from the current visualizations to answer this question? If yes,
 - a. Follow-up: What types of information would have helped you in making this decision faster or easier?
- 4. What entities (other than POIs) would be useful for you to assess the accessibility of the neighborhoods using such visualizations?
- 5. How else do you envision using this visualization?
 - a. What value do you want to get out of it?

Interviewer Notes:



Part 4 – Concluding Debrief Interview Session (10 min)

Time allotted: 10 Minutes

Main goals: To understand the participant's decision-making process in doing the sensemaking tasks in Part 2 of the study. Have the participants reflect upon (1) their experience during the course of the activity, (2) their likes, dislikes and desired additions/changes to the visualizations.

INSTRUCTION FOR RESEARCHER:

Write the timing in the notes of any interesting comment the interviewee mentioned.

[READ TO PARTICIPANTS]

The last part of the study is having a discussion around your experience of doing the sensemaking tasks in the previous parts.

Questions:

[Ask only if not answered]

- 1. In your assessments, what were the factors of region's (in)accessibility you were looking for?
- 2. Were you able to find them with the current set of designs? If not, what was missing?

[Compulsory]

- 1. Rate the **importance of each task** on a scale of 1-5, 1 being Not at all Important to 5 being Extremely Important and **why**:
 - a. Task 1: Assessing overall accessibility
 - b. Task 2: Comparing accessibility of regions
 - c. Task 3: Assessing accessibility of a neighborhood/locale
- 2. For each visualization type, rate the **usefulness** and **trustworthiness** on a scale of 1-5, 1 being Not at all Useful/Trustworthy to 5 being Extremely Useful/Trustworthy and **why**: [Give the visualization overview sheet]
 - 1. Point Distributions
 - 2. Severity Point Distributions
 - 3. Grid Maps
 - 4. Heatmaps
 - 5. Area Map
 - 6. Street Visualizations
 - 7. Time Plots
- 3. Do you see value in having the different types of visualizations in increasing your understanding of city accessibility or would you prefer a single type of visualization? [If single type preferred] Which would one that be?
- 4. Which visualizations would you like to see in an interactive tool? An interactive tool would let you zoom, filter, drag/pan a map, switch between different visualizations.
- 5. What more would you want to know about urban accessibility through visualizations? [Prompt]: What would you want to learn?
- 6. What other types of visualization types would you like to see?
 - a. Prompt: What other types of data would have liked to visualize and how (read: new visualization types)?

Chapter 3 Interview Study: Codebook

Below is the list of the codes used during the thematic analysis of the interview data.

Research Question(s):

What are the information needs and challenges for assessing and making decisions around urban accessibility?

What role does data and technology play in their decision-making practices?

This is getting at what do they care or want to learn about around urban accessibility, and how do they do currently assess sidewalk accessibility?

Code	Description	Notes/Remarks	
Participant Roles	What roles did stakeholders have as an official in their organization towards accessibility development? Applicable only to advocates, policymakers, and department officials		
Barriers for Travel	What do stakeholders look for when a accessibility and needs? Describes the bawith mobility disabilities face.	assessing state of arriers that people	
Personal Barriers	Talks about barriers due to limited personal health and mobility e.g., upper body strength, poor vision, hearing etc. This includes describing the use of mobility aids as well. For example, manual vs power-assisted manual wheelchair.	Clarified during round 2	
Physical Barriers	E.g., sidewalks heights, curb cuts, elevation, presence/absence of sidewalks, uneven sidewalks, severity of issues, natural (e.g., tree roots) vs man- made (bikes on sidewalks).	Updated code name and description - round 2	
Type of Surface Material	E.g., Bumpiness/smoothness, brick, gravel, concrete		
Pedestrian Signaling Features	E.g., presence/absence of tactile strips, timing of pedestrian signals		
Building Accessibility	E.g., Steps, elevators		
Miscellaneous Barriers	Any of the codes that don't fit cleanly above. E.g., crowd/rush of people, absence of benches, number of lanes		

Nethod of Assessment Describes the assessment method for accessibility (e.g., "fi			
	studies", "hazardous intersection reviews")		
Visual Inspection	Inspecting visually by going out physically which doesn't involve taking any measurements. This is a more informal process. When participant says things like "we look around and eyeball problems". Other terms would include "visual inspection", "foot on the ground", "drive-by".	Clarified in round 2	
Experiential	Person says they try it out and see if they can navigate it (if not, they improvise). E.g., "trial and error"	Modified name and clarified code after coding all	
Taking Pictures	Go out in the field and take pictures		
Physical Audits	By physical going out and taking measurements for accessibility only . This is a formal audit. E.g., "neighborhood walk audits", "accessibility audits", "taking measurements with or without using tools".	2	
Surveys	E.g., rider survey	Changed the name after round 2	
Ask People	When the participant says "ask people" or indicating verbally asking people through conversations. This isn't surveys that are done with a large group of people.		
Other Methods	Any method that hasn't been mentioned before.		
Data Sources	What data do they rely on for making these assessments?		
Citizen Provided Data	E.g., 311 service requests, phone calls, rider surveys, complaints, "people's lived experiences", "people contacting me and telling their story"		
Internal Data Sources	With respect to the participant's position, whether the data source is internal or external. Participant talks about how they collect and maintain data internally collected within the organization either	Expanded after round 3; Clarified description after round 2	

	hiring consultants or teams within the		
	organization.		
	E.g., SDOT has two teams that gets this		
	data, our internal teams have an		
	not always specific or clear		
External offert/agoney	With respect to the participant's position	Clarified	
data	whather the data source is internal or	description after	
Uala	ovtornal City wide offert	round 2	
	programs/initiatives data from transit		
	agencies and others (e.g. Office of		
	Aging Pierce transit) E.g. "we relied our		
	own data around transit stons"		
Open data	Readily available datasets - open to the	Clarified	
	public. E.g., By the city transit agencies	description after	
	(e.g. WMATA) data provided by other	round 2	
	government departments (e.g., WSDOT)		
Miscellaneous data	Other types of data sources and types	Clarified after	
sources	that they utilize but are not categorized	round 1	
	above E.g. ???		
Desired Data	Any data that they would like to rely on.	Clarified after	
Types/Sources	For example, if the participant says "We	round 1	
	would like to have X"		
Digital Tools Used	What digital tools do participants use (if any) for making		
	accessibility assessments?		
No use of tools	When the participant says they don't use		
	any tools		
Online street view	E.g., Google Street View	Clarified code	
imagery			
Imaging equipment	Tools used to take pictures e.g. digital	Updated code	
	camera		
Satellite imagery	E.g., Google Earth, Bing Maps		
GIS and Mapping tools	E.g., ESRI, simple maps,		
Analytical Lools	E.g., Tableau		
Other lools	Any other type that was mentioned e.g.	Clarified after	
Accossibility Matrice	uigital levels, smart levels		
Accessionity Metrics	are used"	e what factors	
Building Features	E.g., width of doorways		
Measurements	<u>,</u> ,		

Sidewalk Feature	Slope of curb ramps, height of curb	
Inteasurements	ramps	
Priority index	issues	
Travel Time	When the participant talks about travel	Added after
	time e.g., time to walk "three blocks",	round 1
	proximity to destinations.	
Other Metrics	Any other type of metric that was	
No Motrico	If the perticipant cave they dep't use any	
NO WELLICS	metrics	coding
Prioritization Practices	What parameters/factors are considered w	vhen making
and Factors	assessments and decisions? How do they	or would want to
	prioritize when making decisions (e.g., for	resource
	investments, policy making, advocacy effo	rts, choosing a
	neighborhood to live in)? "How will the f	actors be used"
Limitations of Current	Talks about the different limitations that	Added after
Practices	exist in current practices around	round 1; Clarified
	prioritization and decision-making	after round 2
	processes. Ranges from low level details	
	such as tools and methods to higher level	
	elements such as policy.	
Decision Making	Includes the specific questions that	Added after
Questions	participants ask to make decisions	round 2
	whether it be policy decision, repair	
	decision, or personal living situations.	
	E.g., "How do we make X efficient",	
	"Where should curb ramps be installed",	
	"Who are the people living there? I want	
	to know that"	
Intrastructure utilization	E.g., trequency of use, pedestrian count,	Clarified atter
	nignly travelled walkways , nign need	rouna 2
	repair and retrofit places, busy-ness of	
Population density	Within neighborhood or an area how	
	many (specific population) live there?	
Area demographics	Who are the people living or using the	
	infrastructure?	
POI Related	Everything around POIs and destinations	Round 2 -
	- both factors and practices.	Updated code
		name and clarified
		description

	Practice would be around questions that they ask. For e.g. "What is around me or where do/can people get to?" "What is in the proximity of the POIs".	
	The other part is individual factors. What are the POI people are interested in? E.g., businesses, parks, public spaces, restaurants, post offices, government facilities	
State of accessible	Severity of inaccessibility of curb cuts,	
infrastructure	sidewalk quality, obstructions. Also, includes characteristics of the infrastructure e.g., height of the sidewalk, cross slope of the curb ramps, pedestrian signals etc.	
Capital Projects	Participants talks about development	Added after
	(construction) projects that leads to	round 1
	updates (e.g., repairs) to sidewalk	
	infrastructure. E.g., "private	
	development", "redevelopment".	
Social support	Presence of local people to support /	
	help. E.g., being able to "ask people"	
Citizens' Voice	Anything that relates to how citizens impact the decision-making process- individual needs, personal stories, service requests, and/or their support. E.g., participant talks about listening to people's lived experiences / issues and prioritizing based on that. E.g., "listening to my constituents to know how bad the situation is" OR relying on age or count of the requests. OR "Do constituents in the area support this".	Changed the code name and clarified code description
Nature of fixes	Type and number of fixes. For example,	
	simple/small fixes vs more elaborate or	
	large fixes (e.g., concrete pavements vs	
	Tiexi-pave, repairs vs new curb cuts).	
Support of leadership/	Due to upper management's interests in	
management	tunding/prioritizing accessibility	

In congruent / Differing	M/hon norticipants talk about differing	Added after
Responsibilities	responsibilities which may not always	round I; Clarified
	align between agencies or between	during coding
	citizens and the city - "who is responsible	
	for what?". That leads to lack of incentive	
	to prioritize and having to	
	coordinate/negotiate between agencies	
Costs and Funding	Talks about anything related to costs and	
	funding. E.g., availability of funds through	
	"local levies", "How do we make the	
	funding pie bigger? ", "coming up with a	
	dollar amount"	
Political Interests and	Participants talk about how political	
Constraints	motivations dictate what are the	
	priorities. E.g., "often times what gets	
	done is a political discussion instead of a	
	policy driven one"	
Effects of Bills, Policy,	Participant talks about specific outcomes	Added after
and Advocacy	from policy decisions and advocacy	round 2
	efforts e.g. "It would create new plans and	
	pipelines for accessible lanes"	
Equity	Participant talks about equity/inequity -	Added after
	how resources are not distributed to all	round 2
	areas equally or how they aim for	
	achieving equity. E.g., "like more shade	
	which is an equity issue on better	
	sidewalk access", "the eastern half	
	historically had been disinvested from	
	more historically black neighborhoods."	
Availability of transit	Does transit exist and, if so, how often?	Clarified after
connections	Presence/absence of multi-modal	round 2
	options, type of transit available,	
	presence/absence of transit hubs (e.g.,	
	Westlake Center), and frequency of	
	transit. This doesn't talk about whether it	
	is close to you or not.	
Type of Analysis	When participant talks about the type of	Expanded code
	analysis to take decisions E.g., using	after round 2;
	comparative analysis e.g., comparing	Added after
	between proposals or comparing cities	round 1
	"If we're very different than what they're	

		230
	doing in Portland or somewhere else,	
	why is that?", "root-cause analysis"	
Other Factors or	Any other type of practice/factors that	
Practices	was used to prioritize or take decisions.	

Map Visualization Prototypes

Paper Prototype Design Probe Study

- 1. Point Visualizations
- 2. Severity Point Visualizations
- 3. Grid Maps
- 4. Heatmap Visualizations
- 5. Choropleth or Area Map
- 6. Street Visualizations
- 7. Ego-centric Isochrones or Time Plots

Point Visualizations










Severity Point Visualizations











Grid Maps











Heatmap-style Visualizations

High **Problem Count** Low Problem Density Raw Count all problems

Problem Density Raw Count + Severity all problems

High

Low

Severity

Area Map



Street Visualizations





Ego-centric Isochrones









B For Chapter 4: Project Sidewalk

Help make Washington DC more accessible!

City streets, sidewalks, and businesses in the US remain inaccessible for people who use wheelchairs, scooters, or walkers to travel. Curb ramps and well-maintained sidewalks don't just help people with mobility impairments, they support all of us—when we're pulling luggage, pushing strollers, etc. However, there are currently few, if any, mechanisms to determine accessible areas of a city easily and comprehensively. We are trying to change this.

<u>Project Sidewalk</u> is a revolutionary new tool that empowers anyone—from motivated citizens and caretakers to government workers and urban enthusiasts—to remotely and quickly label accessibility problems by *virtually* walking through city streets. Our vision is to transform the way accessibility information about the built environment is collected and visualized. Imagine, for example, maps that show the accessibility of our cities at-a-glance or a navigation app on your smartphone that provides accessible routes for people with mobility impairments.

Join us! Visit <u>http://sidewalk.umiacs.umd.edu</u> to get started! Click "Participate" and complete a few short missions! In private beta testing, 126 users mapped the accessibility of over 245 miles of DC streets--that's nearly 25% of all streets in the city (and greater than the distance from DC to New York!). With just 10-15 minutes, you can make a difference!

DC is just the beginning. Our long-term vision is to deploy Project Sidewalk in every city in the world that has Google Street View!

Be a part of this revolution! Help us make the world a better place for **everyone**!

Project Sidewalk Team University of Maryland PS You don't have to live in DC to contribute—people from all over the world can participate to make DC accessible!

Email Advertisement

Let's create a more accessible world

SIDEWALK

Sidewalks benefit all of us. They help improve walkability, increase physical activity, and provide a safe, accessible path for people with disabilities. However, there is a severe lack of information about the location and quality of sidewalks in cities. Our research team at the University of Maryland is trying to change this. And we need your help.

Introducing Project Sidewalk



Help Improve wasnington DC's sidewalks by vin

Project Sidewalk is a new online tool that enables anyone—from motivated citizens to government workers—to virtually walk through cities to help locate, label, and assess sidewalks. User-contributed labels are shared with local governments and used to model and predict sidewalk problems in cities.

ODetroit

VIRGINIA

Help Us Reach 100%

оню

NEW YORK

INSYLVANIA New Yor

Philadelphia NJ

OWashington



Together, We Are Making a Difference

Since our beta launch in Fall 2016, over 580 users have already contributed 72,000 labels across 504 miles of DC streets—that's nearly 50% of the city (and the distance from DC to Detroit).

But we are not done. Our goal is 100% coverage. To help us get there, we are proud to announce a **new version** of <u>Project Sidewalk</u> that makes it easier and faster to explore DC neighborhoods and find sidewalk problems! Try it out by clicking the 'Start Mapping!' button below. You can also help out by sharing this email with your colleagues, family, and friends.



Let's make the world more accessible one curb ramp at a time. Five minutes of your day could make someone else's.

Start Mapping Now!



265

Project Sidewalk Data Collection on Amazon Mechanical Turk Interfaces showing the first screen of a HIT



HIT Objective: We are researchers at the University of Maryland developing new ways to track and study city accessibility for people with disabilities. This HIT will consist of completing game-like missions in our custom tool called Project Sidewalk. In a mission, you will virtually walk through Washington DC streets to find and label sidewalk accessibility issues. These issues include missing curb ramps, sidewalk obstacles, and surface problems (see image below).



Reward Payment:

- Initial reward. A confirmation code will be generated for you after completing the mandatory tutorial and the first mission. You can submit the code below at any time to qualify for the initial HIT reward of \$0.82. You can continue working on as many missions as you like, even after submitting the code, until the time when your assignment *would* have expired. The payment for any additional completed missions will be in the form of bonuses.
- Bonuses. The bonus amount is proportional to the length of each mission completed after the initial one. You will be paid at the rate of \$4.17 per mile. For example, you will be paid \$2.08 for completing a 1/2 mile mission. However, you need to complete the entire mission to qualify for a bonus; you will not be paid for partially completed missions.
 - includes the time when the HIT was in your queue. Although the tool may show your bonus amount increasing after that time, you will not be paid for work completed after the epted the HIT). This End Time for Bonuses: You will only be paid for work completed before the time when your assignment would have expired (which is 45 minutes after you acc allotted time, so we ask that you keep track of when you need to stop working, and suggest stopping early to be safe.



Provide the confirmation code below

e.g. ABC123

MTurk Interface for First-time Turker

Instructions

HIT Objective: We are researchers at the University of Maryland developing new ways to track and study city accessibility for people with disabilities. This HIT will consist of completing game-like missions in our custom tool called Project Sidewalk. In a mission, you will virtually walk through Washington DC streets to find and label sidewalk accessibility issues. These issues include missing curb ramps, sidewalk obstacles, and surface problems (see image below).



- assignment expires. You can continue working on as many missions as you like, even after submitting the code, until the time when your assignment would have expired. The payment • Assignment Approval: A confirmation code will be available in the orange "Mturk Code" button 🔽 on the interface. Submit the code in this window at any time before your for any additional completed missions will be in the form of bonuses
- Bonuses: The bonus amount is proportional to the length of each mission completed. You will be paid at the rate of \$4.17 per mile. For example, you will be paid \$2.08 for completing a 1/2 mile mission. However, you need to complete the entire mission to qualify for a bonus; you will not be paid for partially completed missions.
- the time when the HIT was in your queue. Although the tool may show your bonus amount increasing after that time, you will not be paid for work completed after the allotted time, End Time for Bonuses: You will only be paid for work completed before the time when your assignment would have expired (which is 1 hour after you accepted the HIT). This includes so we ask that you keep track of when you need to stop working, and suggest stopping early to be safe.
- Don't remember how to use Project Sidewalk?: You can click on the "Retake tutorial" button on the top-right of the tool to refresh your memory!
- Do you have any longer HITs I can do?: Yes! You are able to do this HIT because we gave you the "sidewalk_quality_unsure" qualification. We will be manually reviewing the work that you submit, and if we think it is of the highest quality, we will give you the "sidewalk_quality_verified" qualification, which lets you do much longer HITs! If you want to know how to do the highest quality work on Project Sidewalk, here is a 2 minute video showing an example of a very high quality worker: https://www.youtube.com/watch? v=tZS3leYNq_k. Note that this is totally optional, but we hope it is helpful!

Go to Project Sidewalk

Provide the confirmation code below

e.g. ABC123

MTurk Interface for Poor Quality Turker



HIT Objective: We are researchers at the University of Maryland developing new ways to track and study city accessibility for people with disabilities. This HIT will consist of completing



MTurk Interface for Verified Turker

Provide the confirmation code below

e.g. ABC123

Go to Project Sidewalk

Online Pre-Study Questionnaire

Introduction

Hi! We would like to thank you for participating in our study.

Our team is designing new methods and tools to inform people about inaccessible areas of a city. For example, places could be inaccessible due to lack of sidewalks, absence of curb ramps at intersections, or inaccessible building entrance.

Before the day of the interview, we would like to ask you a few questions about your background to know you a little better. Please take a few minutes to complete the following survey. It will save time on the day of the interview study, and so we will be able to spend more time on other activities. Thank you very much for your time!

Background

- Age
- Gender
- Are you a:
 - o Government Official
 - Person with a mobility impairment
 - o Caregiver
- For government officials:
 - Which organization do you work for and at what capacity (state your designation)?
 - How long have you been working there?
 - o What are the programs in your organization that are involved with accessibility?
 - Which program are you associated with?
 - Have you worked with people with mobility impairments?
 - If yes,
 - What types of mobility impairment did they have?
 - What kind of mobility aids did they use? (Manual wheelchair / Electric wheelchair / Manual assistive devices)
 - What are the means of transportation they used? (Private vehicle / paratransit / public transportation / chair or walk)
- For people with mobility impairments (MI):
 - What type of mobility impairment do you have? Describe your medical condition.
 - How long have you had the impairment?
 - What mobility aids do you use? (Manual wheelchair / Electric wheelchair / Manual assistive devices)
 - What is the main means of transportation to, for example, a grocery store? (Private vehicle / paratransit / public transportation / chair or walk)
 - How often do you travel in a week on an average? (once a week or less / 2-4 days a week / more)
 - Do you have any other impairments? (vision impairment / hearing impairment / none)
- For caregivers:
 - What is your role as a caregiver:
 - Nurse
 - Orientation <fill in>
 - fill in>
 - Family member
 - Friend
 - For professionals,
 - How long have you been involved in this line of work?
 - Where do you work?
 - What type of mobility impairment patients have you worked with?
 - What kind of mobility aids did they use? (Manual wheelchair / Electric wheelchair / Manual assistive devices)
 - What are the means of transportation that you use with your patients? (Private vehicle / paratransit / public transportation / chair or walk)
 - How often do you travel in a week with them on an average? (once a week or less / 2-4 days a week / more)
 - For family members,
 - Who do you take care of? State your relationship with that person.
 - How long have you been taking care of them?
 - What type of mobility impairment do they have?
 - What kind of mobility aids do they use? (Manual wheelchair / Electric wheelchair / Manual assistive devices)
 - What are the means of transportation that you use with them? (Private vehicle / paratransit / public transportation / chair or walk)
 - How often do you travel in a week with them on an average? (once a week or less / 2-4 days a week / more)
- Do you use a computer?
 - o If so, how often? (once a week or less / 2-4 days a week / more)
 - [ONLY for a person with MI] Do you use any assistive technologies to use a computer? For example, a trackball mouse?
- Do you use a mobile phone?
 - If so, what kind of a mobile phone do you use? (smart-phone / other (e.g., bar phone))
 - [ONLY for a person with MI] Do you use any assistive technologies to use a mobile phone?





272

Participant ID:

Date:

Time:

Project Sidewalk Interview Study

Semi-structured Interview Session

Introduction:

[READ TO PARTICIPANTS] - 5 min

Hi, I am Manaswi Saha, a PhD Student. Thanks for coming in today. Before we begin to talk about the interview session, let me tell you about our project. Our goal is to design new methods and tools to inform people about inaccessible areas of a city. For example, places could be inaccessible due to lack of sidewalks, absence of curb ramps at intersections and so on. This would be especially useful for people with mobility impairments as well as city governments.

The goal of this study is to better understand the opinions from the stakeholders of our tool like yourself. The study will be in three parts:

- 1. The first part is an interview study, where the questions will be to understand why accessibility is important to you and what are your **current practices** of looking up accessibility information?
- 2. The second part is a think aloud activity, where you will use the data collection tool that we have built using the **think aloud protocol**, which is you say your thoughts out loud while using the tool. We are interested in observing your reactions to the tool.
- 3. Finally, the last part is another interview, where the questions will be to understand your **perception and opinions** about the tool you used. For example, we are interested in knowing your likes, dislikes and design ideas to improve the tool. Also, knowing what are your perceptions about the utility of the tool.

The whole study session should take about 60-65 minutes. Your data will be kept anonymous. We will be audio/video recording. For the video recording, your face will not be captured and we do not intend to take identifiable images of you. You have the right to stop participating in the study at any time. Before we begin the interview, we need to you sign the consent form and complete the background questionnaire (if the participant hasn't already).

Are there any questions?





273

Begin Interview:

INSTRUCTIONS FOR RESEARCHER:

Keep these handy for the entire session:

- o Pre-Study Questionnaire (optional- if participant hasn't filled it out) (5 minutes)
- o Consent form
- Part 1 Script: Motivation and Current Practices Interview (20 minutes)
- Part 2 Script: Think aloud usability study (20 minutes)
- Part 3 Script: Perceptions and opinions about the tool (20 minutes)
- o Payment form and cash

[Start recording once the participant signed the consent form and filled out the questionnaire.] I have just started the recorder and we will begin the interview. Please feel free to say whatever is on your mind and feel free to ask me questions at any time. Are you ready to begin?





Part 1 – Interview Session – Motivations and Current Practices

Time allotted: 20 Minutes

Main goals: (1) Understand participant's **motivation** towards accessibility. (2) Understand **current practices** around gathering accessibility data.

INSTRUCTIONS FOR RESEARCHER:

Have the questionnaire ready for reference. Note the timing of any interesting comment the interviewee mentioned.

Government Officials

Understanding Motivation Towards Accessibility (if any) – 5ish minutes

- 1. For non-DOT orgs: What is the role of your organization towards city's urban development efforts?
- 2. What kinds of data do you traditionally collect during city audits?
- 3. Do you perform accessibility audits for your city?
 - a. If yes:
 - i. Why is your city interested in performing accessibility audits?
 - ii. How long have you been involved with accessibility projects for the city?
 - iii. What is your role in the accessibility efforts?
 - b. If no:
 - i. Is accessibility taken into consideration during city audits?
 - ii. Are there any ongoing initiatives that are being taken in this direction?
 - iii. What are the motivations behind these efforts?
 - iv. What kind of accessibility data do you have access to? If sidewalk/street-level data not mentioned:
 - 1. Do you have access to any street level accessibility data?

Current Practices for Audits

- 1. What is the frequency of audits in a year?
- 2. How many personnel is needed for these audits generally?
- 3. How do you perform city/accessibility audits? Follow-up:
 - a. What method do you use? E.g. in-person audits or any kind of rapid audits.
 - b. Do you take any help from volunteers/citizens to do neighborhood audits through organizations (e.g. AARP), or community events (such as bike day, audit the sidewalk day etc.)?
- 4. What tools do you use to perform your assessment activities?
 - a. What kind of technology do you use during audits? E.g. Robotics, Use of maps (E.g. Cyclomedia) etc.
- 5. What do you look for when making an assessment? (asset tracking not just accessibility)
- 6. How long does it generally take to perform assessment activities?
- 7. What difficulties do you face in collecting this data?
 - a. For accessibility audits: What is the most challenging aspect of assessing accessibility?
- 8. What kind of tool would be beneficial for making this process easier?
- 9. How is the collected data used?
 - a. What form is this data stored in?
- 10. If you are comfortable to share, what is your annual budget for [city | accessibility] audits (a ball park estimate)?





People with Mobility Impairments

- 1. How long have you had the impairment?
- 2. How do you get around the city? [Modes of transport]
 - a. Do you travel alone or with someone?
- 3. What is your usual strategy to navigate from point A to point B if the destination is in an unfamiliar area? [How they get to the new place] Supporting Question:
 - a. What do you do before traveling to this unfamiliar neighborhood? For example, do you use paper maps or technologies like Google Maps' navigation to find a route?
- 4. What is the most challenging aspect of traveling within cities?
- 5. When you are choosing a place to go, do you factor in accessibility of the neighborhood (such as its sidewalks and streets)?
 - a. If yes:
 - i. Does it affect your decision to go there?
 - ii. How do you look up the accessibility of a route?
 - b. If no: why not?
- 6. Do you look up the accessibility of the building you are going to visit, for example, by calling them ahead of time?
- 7. Do you use any existing technologies/tools to find information about the accessibility of these places? For example, do you use Google Street View or a mobile app to look up accessibility of a neighborhood? If yes, could you list them?
 - a. What is your preferred method to look up accessibility information which has worked for you?
- 8. Have you ever had any problems because you did not check the accessibility of a place or a route beforehand? Could you explain?
- 9. Would you use an accessibility-aware navigation tool if there is one? For example, if Google Maps had an "accessible route" option in addition to driving/walking/biking routes.

Interviewer Notes:





Caregivers

INSTRUCTIONS FOR RESEARCHER:

Have the questionnaire ready for reference.

Refer to the questionnaire and set the tone of the interview by talking a single sentence about the person under their care (for family/friend) or get details about the person they would be talking about (for professionals).

- 1. For professionals: What motivated you to work in this field?
- 2. What is the most challenging aspect of caregiving for people with MI?
- 3. What are some of the key mobility challenges that have affected you and the people under your care?a. According to you, what makes a city accessible?
- 4. How do you plan trips for people under your care? Supporting Question:
 - a. What do you look for when you plan trips/other activities?
 - b. What tools do you use to plan their activities around the city?
 - c. How easy is it to plan trips for them?
- 5. Do you factor in accessibility of a route when you are visiting an unfamiliar place?
- 6. What kind of technology do you use to know about the accessibility of a place or a route? [Metro transit is one of them] Supporting Questions:
 - a. Which technology has worked for you? How well do they work for you? [General opinion]
 - b. What do you like about them?
 - c. What do you dislike/limitations about them?
 - d. Could you describe a time when these tools were very useful and not useful?
- 7. How long does it generally take in planning these activities?
 - Do you know if other caregivers share similar situations/problems/concerns as you?
 - a. How different is your perspective from other caregivers that you might know?
- 10. Would you use an accessibility-aware navigation tool if there is one? For example, if Google Maps had an "accessible route" option in addition to driving/walking/biking routes.
 - a. What would you expect the tool to provide?
- 11. Do you have any additional comments that you would like to add?

Interviewer Notes:

8.





Part 2 – Think Aloud Usability Study

Time allotted: 20 Minutes

Main goal: To observe their reactions towards the tool, Project Sidewalk.

[READ TO PARTICIPANTS]

Let's begin the second part of the session – the think aloud activity. In this part, you will use a tool that we built called Project Sidewalk, which enables any person to label problems and features of the built infrastructure of cities that affect accessibility for mobility impaired users. Problems include broken sidewalks, presence/absence of curb ramps and others.

[OPTIONAL: Our long-term research agenda is to develop tools that enable people like yourself to utilize this data in form of novel applications, such as smart route navigation for people with mobility impairments and interactive visualization of the city's accessibility, and support initiatives to bring about policy change.]

In this exercise, you will be first shown the home page of our website. You may explore that page if you'd like. From that page, you go to the tool by clicking "Start Mapping". As a new user, you will first be onboarded into the experience with a tutorial. Once you finish the tutorial, you will start a *"mission"* of labeling the streets of DC. You will complete one mission of 1000ft in this session. During the whole exercise, we would like you to state **out loud** what you are thinking as you are interacting with the tool e.g., the decisions that you make while labeling, your choices and so on. We want to understand your thought process when you use the tool and also, if the design decisions we made make sense to you. Please note we are NOT judging you; we are only observing your reactions towards the tool.

INSTRUCTIONS FOR RESEARCHER:

General Protocol:

- Keep the Project Sidewalk landing page open in the browser in the incognito mode.
- Ask them to "explore the page, and when done click Start Mapping". Observe what they look at, which sections they pay attention to.
- If they don't open the audit page in a minute of exploration of the landing page, then prompt them to 'Start Mapping' "Why don't you now know go ahead and click Start Mapping?"
- Observe their actions while using the tool. Prompt them to keep saying what they think while taking any action.

Note the timing of any interesting comment the interviewee mentioned.

General Prompting Questions:

- 1. Why did you select X?
- 2. What made you click X?





Part 3 – Interview Session – Perceptions and Opinions on the Tool

Time allotted: 20 Minutes

Main goals: To understand the participant's reactions towards the tool based on the usage in Part 2 of the study. Have the participants reflect upon (1) their experience during the course of the activity, (2) their likes, dislikes and desired changes to the tool, and (3) understand their perceptions and expectations from Project Sidewalk.

INSTRUCTION FOR RESEARCHER:

Write the timing in the notes of any interesting comment the interviewee mentioned.

[READ TO PARTICIPANTS]

The last part of the study is having a discussion around your experience of using this tool, understand your likes/dislikes, and understand your perceptions and expectations from the tool.

- 1. What did you think of the tool?
- 2. What are the features that you liked and why?
- 3. What are the missing features that you would like to have and why?
- 4. Do you have any concerns about the collected data?
- 5. What would Project Sidewalk enable you to do? Supporting Questions:
 - How do you see this tool being used to, for e.g., "find neighborhoods that need most work"? Prompting Question:
 - Can this tool be used for triaging issues for city governments to work on?
 - How useful do you perceive the tool to be to explore accessibility of neighborhoods? Please answer in a 1-to-5 scale where 1 is not useful at all and 5 is very useful.

Interviewer Notes:

C For Chapter 6: Landmark AI

Participant Demographics

ID	Age	G	Aid	Self-described vision level
P1	52	М	WC	Totally blind
P2	34	М	GD	Left eye = no vision Right eye = no peripheral, central vision only, large shapes and colors - can tell if it is a car or building, can tell what general color the car is
P3	32	М	М	20/80 in my left eye with correction 20/200 in my right eye with correction ocular albinism light sensitivity
P4	52	F	GD	Light perception legally blind
P5	36	М	WC	Totally blind
P6	55	М	GD	I have light perception in my right eye. I am completely blind in the other.
P7	27	М	GD	I am totally blind (no light perception)
P8	25	F	WC	I can see better in light. I can see larger objects, but cannot make out finer details
P9	24	М	WC	I am blind (no vision at all)
P10	42	F	WC	I am completely blind in my left eye and have severe tunnel vision in my right with near-sightedness.
P11	54	М	GD	Blind
P12	32	F	GD	I can see light, dark, and shadow. I can sometimes see movement if it is close enough and within one of my small blurry islands of visibility. I cannot read any size font. I cannot identify shapes. I can sometimes tell when I am near a tall/large object using echolocation. My vision can fluctuate from day to day. I have moderate light sensitivity.
P13	38	М	WC	I have loss of peripheral vision in both eyes, my visual acuity is extremely poor in my central vision in both eyes. I have light sensitivity and diminished color perception.

Table 1. Participant Demographics.

Gender (G) = Male (M)/ Female (F). Primary Aid = White Cane (WC), Guide Dog (GD), Magnifier (M).

Codebook Used for Analysis of the Design Probe Study

-	-				
Themes	Code#				
Existing Mobility					
Existing Navigation Strategy	1				
Use of Mobility Aid	2				
Use of Residual Vision	3				
Wayfinding Challenges	4				
Information Useful at the Last-Few-Meters					
New Types of Information	5				
Channel Information Utility	6				
Confirmation of Pre-Existing Knowledge	7				
Channel Preference	8				
Usage Scenarios					
Time and Location (Situational)	9				
Method of Usage (Operational)	10				
Factors influencing information preference					
Mobility aid	11				
Visual ability	12				
System Considerations					
Physical Form Factor	13				
Accuracy and Precision	14				
Limitations	15				
Feedback mechanism					
Timing and speed of output	16				
Frequency	17				
Seamlessness/Ease of Use	18				
Design Ideas/Recommendations	19				

Table 2. Codebook Used in the Analysis

ProQuest Number: 29321006

INFORMATION TO ALL USERS The quality and completeness of this reproduction is dependent on the quality and completeness of the copy made available to ProQuest.



Distributed by ProQuest LLC (2022). Copyright of the Dissertation is held by the Author unless otherwise noted.

This work may be used in accordance with the terms of the Creative Commons license or other rights statement, as indicated in the copyright statement or in the metadata associated with this work. Unless otherwise specified in the copyright statement or the metadata, all rights are reserved by the copyright holder.

> This work is protected against unauthorized copying under Title 17, United States Code and other applicable copyright laws.

Microform Edition where available © ProQuest LLC. No reproduction or digitization of the Microform Edition is authorized without permission of ProQuest LLC.

ProQuest LLC 789 East Eisenhower Parkway P.O. Box 1346 Ann Arbor, MI 48106 - 1346 USA